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MEGAN N. KILGORE THE CITY OF

City Auditor

COLUMBUS

DARLENE WILDES, CPA
Deputy City Auditor

March 30, 2022

To the Residents of the City of Columbus, Ohio:

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (Annual Report) of the City of Columbus, Ohio (the City) for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, is hereby presented to its citizens by their City Auditor, statutorily described
as the City's chief accounting officer.

The City's Charter states, "The auditor shall be an elector of the City, and be elected for a term of four years. . ."
The Charter also sets forth the auditor's powers and duties and states, in part:

The auditor shall be the city's chief accounting officer. The Auditor shall keep, in accurate, systemized
detail a record of the receipts, disbursements, assets, and liabilities of the city, and the recorded facts shall
be presented periodically to officials and to the public in such summaries and analytical schedules as shall
be necessary to show the full effect of such transactions for each fiscal year upon the finances of the city
and in relation to each department of the city government, including distinct summaries and schedules for
each public utility owned or operated.

This report fulfills these duties and is available universally on the City's website. The website is
http://www.columbus.gov. Hard copies are available upon request.

The City's management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control that it has established for
this purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material
misstatements.

Plante & Moran, PLLC has issued its opinion on the City’s financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2021. The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and provides
a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A complement this letter
of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

Profile of the Government

The state legislature established Columbus as a city in 1812. The City is a home-rule municipal corporation
operating under the laws of Ohio. The City's Charter, its constitution, can only be amended by a majority of the
City's voters. It has been amended many times since its original adoption in 1914, most recently on November
3, 2020. The laws of the State of Ohio prevail when conflicts exist between the Charter and the state constitution
and in matters where the Charter is silent.



Columbus, Ohio's capital city, is located in the central part of the state, approximately 150 miles south of
Cleveland and 110 miles northeast of Cincinnati. The City's elevation is approximately 777 feet above sea level.
Inter and intra state highways I-70, 1-71, I-270, and I-670 serve as some of the City's major transportation
arteries. The Ohio State University, with 61,677 students on its Columbus campus, is located near the center of
the City. Columbus was ranked as the nation's 14th largest city as a result of the 2020 U.S. census rankings.

Some comparative data for Ohio's six largest cities follow. Population estimates for 2000, 2010, and 2020 are
from the U.S. Bureau of Census. The respective cities’ management provided area data as of 2021.

Area Population

City 2021 2020 2010 2000
Columbus 226.2 sq. mi. 905,748 787,033 711,470
Cleveland 77.9 sq. mi. 372,624 396,815 478,403
Cincinnati 79.7 sg. mi. 309,317 296,943 331,285
Toledo 81.2 sq. mi. 270,871 287,208 313,619
Akron 62.3 sq. mi. 190,469 199,110 217,074
Dayton 56.4 sg. mi. 137,644 141,527 166,179

The Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission estimates the City’s population at 909,686 at December 31, 2021.

The City's management consists of a Mayor, seven-member Council, City Auditor, and City Attorney. These
officials are elected for four-year terms on an at-large basis. The Mayor and four Council members are elected
in an odd numbered year. Three Council members, the City Auditor, and the City Attorney are elected in the
following odd numbered year. The City's Charter also provides for appointments and elections of successors to
these officials if they should, for any reason, vacate their office. All are chosen through a non-partisan election
process. A charter amendment to change the total members of City Council from seven to nine, and to change
City Council structure from at-large to by place, was approved by voters on May 8, 2018. Such changes take
effect in 2023.

In addition to the elected officials, certain others are major participants in the City's management. The Director
of the Department of Recreation and Parks, the Health Commissioner and the Civil Service Executive Secretary
are appointed by, and report to, independent Commissions. All Commission members are appointed by the Mayor
and are subject to confirmation by the Council. The financial activities of these Commissions (budgets,
expenditures, etc.) are subject to approval by the Council and are, therefore, included in this report. The City's
Treasurer and Clerk to the Council are appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of the Council.

On November 3, 2020, Columbus voters approved an amendment to the Columbus City Charter to create the
Civilian Police Review Board (the CPRB). The powers and duties of the CPRB shall be to receive, initiate, cause
investigation of, and recommend resolution of complaints filed with it or initiated by the CPRB alleging misconduct
by sworn members of the Columbus Division of Police. Upon completion of an investigation, the CPRB shall make
recommendations to the Division of Police regarding resolution of the complaint and may make recommendations
pertaining to discipline. This Charter amendment also authorized the creation of a new Department of the
Inspector General for the Division of Police. The Inspector General is appointed by and serves, independent of
the Department of Public Safety, under the guidance of the CPRB. The Inspector General is empowered to
participate fully in criminal or administrative investigations involving Division of Police personnel. This position
was appointed in 2022.

The Mayor's cabinet, appointed by him and serving at his pleasure, is not subject to confirmation by the Council.
In 2021, the cabinet consisted of the Directors of the Departments of Finance and Management, Public Safety,
Public Service, Public Utilities, Education, Development, Building and Zoning Services, Health, Recreation and
Parks, Civil Service, Human Resources, Neighborhoods, Technology, and Diversity and Inclusion.

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, T7he Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by Statement No. 61, 7he
Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations are
Component Units and Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units. On this basis,

10



the reporting entity of the City includes the following services to its citizens as authorized by its charter: public
service (refuse collection, street engineering and construction, traffic engineering and parking, etc.); public
safety (fire, police, etc.); development; health; recreation and parks; and public utilities. In addition, the City
owns and operates five enterprise activities: a water system, a sanitary sewer system, a storm sewer and
drainage system, an electricity distribution system, and City-owned parking garages; financial activities for
which are contained in this report. Water and sanitary sewer services are metropolitan in nature and reach
far beyond the City's corporate boundaries. The City does not operate schools or hospitals, nor is it responsible
for public assistance programs.

Other entities included in this report and further explained in Notes A and Q are:
Related Organizations:
e New Community Authorities
Joint Ventures:
e The Franklin Park Conservatory Joint Recreation District
e The Affordable Housing Trust for Columbus and Franklin County
e The Columbus-Franklin County Finance Authority
Blended Component Units:
¢ The RiverSouth Authority
e Columbus Next Generation Corporation
e Columbus Board of Health

Information regarding reporting standards and bases of accounting used in the preparation of the City’'s
financial statements can be found in Note A — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in Notes to the
Financial Statements.

The annual budget of the City of Columbus serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and
control. On or before the fifteenth day of November, the Mayor submits to City Council an estimate of the
expenditures necessary to conduct the affairs of the City for the fiscal year commencing the following
January 1. Budget estimates are published on the City’s website and public hearings are held to obtain
taxpayers’ comments. Subsequent to January 1, and after publication of the proposed budget ordinances, the
budget is legally enacted through adoption of the ordinances. The budget specifies expenditure amounts by
Object Class (i.e. personal services, materials & supplies, contractual services, debt principal payments, other,
capital outlay, interest on debt, and transfers) for each division within each fund. Transfers of appropriations
of $100,000 or less can be made between budget Object Class within a division and fund without additional
City Council action, but with responsible management approval. Transfers in excess of this amount require
the approval of both City Council and the Mayor.

Local economy

Employment in the Greater Columbus Area continues to be service oriented. Three of the ten (10) largest
employers in the Columbus area are government or government-oriented [The Ohio State University, the State
of Ohio, and the City of Columbus]. The 25 largest employers in the Greater Columbus area are shown in the
Statistical Section of this report. These major employers, representing government, education, insurance, public
utilities, manufacturing, retail, banking, research, medical, and services, provide a broad and diverse employment
base. The Franklin County average annual unemployment rate (4.8%) for 2021 continued to be below the State
of Ohio (4.9%) rate and the United States (5.3%) rate even during the COVID-19 global pandemic. A ten-year
history of unemployment rates for Franklin County (by month) from the Ohio Department of Job and Family
Services and the Annual Average Rates for Franklin County, the State of Ohio, and the United States is provided
in the Statistical Section of this Annual Report — see Table 24.

The City’s employee relations are established largely in association with the following labor organizations:

e  American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees (AFSCME), Locals 1632 and 2191.
(www.afscme.org)
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AFSCME has approximately 2,073 members among the City’s 5,013 civilian employees. AFSCME has,
however, bargaining rights for approximately 2,374 of these employees. The current labor agreements
between the City and AFSCME1632 were effective April 1, 2021 and continue through March 31, 2024.
The current labor agreements between the City and AFSCME2191 were effective April 1, 2020 and
continue through March 31, 2023.

e  Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) (www.fop9.org)
FOP has bargaining rights for all of the City’s police officers except for the chief, her assistant chief,
and her six deputy chiefs. Of the City’s other 1,921 police officers, 1,812 are members of the FOP.
The current FOP contract was effective December 9, 2020 and continues through December 8, 2023.
e International Association of Firefighters (IAFF) (www.iaff.org)
IAFF has bargaining rights for all the City’s firefighters except for the chief and his five assistant chiefs.
Membership in the IAFF includes 1,534 of a total 1,596 firefighters. The current contract was effective
November 1, 2020 and continues through October 31, 2023.

e Columbus Municipal Association of Government Employees; Communication Workers of America, Local
4502 (CMAGE/CWA). (www.cmage.org)

CMAGE/CWA has approximately 922 members and has bargaining rights for approximately 1,516 of
the 5,013 civilian employees. The current contract was effective April 24, 2020 and continues through
April 23, 2023.

Under Ohio’s Collective Bargaining Act, if members of the police or fire division cannot reach agreement with
the City they ™. . . shall submit the matter to a final offer settlement procedure.” This requirement of Ohio law
is referred to as a “no-strike” or “binding arbitration” provision. Other employees are permitted to strike under
Ohio law after giving proper notification. There have been no strikes by City employees for over several
decades.

Long-term financial planning

The City manages its long term financing of its capital needs through the annual updating of its Capital
Improvement Plan (CIP). The CIP schedules capital improvements through the current and succeeding five
years. The CIP does not include appropriations or authorizations to expend monies. The current year portion
of the CIP, known as the Capital Improvements Budget (CIB), is formalized by ordinance of the City Council
after holding public hearings and presented to the citizens as a formal plan. Appropriations for capital projects
are authorized at the time bonds are sold or other funding sources are determined. Both the CIP and the CIB
are subject to change by the Council.

The CIP contains not only a detailed listing of planned projects but also, in most instances, their funding source
or sources. Most capital projects are funded through the use of long-term debt, bonds or monies borrowed
via the Ohio Water Development Authority (see Note G). The City uses a ten year forecast of revenues
available for debt service and a ten year forecast of current and anticipated debt service amounts in order to
determine its debt capacity for non-enterprise type debt. Enterprise type debt capacity is guided by ten year
projections of the respective enterprise revenues and costs. The major source of funding for non-enterprise
debt service is a dedicated portion of City income tax collections. The City, by local statute, dedicates one
fourth of its income tax collections primarily to the payment of such debt service. This financial activity is
accounted for in the Special Income Tax Debt Service Fund, a major fund. This one fourth “set aside” for debt
service local statute has been in place since 1983, with similar policies in place since 1956. Since the City
maintains this income tax “set aside,” the City has not levied a property tax rate increase in over 60 years.

Also as a policy, the City seeks voter approval for much of its general obligation planned debt; both non-
enterprise and enterprise type debt. Since 1956, most recently in 2019, the City has sought voter approval
101 times to issue debt for various purposes, both non-enterprise and enterprise type debt. The voters have
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given their approval 96 times. Of the City’s general obligation debt, its voters have given their direct approval
for 85.1 percent of that outstanding at December 31, 2021 (see Note G). General Obligation bonds of the City
are rated AAA, Aaa, and AAA by Standard and Poor’s Corporation, Moody’s Investors Services, and Fitch
Ratings, respectively. 78.4 percent of the City’s general obligation debt is redeemed within 10 years.

The City’s Department of Finance and Management forecasts its General Fund revenues and expenditures,
also for a period of ten years, with a more focused emphasis on the initial three years.

Relevant financial policies

Columbus’ financial stability is largely due to implementing and managing through a series of policy decisions
beginning over 60 years ago. The policy which promoted stable growth of the City and its economy through
controlled delivery of services with manageable annexation remains substantially in place to this day.

Recognizing, at the time, the deterioration of the national and state economies and the unprecedented decline
in available City resources, the Mayor, with unanimous support of the City Council, on April 27, 2009 announced
the City’s intention to seek approval from its voters of an increase in the City’s local income tax rate. The
requested rate increase, from 2.0% to 2.5% was approved by the voters on August 4, 2009.

By action of the City Council, one-fourth of revenues obtained from the 2.5% municipal income tax is allocated
to the Special Income Tax Debt Service Fund (SIT) and is used primarily to pay debt service for non-enterprise
capital improvements. This policy has been consistently in place since 1983. A similar policy with other
allocations has been in place since 1956. This policy has greatly assisted the City in addressing its
infrastructure needs. The use of the SIT for long-term capital investment has also allowed the City to protect
its “Triple A" credit rating.

The City, like the federal and state governments, operates under a system of separation of powers. The
legislative branch is manifest in its City Council. The judicial branch exists through municipal court judges with
county wide jurisdiction. The executive branch is further divided into the Mayor, the chief executive; the City
Attorney, the City’s legal advisor and the chief prosecutor; and the City Auditor, the City’s chief accountant.
Each of these three members of the executive branch is separately elected.

The City Auditor determines and publishes the estimated amount of revenues that the City will receive during
a given year. The Council may not appropriate and therefore the Mayor and the total City may not expend a
greater amount. The City Auditor, however, cannot dictate the services for which the funds may be
appropriated. In its simplest form this check and balance is sometimes described as “the Auditor says how
much; the Mayor and Council say what for.” This process calls for three separately elected bodies (the Mayor,
the Council, and the Auditor) to participate in the financial management and expenditure controls of the City.

Major initiatives

Despite the challenges associated with the COVID-19 global pandemic stretching into its second year, the City
of Columbus remained financially strong in 2021. The City continued to deliver core city services to
our residents, in addition to, for the first time in the City's history, amassing an estimated one billion dollars in
resources.

The strategic investment of funds in 2021 targeted:

e Public health to offset the impacts of sustained pandemic crisis response that include rising levels of
mental health needs and addiction;

Marginalized communities disproportionately impacted by the pandemic;

Public safety in a year where Columbus saw increased homicides and gun violence;

Responding to the City's affordable housing crisis after a decade of record population growth;
Building stronger, healthier and more sustainable neighborhoods by investing in continued efforts to
become carbon neutral by 2050.
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The influx of revenue in 2021 is a result of bold action taken by the Federal Reserve and the federal
government to jumpstart the nation's economic recovery from the ongoing pandemic. Our local economy
experienced positive benefits from three rounds of economic impact payments to individuals,
enhanced unemployment insurance and loans, certain of which could be forgiven, to small businesses. As a
result, much of the initial economic fallout was reversed and many of our local companies - especially those
in the technology, healthcare, and venture capital funded sectors - experienced breakout years.

Personal income in Ohio soared by 14.6 percent in the first quarter of 2021 alone - the largest one quarter
increase since the state began collecting such data in 1948. Columbus' income tax collections grew solidly
throughout 2021 as more workers were rehired across the City, wage increases were given within several
industries, and governmental transfer payments lifted local households. It also became apparent during 2021
that remote work has largely been embraced across many of Columbus’ industries. The City will continue
tracking remote trends and their subsequent impact on income tax collections. See Note R, COVID-19
Pandemic, for a comprehensive disclosure of COVID-19’s impact on the City’s financial results.

Awards and acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Columbus, Ohio for its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. This was the forty-second consecutive year that
the City has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government
unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report. This report
must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current annual comprehensive
financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement program requirements and we are submitting
it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

This report represents the forty-third (1979-21) Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the City of Columbus
containing financial statements audited by a firm of certified public accountants. This report is available on the
City's website. The website is http://www.columbus.gov. Hard copies are available to anyone upon request.
This extensive effort of preparation and distribution of this report fulfills the City Auditor's goal of full disclosure
of the City's finances.

This report is issued by Megan N. Kilgore, City Auditor. Special thanks and recognition go to Marni Hall for her
exemplary lead on the preparation of this report. All members of the City Auditor's staff and many of the City's
other employees also contributed to this effort. They all have my thanks and respect for their work.

Respectfully submitted,

Megan N. Kilgore
Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio
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City of Columbus, Ohio
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Honorable Megan Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio (the "City") as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Columbus, Ohio's basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respectivefinancial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Columbus, Ohio as of December 31, 2021 and the respective
changes in its financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for
12 months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.
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To the Honorable Megan Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
City's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we
identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and the required supplementary information (Exhibits 10-14), as identified in the table of
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the City of Columbus, Ohio's basic financial statements. The combining statements, budgetary comparison
schedules, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards (Exhibits A-1 through E-1) are presented for the
purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of
expenditures of federal awards (Exhibit E-1) is presented as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the
"Uniform Guidance"). Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. In our opinion, the combining statements (Exhibits B-1, B-2, and C-1 through D-2),
actual columns of the supplementary information budgetary comparison schedules (Exhibits A-1, A-2, and B-3
through B-83), and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards (Exhibit E-1) are fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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To the Honorable Megan Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual comprehensive financial report. The
other information comprises the introductory section, statistical section, and budget columns of the supplementary
information budgetary comparison schedules (Exhibits A-1, A-2, and B-3 through B-83) but does not include the
basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and
consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements
or whether the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed,
we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to
describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 30, 2022 on our
consideration of the City of Columbus, Ohio's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of
Columbus, Ohio's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Columbus, Ohio's
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

7424&/ f 7)&4,«/, PLLL

March 30, 2022
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A CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Columbus (the City), we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this narrative
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. We
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with our letter of transmittal at the
front of this report and the City’s financial statements, which follow this section.

Financial Highlights

>

The assets and deferred outflows of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows at the close of 2021

by approximately $3.4 billion. Of this amount, the unrestricted balance is a deficit of $316.4 million. The
unrestricted net position of the City’s business-type activities is $523.6 million and may be used to meet the
on-going obligations of business-type activities, including the water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, electricity,
and garage enterprises. The unrestricted net position of the governmental activities is a deficit of $840.0
million. The deficit unrestricted net position is primarily the result of the City’s accounting for pensions and
other post-employment benefits (OPEB) under Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions — an Amendment of GASB Statement 27 (GASB 68) and
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75 (GASB 75), Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Combined, GASB 68 and 75 reduced
governmental and business-type Net Position by $1.5 billion and $111.1 million, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

The City’s total net position increased $563.7 million in 2021. Net position of the governmental activities
increased $369.7 million or 42.7 percent from 2020. Net position of the business-type activities increased $193.9
million or 9.9 percent from 2020.

The total cost of the City’s programs decreased $359.8 million or 16.4 percent. The cost of governmental
activities decreased $272.3 million or 16.4 percent and the cost of business-type activities decreased $87.5
million or 16.2 percent.

As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund
balance of $1.1 billion. The combined governmental funds fund balance increased approximately $105.5
million from the prior year’s ending fund balance. Approximately $424.8 million of the $1.1 billion fund balance
is considered restricted at December 31, 2021.

The general fund reported a total and unrestricted fund balance of $304.7 million at the end of the current
fiscal year. The fund balance for the general fund was 30.7 percent of total general fund expenditures (including
transfers out). There was a $4.4 million decrease in the total general fund balance for the year ended December
31, 2021.

The City’s total debt, long-term liabilities (bonds and notes), increased by $140.7 million (2.9 percent) during
the current fiscal year to $4.9 billion. The significant transactions contributing to the increase in outstanding
debt at December 31, 2021 included:

o The City's business-type activities issued $103.3 million in Ohio Water Development Authority
revenue obligations for various projects.

o On February 17, 2021, the City issued $371.9 million of general obligation bonds for the purpose
of funding various projects throughout the City; $214.2 in governmental activities bonds and
$157.7 in business-type activities bonds.

o On February 17, 2021, the City issued $31.3 million of general obligation taxable refunding bonds
to advance refund $31.3 million of certain outstanding bonds issued in 2011 and 2012; $20.1 in
governmental activities bonds and $11.2 million in business-type activities bonds.

o Governmental and business-type activities paid $405.9 million on debt maturities in 2021.
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Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred outflows and
deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between them reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving
or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of the cash flows. Thus, revenue and expenses reported in this statement
for some items will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused
vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported
by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees or charges (business-type activities). The
governmental activities of the City include general government, public service, public safety, development, health,
and recreation and parks. The business-type activities of the City include five enterprise activities: a water system,
a sanitary sewer system, a storm sewer system, an electricity distribution system, and parking garages.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 43 — 45 of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fundis a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.
All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on the near-term inflows and outflows of
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such
information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand
the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance
sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains 173 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental
fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances for the general fund, board of health, and the special income tax debt service fund, which are considered
to be major funds. Data for the other 170 governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.
Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this report.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 46 — 49 of this report.
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Proprietary funds. The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
City uses enterprise funds to account for its water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, electricity distribution, and parking
garage operations. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally
among the City’s various functions, including employee benefits self-insurance, worker’s compensation, fleet
management, information services, mail/print services, land acquisition, and construction inspection. The services
provided by these funds predominantly benefit the governmental rather than the business-type functions. They
have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more
detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the water, sanitary sewer, storm
sewer, electricity distribution, and parking garage operations. The water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and
electricity enterprise funds are considered to be major funds of the City, while the garage fund is considered a
nonmajor fund. All internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary
fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal service funds is provided in the form of combining
statements elsewhere in this report.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 50 — 53 of this report.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources
of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is
much like that used for proprietary funds.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statement can be found on page 54-55 of this report.

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements can be found on pages 57 — 130 of this report.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City’s general fund and Board of Health
budgets. The City adopts an annual appropriation budget for its general fund and Board of Health. A budgetary
comparison statement has been provided for the general fund and Board of Health to demonstrate compliance with
this budget. Also included are three required schedules related to the City’s participation in two state pension and
OPEB funds. The Schedule of City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability includes a history of the City's
proportionate share of the collective net pension liability for each state pension fund. The Schedule of City
Contributions to State Pension and OPEB Funds includes a history of contractually required contributions compared
to contributions made. The Schedule of City’s Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability includes a history of the
City’s proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability for each state pension fund. Required supplementary
information can be found on pages 131 — 139 of this report.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds, internal service

funds, and fiduciary funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary information. Combining
and individual fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 141 — 304 of this report.
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City of Columbus
Net Position
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Current and other assets $ 1,689,132 $1,444,716 $ 1,094,508 $ 999,723 $ 2,783,640 $2,444,439
Net OPEB asset 31,662 - 9,140 - 40,802 -
Capital assets 3,302,948 3,192,853 4,403,394 4,302,663 7,706,342 7,495,516
Total Assets $ 5,023,742 $4,637,569 $ 5,507,042 ¢$ 5,302,386 $10,530,784 $9,939,955

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 347,908 $ 409,615 $ 41,780 $ 62,880 $ 389,688 $ 472,495
Long-term liabilities, excluding pension &

OPEB $ 1,887,986 ¢$1,821,408 $ 3,200,989 ¢ 3,128,781 ¢ 5,088,975 $4,950,189
Net pension & OPEB liability 1,444,434 1,758,285 72,795 180,008 1,517,229 1,938,293
Other liabilities 284,312 173,777 63,854 66,262 348,166 240,039
Total Liabilities $ 3,616,732 ¢$3,753,470 $ 3,337,638 $ 3,375,051 $ 6,954,370 $7,128,521
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 519,948 $ 428,478 $ 59,707 $ 32,667 $ 579,655 $ 461,145
Net position $ 1234970 $ 865,236 $ 2,151,477 $ 1,957,548 ¢ 3,386,447 $2,822,784
Net investment in capital assets 1,891,584 1,804,073 1,626,599 1,525,686 3,518,183 3,329,759
Restricted 183,415 182,826 1,256 1,254 184,671 184,080
Unrestricted (840,029) (1,121,663) 523,622 430,608 (316,407) (691,055)
Total net position $ 1,234,970 ¢ 865,236 $ 2,151,477 $ 1,957,548 $ 3,386,447 $2,822,784

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The
City’s assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by approximately $3.4 billion at the
close of the most recent fiscal year.

The largest portion of the City’s net position ($3.5 billion) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land,
buildings, improvements other than buildings, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure); less any related
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to residents;
therefore, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay debt must be provided from
other sources, since capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net position ($184.7 million) represents resources that are subject to restrictions
as to how they may be used. The investment in capital assets and restricted net position are offset by a deficit
unrestricted net position of $316.4 million. Although the total unrestricted net position is a $316.4 million deficit,
the unrestricted net position of the City’s business-type activities is $523.6 million and may not be used to fund
governmental activities. Due to the accounting of pensions and OPEB under GASB 68 and GASB 75, the City has
recorded a combined net pension and OPEB liability of $1.5 billion and deferred inflows of $468.3 million, offset by
deferred outflows of $345.7 million at December 31, 2021. The net negative impact applicable to governmental
activities and business-type activities was $1.5 billion and $111.1 million, respectively.

Overall net position of the City increased $563.7 million or 20.0 percent in 2021 from the net position at December
31, 2020. Net position for governmental activities increased $369.7 million, while net position for business-type
activities increased $193.9 million. The increase in net position for business-type activities was the result of the
aggregate business-type activities holding expenses to 70.6 percent of total revenue for the year. In 2021, the
water enterprise fund increased water charges by 2.0 percent and the sanitary sewer enterprise fund increased
sewer charges by 3.0 percent. Total business-type charges for services increased 1.9 percent when compared to
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2020. The increase in water and sewer charges are also attributed to an increase in the number of customers. All
other revenue in business-type activity decreased $29.4 million or 87.8 percent as compared to 2020. This is
because 2021 was the first year since 2017 that the City did not receive a BWC rebate. In addition, investment
earnings were down $20.9 million in 2021 due to the decreased yield and the recording of an unrealized loss on
investments marked to market.

Business-type activities expense for 2021 decreased $87.5 million or 16.2 percent from the comparable expenses
in 2020. The decrease results from a plan design change with the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System’s
(OPERS) OPEB plan. OPERS no longer offers a self-insured OPEB plan to its retirees. Instead, retirees receive a
monthly fixed stipend based on their eligibility. As a result, the OPERS OPEB 2020 net liability converted to a net
asset in 2021 with the offset recognized as a reduction in pension expense. This OPEB plan design change is the
main reason for the 2021 decrease in business-type expenses.

There was an increase of $100.9 million in the business-type activities net investment in capital assets in 2021 due
to principal payments on debt exceeding the annual depreciation on capital assets.

The City follows GASB Statement 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions” and GASB Statement 75,
“Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions,” which significantly revises
accounting for costs and liabilities related to pensions other postemployment benefits (OPEB). For reasons discussed
below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a clearer understanding of the City’s actual financial
condition by adding deferred inflows related to pension and OPEB, the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability
to the reported net position and subtracting deferred outflows related to pension and OPEB.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial reports
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for pensions (GASB 27) and
postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This approach limited pension and OPEB costs
to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension
liability or net OPEB liability. GASB 68 and GASB 75 take an earnings approach to pension and OPEB accounting;
however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OPEB plans and state law governing those systems requires
additional explanation in order to properly understand the information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to equal the City’s proportionate
share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive employees’ past
service;
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits.

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment
exchange” — that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise of
a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this promise is a
present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and should accordingly be
reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange. However, the City is not
responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these liabilities. In Ohio, the employee shares the
obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both employer and employee contribution rates are
capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires action of both Houses of the General Assembly and
approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also determined by State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits,
but does not require the retirement systems to provide healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement
systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited not by
contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to its
contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of the
pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral obligation of
the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with notice as to the law.
The retirement system is responsible for the administration of the pension and OPEB plans.

27



Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick and
vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment schedule for
the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits, contribution rates, and
return on investments affect the balance of these liabilities, but are outside the control of the local government. In
the event that contributions, investment returns, and other changes are insufficient to keep up with required
payments, State statute does not assign/identify the responsible party for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique
nature of how the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability are satisfied, these liabilities are separately
identified within the long-term liability section of the statement of net position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the City's statements prepared on an accrual basis of accounting include
an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s changein net
pension liability and net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows.

City of Columbus

Changes in Net Position
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenues--
Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 180,753 $ 161,690 $ 635,211 $ 623,466 $ 815,964 $ 785,156
Operating grants and contributions 243,463 330,695 101 - 243,564 330,695
Capital grants and contributions 94,670 104,070 - - 94,670 104,070
General revenues:
Income taxes 1,053,645 938,016 - - 1,053,645 938,016
Ohio BWC rebates and dividends - 87,120 - 11,504 - 98,624
Property taxes 61,480 51,639 - - 61,480 51,639
Shared revenues 52,113 38,716 - - 52,113 38,716
Investment earnings (3,503) 27,957 (2,663) 18,278 (6,166) 46,235
Other taxes 23,769 16,852 - - 23,769 16,852
Other 54,306 54,309 6,661 3,714 60,967 58,023
Total revenues $1,760,696 $1,811,064 $ 639,310 $ 656,962 $2,400,006 $2,468,026
Expenses:
General government $ 154,123 $ 225,617 $ - $ - $ 154,123 ¢$ 225,617
Public service 184,076 227,001 - - 184,076 227,001
Public safety 680,449 750,656 - - 680,449 750,656
Development 118,159 145,420 - - 118,159 145,420
Health 44,987 73,284 - - 44,987 73,284
Recreation and parks 160,705 191,822 - - 160,705 191,822
Interest on long-term debt 42,620 43,632 - - 42,620 43,632
Water - - 145,041 183,302 145,041 183,302
Sanitary sewer - - 194,487 226,969 194,487 226,969
Storm sewer - - 31,254 36,901 31,254 36,901
Electric - - 79,656 90,836 79,656 90,836
Garage - - 786 705 786 705
Total expenses $1,385,119 $1,657,432 ¢$ 451224 ¢$ 538,713 $1,836,343 $2,196,145
Increase (decrease) in net position
before transfers 375,577 153,632 188,086 118,249 563,663 271,881
Transfers (5,843) (2,536) 5,843 2,536 - -
Increase (decrease) in net position 369,734 151,096 193,929 120,785 563,663 271,881
Net position-- January 1st 865,236 714,140 1,957,548 1,836,763 2,822,784 2,550,903
Net position -- December 31st $1,234,970 $ 865,236 $2,151,477 $1,957,548 $3,386,447 $2,822,784
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Governmental activities. Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $369.7 million as compared
to a $151.1 million increase in 2020. Key offsetting elements of the changes in net position are as follows:

»  Governmental activities expenses decreased $272.3 million or 16.4 percent in 2021 due to a plan design
change with the OPERS OPEB plan. OPERS no longer offers a self-insured OPEB plan to its retirees. Instead,
retirees receive a monthly fixed stipend based on their eligibility. As a result, the OPERS OPEB 2020 net
liability converted to a net asset in 2021 with the offset recognized as a reduction in pension expense.

> Income tax revenue, which represents 59.8 percent of the City’s governmental revenue, increased by $115.6
million or 12.3 percent on a full accrual basis. This was largely attributable to increased wages in the region.

>  Property tax revenue increased $9.8 million or 19.1 percent due to the triennial property reappraisal
completed in 2020.

>  Shared revenue increased by $13.4 million due to an increased allocation of the State’s Local Government
Fund and increased casino revenue.

> Investment income decreased $31.5 million due to a decreased yield and the recording of an unrealized loss
on investments marked to market.

»  Operating grants and contributions decreased $87.2 million or 26.4 percent. This was due to a change in
COVID-19 related funding. In 2020, the City received $157.0 million in Coronavirus Relief Funds. In 2021,
the City received $93.5 million from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA).

>  Total revenues decreased 2.8 percent, while expenses decreased 16.4 percent.

Business-type activities. Business-type activity net position increased $193.9 million as compared to a $120.8
million increase in 2020. Key elements of changes in net position are as follows:

»  Charges for services, which comprise 99.4 percent of the business-type activities revenues, increased $11.7
million or 1.9 percent as water rates increased 2.0 percent and sewer rates increased 3.0 percent in 2021.
The business-type activities continued the pattern of cost containment relative to the level of revenues for
enterprise activities in 2021. The percent of annual expense to annual revenue was 70.6 percent in 2021.

>  Total business-type activities expenses decreased by $87.5 million or 16.2 percent primarily due to a plan
design change with the OPERS OPEB plan. OPERS no longer offers a self-insured OPEB plan to its retirees.
Instead, retirees receive a monthly fixed stipend based on their eligibility. As a result, the OPERS OPEB 2020
net liability converted to a net asset in 2021 with the offset recognized as a reduction in pension expense.

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances
of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In particular,
unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at
the end of the fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2021, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1.1 billion,
a increase of $105.5 million in comparison with the prior year. Approximately $633.3 million of this amount
constitutes wnrestricted fund balance or the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance. The
remainder of fund balance is restricted to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already
been restricted by parties outside the City or pursuant to enabling legislation.

A schedule of governmental funds revenues and expenditures for the last ten fiscal years has been provided in the
Statistical Section of this ACFR — see Table 4.
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General fund. The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At December 31, 2021, total fund balance
of the general fund was $304.7 million. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare
both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures, including transfers out. Unassigned
fund balance represents 26.8 percent of total general fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 30.7
percent of total general fund expenditures.

A schedule of general fund revenues and expenditures for the last ten fiscal years has been provided in the Statistical
Section of this ACFR — see Table 5.

The fund balance of the City’s general fund decreased $4.4 million during 2021. Key factors of the 2021 results
are as follows:

»  Total revenues (including transfers in) decreased $30.1 million or 3.0 percent.

> Investment income decreased $28.6 million to a negative amount of $3.3 million in 2021 due to lower
investment yields and the recording of an unrealized loss on investments marked to market. The annual yield
of the City’s investment portfolio was 0.8 percent in 2021 as compared to 1.4 percent in 2020.

» Miscellaneous revenue decreased $81.6 million since the City received no Ohio Bureau of Workers’
Compensation (BWC) rebates in 2021. Previously, the City received annual rebates from BWC every calendar
year since 2017.

» Income tax revenue, which represents 78.2 percent of general fund revenues (including transfers in),
increased 8.9 percent in 2021. This was largely attributable to increased wages in the region.

>  Property tax revenue increased $9.8 million due to the triennial update of real property assessed values in
2020, collected in 2021.

>  Shared revenues increased by $9.9 million or 38.5 percent due to an increased allocation of the Local
Government Fund from the State and casino revenues returning to pre-pandemic levels.

»  Expenditures (including transfers out) increased by $92.0 million or 10.2 percent. This was largely a function
of some expenses funded by the General fund dollars in 2019 and prior moving to the Coronavirus Relief
Fund in 2020. Those expense, which consisted mainly of emergency medical services returned to the General
fund in 2021.

Revenue narrative:

Brief descriptions of the City’s General Fund major revenue components follow.

Income taxes

The City's income tax continues to be its primary source of revenue. The tax applies to all wages, salaries,
commissions, and other compensation paid by employers and/or the net proceeds from the operation of a
business, profession, or other enterprise activity. The initial tax rate of .5 percent, collected in 1948, was
increased to 1.0 percent in 1956, 1.5 percent in 1971, and to 2.0 percent in 1983. In a special election on
August 4, 2009, the City’s voters approved an increase in the rate to 2.5 percent. The new rate was effective
October 1, 2009. Income tax rates of cities and villages within the State of Ohio are limited to a maximum
of 1.0 percent, unless specifically approved by a majority of the resident voters of the respective city or
village. There are 736 political subdivisions, other than school districts in the State of Ohio that now levy a
local income tax. Rates range from .50 percent to 3.0 percent.

Local school districts in the State of Ohio are also permitted to levy an income tax, but only with the
approval of a majority of voters within the district. Ohio has 610 school districts; 210 have an income
tax. Rates range from 0.25 percent to 2.0 percent.

Approximately 80.9 percent of the City's income tax collected in 2021 was via employers withholding the
tax from employees' earnings and remitting the tax to the City on a statutorily prescribed schedule.
Approximately 14.9 percent of collections originated from business accounts and 4.2 percent from
independently employed individual taxpayers. Depending on the amount withheld, employers must remit to
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the City on a semi-monthly, monthly, or quarterly frequency, with the largest amounts being remitted semi-
monthly.

One quarter of the revenue from this tax is accounted for in a Debt Service Fund and is primarily used
for servicing debt pertaining to non-enterprise type capital improvements. Tipping fees for disposal of
garbage collected by the City are also paid from this fund on the City's budget basis of accounting. On
the modified accrual basis of accounting, such tipping fee amounts are transferred to the General Fund
and expended as public service expenditures. Three-quarters of income tax revenues are used for General
Fund purposes. General Fund income tax revenues on the budget basis represent 2021 collections of
$789.8 million less refunds of $13.7 million for a net amount of $776.1 million. Income tax revenues on
the modified accrual basis of accounting, net of refunds, were $773.7 million.

A ten-year history of the income tax revenue and cash collections, net of refunds, appears in the Statistical
Section of this report.

Property taxes

Property taxes in Ohio are levied and collected by its 88 counties. The City lies partially within three of
these counties: Franklin, Fairfield, and Delaware. After collection, the counties distribute portions of these
taxes to the political subdivisions (school districts, cities, villages, townships, etc.) located within their
geographic borders. Property taxes for the City represent a tax rate of approximately 3.14 mills ($3.14
per $1,000 of taxable valuation) applied to the assessed value of property located in the City. Assessed
values represent approximately 35 percent of appraised values. This rate, 3.14 mills, has remained
unchanged since 1956.

Increases in this rate can only occur with approval of the City's voters. Revenues from property taxes
are used for General Fund operations, including a partial provision, 0.60 mills, for current police and fire
pension costs.

Franklin County performs comprehensive reappraisals of real property assessed values every six years,
and less formal triennial updates third year in between the six year reappraisals. The last revision in
Franklin County was a triennial update completed in 2020. Property taxes levied in 2021 but not collectible
until 2022 are accounted for in the General Fund as accounts receivable and deferred inflows at an
estimated amount of $63.5 million.

Table 10 in the Statistical Section of this report includes a history of real property assessed values, where
assessed values have risen recently. The total assessed values increased (1.3 percent) for tax year 2019,
increased (18.9 percent) for tax year 2020 and increased (1.5 percent) for tax year 2021 for Franklin County.

Overall, property tax revenue increased from $51.6 million in 2020 to $61.5 million in 2021.
Additional data on property values and taxes appear in the Statistical Section of this report.

Investment earnings

The City's investment policies are discussed in Note C. This source of revenue is not conducive to year-
to-year comparisons. Investment earnings are only deposited to the General Fund after all statutorily
directed earnings are deposited to the appropriate funds: enterprise funds, grant funds, etc. Interest
earnings in the General Fund decreased from $25.3 million in 2020 to ($3.3 ) million in 2021 due to the
lower yields and the recording of an unrealized loss on investments marked to market.

Licenses and permits

Licenses and permits are issued by the City to regulate activities related to building, health, and other
business enterprises. The general fund revenue from license and permits remained fairly flat, going from
$8.2 million to $8.5 million in 2021.

31



Shared revenues

Shared revenues in the General Fund include the taxes listed below which are levied and collected by the
state or counties and partially redistributed to the City and other political subdivisions. Provided below is a
five-year history of the City’s share of these revenues as reported in the governmental fund financial
statements on a modified accrual basis of accounting.

(in thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Shared revenues
Local government fund $ 26,301 19,177 21,408 19,868 19,449
Estate tax 27 - - 28 21
Casino Tax 8,305 5,243 7,375 7,032 7,415
State liquor fees 804 1,156 1,258 1,286 1,272
Cigarette tax and other 54 40 37 50 37

Total $ 35,491 25,616 30,078 28,264 28,194

Shared revenues increased by $9.9 million due mainly to an increased allocation from the State. In 2021,
the Ohio General Assembly increased the statutory share of the Local Government Fund from 1.66 percent
to 1.68 percent. Also in 2021, casino revenue returned to pre-pandemic levels.

Charges for services

The City performs certain services for its citizens and other municipalities for which it charges various
amounts. These services include impounding, storing, and selling abandoned autos; fire and police
protection provided to certain suburbs; and various other services. Additionally the City's general fund
allocates certain citywide costs initially borne by the general fund to certain other funds. These costs
(pro rata charges) are allocated by charging certain other funds a statutorily approved rate of 4.5 percent,
as determined by the City’s most recent cost allocation plan, of their gross revenue.

(in thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Charges for services
Parking meters and fees $ - 592 1,142 4,242 3,498
City Attorney charges 24 1,298 1,301 2,393 1,009
Police services 5,540 4,433 7,358 6,728 7,384
Fire services 22,870 21,186 22,170 21,474 20,409
Pro rata charges 33,426 31,504 31,318 30,091 29,977
All other 1,817 1,727 1,861 2,268 2,708

Total $ 63,677 60,740 65,150 67,196 64,985

Fire services, includes charges for emergency medical transportation services which were $17.3 million and
$17.0 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Charges for service increased by $2.9 million, nearing pre-
pandemic levels. Parking meter revenue has transitioned from the General Fund to a special revenue fund.
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Fines and forfeits
This revenue source consists of fines and forfeits imposed by the Franklin County Municipal Court, and parking
tickets issued by the City’s parking violations bureau.

(in thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Fines and forfeits
Fines and forfeits $ 8,086 7,424 12,318 12,551 12,600
Parking ticket revenue 5,465 4,210 6,588 5,942 6,050
Total $ 13,551 11,634 18,906 18,493 18,650

Although fines and forfeits increased in 2021, COVID-19 remote work practices and limits placed on business
operations continued to negatively impact parking revenue. In addition, the Court was able to process more
cases in 2021 than 2020, but was not back in full operation. Therefore, in 2021 fines and forfeits did not return
to pre-pandemic levels.

Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous revenues in the General Fund on the modified accrual basis of accounting consist of the

following:
(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Miscellaneous revenue
Ohio BWC rebates/dividends $ - 77,652 13,306 12,617 10,144
Electricity kiowatt revenue 3,313 3,192 3,369 3,320 2,916
Refunds and reimbursements 1,723 7,634 1,627 1,959 1,545
Other 4,167 2,330 1,410 1,614 3,371

Total $ 9,203 90,808 19,712 19,510 17,976

Miscellaneous revenue decreased $81.6 million in 2021 because 2021 was the first year since 2017 that
the city did not receive a rebate from BWC. Previous rebates are reflected in the table above.

Expenditure (including transfers out) narrative:

»  Public safety, primarily police and fire service, continues to be the dominant function of the General Fund.
Public safety expenditures were 66.7 percent and 66.8 percent of total expenditures (including transfers out)
for 2021 and 2020, respectively. Total general fund expenditures increased $92.0 million or 10.2 percent in
2021; expenditures (including transfers out) exceeded revenues (including transfers in) for the year by $4.4
million. This was largely a function of some expenses that are typically funded by General fund dollars
moving to the Coronavirus Relief funding in 2020.

General Fund revenue and expenditure trend information over the last ten years is included in the Statistical Section
of this report — see Table 5 and Table 6.

Board of Health. Beginning in 2019, the Board of Health (the Board) is reported as a blended component unit
after it was determined the Board was a legally separate entity. In addition, the Board of Health is reported as a
major fund due to its significance to the City. The Board has a total fund balance of $12.8 million.

Special income tax debt service fund. The special income tax debt service fund has a total fund balance of
$265.0 million. The net increase in fund balance during 2021 in this fund was approximately $47.3 million. One
quarter of the City’s income tax revenue is set aside to meet debt service requirements for governmental activity
type debt. Premiums on governmental activities bonds issued are reported in the special income tax fund. The
increase in fund balance was due to the increase in income tax revenue and the increase in premiums from bonds
sold in 2021.

33



Proprietary Funds
The City’s proprietary funds financial statements provide the same information found in the government-wide
financial statements, but in more detail.

The City operates five enterprise activities: a water system, a sanitary sewer system, a storm sewer system, an
electricity distribution system, and two City-owned parking garages. These activities are accounted for in separate
enterprise funds. Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner
similar to private business enterprises—where the City intends that the costs of providing goods or services to the
general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges. The City accounts for
its enterprise funds on the full accrual basis of accounting.

The annual charges and rate increases for the average Columbus resident/user of water and sewers over the last ten
years are included in Table 14 of the Statistical Section. An average Columbus resident/user is defined as a customer
using 12,000 cubic feet of water annually. Water and sanitary sewer charges are designed to provide resources for
both capital and operating costs. Storm sewer and electricity charges are designed to provide resources for operating
costs (maintenance) and certain, but not all, capital costs.

The City's enterprises are not subject to rate review or determination by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio or any
similar regulatory body. The City's Council has the necessary authority to establish appropriate user rates when
needed. The rates are reviewed and established by the Council annually. The frequency and amounts of rate setting
authority lies solely with the City's Council.

Unrestricted net position at the end of the year amounted to $171.8 million, $264.6 million, $40.3 million, $23.7
million, and $5.8 million for the water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, electricity, and garage enterprises, respectively.
Net position in the water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, electricity and garage enterprise funds increased $70.3
million, $96.0 million, $12.9 million, $6.8 million and $3.9 million, respectively. Other factors concerning the
finances of these funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities.

Water. The City’s water enterprise serves the residents of the City and the majority of suburban communities in the
Columbus vicinity. The population of the service area is estimated at 1,323,822 million persons. The water enterprise
serves 280,742 customer accounts, owns and maintains 2,535 miles of water mains primarily within the City and
maintains an additional 1,037 miles of mains beyond the City’s borders.

The City obtains its raw water supply from rivers, reservoirs, and wells. The enterprise conducted a regional water
resource project which is used as a guide to develop additional water supply, treatment facilities, and distribution
components as dictated by increasing demand. Future supply requirements will be addressed through a combination
of demand management efforts and upground reservoirs.

The enterprise operates one of the most sophisticated water laboratories in the nation. The lab has maintained its
EPA certification since the certification process began in 1976 pursuant to the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974. On a
semiannual basis, the lab must conduct various water study sample tests. The certification covers both equipment
and personnel and represents a measure of quality performance. The staff is fully supported with state of the art
equipment. Their primary responsibility is to assure that the water enterprise is, and will remain, in compliance with
all federal, state, and local requirements.

All bonds of the water enterprise are paid from water enterprise revenues.

Water’s net position increased by $70.3 million in 2021 as compared to $39.0 million in 2020 due to two main offsetting
reasons. Water realized a personnel expense reduction due to OPERS OPEB plan design changes. OPERS replaced its
self-insured retiree OPEB plan with a monthly fixed stipend. As a result, the 2020 OPERS net OPEB liability transitioned
to a net OPEB asset in 2021. The offset was a reduction to personnel expense. The cost savings was offset by a
decrease in investment earnings. The realized investment returns were cut in half in 2021 after the federal funds rate
was near zero. The reversal of 2020 unrealized gains offset the realized earnings in 2021 producing a net investment
loss.

A ten-year comparison of certain water enterprise data is shown in Table 7 of the Statistical Section.
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Sanitary Sewer. The City's sanitary sewer enterprise also serves the metropolitan area with approximately
277,978 customer accounts, both residential and commercial. Included in the total sewer system are 4,452 miles
of sanitary sewers, 3,348 miles of storm sewers, and 160 miles of combined sanitary/storm sewers. The costs and
related financial activities of sanitary and combined sewers are accounted for in the Sanitary Sewer Enterprise Fund.

When the Jackson Pike plant, one of the City’s two treatment plants, reaches capacity the excess automatically flows
through connectors to the Southerly plant. The Southerly plant has a design capacity that allows gallons treated to
exceed, by approximately 20 percent, the maximum longer term sustainable maximum capacity for shorter periods of
time.

All bonds and notes of the sanitary sewer enterprise are paid from sanitary sewer enterprise revenues.

Sanitary Sewer’s net position increased by $96.0 million in 2021 as compared to $70.4 million in 2020 due to two
main offsetting reasons. Sanitary Sewer realized a personnel expense reduction due to OPERS OPEB plan design
changes. OPERS replaced its self-insured retiree OPEB plan with a monthly fixed stipend. As a result, the 2020 OPERS
net OPEB liability transitioned to a net OPEB asset in 2021. The offset was a reduction to personnel expense. The cost
savings was offset by a decrease in investment earnings. The realized investment returns were cut in half in 2021
after the federal funds rate was near zero. The reversal of 2020 unrealized gains offset the realized earnings in 2021
producing a net investment loss.

A ten-year comparison of certain sanitary sewer enterprise data is shown in Table 7 of the Statistical Section.

Storm Sewer. The City’s storm sewer enterprise serves the metropolitan area. The City intends that all costs of the
storm sewer enterprise be supported by user charges.

The City’s storm sewer enterprise owns and maintains 3,348 miles of such sewers and has 199,332 customer accounts,
all within the City’s borders.

All bonds and notes of the storm sewer enterprise are paid from storm sewer enterprise revenues.

Storm Sewer’s net position increased by $12.9 million in 2021 as compared to $9.3 million in 2020 due to two main
offsetting reasons. Storm Sewer realized a personnel expense reduction due to OPERS OPEB plan design changes.
OPERS replaced its self-insured retiree OPEB plan with a monthly fixed stipend. As a result, the 2020 OPERS net OPEB
liability transitioned to a net OPEB asset in 2021. The offset was a reduction to personnel expense. The cost savings
was offset by a decrease in investment earnings. The realized investment returns were cut in half in 2021 after the
federal funds rate was near zero. The reversal of 2020 unrealized gains offset the realized earnings in 2021 producing
a net investment loss.

A ten-year comparison of certain storm sewer enterprise data is shown in Table 7 of the Statistical Section.

Electricity. The City owns and operates an electricity distribution system and accounts for it in the Electricity
Enterprise Fund. The system had its origin in the 1890's and generated electricity from burning coal. The initial sole
purpose for its existence was to light the streets of the City. In response to environmental concerns, the City ceased
generating electricity. The City continued distributing electric power by purchasing all of its needed power from
privately owned and other publicly owned utilities. The City intends that all costs of the electric enterprise be supported
by user charges except for certain debt service, principal and interest, on bonds authorized by the voters. This net
debt service amount in 2021 was $1.8 million and is included in the enterprise financial statements as a transfer in
from the Special Income Tax Debt Service Fund.

Rates charged to customers are determined solely by the City’s Council after recommendation by the electricity
enterprise management. Council’s determination is final and is not subject to review or approval by any other
regulatory body. Rates are, however, subject to market driven competition provided by the private electric utility in
the area.
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Electricity’s net position increased by $6.8 in 2021 as compared to a $2.6 million loss in 2020 due to two main offsetting
reasons. Electricity realized a personnel expense reduction due to OPERS OPEB plan design changes. OPERS replaced
its self-insured retiree OPEB plan with a monthly fixed stipend. As a result, the 2020 OPERS net OPEB liability
transitioned to a net OPEB asset in 2021. The offset was a reduction to personnel expense. The cost savings was
offset by a decrease in investment earnings. The realized investment returns were cut in half in 2021 after the federal
funds rate was near zero. The reversal of 2020 unrealized gains offset the realized earnings in 2021 producing a net
investment loss.

A ten-year comparison of certain electricity enterprise data is shown in Table 7 of the Statistical Section.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The final amended general fund budget had total appropriations of approximately $75.2 million more than the
original budget. The total original appropriations, including those for transfers out, were $973.2 million, while the
final appropriations were $1.048 billion. The City collected more income tax than had been previously projected
after 2021 personal income soared in response to fiscal stimulus payments. A ten-year history of fund balances in
the various components of the General Fund follows:

Budget Basis (in thousands)

Safety

Economic Anticipated  staffing Job Public Total

Undesignated stabilization expenditures contingency Growth  Safety  Basic City Neighbor- ~ Reimagine  General

Year Ended subfund subfund subfund subfund subfund  Initiative _ Services  hood Initiative __ Safety Fund
2012 $ 39,903 $39805 $ 8874 $ - $ 306 ¢ - ¢ 11,000 $ - 8 - $ 99,888
2013 44,457 56,145 10,996 2 569 111 5,000 74 - 117,354
2014 29,171 64,075 13,181 3 471 626 5,714 292 - 113,533
2015 30,722 66,741 15,432 - 154 199 5,160 77 - 118,485
2016 30,206 69,522 17,750 - 135 150 3,330 104 - 121,197
2017 17,670 73,946 20,138 - 463 215 16,651 299 - 129,382
2018 16,170 76,180 22,597 - 635 510 12,963 1,372 - 130,427
2019 40,796 80,655 25,130 - 534 68 14,761 1,156 - 163,100
2020 78,261 85,158 3,266 - 1,169 754 74,045 1,465 - 244,118
2021 58,300 87,881 5,953 - 880 455 60,545 1,740 6,472 222,226

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City’s investment in capital assets for governmental and business-type activities as of
December 31, 2021 amounts to $7.7 billion (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets
includes land, buildings, systems, improvements, machinery and equipment, park facilities, roads, curbs and
gutters, streets and sidewalks, and drainage systems. The total increase in the City’s investment in capital assets
for 2021 was 2.8 percent (a 3.4 percent increase for governmental activities and a 2.3 percent increase for business-
type activities).

Capital Assets, net of depreciation
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Land $ 312,028 $ 307,728 $ 89,053 $ 87,864 ¢$ 401,081 $ 395,592
Buildings 612,994 625,038 39,921 42,873 652,915 667,911
Improvements other than

buildings 489,421 451,998 4,034,757 3,953,926 4,524,178 4,405,924
Machinery and equipment 121,833 129,167 37,098 35,952 158,931 165,119
Infrastructure 1,755,426 1,678,922 181,435 180,684 1,936,861 1,859,606
Construction in progress 11,246 - 21,130 1,364 32,376 1,364
Total $ 3,302,948 ¢$ 3,192,853 $ 4,403,394 $ 4,302,663 $ 7,706,342 $ 7,495,516
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Major capital asset events during 2021 included the following:

>
>

Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, increased $210.8 million.

Business-type activity capital assets increased by $100.7 million or $232.0 million, net of $131.3 million in
current year depreciation expense. The increase was due to: $104.7 million in sanitary sewer plant and line
improvements; $82.4 million in water plant and water line improvements; $35.6 million in other
improvements; and $9.3 million in equipment.

Governmental activity capital assets increased by $110.1 million or $236.9 million acquisitions, net of $126.1
million in depreciation expense and $688 thousand in disposals. These acquisitions consist of: $130.5 million
in land, traffic signals and other street improvements; $30.2 million in park land and improvements; $20.5
million in donated streets; $6.2 million in public safety equipment; $6.7 million in refuse and public service
equipment; and $42.8 million in other improvements.

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note F in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Long-term debt. At December 31, 2021, the City, the primary government, had $4.9 billion of long-term bonds
and loans outstanding with net unamortized premiums and discounts of $328.6 million. All assessment bonds and
notes issued by the City are general obligation bonds and notes. There were $51 thousand in assessment bonds,
all related to business-type activities, outstanding at December 31, 2021. The revenue bonds of the City represent
bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources.

City of Columbus
General Obligation and Revenue Bonds Outstanding
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
General obligation bonds
and notes $ 1,676,658 $ 1,616,612 $ 1,541,794 $ 1,478,549 ¢ 3,218,452 $ 3,095,161
Revenue bonds and notes 69,489 61,000 1,650,197 1,641,242 1,719,686 1,702,242
Total $ 1,746,147 $ 1,677,612 $3,191,991 ¢ 3,119,791 ¢$ 4,938,138 $ 4,797,403

Total long-term bonds and loans outstanding at December 31, 2021 increased $140.7 million or 2.9 percent as
compared to the amount outstanding at December 31, 2020. Key events contributing to the change in long-term
debt balances are as follow:

>

>

The City’s business-type activities issued $103.3 million in Ohio Water Development Authority revenue
obligations for various projects.

On February 17, 2021, the City issued $371.9 million of general obligation bonds for the purpose of funding
various projects throughout the City; $214.2 million in governmental activities bonds and $157.7 million in
business-type activities bonds.

On February 17, 2021, the City issued $31.3 million of general obligation taxable refunding bonds to advance
refund $31.3 million of certain outstanding bonds issued in 2011 and 2012; $20.1 million in governmental
activities bonds and $11.2 million in business-type activities bonds.

Governmental and business-type activities paid $405.9 million on debt maturities in 2021.
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The City’s general obligation bond ratings by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. and
Fitch Ratings are “"AAA”, “Aaa”, and “AAA", respectively. The City’s bond ratings were confirmed with the respective
rating agencies as shown in the table below.

Moody's Investor

Services Standard and Poor's Fitch Ratings
Prior Current Prior Current Current
Bond Description Rating Rating Rating Rating Prior Rating Rating
General Obligation Bonds — Fixed Rate Aaa Aaa AAA AAA AAA AAA
2006 Sanitary Sewer System Adjustable
Rate General Obligation Bonds Aaa/VMIG1 Aaa/VMIG1 AAA/A-1+ AAA/A-1+ AAA/F1+ AAA/F1+

2008 Sanitary Sewer System Adjustable Aal/VMIG
Rate Revenue Bonds (Series 2008B) 1 Aal/VMIG1 AA+/A-1+ AA+/A-1+ AA/F1+ AA-/F1+

2014 Sanitary Sewer System Fixed Rate
Revenue Refunding Bonds Aal Aal AA+ AA AA AA-

2015 Sanitary Sewer System Fixed Rate
Revenue Refunding Bonds Aal Aal AA+ AA (Not Rated) (Not Rated)

The City is within all of its legal debt limitations. The Ohio Revised Code provides that the net debt (as defined in the
Ohio Revised Code) of a municipal corporation, whether or not approved by the electors, shall not exceed 10.5 percent
of the total value of all property in the municipal corporation as listed and assessed for taxation. In addition, the
unvoted net debt of municipal corporations cannot exceed 5.5 percent of the total taxation value of property. The
statutory limitations on debt are measured by the ratio of net debt to tax valuation and expressed in terms of a
percentage. At December 31, 2021, the City's total net debt amounted to 4.56 percent of the total assessed value of
all property within the City. Unvoted net debt amounted to 0.0 percent of the total assessed value of all property
within the City. The City had a legal debt margin for total debt of $1.215 billion and a legal debt margin for unvoted
debt of $1.126 billion. The aggregate amount of the City's unvoted debt is also subject to overlapping debt restrictions
with other political subdivisions. The actual aggregate amount of the City's unvoted debt, when added to that of
other political subdivisions within the respective counties in which Columbus lies, is limited to ten mills.

Additional information regarding the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note G in the Notes to the Financial
Statements.

Economic Factors and the 2022 General Fund Budget

The 2022 budget of $1.038 billion reflects the Mayor’s Equity Agenda and the priorities of the residents of Columbus,
with a focus on police reform, affordable housing, and neighborhoods. A balanced approach of maintaining current
city services in 2022 while closing existing gaps exposed by the COVID-19 public health emergency and the specific
needs of our most vulnerable residents was considered in formulating this budget.

Historically, the City’s revenue estimates have been built upon multi-year analyses and largely predictable trend
data. The last two years have been extraordinary; we have often had to deal with more uncertainty than certainty.
There are four evolving factors that will impact our revenue in 2022: 1. Remote work and its effect on the City's
income tax revenue; 2. Ongoing COVID-19 Recovery; 3. Economic Growth; and 4. Income Tax Refunds Due to
Remote Work in 2021.

Remote work remains the largest threat to the City’s future tax collections. While rules for taxing remote work were
initially relaxed, the State passed legislation in June of 2021 to allow for refunds of 2021 municipal income tax paid
on behalf of remote workers to the municipality where the business was located rather than where the employee
was physically working. These refunds will be requested in 2022 with the filing of 2021 tax returns; however, due
to this change, the City saw a slight impact to withholding tax revenue during the second half of 2021 as employers
began adjusting their withholdings to where remote workers were working.
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Beginning January 1, 2022, the rules for taxing remote work return to normal (i.e. withholding taxes where an
employee is physically doing the work). As such, the City is anticipating potentially large impacts to income tax
collections in the next fiscal year(s) given the quantity and frequency of remote work. Predicting the long-term use
of remote work and the length of time it will take for employers to fully implement processes to track such work is
difficult. At present, not all employers have the functionality in place to track remote work and withhold correctly.
Consequently, we expect that it will take some time for revenues to fully reflect remote work. The City has
anticipated revenue losses due to remote work in its 2022 Budget.

While the City does not anticipate needing to access its reserves, the City maintains sizable financial flexibility: the
$304.687 million general fund balance includes an unassigned amount of approximately $266.623 million, including
$87.881 million set aside in the City’s Economic Stabilization (or “Rainy Day”) subfund.

While any future impact of COVID-19 to the City cannot be fully predicted, the City is actively monitoring public
health efforts and corresponding impacts to the economy. The City is also monitoring litigation regarding the
subject of municipal taxation and remote work. Please see Note R: COVID-19 Pandemic for additional disclosure.

Request for Information

This financial report is designed to provide our residents, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a
general overview of the City’s finances and to show accountability for the money it receives. This report is also
available on the City’s website at www.columbus.gov. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City Auditor’s Office, 90 West
Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio, 43215.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2021

(amounts expressed in thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents with treasurer
Cash and cash equivalents with fiscal and
escrow agents and other
Cash and cash equivalents with trustee
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Due from other governments
Internal Balances
Inventories
Other assets
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents with treasurer and other
Cash and cash equivalents with trustee
Net OPEB Asset
Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress
Other Capital Assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total Capital Assets
Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued wages and benefits
Accrued interest payable
Due to:
Others
Matured bonds and interest payable
Advances from grantors
Payables from restricted assets:
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Due to others
Long-term liabilities
Due within one year
Accrued vacation and sick leave
Claims and judgments
Notes payable
Demand bonds
Bonds payable, net
Due in more than one year
Accrued vacation and sick leave
Claims and judgments
Net Pension and OPEB Liability
Notes payable
Bonds payable, net
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:

Capital projects

Debt Service

Other purposes
Unrestricted

Total net position

Exhibit 1
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ 1,097,750 $ 543,208 1,640,958
1,361 - 1,361
1,168 - 1,168
234,653 119,331 353,984
64,072 - 64,072
(12,301) 12,301 -
902 19,191 20,093
23,222 - 23,222
278,305 399,221 677,526
- 1,256 1,256
31,662 9,140 40,802
323,274 110,183 433,457
2,979,674 4,293,211 7,272,885
3,302,948 4,403,394 7,706,342
5,023,742 5,507,042 10,530,784
347,908 41,780 389,688
41,094 12,467 53,561
43,413 2,594 46,007
20,642 33,511 54,153
51,771 82 51,853
847 - 847
116,079 - 116,079
10,466 12,815 23,281
- 629 629
- 1,756 1,756
81,206 8,998 90,204
23,812 - 23,812
714 27,200 27,914
- 71,855 71,855
216,195 234,615 450,810
33,048 - 33,048
3,773 - 3,773
1,444,434 72,795 1,517,229
26,698 - 26,698
1,502,540 2,858,321 4,360,861
3,616,732 3,337,638 6,954,370
519,948 59,707 579,655
1,891,584 1,626,599 3,518,183
27,541 - 27,541
41,181 1,256 42,437
114,693 - 114,693
(840,029) 523,622 (316,407)

$ 1234970 $ 2,151477 3,386,447

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Program Revenue

Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants
Functions/Programs Expenses Services and Contributions and Contributions
Primary government
Governmental Activities
General government $ 154,123 $ 54,932 $ 31,288 $ -
Public service 184,076 30,348 42,077 94,593
Public safety 680,449 30,055 2,921 77
Development 118,159 28,695 26,708 -
Health 44,987 8,559 35,211 -
Recreation and parks 160,705 28,164 105,258 -
Interest on Long-term debt 42,620 - - -
Total governmental activities 1,385,119 180,753 243,463 94,670
Business-type activities
Water 145,041 214,813 - -
Sanitary Sewer 194,487 290,870 - -
Storm Sewer 31,254 44,564 - -
Electricity 79,656 84,149 101 -
Garages 786 815 - -
Total business-type activities 451,224 635,211 101 -
Total primary government 1,836,343 815,964 243,564 94,670

General revenues:
Income taxes
Property taxes
Shared revenues
Hotel/Motel taxes
Investment earnings (loss)
Municipal motor vehicle tax
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position
Net position - beginning
Net position - ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement
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Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ (67,903) (67,903)
(17,058) (17,058)
(647,396) (647,396)
(62,756) (62,756)
(1,217) (1,217)
(27,283) (27,283)
(42,620) (42,620)
(866,233) (866,233)

69,772 69,772

96,383 96,383

13,310 13,310

4,594 4,594

29 29

184,088 184,088
(866,233) 184,088 (682,145)

1,053,645 - 1,053,645

61,480 - 61,480

52,113 - 52,113

15,906 - 15,906

(3,503) (2,663) (6,166)

7,863 - 7,863

54,306 6,661 60,967

(5,843) 5,843 -

1,235,967 9,841 1,245,808

369,734 193,929 563,663

865,236 1,957,548 2,822,784

$ 1,234,970 $ 2,151,477 3,386,447
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Exhibit 3
City of Columbus, Ohio

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2021

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Special Other Total
General Board of Income Tax Governmental Governmental
Fund Health Fund Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and investments with treasurer $ 350,532 $ 12,384 $ 244,961 $ 639,880 $ 1,247,757
Cash and investments with fiscal and
escrow agents and other - - - 1,361 1,361
Cash and investments with trustee - - - 1,168 1,168
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles) 153,407 - 26,842 54,380 234,629
Due from other:
Governments 13,759 5,054 - 45,259 64,072
Funds 4,735 2 20,803 295 25,835
Other assets - - - 8,067 8,067
Total assets 522,433 17,440 292,606 750,410 1,582,889
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 12,027 1,060 3,603 30,992 47,682
Due to other:
Funds 598 1,485 250 21,947 24,280
Others 28,336 365 940 22,097 51,738
Matured bonds and interest payable - - 847 - 847
Advances from grantors - - - 116,079 116,079
Accrued wages and benefits 37,255 1,115 - 3,714 42,084
Total liabilities 78,216 4,025 5,640 194,829 282,710
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 139,530 581 22,000 79,979 242,090
FUND BALANCES
Restricted - 2,468 - 422,355 424,823
Committed 22,563 8,318 264,966 70,071 365,918
Assigned 15,501 2,048 - - 17,549
Unassigned 266,623 - - (16,824) 249,799
Total fund balances 304,687 12,834 264,966 475,602 1,058,089
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
and fund balances $ 522433 $ 17440 $ 292,606 $ 750,410 $ 1,582,889

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 3.1
City of Columbus, Ohio

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Total fund balance, governmental funds (Exhibit 3) $ 1,058,089

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities (excluding internal service fund capital assets of
$51,591) are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds. Those assets

consist of?:
Land and Construction in progress 321,607
Buildings, net of $334,339 accumulated depreciation 582,373
Improvements other than buildings, net of $172,316 accumulated depreciation 475,140
Machinery and equipment, net of $209,910 accumulated depreciation 116,811
Infrastructure, net of $918,995 accumulated depreciation 1,755,426
Total capital assets (See Note F) 3,251,357

Internal services funds (see Exhibit 5) are used by the City to account for the financing of goods or

services provided by one department or agency to other City departments or agencies, generally on

a cost reimbursement basis. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in

governmental activities in the statement of net position. 55,243

City income tax revenue related to 2021 (and prior tax years) will be collected beyond the 60 day
period used to record revenue in the fund statements. Revenue and a corresponding receivable for
this amount are included in the government-wide statements. 88,000

Charges for services related to 2021 (and prior years) will be collected beyond the 60 day period
used to record revenue in the fund statements. Revenue and a corresponding receivable for this
amount are included in the government-wide statements. 7,415

Grant revenue related to 2021 will be collected beyond the 60 day period used to record revenue in
the fund statements. Revenue and a corresponding receivable for this amount are included in the
government-wide statements. 3,933

State shared revenue appropriated during the State of Ohio's fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 will be

collected beyond the 60 day period used to record revenue in the fund statements. Revenue and a

corresponding receivable for this amount are included in the government-wide statements. 31,377
Net pension and OPEB liability is not due and payable in the current period; therefore, the liability

and related deferred inflows and deferred outflows of resources are not reported in the

governmental funds.

Balances at December 31, 2021 are:

Deferred outflows of resources - pension and OPEB 329,762
Deferred inflows of resources - pension and OPEB (385,373)
Net pension and OPEB liability (1,387,567)

Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's governmental activities are not due and payable in the
current period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities. Interest on long-term debt is not
accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities -
both current and long-term - are reported in the statement of net position. Also, during the year the
City issued new debt. The deferred amount on refunding were reported in the governmental fund
when the debt was issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized, over the remaining
life of the new debt, as an adjustment to interest expense in the statement of activities.

Balances at December 31, 2021 are:

Claims and judgments (2,500)

Accrued interest on bonds (20,148)

Accrued vacation and sick leave (110,161)
Bonds and notes payable (1,552,132)
Unamortized deferred amount on refunding 14,204
Unamortized premiums (146,529)

Total long-term liabilities (see Note G) (1,684,457)

Net Position of Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position (Exhibit 1) $ 1,234,970

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

REVENUES
Income taxes
Property taxes
Grants and subsidies
Investment income (loss)
Licenses and permits
Shared revenue
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Payments in lieu of taxes
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government
Public service
Public safety
Development
Health
Recreation and parks
Capital Outlay
Debt Service:
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt
Refunding bonds issued
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Premium on bonds issued
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning of year
Fund balances - end of year

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Exhibit 4

Special Other Total
General Board of Income Tax Governmental Governmental
Fund Health Fund Funds Funds
773,734 $ - $ 257911 % - $ 1,031,645
61,480 - - - 61,480
- 32,562 - 208,341 240,903
(3,263) - - (240) (3,503)
8,508 3,503 - 26,966 38,977
35,491 - - 59,595 95,086
63,677 4,929 - 49,771 118,377
13,551 16 - 3,619 17,186
- - - 48,878 48,878
9,203 38 2,297 67,256 78,794
962,381 41,048 260,208 464,186 1,727,823
151,029 - 1,473 40,821 193,323
49,102 - - 79,689 128,791
662,740 - - 10,739 673,479
44,954 - - 85,172 130,126
- 68,424 - 968 69,392
43,975 - 205 134,643 178,823
2,634 520 - 266,304 269,458
- - 154,500 11,817 166,317
- - 63,328 3,357 66,685
954,434 68,944 219,506 633,510 1,876,394
7,947 (27,896) 40,702 (169,324) (148,571)
26,569 37,727 4,968 27,055 96,319
(38,879) - (38,861) (26,114) (103,854)
- 1,100 - 220,045 221,145
- - 17,275 - 17,275
- - (18,242) - (18,242)
- - 41,476 - 41,476
(12,310) 38,827 6,616 220,986 254,119
(4,363) 10,931 47,318 51,662 105,548
309,050 1,903 217,648 423,940 952,541
304,687 $ 12,834 $ 264,966 $ 475,602 $ 1,058,089

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 4.1
City of Columbus, Ohio

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (Exhibit 4) $ 105,548

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of

activities the cost of those assets, which meet capitalization requirements, is allocated over their

estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This amount includes the

adjustment for capital outlay expenditures capitalized ($231,069 of total capital outlay of

$269,458 met the capitalization requirements) offset by depreciation expense ($122,639) and the

disposal of assets ($1,167) in the current period. The City had donated capital assets of $4,590

in 2021 which is not reported in the governmental funds. 111,853

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenues in the funds. The amount is the net effect of the reversal of prior year
items against current year accruals. 27,988

The long-term liability for compensated absences is not recorded in the funds, but is reported in
the statement of activities. This amount is the current year change in the liability, reported as an
expense in the statement of activities. (6,799)

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt

increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of bond principal is an

expenditure in the governmental funds, but repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the

statement of net position. This amount is the amount by which bond proceeds for new bond

issues ($221,145) and refunding bond issues ($17,275) exceeds the repayment of bond principal

(166,316) in the governmental funds. (72,103)

Bond premiums are included as revenue in the funds, but capitalized and amortized over the life
of the bonds in the government-wide financial statements. (13,663)

Deferred amounts on refunding are included as expenditures in the funds, but are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds in the government-wide financial statements. This amount
represents the amortization in 2020 of deferred amounts on all refundings. 14,778

Contractually required pension contributions are reported as expenditures in the governmental
funds; however, the statement of net position reports these amounts as deferred outflows. 115,443

Changes in the net pension liability, except for amounts reported as deferred inflows and deferred
outflows of resources, are reported as pension expense in the statement of activities. 60,402

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 7,268
Change in net position of internal service funds reported with governmental activities 19,019
Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit 2) $ 369,734

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents with treasurer
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Due from other funds
Inventory
Other assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents with
treasurer and other
Cash and cash equivalents with trustees
Net OPEB asset
Capital Assets:
Land and Construction in Progress
Other capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation
Total non-current assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other:
Funds
Others
Accrued interest payable
Accrued wages and benefits
Accrued vacation and sick leave
Claims and judgments
Current portion of:
Demand bonds
Bonds, notes and loans payable
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable
Due to others
Customer deposits
Claims and judgments
Net Pension and OPEB Liability, net
Bonds and loans payable, net
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted
Total net position

City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise

Exhibit 5

Adjustment to consolidate internal service fund activities
Total Net Position per government-wide financial statements

Nonmajor Governmental
Major Funds Fund Activities -
Sanitary Storm Internal
Water Sewer Sewer Electricity Garage Total Service Funds
$ 192,817 275240 $ 3948 $ 35407 $ 258 ¢ 543,208 $ 111,059
41,136 57,400 7,555 6,593 6,647 119,331 24
248 608 19 236 - 1,111 2,809
6,766 11,054 - 1,371 - 19,191 902
- - - - - - 15,155
240,967 344,302 47,060 43,607 6,905 682,841 129,949
137,744 205,953 24,939 17,416 13,169 399,221 17,239
- 1,256 - - - 1,256 -
3,954 3,909 363 914 - 9,140 3,640
46,412 25,934 11,258 2,391 24,188 110,183 1,667
1,356,663 2,638,050 181,436 99,591 17,471 4,293,211 49,924
1,544,773 2,875,102 217,996 120,312 54,828 4,813,011 72,470
1,785,740 3,219,404 265,056 163,919 61,733 5,495,852 202,419
12,472 24,804 2,788 1,716 - 41,780 3,942
2,717 2,657 289 5,671 1,133 12,467 3,812
1,094 1,657 747 1,019 18 4,535 940
5 4 - 73 - 82 33
13,147 18,636 1,281 447 - 33,511 494
1,159 1,084 92 259 - 2,594 1,329
3,420 4,563 182 833 - 8,998 4,094
- - - - - - 21,312
- 71,855 - - - 71,855 -
82,165 136,474 12,033 3,943 27,200 261,815 10,137
103,707 236,930 14,624 12,245 28,351 395,857 42,151
7,780 4,047 502 486 - 12,815 66
- 1,756 - - - 1,756 -
- - - 629 - 629 -
- - - - - - 3,773
31,335 31,338 2,837 7,285 - 72,795 28,845
989,918 1,739,077 94,334 34,992 - 2,858,321 37,347
1,029,033 1,776,218 97,673 43,392 - 2,946,316 70,031
1,132,740 2,013,148 112,297 55,637 28,351 3,342,173 112,182
25,202 25,724 2,605 6,176 - 59,707 23,211
468,485 937,772 112,626 80,088 27,628 1,626,599 21,581
- 1,256 - - - 1,256 -
171,785 266,308 40,316 23,734 5,754 507,897 49,387
$ 640,270 $ 1,205,336 _$ 152942 ¢ 103,822 ¢ 33,382 ¢ 2,135752 §$ 70,968
15,725
$ 2,151,477

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Purchased power
Depreciation
Other
Total Operating expenses
Operating income

NON-OPERATING REVENUES

(EXPENSES)
Investment income (loss)
Interest expense

Other, net

Total non-operating expenses

Income before transfers
Transfers in
Transfers out
Change in net position

Total net position - beginning

Total net position - ending

Change in net position, per above

City of Columbus, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise

Exhibit 6

Adjustment to consolidate the internal service fund activities
Total change in net position of business-type activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Nonmajor Governmental
Major Funds Fund Activities -
Sanitary Storm Internal
Water Sewer Sewer Electricity _ Garage Total Service Funds
$ 214813 $ 290,870 $ 44,564 $ 84,149 $ 815 $ 635211 $ 274,758
2,452 2,567 280 1,044 - 6,343 17,952
217,265 293,437 44,844 85,193 815 641,554 292,710
15,403 14,520 6,390 2,521 - 38,834 18,016
20,324 9,003 352 2,356 18 32,053 15,040
38,399 48,056 16,392 12,163 35 115,045 233,749
- - - 56,184 - 56,184 -
47,530 72,171 5,755 5,225 633 131,314 3,445
- 996 417 566 - 1,979 11
121,656 144,746 29,306 79,015 686 375,409 270,261
95,609 148,691 15,538 6,178 129 266,145 22,449
(579) (1,474) (150) (182) (278) (2,663) -
(24,773) (51,392) (2,514) (918) (100) (79,697) (1,050)
@ 201 - 4 1 199 30
(25,359) (52,665) (2,664) (1,096) (377) (82,161) (1,020)
70,250 96,026 12,874 5,082 (248) 183,984 21,429
- - - 1,762 4,157 5,919 1,692
- - - (76) - (76) -
70,250 96,026 12,874 6,768 3,909 189,827 23,121
570,020 1,109,310 140,068 97,054 29,473 1,945,925 47,847
$ 640270 _$ 1205336 _$ 152942 _¢$ 103,822 _$ 33382 _$ 2135752 _$ 70,968
189,827
4,102
$ 193,929



Operating activities:
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to employees
Cash paid to suppliers
Other receipts
Other payments
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

Noncapital financing activities:
Transfers in
Transfers out

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital
financing activities

Capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from issuance of bonds, loans and notes
Refunding bonds and notes issued
Premium on bonds issued
Principal payments on bonds and loans
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Interest and fiscal charges paid on bonds,
loans and notes

Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities

Investing activities:
Interest received on investments

Net cash provided by investing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
(including $322,678 in total restricted accounts)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
(including $400,477 in total restricted accounts)

City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows Exhibit 7
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Nonmajor Governmental
Major Funds Fund Activities -

Sanitary Storm Internal Service

Water Sewer Sewer Electricity Garages Total Funds
$ 216,130 $ 296,661 $ 44,781 $ 84,665 $ 780 $ 643,017 $ 272,472
(48,029) (56,114) (4,314) (10,812) - (119,269) (43,315)
(58,731) (60,546) (21,250) (70,965) - (211,492) (251,378)
2,449 2,545 280 1,048 348 6,670 18,206
(19) (78) (75) (113) - (285) (6)
111,800 182,468 19,422 3,823 1,128 318,641 (4,021)
- - - 1,762 4,157 5,919 1,692
- - - (76) - (76) -
- - - 1,686 4,157 5,843 1,692
150 228 - 41 - 419 33
(89,038) (107,447) (7,266) (8,350) (18,631) (230,732) (1,618)
108,971 135,515 8,975 7,600 27,200 288,261 9,645
- 4,200 5,745 1,220 - 11,165 2,850
21,255 20,505 2,064 2,108 - 45,932 1,431
(63,841) (121,225) (9,801) (2,638) (32,500) (230,005) (9,545)
- (4,540) (6,218) (1,268) - (12,026) (3,089)
(37,341) (55,771) (4,160) (2,058) (100) (99,430) (1,715)
(59,844) (128,535) (10,661) (3,345) (24,031) (226,416) (2,008)
(997) (1,828) (209) 463 (216) (2,787) -
(997) (1,828) (209) 463 (216) (2,787) -
50,959 52,105 8,552 2,627 (18,962) 95,281 (4,337)
279,602 430,344 55,873 50,196 32,389 848,404 132,635
$ 330561 $ 482,449 $ 64425 ¢$ 52823 $ 13427 $ 943,685 $ 128,298
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City of Columbus, Ohio Exhibit 7 (continued)
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor Governmental
Major Funds Fund Activities -
Sanitary Storm Internal
Water Sewer Sewer Electricity Garages Total Service Funds
Operating income (loss) $ 95609 $ 148,691 ¢$ 15,538 $ 6,178 $ 129 $ 266,145 $ 22,449
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 47,530 72,171 5,755 5,225 633 131,314 3,445
Decrease (increase) in operating assets:
Receivables 1,484 (293) 561 864 349 2,965 245
Due from other funds (230) (471) (19) 152 - (568) (1,747)
Inventory (282) 320 - (271) - (233) (62)
Prepaid and other assets - - - - - - 204
Deferred outflows of resources - pension 7,248 6,583 608 1,481 - 15,920 4,633
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable 633 (8,522) 175 (121) (1) (7,836) (809)
Customer deposits - - - (470) - (470) -
Due to other governments (587) (629) (93) (41) - (1,350) -
Due to other funds 263 564 418 595 18 1,858 (461)
Due to others - - - - - - 8
Accrued wages and benefits 122 54 5 20 - 201 190
Accrued vacation and sick leave 47 1,312 (35) (1,316) - 8 (258)
Claims and judgments - - - - - - (1,998)
Net pension and OPEB liability (51,349) (49,117) (4,552) (11,335) - (116,353) (41,926)
Deferred inflows of resources - pensions 11,312 11,805 1,061 2,862 - 27,040 12,066
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ 111800 ¢ 182468 $ 19422 $ 3,823 % 1,128 ¢ 318,641 $ (4,021)
Supplemental information:
Noncash activities:
Change in fair value of investments $ (3,547) $ (5,484) $ (725) $ (634) $ (435) $ (10,825) $ -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents with treasurer
Interest receivable

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Due to other:
Governments

Total liabilities

NET POSITION

Restricted for individuals, organizations, and other governments
Total net position

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 8

Custodial
Funds

$ 2,921

2,921

1,301

1,301

1,620

$ 1,620



Exhibit 9
City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Custodial
Funds
ADDITIONS
Collections for other governments
Utility charges $ 10,322
Income tax collected for others 1,076
Hotel Motel tax 11,223
Special assessment 11,195
Police property collected 314

Total additions

DEDUCTIONS

Payment to other governments

34,130

Utility charges 10,322
Income tax 1,076
Hotel Motel tax 11,223
Special assessment 11,195
Police property disbursed 1,252

Total deductions

35,068

Net increase (decrease) in fiduciary net position (938)
Net Position - beginning of year 2,558
Net Position - end of year $ 1,620

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

NOTE A—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The state legislature established Columbus as a city in 1812. The City is a home-rule municipal corporation operating
under the laws of Ohio. The City's Charter, its constitution, can only be amended by a majority of the City's voters.
The City operates under the Council-Mayor form of government.

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain
Organizations Are Component Units, Statement No. 61, 7he Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, and Statement
No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units, in that the financial statements include all the
organizations, activities, functions, and component units for which the City (the reporting entity) is financially
accountable. Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit’s
board, and either (1) the City’s ability to impose its will over the component unit, or (2) the possibility that the
component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the City. On this basis, the
reporting entity of the City includes the following services as authorized by its charter: public service, public safety,
development, health, and recreation and parks. In addition, the City owns and operates five enterprise activities: a
water system, a sanitary sewer system, a storm sewer system, an electricity distribution system, and City owned
parking garages. The reporting entity also includes three joint ventures and two component units.

Joint Ventures:

e The Franklin Park Conservatory Joint Recreation District (the Conservatory District) was created by the City
(Resolution 109X-90) and Franklin County (Resolution 79-90) in 1990 pursuant to authority contained in
Section 755.14(B) of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC). The agreement between the City and the County that
created the Conservatory District in 1990 was amended by the City (Ordinance 1794-96) and the County
(Resolution 800-96) in August 1996. The amendment increased the number of members of the Board of
the Conservatory District from 10 to 17. Eight members of the Board are appointed by the Mayor of the City
subject to confirmation by the City’s Council and six members are appointed by the County. In addition, the
Governor, the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President of the Senate of the State of Ohio
each appoint one member to the Board pursuant to the authority contained in Section 755.14(B)(2) of the
ORC. State appointed members are nonvoting members if they also serve as members of the Ohio General
Assembly; no member presently serves in both roles. The Mayor of the City, therefore, does not appoint a
voting majority of the Board.

The City contributed certain capital assets to the Conservatory District at the time of its inception and has
agreed to an annual operating subsidy, but subject to annual appropriation by the City’s Council. Revenues,
the operating subsidy, received by the Conservatory District in 2021 from the City were $350 thousand. In
addition, the City provided support of $500 thousand in 2021 for the Conservatory District’s capital needs.
In the event of the Conservatory District’s liquidation, its assets will be transferred to the City.

Because the City’s Mayor does not appoint a voting majority of the Conservatory District’s Board and multiple
governments participate in the board appointment process, the City accounts for and reports the financial
activity of the Conservatory District as a joint venture pursuant to GASB Statements No. 14, 39, 61, and 80.
The Conservatory District’s financial statements may be obtained from The Franklin Park Conservatory Joint
Recreation District at 1777 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43203. Other information about the
Conservatory District can be obtained on their website at www.fpconservatory.org.

e The Affordable Housing Trust for Columbus and Franklin County (AHT) was initially created as the Columbus
Housing Trust Corporation, with Articles of Incorporation (Articles) filed with the Ohio Secretary of State on
August 31, 2000. Amended Articles were then filed for AHT in May 2001. No single government or
government official appoints a majority of the Board members. All are jointly appointed. In 2021 the City
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CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO
Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

provided cash assistance to AHT of $1.3 million applicable to fiscal year 2021 hotel-motel tax. The City is
committed through its legislation to provide a portion of its hotel-motel tax collections to AHT each year into
the future.

Since the Mayor does not singularly appoint a voting majority of AHT’s board of trustees and multiple
governments participate in both the board appointment process and the financial support of AHT, the City
accounts for and reports the financial activity of AHT as a joint venture pursuant to GASB Statements No.
14, 39, 61, and 80. AHT's financial statements may be obtained from The Affordable Housing Trust for
Columbus and Franklin County, 110 North 17th Street, Columbus, OH 43203. Other information about AHT
can be located on their website at www.hztrust.org.

The Columbus-Franklin County Finance Authority (the Finance Authority) was created by the City (Ordinance
0540-2006) and Franklin County (Resolution 200-06) in March 2006 pursuant to authority contained in
Section 4582.21 through 4582.59 of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC). The Finance Authority is governed by a
nine-member Board of Directors, each of whom shall serve for a term of four years, of which four (4) shall
be appointed by the Mayor of the City, with the advice and consent of City Council, four (4) shall be
appointed by the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Franklin, Ohio, and one (1) shall be a
joint appointment. The Finance Authority is considered a joint venture of the City and the County. The
Finance Authority’s financial statements may be obtained from The Columbus-Franklin County Finance
Authority, 350 East First Avenue, Suite 120, Columbus, Ohio 43201. Other information about the Finance
Authority can be located on their website at www.columbusfinance.org.

Related Organizations:

A New Community Authority (NCA) is a separate public body governed by a board of trustees that may
oversee, coordinate, construct and finance public infrastructure improvements and community facilities.
Ohio Revised Code Chapter 349 provides the authority and procedures for forming and governing an NCA.

Formation of an NCA is initiated by a petition signed by all of the owners of the real property to be included
within the boundaries of the NCA. When more than half of the NCA is located within the City of Columbus,
the Columbus City Council serves as the “organizational board of commissioners” and approves the petition.

The City is involves with several NCAs of which it appoints the majority of the board of trustees. Those
NCAs are not part of the City’s reporting entity as there is no financial benefit or burden relationship. The
City does not guarantee any NCA debt and does not have access to the NCA's resources. In addition, the
City does not have the ability to impose its will on the NCA by removing board members at will or influencing
management decisions. The City accounts for and reports the financial activity of the NCAs as related
organizations pursuant to GASB Statements No. 14, 39, 61, and 80.

Component units:

The RiverSouth Authority (RiverSouth) came into existence in 2004 as a result of the following statutes. The
Columbus City Council, via ordinance no. 2446-03, approved on November 19, 2003, authorized the City
Clerk to initiate the process to create The RiverSouth Authority, a new community authority as provided for
under Ohio Revised Code (ORC) Chapter 349. The City Council continued the process by establishing the
time and place for a public hearing on the matter via Ordinance No. 451-04 approved on March 17, 2004.
The public hearing was held at 5:00 p.m. on Monday, April 19, 2004 in City Council Chambers. The Council,
via Ordinance No. 1007-04, approved June 23, 2004, created “The RiverSouth Authority” as a body politic
and corporate.

The Board of Trustees of the Authority, pursuant to the creating Ordinance 1007-04, consists of nine
members. The City appoints five members including one local government representative. The Developer,
The Columbus Downtown Development Corporation, a private entity, appoints the remaining four members.
RiverSouth encompasses several square blocks in the core of Columbus’s downtown, and, as indicated in
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CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO
Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

the background of the ordinance, all to be developed and redeveloped for the conduct of commercial,
residential, cultural, educational, and recreational activities. Continuing in the downtown area the Authority’s
boundaries were extended in 2017.

Because the City appoints a majority of the Board of Trustee members of RiverSouth and because of
RiverSouth’s financial dependency on the City, a component unit relationship is deemed to exist. Because
RiverSouth’s total debt outstanding is expected to be repaid with City resources, it is reported as if it were
part of the City (blended). See Note Q — Component Units — for additional disclosures regarding RiverSouth.

Certain inter-dependent transactions occurred pursuant to the following. Ordinance No. 1009-2004,
approved by Council on June 23, 2004, authorized the City’s Director of Development to execute a lease
agreement and first supplemental lease agreement with RiverSouth whereby the City leased certain land,
approximately 1.621 acres, from RiverSouth and recognized certain projects and costs to be undertaken by
RiverSouth. The RiverSouth Authority issued new money bonds in 2004 and 2005 to provide funds to pay
the costs of acquiring and developing land and acquiring and constructing community facilities. These bonds
were authorized by a Master Trust Agreement dated June 1, 2004 between the Authority and U.S. Bank
National Association (as Trustee), as supplemented by the First Supplemental Trust Agreement dated
June 1, 2004 and the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement dated October 1, 2005.

A portion of the 2004 bonds were refunded in 2012 pursuant to a Third Supplemental Trust Agreement,
dated April 1, 2012. The remaining 2004 bonds and certain of the 2005 bonds were refunded in 2014.
These bonds were for financing the initial RiverSouth project known as the Lazarus building.

In 2016 the Authority began the project known as the COSI underground garage. The Authority issued
$27.515 million of bonds to pay costs of (1) acquiring and constructing community facilities comprised of
an approximately 600-space underground public parking garage and related recreation park (the “Project
Facilities”), and (2) issuance of and capitalized interest on the Series 2016 Bonds.

On September 29, 2016, the City and RiverSouth entered into a ground lease, wherein the City, as the fee
owner pursuant to a quitclaim deed dated January 3, 1989 and recorded as Vol. 12833, Pg. C10, Franklin
County Recorder’s Office, leased to RiverSouth an approximate 6.344 acre tract of real property on the
Scioto Peninsula for a period of forty (40) years. The City and RiverSouth also entered into a Master Lease
Agreement and First Supplemental Lease, both dated September 1, 2016, (collectively the “Lease”) to
provide for RiverSouth financing the construction of an underground public parking garage and related
recreational park. Under the terms of the Lease RiverSouth agreed to issue debt and to lease to the City
the Project Land (as defined in the Master Lease, being the 6.344 acre tract), excluding improvements. In
exchange the City agreed to pay rent equal to the Bond Service Charges on RiverSouth issued debt
commencing January 1, 2018, with initial payment due on June 1, 2018. RiverSouth and City entered into
a Second Supplemental Lease on March 1, 2017 wherein RiverSouth also leases to the City the Project (as
defined in the Master Lease, thereby additionally leasing the Capital Facilities i.e. improvements) until
December 31, 2022, with successive automatic one-year renewals thereafter.

The RiverSouth bonds are payable from the revenues provided by the City and are subject to annual
appropriations by City Council. The City provided $8.9 million in lease payments to RiverSouth during 2021.

As of December 31, 2021 the remaining outstanding RiverSouth bonds were:
(in thousands)

Series 2012 (final maturity 2024) $ 9,185
Series 2014 (final maturity 2025) 13,355
Series 2016 (final maturity 2041) 24,740

$ 47,280

The Columbus Next Generation Corporation (CNGC) came into existence in 2012 as a result of Columbus
City Council ordinance no. 1968-2012, approved on October 1, 2012, which authorized the establishment of
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CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO
Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

a non-profit development corporation. CNGC was formed for the purpose of advancing, encouraging and
promoting the industrial, economic, commercial development including the elimination of blight and creation
of job opportunities pursuant to O.R.C. 1702.01-99. With the City of Columbus as sole member, CNGC filed
as a corporation for non-profit with the Ohio Secretary of State on October 10, 2012.

City Council has entered into contracts with CNGC to perform a variety of services to advance economic
development, including but not limited to: create economic development plans for specific areas of the City;
develop and promote incentives; acquire and develop real estate; and manage various related projects. In
2021 the City provided cash assistance to CNGC of $4.045 million toward these contracts.

e Beginning 2019 it was determined that the Board of Health was a legally separate entity under GASB
Statement 61, 7he Financial Reporting Entity, updated for GASB 80, Blending Requirements for Certain
Component Units.

The Board of Health provides public health services, and is a body politic and corporate. The Mayor of
Columbus appoints the Board of Health board members and they are approved by the Columbus City Council.
The City provides operating support, approves the budget, and has operational responsibility for the Board
of Health. The Board of Health’s total debt outstanding is expected to be repaid entirely with resources of
the City. Based on the factors, the Board of Health is reported as a blended component unit. It's included
as a major fund in the governmental statements due to its significance to the City.

See Note Q for further information on the Board of Health component unit.

The accounting policies and financial reporting practices of the City conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units.

In June 2017, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. This statement establishes a single model for lease
accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.
Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset,
and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. The City is currently
evaluating the impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. The provisions of the
Statement were originally effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, but GASB Statement
No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance, extended the due date by eighteen
months.

The following is a summary of the City’s significant accounting policies:
(a) Government-wide and fund financial statements
Financial information of the City is presented in this report as follows.

¢ Management’s discussion and analysis introduces the basic financial statements and provides an analytical
overview of the City’s financial activities.

¢ Basic financial statements:

o Government-wide financial statements consist of a statement of net position and a statement of
activities.

These statements report all of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and gains and losses of the
City. Governmental activities are reported separately from business-type activities. Governmental
activities are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues whereas business-type
activities are normally supported by fees and charges for services and are usually intended by
management to be financially self-sustaining. Fiduciary funds of the City are not included in these
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government-wide financial statements; however, separate financial statements are presented for the
fiduciary funds.

Interfund receivables and payables between governmental and business-type activities have been
eliminated in the Government-wide Statement of Net Position. These eliminations minimize the
duplicating effect on assets and liabilities within the governmental and business-type activities total
column.

Internal service fund balances, whether positive or negative, have been eliminated against the
expenses and program revenues shown in the governmental activities Statement of Activities. Interfund
services provided and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental
activities.

Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore,
are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include (a) charges paid by the
recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that
are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

o Fund financial statements consist of a series of statements focusing on information about the City’s
major governmental and enterprise funds. Separate financial statements are presented for the
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds.

The City’s major governmental funds are the General Fund, Board of Health special revenue fund and
the Special Income Tax debt service fund. Of the City’s business-type activities, its Water, Sanitary
Sewer, Storm Sewer, and Electricity enterprise funds are considered major funds.

The General Fund is the accounting entity in which all governmental activity, except that which is
required to be accounted for in other funds, is accounted for. Its revenues consist primarily of taxes,
investment income, licenses and permits, intergovernmental shared revenue, charges for services, fines,
and other.

General Fund expenditures represent costs of general government; public service, including garbage
collection; public safety, including fire, police, and communications; certain development costs, and
other. Resources of the General Fund are also transferred annually to support services such as public
recreation and public health, which are accounted for in separate special revenue funds.

The Board of Health special revenue fund reports the City’s health activities including communicable
disease investigations, immunization clinics, inspections, and public health nursing services. In addition,
the Board of Health issues health-related licenses and permits. Revenues consist of operating support
from the General Fund, grants, charges for service, and license and permits.

The Special Income Tax debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for and
the payment of general obligation debt; principal, interest, and related expenditures. Revenues consist
primarily of a portion of the City’s income tax.

The Water enterprise fund, a major fund, is the accounting entity in which the City accounts for all
financial activity related thereto. The City collects, purifies, and sells water to City residents and certain
suburban areas. Water is collected from surface areas (rivers and reservoirs) and wells. The City has
three water treatment plants. Revenues consist primarily of user charges.
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The Sanitary Sewer enterprise fund, a major fund, is the accounting entity in which the City accounts
for all financial activity related thereto. The City collects and treats effluent of City residents and
residents of certain suburban areas. The City has two sewerage treatment plants. Revenues consist
primarily of user charges.

The Storm Sewer enterprise fund, a major fund, is the accounting entity in which the City accounts for
all financial activity related thereto. Revenues consist primarily of user charges used to manage the
storm water collection systems.

The Electricity enterprise fund, a major fund, is the accounting entity in which the City accounts for all
the financial activity related thereto. The City purchases, but does not generate, and sells electricity to
its residential and commercial customers. Revenues consist primarily of user charges.

The Garages enterprise fund, a nonmajor fund, is the accounting entity in which the City accounts for
all the financial activity related to two City-owned parking garages. One of these City garages opened
late in 2009, while the second opened in 2010. Revenues in this fund will consist primarily of parking
fees.

The City maintains various nonmajor internal service funds which are used to account for the financing
of goods or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the
government, generally on a cost reimbursement basis. The largest of these funds account for fleet
management services, electronic information services, and employee benefits.

Also maintained by the City are fiduciary funds such as custodial funds used to account for assets held
by the government for individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

o Notes to the financial statements provide information that is essential to a user’s understanding of the
basic financial statements.

e Required supplementary information, such as budgetary comparison schedules, net pension and OPEB
liability and pension contribution information, is required by GASB. The City maintains budgetary controls
by not permitting expenditures to exceed appropriations at the Object Level One level for each division
within each fund.

(b) Financial reporting presentation
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting
entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that
comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures (expenses). Fund types are as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

General Fund—The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Special Revenue Funds—Special Revenue Funds are used to account for proceeds of resources that are
restricted or committed for purposes other than debt service or capital projects. The uses and limitations of
each special revenue fund are specified by City ordinances or federal and state statutes.

Debt Service Funds—Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and
the payment of, general long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds—Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds).
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Permanent Funds—Permanent Funds are for the purpose of accounting for resources that are legally
restricted to the extent that earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support the reporting
government’s programs. The City, however, does not utilize Permanent funds.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Enterprise Funds—Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in
a manner similar to private business enterprises—where the intent of the governing body is that the costs
of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily
through user charges. The City has separate enterprise funds for its water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer,
electricity services, and parking garages.

Internal Service Funds—Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, generally on a cost-
reimbursement basis.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Custodial Funds—Custodial Funds are used to account for assets held by the City for individuals, private
organizations, or other governments. Assets held for other governments mainly include utility charges
collected by the City on behalf of other governments. Assets held for individuals include property held in the
Police Property Room. Custodial Funds also account for hotel/motel taxes collected within Franklin County,
Ohio that are not incorporated by the City as well as special assessments collected for Special Improvement
Districts.

(c) Measurement focus and bases of accounting

Except for budgetary purposes, the bases of accounting used by the City conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. The accounting
and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus.

The government-wide and the proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus. The government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported
using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the
time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions,
in which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include
income taxes, property taxes, grants, shared revenue (unrestricted, intergovernmental revenue) and donations.
On an accrual basis, revenue from income taxes is recognized in the period in which the taxpayer’s liability
occurs and revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. On an
accrual basis, revenue in the form of shared revenue is recognized when the provider government recognizes
its liability to the City. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility
requirements have been satisfied.

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. The
City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenues are collected
within sixty days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except
for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which
are recognized as expenditures when payment is due. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as
expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt are reported as other financing
sources.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
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and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

(d) Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure
of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed in all funds.
On the GAAP basis of accounting, encumbrances do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. There were
outstanding encumbrances in the three major governmental funds at December 31, 2021: $83.5 million in the
General Fund, $9.8 million in the Board of Health and $98.0 million in the Special Income Tax Fund. In addition,
encumbrances in the Other Governmental funds at December 31, 2021 totaled $475.7 million. Funds may be
encumbered when they are collected or in process of being collected.

(e) Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Proprietary funds consider all highly liquid investments held
by trustees, with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased, to be cash equivalents. In
addition, all cash and investments with treasurer are also considered to be cash equivalents because they are
available to the Proprietary funds on demand.

(f) Investments

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, the City records all of its
investments at fair value as defined in the statement. The City does not engage in any form of derivatives or
reverse repurchase agreements in the management of its investment portfolio. Only eligible investments with
final maturities not greater than five years from time of purchase are permitted. The City’s cash and investments
are further explained in Note C.

(g) Inventory

Inventory is valued at cost utilizing the first-in, first-out method for enterprise funds and the average cost
method for internal service funds. Items considered as inventory in the enterprise funds and internal service
funds are accounted for as expenditures when acquired by governmental funds.

(h) Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, and infrastructure (e.g. roads, curbs and gutters,
streets and sidewalks, and drainage systems) are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type
activity columns in the government-wide financial statements. The City defines capital assets as assets with an
estimated useful life of five years or more from the time of acquisition by the City and a cost of $5,000 or more.
Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost (for certain assets acquired prior to
1960). Pursuant to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 34, the historical cost of infrastructure assets
(retroactive to January 1, 1979) is included as part of the governmental capital assets reported in the
government-wide statements. Donated assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation.
Acquisition value is the price that would be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential in an
orderly market transaction at the acquisition date.

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend
assets lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.
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Property, plant and equipment, and infrastructure are depreciated using the straight line method over the
following estimated useful lives:
Estimated Lives

Description (years)
Information processing equipment 5-7
Trucks 8
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures 10
Heavy rescue equipment 25
Buildings, infrastructure, water lines, and fire hydrants 40
Sewer mains and certain water assets 75-100

(i) Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statements of financial position will report a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the City,
deferred outflows of resources are reported on the government-wide statement of net position for deferred
charges on refunding, pension and OPEB.

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period
and will not be recognized until that time. For the City, deferred inflows of resources include property taxes,
pension, OPEB and unavailable revenue. Property taxes represent amounts for which there is an enforceable
legal claim as of December 31, 2021, but which were levied to finance fiscal year 2022 operations. These
amounts have been recorded as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide statement of net position and
governmental fund financial statements. Unavailable revenue is reported only on the governmental funds
balance sheet, and represents receivables which will not be collected within the available period. For the City,
unavailable revenue includes delinquent property taxes and income taxes. These amounts are deferred and
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available. The details of these
unavailable revenues are identified on the Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Balances to Net Position of
Governmental Activities. Deferred inflows of resources related to pension and OPEB plans are reported on the
government-wide statement of net position.

(j) Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension/OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the pension/OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net positon have been determined
on the same basis as they are reported by the pension/OPEB plans. For this purpose, benefit payments
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
benefit terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investments at fair value. Each year’s net pension or OPEB
liability liquidation is proportionately funded by the governmental and enterprise funds to which the employee’s
payroll is charged (see Note K for further information related to pension and OPEB plans).
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(k) Insurance

The City assumes the liability for most property damage and personal injury risks. Judgments and claims,
including those incurred but not reported as of year-end, are recorded when it is probable that an asset has
been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The City
insures all of its boilers, and covers selected property locations, major buildings and vehicles stored overnight
at various locations. The City’s boiler and machinery insurance has a maximum loss value of $100,000,000
with a $25,000 deductible. The City’s property casualty policy for selected non-utility locations has a maximum
loss value of $500,000,000 with a $250,000 deductible for losses not associated with flooding. The City's
property casualty policy for selected public utility locations has a maximum loss value of $500,000,000 with a
$250,000 deductible for losses not associated with flooding. The City carries $1,000,000 in base liability per
occurrence and $5,000,000 in excess liability insurance associated with the operation of its compressed natural
gas (CNG) fueling station located on its Fleet Management Operations site at 4211 Groves Road, for the CNG
fueling station located at 2333 Morse Road, and a fueling center located at 5115 Krieger Court. No losses
occurred in 2017 through 2021 that exceeded insurance coverage.

The City’s Division of Police currently operates a fleet of five jet-powered helicopters of which four are insured
for a value $2,600,000 each and one is insured for a value of $3,400,000. Liability insurance for bodily injury
and property damage is carried on all helicopters at $20,000,000 per loss occurrence and $1,000,000 per
passenger seat. There is no deductible for the liability coverage. All five operating aircraft are insured against
casualty loss (physical damage) with a deductible of one (1) percent of the hull value for losses sustained while
the unit is in motion. Specified additional accessory equipment used during flight operations is also insured at
full value by an endorsement with a deductible of $1,000 per loss occurrence. Extended engine physical damage
coverage is carried at $300,000 for each engine with a $10,000 deductible.

Additionally, the City provides medical, dental, vision, and short-term disability coverage for its employees on
a self-insurance basis. Expenses for claims are recorded on a current basis based on an actuarially determined
charge per employee. The City accounts for such activity in an internal service fund.

A summary of changes in self-insurance medical claims liability follows:

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Claims liability at January 1 $ 15558 ¢ 15450 ¢$ 16,450 ¢$ 15,700 $ 14,550
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 189,330 177,002 185,077 187,961 183,269
Claims paid (186,576) (176,894) (186,077) (187,211) (182,119)
Claims liability at December 31 $ 18,312 ¢ 15558 ¢ 15450 $ 16,450 $ 15,700

Claims are accrued based upon estimates of the claims liabilities made by management and the third-party
administrator of the City. These estimates are based on past experience and current claims outstanding. Actual
claims experience may differ from the estimate. An actuary was used in the determination of the current liability.
This claims liability is recorded in the Internal Service Fund as accrued wages and benefits.

The City is partially self-insured for its workers’ compensation costs in conjunction with the Ohio Bureau of
Workers’ Compensation for fiscal years 2012 through 2014. Expenses for claims are recorded on the current
basis based on an actuarially determined charge per employee. The City accounts for the activities of this
program in an internal service fund. Workers’ compensation is fully insured with the Ohio Bureau of Worker’s
Compensation for claims incurred during fiscal years 2015 through 2021. Premiums for 2022 were prepaid and
are included in other assets on the Statement of Net Position.
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A summary of changes in self-insurance worker’s compensation claims liability follows:

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Claims liability at January 1 $ 11,525 ¢ 16,874 $ 22,739 $ 27,189 $ 33,878
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements  (2,707) (1,834) (2,865) (1,886) (1,502)
Claims paid (2,045) (3,515) _ (3,000) _ (2,564) (5,187)
Claims liability at December 31 $ 6,773 ¢$ 11,525 ¢ 16,874 $ 22,739 $ 27,189

(I) Advances from Grantors
Advances from grantors is recorded when cash is received prior to being earned.
(m) Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements. In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a
timely manner and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments, compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a
liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current
fiscal year. Net pension/OPEB liability is recognized in the governmental funds to the extent that benefit
payments are due and payable and the pension/OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is not sufficient for payment
of those benefits. The governmental net pension/OPEB liability reported on the government-wide financial
statements are liquidated from the governmental funds to which the employee’s payroll is charged.

City employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts. In the event of termination, an
employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation and sick leave at various rates.

Vacation accumulated is reported as an expense when earned in the proprietary fund and government-wide
financial statements. Sick leave accumulated is reported as an expense when earned and expected to be paid
at termination in the proprietary fund and government-wide financial statements. Vacation and sick leave
accumulated by governmental fund type employees is not reported as an expenditure in the governmental fund
financial statements, as current financial resources are not used. When paid, the compensated absences for
governmental activities are paid from the fund to which the employee’s payroll is charged.

Payment of vacation and sick leave is dependent upon many factors; therefore, timing of future payments is
not readily determinable. However, management believes that sufficient resources will be made available for
the payment of vacation and sick leave when such payments become due.

(n) Debt Issuance Costs, Premiums, Discounts, and Deferred Amounts on Refundings

Bond premiums and discounts, as well as deferred amounts on refundings, are capitalized and amortized over
the life of the bonds. Debt issuance costs are expensed when incurred.

(o) Interfund Transactions

The City has the following types of transactions among funds:
1) Reciprocal interfund loans: Amounts provided by one fund to another with a requirement for repayment.

2) Reciprocal interfund services provided and used: Purchases and sales of goods and services between funds
for a price approximating their external exchange value.

3) Nonreciprocal interfund transfers: Flows of assets between funds without equivalent flows of assets in
return and without a requirement for repayment. This includes payments in lieu of taxes that are not
payments for, and are not reasonably equivalent in value to, services provided.
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4) Nonreciprocal interfund reimbursements: Repayments from the funds responsible for particular
expenditures or expenses to the funds that initially paid for them.

(p) Budgetary Information

Annual budgets are adopted for all governmental funds other than blended component units and capital
projects funds on a basis other than GAAP in that revenues are recorded when received in cash and
expenditures are recorded when encumbered or paid in cash. Capital projects funds adopt project-length
budgets at the time bonds are sold or other funding sources are determined. The City maintains budgetary
controls by not permitting expenditures to exceed appropriations at the object level for each division within
each fund and subfund.

(q) Net Position

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources.
In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted — net position and unrestricted — net position in the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order
in which the resources are considered to be applied. Since the City does not have a formal policy for flow of
net position, it considers restricted — net position to have been depleted before unrestricted — net position.

At December 31, 2021, $68.722 million of the City’s $183.415 million in governmental activities restricted net
position on the Statement of Net Position were restricted by enabling legislation, as defined by GASB
Statement No. 46, Net Assets Restricted by Enabling Legisiation. The governmental activities amount
restricted for “Other purposes” of $114.693 million included the following: $83.633 million for mobility options;
$10.753 million for building, housing and economic incentives; $9.203 million for protection and enforcement;
$3.766 million for municipal court/justice; $3.547 million for life enrichment; $3.048 million for wellness and
prevention; and $743 thousand for sustainability.

Net investment in capital assets, a component of net position, is not spendable. The balance represents the
portion of net position related to the reported capital assets and those liabilities and deferred resource flows
resulting from their acquisition. The balance is calculated as follows (in thousands):

Business
Governmental type
Activities Activities
Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress $ 323,274 110,183
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 2,979,674 4,293,211
Adjustments:
Notes, demand, and bonds payable (1,746,147) (3,191,991)
Add back:
RiverSouth, component unit debt 52,439 -
Outstanding debt with no underlying asset - 1,025
Deferred outflow - refunding 14,505 29,521
Unspent bond proceeds 278,305 397,465
Payables from restricted assets (10,466) (12,815)
$ 1,891,584 1,626,599

(r) Other Significant Accounting Policies

Pursuant to local statute and determined by an internal cost allocation plan, certain costs initially borne by
the General Fund are then billed as direct charges to other funds of the City. Revenues from these charges
are accounted for in the government-wide Statement of Activities as general government and in the
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governmental funds Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances General Fund as
charges for services. The corresponding expenses appear as function/program costs in the Statement of
Activities.

The City, in its proprietary funds, accounts for all recurring type revenues, including all revenues which the
City controls through statutory pricing or regulatory authority, as operating revenues and all recurring type
expenses as operating expenses. Non-recurring revenues such as gains on sales of assets and revenues over
which the City has minimal or no control, primarily interest earnings, are accounted for as non-operating
revenues. Interest expense and other non-recurring expenses, over which the City has minimal or no control,
are reported as non-operating expense.

The City complies with all restrictions governing the use of restricted assets. Such restrictions do not offer
discretion regarding use of these resources in an unrestricted manner. Where capital funds, usually bond
proceeds, are available capital assets are acquired from such resources. Capital assets can be, however, and
to a lesser amount are, acquired from unrestricted resources.

NOTE B—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(a) Litigation

The City is a defendant in @ number of lawsuits pertaining to matters that are incidental to performing routine
governmental and other functions. The City has recorded a liability for claims deemed to be probable and
measurable. Based on the current status of all the remaining legal proceedings, it is the opinion of management
that ultimate resolution of such will not have a material effect on the City’s financial statements.

(b) Federal Grants

Under the terms of federal grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may be questioned as not
being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such audits could lead to reimbursements to
the grantor agencies. While questioned costs may occur, ultimate repayments required of the City have been
infrequent in prior years.

(c) Franklin County Convention Facilities Authority (CFA) — Convention Facility

The CFA is a separate and distinct entity created under the laws of Ohio. In June 1990, the CFA issued lease
revenue bonds for the purpose of constructing a convention facility in downtown Columbus. Also in June 1990,
the City and the County of Franklin, Ohio (the County) entered into a lease/sublease arrangement with the CFA
pursuant to which the City and the County leased the convention facility as tenants in common from the CFA.
The City and the County subleased the facility back to the CFA. The lease requires that the City and the County
each pay rent to the CFA in an amount equal to one half of the debt service on the revenue bonds. Under the
sublease, the CFA is required to pay rent to the County and the City in an amount equal to such debt service.
Such sub rental payments are expected to be derived from the hotel/motel excise tax levied by the CFA, and if
such tax is insufficient, from earnings on, and the principal amount of, certain reserve funds created in
connection with the issuance of the revenue bonds. If the foregoing amounts are insufficient, the City agreed
in the lease to apply that portion of the hotel/motel tax levied by the City and currently paid by the City to a
convention and visitor’'s bureau to the payment of rentals under the lease. If, after the application of the
foregoing amounts, additional amounts are required to meet the City’s and the County’s obligations under the
lease, such amounts will be paid by the City and the County, in equal shares, from their general resources,
provided that their respective legislative bodies have appropriated funds for such purpose. No such payments
were necessary prior to or during 2021. The lease will terminate as to the City and the County if their respective
legislative bodies fail to appropriate amounts required for rentals thereunder. In 2014, approximately $160
million of new bonds were issued to support the expansion of the Convention Center. These bonds also carry
the City’s debt service pledge. A portion of the 2007 bond series were refunded as part of this debt issue. On
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September 22, 2020, the CFA issued $202.705 million in tax and lease revenue anticipation refunding bonds to
advance and current refund portions of the CFA’s outstanding convention center bonds, as well as replenish
and increase funding in the CFA’s Rental Reserve Fund, further capitalize the Debt Service Reserve Fund and
pay costs of issuance. As a result of this transaction the total amount of these revenue bonds outstanding at
December 31, 2021 was $242.162 million net of premiums and discounts of $10.003 million, or a gross amount
of $252.165 million.

(d) Franklin County Convention Facilities Authority (CFA) - Nationwide Arena

In February 2012, the CFA issued lease revenue bonds for the purpose of acquiring the Nationwide Arena,
which is located in the Arena District. In connection with such acquisition, and to provide funds for a portion of
the acquisition price, the City and Franklin County have entered into a lease-sublease arrangement (the “Arena
Lease”) with the CFA pursuant to which the City and the County has each agreed to pay a portion of its
respective “casino tax receipts” (defined below) to the CFA, which will, in turn, pledge such payments to the
payment of debt service on indebtedness incurred by the CFA to acquire the Nationwide Arena. Pursuant to
Section 6, Article 15 of the Ohio Constitution, the State is required to collect a tax on each of the casinos
authorized by that section and distribute such moneys (the “casino tax receipts”) to each host county and City
in which a casino is located. The Columbus casino opened October 2012. Under the Arena Lease, 25 percent
of the City’s annual casino tax receipts was paid to the CFA through 2015. After 2015 the percentage of annual
casino tax receipts payable under the Arena Lease increases by one percent each year to a maximum of 32
percent beginning in 2022. The City paid $4.049 million to CFA in 2021 under the Arena Lease, which
represented 31 percent of the City’s annual casino tax receipts.

The Arena Lease is anticipated to be effective for 26 years (through 2037), subject to extension or earlier
termination upon certain circumstances. No additional general funds of the City will be pledged or encumbered
to the payment of any of the City’s obligations under the Arena Lease and any of the City’s payment obligations
under the Arena Lease will be subject to annual appropriation being made by City Council and will be payable
solely from, and only to the extent of, any casino tax receipts. In 2019, the City entered into an amended
economic agreement, which allow for certain TIF revenue to pay down the Arena securities. On January 30,
2020, the CFA issued a $51,500,000 Second Lien Convention Facilities Authority Arena Lease Refunding
Revenue Bond, Series 2020 to refund $61,479,023 (including outstanding principal and accrued interest) of
outstanding Series 2012 Second Lien Arena Lease Revenue Bonds. The Series 2020 refunding bond matures
on December 15, 2029. The principal amount of the refunding bond which is outstanding after the maturity
date shall bear interest at the rate of four percent per annum until the principal amount thereof is paid. Such
obligation will be paid from funds held by the CFA.

(e) Franklin County Convention Facilities Authority (CFA) - Hotel

Under a Cooperative Agreement among the CFA, the County of Franklin, Ohio and the City, dated January 1,
2010, the City has committed to provide funding from two revenue sources to assist the Authority in paying
the debt service on bonds issued by the CFA to finance the construction of a new hotel. The City’s payment
obligation consists of making annual payments to the CFA of all City Hotel-Motel Excise Tax collections levied
on the new hotel and to maintain a fund of $1.4 million from the incremental parking meter receipts resulting
from increases in the City’s parking meter charges after 2009 which funds would be available for debt service,
if needed. The City paid $588 thousand to CFA from the City Hotel-Motel Excise Tax collections in 2021 under
the Cooperative Agreement.

In 2019, the CFA issued approximately $151.815 million in Hotel Project Revenue Bonds and $91.765 million
in Lease Appropriation Bonds to support the expansion of the convention hotel. The Hotel Project Revenue
Bonds are paid solely from certain revenues received by the Authority and moneys held in Project Revenue
Bonds Special Funds. The Hotel Project Revenue Bonds are secured by and are payable from Net Operating
Income and moneys and investments in the CFA Bond Fund and the Phase II CFA Hotel Project Funds prior to
those amounts being available for rent payments by the Authority to the City and County with respect to the
Lease Appropriation Bonds. The Lease Appropriation Bonds are payable solely from limited rent payments from
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the City and the County and amounts in certain funds and accounts established under the trust indenture for
the Lease Appropriation Bonds. The City and County each agreed to rent payments equal to one half the debt
service on the Lease Appropriation Bonds, if hotel revenues are insufficient. The obligation of each of the City
and the County to make such rent payments during each fiscal year is subject to appropriation by the respective
governing bodies. The total amount of these Lease Appropriation Bonds outstanding at December 31, 2021
was $91.765 million, net of bond premiums of $17.777 million, for a total gross amount of $109.542 million.

(f) Electricity Purchase Power Agreement

The City’s Electricity Enterprise celebrated its 122" year of operation in 2021. The Enterprise served 421
industrial customers, 3100 commercial customers and 13,358 residential customers for a total of 16,879 in
2021. The Enterprise received approximately $20.6 million (24.5 percent) of its operating revenue from other
funds of the City for electric power. The Enterprise purchases and resells power. It does not generate power.

The City’s Electricity Enterprise received the bulk of its power supply in 2021 from American Municipal Power
(AMP). Agreements are in place for AMP to provide power supply for the Enterprise through December 31,
2025. As a municipal system in a border state of the Great Lakes, the Enterprise continues to receive a small
allocation of hydroelectric power from the New York Power Authority. This allocation has been utilized by the
City since the 1980's.

(g) Compensated Absences and Termination Benefit Arrangement

At December 31, 2021, the City had compensated absences liabilities of Governmental Activities that will not
be paid from funds available, as defined. The City wishes to fully disclose these liabilities. In accordance with
GASB Interpretation No. 6; Recognition and Measurement of Certain Liabilities and Expenditures in
Governmental Fund Financial Statements, however, these liabilities are not accounted for, nor are they required
to be, in the fund financial statements contained in this report. Accrued vacation and sick leave are granted to
City employees at varying amounts. At the time of the employee’s termination, such accruals are paid to the
employee at varying rates from the fund to which the employee’s payroll is charged. Except for the unused
portion of an employee’s prior year’s sick leave accrual which is recorded in the fund that ultimately disburses
this accrual to the employee after year end, all other accrued vacation and sick leave applicable to governmental
activities is not reflected in the fund financial statements contained in this report.

NOTE C—CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Investment Policies: The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established
by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the
fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. At December 31, 2021, fair
value was $445,108 above the City’s net cost for its investment. At December 31, 2020, fair value was $26,485,158
above net cost.

The City pools its cash, except for that held by revenue bond trustees, fiscal and escrow agents, and certain debt
service and agency fund cash and investments, for maximum investing efficiency. Earnings on the pool are allocated
to individual funds at the discretion of the City Council after meeting revenue bond indentures and other
requirements. All statutory requirements are met in distributing earnings of the pool to various funds.

The City Codes, Chapters 325 and 321, respectively, provide for a Treasury Investment Board and a Depository
Commission. Both consist of the City Treasurer, who serves as chairman and represents the City Council; the City
Auditor, an independently elected official; and the Director of the Department of Finance and Management,
representing the Mayor; hence a check and balance process via the separation of powers.

Pursuant to these code sections, the City does not purchase any form of derivatives. The City does invest in STAR
Ohio, an external investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’s Office that allows governments within the
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State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the Securities Exchange
Commission as an investment company, but has adopted GASB Statement No. 79, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants. Investments in STAR Ohio are valued on the
basis of the amortized cost valuation technique. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no
limitations on any participant withdrawals due to redemption notice periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates.

Management of STAR Ohio states that its policy also prohibits investing in derivatives and/or engaging in the use
of reverse repurchase agreements. Average days to maturity of the STAR Ohio portfolio at December 31, 2021 and
2020 was 51 and 56 days, respectively. The City is prohibited from using reverse repurchase agreements and does
not leverage its investment portfolio in any manner.

Investments shall be made only through financial institutions and investment advisors approved by the Treasury
Investment Board to provide investment services to the City. The approved security broker/dealers must be
registered with the State of Ohio Securities Division and maintain an office in the state of Ohio.

The City’s investment code limits its investments to those governmental type investments noted below. Only eligible
investments with the remaining terms not greater than five years until final maturity are purchased by the Treasurer.
Investments with a remaining term of greater than five years may be purchased only with the specific approval of
City Council and if the security is an assessment bond or note issued by the City of Columbus, Ohio. Average days
to maturity of the City’s investments with the Treasurer at December 31, 2021 was 643.05 days (616.11 days at
December 31, 2020).

Investments as permitted by Chapter 325 of the Columbus City Code are:

A. Bonds, notes, or other obligations of the United States government or its Agencies for which the faith of
the United States is pledged for the payment of principal and interest thereon. They are:

Obligations of the United States government:
¢ United States Treasury Bills
e United States Treasury Notes
e United States Treasury Bonds
e United States Treasury Strips

Obligations guaranteed by the United States government:
Federal government agencies:
e Department of Housing and Urban Development
Farmers Home Administration
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation
General Service Administration
Government National Mortgage Association
Maritime Administration
Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority

B. Bonds, notes, debentures, or other obligations issued by any of the federal government-sponsored
enterprises listed below. They are:
e Federal Farm Credit System
e Federal Home Loan Banks
e Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
¢ Federal National Mortgage Association

C. The Ohio State Treasurer’s Asset Reserve Funds (STAR Ohio) pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 135.45;

D. Bonds or other obligations of the City of Columbus, Ohio;
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E. Obligations of the State of Ohio or any municipal corporation, village, county, township, or other political
subdivision of the State of Ohio, as to which there is no default of principal or interest and which have been
approved as to their validity by nationally recognized bond counsel;

F. Certificates of deposits (collateralized as described below) in eligible institutions applying for moneys as
provided in Chapter 321 of Columbus City Codes;

G. Repurchase agreements which are collateralized with legally authorized securities as defined in Section
325.010 of Columbus City Code and held in third-party safekeeping designated by the City Treasurer and
in the name of the City of Columbus; and

H. Others as provided for in Ohio R.C. 135.14 for interim deposits.

Safeguarding activities call for the City’s investments with the Treasurer, except for investments with STAR Ohio,
investments held by revenue bond trustees, fiscal and escrow agents, and certain debt service and agency funds,
to be held in book entry form at federal reserve banks in the accounts of certain member banks-agents of the City
who hold the investments in the City’s name.

The revenue bond agreement of the Sanitary Sewer Enterprise requires certain cash and investments to be
maintained and managed by trustees. The trustee, bank trust departments, invests these monies at the direction
of the City Auditor pursuant to the revenue bond agreements.

All of the City’s deposits and investments comply with State statutes, City ordinances, and applicable bond
indentures.

Deposits: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be
returned. The City’s policy is to place deposits with major local banks (as defined by Chapter 321 of the City Code)
approved by the Depository Commission. All deposits, except for deposits held by fiscal and escrow agents or
trustees, are collateralized with eligible securities in amounts equal to at least 105 percent of the carrying value of
the deposits. Such collateral, as permitted by Chapter 135 of the ORC and Chapter 321 of the Columbus City Code,
is held in single financial institution collateral pools at Federal Reserve Banks, or at member banks of the federal
reserve system in the name of the respective depository bank, and pledged as a pool of collateral against all of the
public deposits it holds or as specific collateral held at a Federal Reserve Bank in the name of the City.

At December 31, 2021, the carrying amount of all City deposits, exclusive of money market funds in the amount of
$1,255,772 held by bond trustees, was $100,912,120. Based on the criteria described in GASB Statement No. 40,
Deposits and Investment Risk Disclosures, as of December 31, 2021, $1,361,176 of the City’s bank balance of
$99,615,948 was exposed to custodial risk as it was uncollateralized and uninsured.

The money market funds, amounting to $1,255,772 while held by bond trustees as the City’s agents and in the

City’s name, are also considered uncollateralized and uninsured. However, their disposition and availability are
governed by bond ordinances and indentures.
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Investments: As of December 31, 2021, the City had the following investments and maturities (amounts in
thousands):

Investment Maturities

Fair Value Greater

(Level 2 6 months 7 to 12 13to 18 19to24 than 24

Inputs) or less months months months months

FFCB Notes $ 619,432 85,178 47,160 112,411 19,408 355,275
Commercial Paper 367,747 334,735 33,012 - - -
US Treasury Notes 352,729 20,014 - 39,775 40,750 252,190
FHLB Notes 313,258 - 30,019 15,161 37,105 230,973
FNMA Notes 154,756 - 5,087 12,537 37,844 99,288
FHLMC Notes 154,221 - 39,980 41,301 24,808 48,132
Federal Government Obligation Fund 62,491 62,491 - - - -
Starling Garage note 27,200 - 27,200 - - -
Various Purpose Municipal Bonds 13,247 - 11,866 - - 1,381
FAMCA Coupon Notes 8,840 - - - - 8,840
Total $ 2,073,921 502,418 194,324 221,185 159,915 996,079

Not included in the fair value totals above is STAR Ohio, an external investment pool, which was recorded at
amortized cost totaling $164.0 million at December 31, 2021.

Interest Rate Risk. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the
City's investment policy generally limits investment portfolio maturities to five years or less.

Credit Risk. The City’s investments in FAMCA, FFCB, FHLB, FHLMC, and FNMA Coupon Notes were rated AA+ and
Aaa by Standard & Poor’s and Moody's Investor Services, respectively. The City of Columbus Assessment Bonds
are general obligations of the City. The City’s general obligation bond ratings by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investor
Services, and Fitch Ratings are AAA, Aaa, and AAA, respectively. Standard and Poor’s has assigned STAR Ohio an
AAA money market rating. The City’s policy regarding credit risk is manifest in the types of investments the City is
permitted to purchase as prescribed by the City Code, as described above.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The Treasury Investment Board guidelines do not place a limit on the amount which
may be invested in any one issuer. Of the City’s total investments, 27.7 percent are FFCB Notes, 15.8 percent are
US Treasury Notes, 14.0 percent are FHLB Notes, 6.9 percent are FNMA Notes, 6.9 percent are FHLMC Notes, and
0.4 percent FAMCA Notes. All other investments not explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are 28.3 percent
of the City’s total investments, consisting mainly of commercial paper, Various Purpose Municipal Bonds, Federal
Government Obligation Fund and STAR Ohio.

Custodial Crediit Risk. Safeguarding activities per the City Code call for the City’s investments with the Treasurer,
except for investments with STAR Ohio, investments held by revenue bond trustees, fiscal and escrow agents, and
certain debt service and agency funds, to be held in book entry form at federal reserve banks in the accounts of
certain member banks-agents of the City who hold the investments in the City’s name. The City’s investments in
US Treasuries, FAMCA Notes, FFCB Notes, FHLB Notes, FHLMC Notes and FNMA Notes are held by Fifth-Third Trust
at the Federal Reserve in Fifth-Third Trust’s name.

75



CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

Investments (summarized in prior table)
STAR Ohio

Carrying amount of the City's Deposits
Money market funds held by bond trustees
Component Unit cash and cash equivalents
Cash and collection items on hand

Less: City Auditor warrants payable

Total

Governmental Activities
Governmental Funds
Cash and investments with treasurer
Cash and investments with fiscal and escrow agents and other
Cash and cash equivalents with trustee
Internal Service Funds
Cash and investments with treasurer
Restricted cash and cash equivalents with treasurer and other
Total Cash and Investments - Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Cash and investments with treasurer
Restricted cash and cash equivalents with treasurer and other
Restricted cash and cash equivalents with trustee

Total Cash and Investments - Business-Type Activities

Fiduciary Funds - cash and investments with treasurer
Total
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Reconciliation of Cash and Investments to the Statement of Net Position: The following is a reconciliation
of cash and investments to the Statement of Net Position as of December 31, 2021.

(in thousands)

$ 2,073,921
164,007
100,912

1,256
1,168
726

(16,800)
$ 2,325,190

$ 1,247,757
1,361
1,168

111,059

17,239

1,378,584

543,208
399,221

1,256

943,685

2,921

$ 2,325,190
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NOTE D—RECEIVABLES

Receivables at December 31, 2021 consist of the following (in thousands):

Less:
Taxes and Customer Allowance
Service  and Other HUD Special Accrued Gross for Receivables,
Payments Accounts Loans Assessments Interest Receivables uncollectibles net
Governmental type funds:
General fund $ 172,118 6,564 - - 2,225 $ 180,907 (27,500) $ 153,407
Special income tax 35,873 - - - - 35,873 (9,031) 26,842
Other governmental fund 47,545 4,176 97,708 3,512 166 153,107 (98,727) 54,380
Total governmental funds 255,536 10,740 97,708 3,512 2,391 369,887 (135,258) 234,629
Business type funds:
Water - 46,316 - - 546 46,862 (5,726) 41,136
Sanitary sewer - 57,462 - 71 831 58,364 (964) 57,400
Storm sewer - 8,157 - - 113 8,270 (715) 7,555
Electricity - 10,355 - 68 93 10,516 (3,923) 6,593
Garages - - - 6,622 25 6,647 - 6,647
Total business type funds - 122,290 - 6,761 1,608 130,659 (11,328) 119,331
Internal service funds - 49 - - - 49 (25) 24
Total $ 255,536 133,079 97,708 10,273 3,999 $ 500,595 (146,611) $ 353,984

Housing and Urban Development (HUD) loans include Community Development Act (CDA) loans of $12.3 million,
Home Investment Partnerships (HOME) Program loans of $73.9 million, and various other loans totaling $11.5
million. Funds received under these programs that are loaned to eligible recipients are recorded as loans receivable.
The City has recorded a $97.6 million allowance for uncollectible HUD loans. Loans provided for certain
homeownership programs are forgiven if the homeowner remains in the home for the period of affordability
specified in the program rules. Although some loans are repaid because the homeowners have elected to relocate
elsewhere, the repayment is limited to net proceeds after payment of the first mortgage and seller closing costs

and; therefore, most repay

ments are minimal.

Enterprise customer and other accounts receivable include unbilled charges for services at December 31, 2021 as

follows:

Water enterprise

(in thousands)

$

Sanitary sewer enterprise
Storm sewer enterprise

Electricity enterprise

Total unbilled charges for services $
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23,766
29,698
4,212
2,334

60,010
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NOTE E—DUE FROM AND DUE TO OTHER FUNDS

The outstanding balances between funds at December 31, 2021 result mainly from the time lag between the dates
that interfund goods and services are provided, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments
between funds are made.

(in thousands)

Due From Due To
Governmental funds:

General $ 4,735 $ 598
Board of Health 2 1,485
Special income tax 20,803 250
Other governmental:

General government grants - 764

Special purpose fund 81 -

Municipal Court special projects - 3

Municipal Court computer 1 -

Development services 30 106

Private construction inspection 2 16

Street construction maintenance and repair 72 272

Parking meter program 1 42

Recreation and parks grants - 3,660

Recreation and parks operations 108 41

COAAA Grants - 14

Waggoner Road Capital TIF - 9

Morse Rd TIF - 25

Pen West West TIF - 102

Hamilton Central College RIF - 19

Public Safety - 8

Parks and recreation - 100

Streets and highways - 1,271

Construction management capital imp. - 43

Development Taxable - 15

Brewery District - 22

Transportation improvement program - 3,789

Federal/State highway engineering - 10,578

State and highway improvement - 179

Auditor Bond Fund - 869

295 21,947
Internal Service Funds:

Employee Benefits 1 2

Workers compensation 720 -

Fleet management 6 205

Information services 25 708

Mail, print, term contracts - 21

Construction inspection 1,985 3

Land acquisition 72 1

2,809 940
Business type funds:

Water 248 1,094

Sanitary sewer 608 1,657

Storm sewer 19 747

Electric 236 1,019

Parking garages - 18

1,111 4,535
$ 29,755 $ 29,755
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Capital assets; those assets with an estimated useful life of five years or more from the time of acquisition by the
City and a cost of $5,000 or more, are primarily funded through the issuance of long term bonds and loans. Land
and construction in progress are not subject to depreciation.

A summary of capital assets and changes occurring in 2021 follows.

(in thousands)
Balance Balance
December 31, December 31,
2020 Additions Deletions 2021
Capital Assets used in:
Governmental Activities
Nondepreciable capital assets -
Land $ 307,728 4,300 - % 312,028
Construction in progress - 11,246 - 11,246
Total nondepreciable capital assets 307,728 15,546 - 323,274
Depreciable capital assets:
Building 951,309 9,633 - 960,942
Improvements, other than building 613,556 52,085 - 665,641
Machinery and equipment 362,795 19,965 13,197 369,563
Infrastructure 2,535,092 139,638 309 2,674,421
Total depreciable capital assets 4,462,752 221,321 13,506 4,670,567
Accumulated depreciation:
Building 326,271 21,677 - 347,948
Improvements, other than building 161,558 14,662 - 176,220
Machinery and equipment 233,628 26,835 12,733 247,730
Infrastructure 856,170 62,910 85 918,995
Total accumulated depreciation 1,577,627 126,084 12,818 1,690,893
Total depreciable capital assets, net 2,885,125 95,237 688 2,979,674
Total governmental activities capital assets, net $ 3,192,853 110,783 688 $ 3,302,948
Business Type Activities
Nondepreciable capital assets -
Land $ 87,864 1,189 - % 89,053
Construction in progress 1,364 19,766 - 21,130
Total nondepreciable capital assets 89,228 20,955 - 110,183
Depreciable capital assets:
Building 236,497 - - 236,497
Improvements, other than building 5,692,030 196,296 - 5,888,326
Machinery and equipment 86,366 8,507 2,303 92,570
Infrastructure 260,085 6,506 71 266,520
Total depreciable capital assets 6,274,978 211,309 2,374 6,483,913
Accumulated depreciation:
Building 193,624 2,952 - 196,576
Improvements, other than building 1,738,104 115,465 - 1,853,569
Machinery and equipment 50,414 7,142 2,084 55,472
Infrastructure 79,401 5,755 71 85,085
Total accumulated depreciation 2,061,543 131,314 2,155 2,190,702
Total depreciable capital assets, net 4,213,435 79,995 219 4,293,211
Total business type activities capital assets, net $ 4,302,663 100,950 219 $ 4,403,394
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Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, at December 31, 2021 appear in the Statement of Net Position as
follows (in thousands).

Governmental Activities (excludes Internal Service

Funds) $ 3,251,357

Business type activities: Internal service funds:
Water enterprise $ 1,403,075 Fleet management $ 38,090
Sanitary sewer enterprise 2,663,984 Information services 13,225
Storm sewer enterprise 192,694 Mail, Print Term Contracts 34
Electricity enterprise 101,982 Construction Inspection 242
Garage enterprise 41,659

Depreciation expense in 2021 was charged to the following functions and funds (in thousands).
Governmental Activities (excludes Internal Service Funds):

General government $ 10,736 Internal service funds:
Public service 76,620 Fleet management $ 1,519
Public safety 19,569 Information services 1,820
Development 1,101 Mail, Print Term Contracts 11
Health 247 Construction Inspection 95
Recreation and parks 14,366 $ 3,445
$ 122,639
Business type activities:
Water enterprise $ 47,530
Sanitary sewer enterprise 72,171
Storm sewer enterprise 5,755
Electricity enterprise 5,225
Garage enterprise 633
$ 131,314

Construction commitments will be funded with existing resources and/or issuance of additional debt.
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NOTE G—LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

A summary of changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2021 follows (in thousands):

Balance Balance
December 31, December31, Amountdue
2020 Additions Reductions 2021 in 2022
Governmental activities
Govemmental activities- City only
Accrued vacation and sick leave $ 107,713 70,550 64,009 $ 114,254 $ 81,206
Claims and judgments 36,083 - 8,498 27,585 23,812
Net Pension & OPEB Liability 1,758,285 - 313,851 1,444,434 -
General obligations 1,486,288 235,009 189,340 1,531,957 179,119
Revenue obligations 1,266 15,906 122 17,050 N/A
Unamortized premiums on bonds and notes 130,324 42,907 28,530 144,701 30,210
Total govemmental activities- City only 3,519,959 364,372 604,350 3,279,981 314,347
Total component unit-
Lease revenue bonds (Note Q) 53,805 - 6,525 47,280 6,810
Unamortized premiums 5,929 - 770 5,159 770
Total component unit 59,734 - 7,295 52,439 7,580
Totallong-term liabilities for governmental activities 3,579,693 364,372 611,645 3,332,420 321,927
Business-type activities
Water
Accrued vacation and sick leave 3,373 3,678 3,631 3,420 3,420
Net Pension & OPEB Liability 78,730 - 47,395 31,335 -
Generalobligations 625,680 72,815 50,595 647,900 51,410
Revenue obligations 330,028 36,156 13,246 352,938 15,748
Unamortized premiums on bonds and notes 64,067 21,255 14,077 71,245 15,007
Total water 1,101,878 133,904 128,944 1,106,838 85,585
Sanitary sewer
Accrued vacation and sick leave 3,251 4,683 3,371 4,563 4,563
Net Pension & OPEB Liability 76,546 - 45,208 31,338 -
Generalobligations 545,285 74,445 46,502 573,228 61,828
Revenue obligations 1,293,646 65,270 78,923 1,279,993 130,285
Unamortized discounts on bonds and notes (32) (5) 27) 4)
Unamortized premiums on bonds and notes 88,868 20,505 15,161 94,212 16,220
Total sanitary sewer 2,007,564 164,903 189,160 1,983,307 212,892
Storm sewer
Accrued vacation and sick leave 217 267 302 182 182
Net Pension & OPEB Liability 7,026 - 4,189 2,837 -
Generalobligations 95,795 12,820 15,475 93,140 9,815
Revenue obligations 2,649 1,900 71 4,478 180
Unamortized premiums on bonds and notes 8,755 2,064 2,070 8,749 2,038
Total storm sewer 114,442 17,051 22,107 109,386 12,215
Electricity
Accrued vacation and sick leave 2,149 398 1,714 833 833
Net Pension & OPEB Liability 17,706 - 10,421 7,285 -
General obligations 29,401 8,820 3,858 34,363 3,168
Unamortized premiums on bonds and notes 3,149 2,108 685 4,572 775
Total electricity 52,405 11,326 16,678 47,053 4,776
Parking Garages
General obligations 32,500 27,200 32,500 27,200 27,200
Total parking garages 32,500 27,200 32,500 27,200 27,200
Total Long-term liabilities for business- type activities 3,308,789 354,384 389,389 3,273,784 342,668
Total Long-term liabilities for Primary Governnment $ 6,888,482 718,756 1,001,034 $ 6,606,204 $ 664,595
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The following table shows the par value activity in bonds, notes, and loans payable during 2021 (in thousands).

Balance Balance
December New December Amount
Type of obligation 31, 2020 Issues Refundings Maturities Refunded 31, 2021  due in 2022
Governmental activities
General obligation:

OPWC notes, direct borrowing $ 3,628 679 - 545 - $ 3,762 % 369

Bonds-fixed rate 1,431,665 204,560 17,275 158,785 17,275 1,477,440 168,920

Notes-long-term fixed rate, direct borrowing 6,940 - - 340 - 6,600 345

Internal Services bonds-fixed rate 44,055 9,645 2,850 9,545 2,850 44,155 9,485
Revenue obligations:

Notes (TIFs)-long-term fixed 1,266 15,906 - 122 - 17,050 N/A
Total governmental activities-City only 1,487,554 230,790 20,125 169,337 20,125 1,549,007 179,119
Total component unit-

Lease revenue bonds (Note Q) 53,805 - - 6,525 - 47,280 6,810
Total governmental activities 1,541,359 230,790 20,125 175,862 20,125 1,596,287 185,929
Business-type activities

Water

General obligation:

Bonds-fixed rate 625,680 72,815 - 50,595 - 647,900 51,410

Revenue obligations:

OWDA/EPA loans, direct borrowing 330,028 36,156 - 13,246 - 352,938 15,748
Total water 955,708 108,971 - 63,841 - 1,000,838 67,158
Sanitary sewer

General obligation:

Bonds-fixed rate 521,230 70,245 4,200 38,275 4,200 553,200 41,800

Bonds-variable rate 24,000 - - 4,000 - 20,000 20,000

Bonds-fixed rate, direct placement 55 - - 27 - 28 28

Revenue obligations:

Bonds-fixed rate 316,335 - - - - 316,335 -

Bonds-variable rate 51,855 - - - - 51,855 51,855

OWDA/EPA loans, direct borrowing 925,456 65,270 - 78,923 - 911,803 78,430
Total sanitary sewer 1,838,931 135,515 4,200 121,225 4,200 1,853,221 192,113
Storm sewer

General obligation:

Bonds-fixed rate 95,795 7,075 5,745 9,730 5,745 93,140 9,815

OWDA/EPA loans, direct borrowing 2,649 1,900 - 71 - 4,478 180
Total storm sewer 98,444 8,975 5,745 9,801 5,745 97,618 9,995
Electricity

General obligation:

Bonds-fixed rate, direct placement 26 - - 3 - 23 3

Bonds-fixed rate 29,375 7,600 1,220 2,635 1,220 34,340 3,165
Total electricity 29,401 7,600 1,220 2,638 1,220 34,363 3,168
Parking Garages

General obligation:

Notes-short-term fixed rate, direct placeme 32,500 27,200 - 32,500 - 27,200 27,200
Total parking garages 32,500 27,200 - 32,500 - 27,200 27,200

Total business-type activities 2,954,984 288,261 11,165 230,005 11,165 3,013,240 299,634
Total $4,496,343 519,051 31,290 405,867 31,290 $4,609,527 $485,563
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New Bond Issue and Refunding

New Bond Issue

On February 17, 2021, the City issued $371.940 million of general obligation bonds for the purpose of funding
various projects throughout the City. Of the $371.940 million issued, $298.845 million are unlimited tax exempt
bonds, $19.125 million are limited tax exempt bonds, $23.615 million are unlimited taxable bonds and $30.355
million are limited taxable bonds.

Further information regarding the bond issue follows (in thousands):

Business-type activities - Enterprise

Governmental Internal Sanitary Storm
Activities Service Water Sewer Sewer Electricity Total

Sources of Funds:

Par value of new bonds $ 204,560 9,645 72,815 70,245 7,075 7,600 $ 371,940

Gross premium on bonds 41,476 1,431 21,255 20,505 2,064 2,108 88,839

City Cash Contribution 179 7 - - - - 186
Total Sources $ 246,215 11,083 94,070 90,750 9,139 9,708 $ 460,965
Uses of Funds:

Amount available to fund projects ~ $ 204,560 9,645 72,815 70,245 7,075 7,600 $ 371,940

Underwriter's discount on issuance 706 33 251 242 24 26 1,282

Premium contingency 40,949 1,405 21,004 20,263 2,040 2,082 87,743
Total Uses $ 246,215 11,083 94,070 90,750 9,139 9,708 $ 460,965
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Advance Refundings

On February 17, 2021, the City sold $31.290 million of various general obligation refunding bonds to advance refund
$31.290 million of certain outstanding bonds issued in 2011 and 2012. Of the $31.290 million refunding bonds
issued, $9.635 million are unlimited taxable refunding bonds and $21.655 million are limited taxable refunding
bonds. Further information regarding the bond issue follows (in thousands):

Business-type activities - Enterprise

Governmental Internal Sanitary
Activities Service Sewer Storm Sewer Electricity Total

Amount paid to escrow agent $ 18,242 3,089 4,540 6,218 1,268 $ 33,357
Net carrying amount of old bonds:

0ld bonds outstanding 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 31,290

Unamortized bond premium 751 - 103 149 35 1,038
Net carrying amount of old bonds 18,026 2,850 4,303 5,894 1,255 32,328
Deferred amount on refunding $ 216 239 237 324 13 $ 1,029

Business-type activities - Enterprise

Governmental Internal Sanitary
Activities Service Sewer Storm Sewer Electricity Total

Refunded (old) bonds

Principal $ 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 ¢ 31,290

Interest 2,492 432 592 823 196 4,535

Total refunded 19,767 3,282 4,792 6,568 1,416 35,825

Refunding (new) bonds

Principal 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 31,290

Interest 447 38 31 44 46 606

Total refunding 17,722 2,888 4,231 5,789 1,266 31,896

Unadjusted reduction in aggregate debt service ¢ 2,045 394 561 779 150 $ 3,929
Economic gain — present value of adjusted

reduction in aggregate debt service $ 1,913 362 527 733 141§ 3,676

Plus: refunding bonds issued 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 31,290

Less: payment to Escrow Agent (18,242) (3,089) (4,540) (6,218) (1,268) (33,357)

Less: costs of issuance (95) (16) (23) (32) ) (173)
Net present value savings $ 851 107 164 228 86 $ 1,436
Present value rate — true interest cost of new

bonds 0.74% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74%
Interest rate borne by old bonds 3.00-5.00% 3.00-5.00% 5.000% 5.000% 3.00-5.00%  3.00-5.00%

New Note Issue — Series 2021 Various Purpose Limited Tax Note
On November 17,2021, the City sold $27.2 million in limited tax notes (federally taxable), a direct placement note,

along with cash reserves to retire $32.5 million of outstanding 2020 limited tax notes in the Garage Fund, which
were due to mature on November 19, 2021. The 2021 notes mature on November 17, 2022.
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New Ohio Water Development Authority

During 2021, the City received $65.270 million in loan proceeds from the Ohio Water Development Authority
(OWDA/EPA) for sanitary sewer projects, $36.156 million in loan proceeds for water projects and $1.900 million in
loan proceeds for storm water projects. OWDA loans are direct borrowings.

Summary of New Bond Issue Par and Premium/Discount Amounts

In 2021, all bonds and notes were issued at par or generated premium; none had discounts. A table summarizing
the 2021 par amounts and associated premium is shown below.

(in thousands)
Par Premium

Governmental activities
Governmental Funds:

GO Bonds-new money $ 204,560 $ 41,476

GO Bonds-refunding 17,275 -
Total $ 221,835 $ 41,476
Internal Service Funds:

GO Various purpose-new money $ 9,645 ¢ 1,431

GO Various purpose-refunding 2,850 -
Total $ 12,495 $ 1,431
Business-type activities

GO Water enterprise bonds-new money $ 72,815 $ 21,255

GO Sanitary Sewer enterprise bonds-new money 70,245 20,505

GO Sanitary Sewer enterprise bonds-refunding 4,200 -

GO Storm sewer enterprise bonds-new money 7,075 2,064

GO Storm sewer enterprise bonds-refunding 5,745 -

GO Electricity enterprise bonds-new money 7,600 2,108

GO Electricity enterprise bonds-refunding 1,220 -

GO Garage enterprise notes-refunding 27,200 -
Total $ 196,100 $ 45,932

Principal Retirement

The principal retirement in the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances is comprised of the following.

(in thousands)

OPWC notes $ 545
General obligation bonds 158,785
General obligation notes 340
Revenue bonds and notes (TIFs) 122
Blended component unit - Lease revenue bonds 6,525

Total $ 166,317
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Long-Term Notes

Except for the TIF notes, all other notes payable are backed by the full faith and credit, i.e. general obligations, of
the City. Notes may be issued in anticipation of long-term bond financing and are refinanced until such bonds are
issued. There are, however, long-term notes for which the debt service will be paid from current resources.

Those notes are as follows.

State Infrastructure Bank (SIB): The City currently has one SIB loan, totaling $6.600 million, which is
administered and funded by the Ohio Department of Transportation. The loan, for the Hamilton Rd. S-Curve project,
provides funds for roadway improvements. The SIB is a direct borrowing.

Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC): OPWC extends both grants and direct placement loans to the City.
In certain OPWC commitments, the agreements with OPWC provide for cash received by the City to be first
considered as grant receipts. Monies received by the City after the grant commitment has been fulfilled by OPWC
are then considered loans. Only the loan portion need be repaid by the City.

Notes in the amount of $3.762 million accounted for as Governmental activities represent the amounts due on 15
loans from the Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC) for infrastructure improvements. These notes are non-
interest bearing and have serial maturities, with final maturities January 30, 2052. Initial repayments of the loans
began in January 2000. OPWC has committed to additional non-interest bearing loans as shown in the following
table. Cash is provided to the City by OPWC only to the extent of project completion. Only that portion of the loan
commitment actually paid to the City is recognized as a liability by the City. Repayments of these loans are made
from the Debt Service Fund. OPWC loans are considered Governmental activities obligations.

Grant and loan commitments and loans outstanding at December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):

Repaid by City
Total Loaned Outstanding
Project  Total grant Total loan at Prior to Loans at
Project Number commitment commitment 12/31/2021 2021 In2021 12/31/2021
James Road CCo8B $ 2,867 $ 623 $ 623 592 31 $
Stelzer Road CCo6C 2,082 174 87 72 6
Greenlawn Avenue CC04D 5,298 1,277 1,277 990 96 191
Morse Rd. Phase 1 CCO6H 3,854 1,354 475 261 36 178
McKinley Avenue CC13H 1,168 1,107 845 463 64 318
Main Street Bridge CC02) 3,904 1,308 1,308 850 98 360
Morse Rd. Rehab CC02K 3,492 1,175 931 396 70 465
Henderson Rd. Olent. CCo6M 712 239 15 7 1
Williams Rd. Underpass CC14L 502 1,498 779 351 58 370
Third Ave Recon. CCo2pP 2,852 956 956 160 48 748
Morse Road Preserve CC16R 887 726 265 28 14 223
Parsons Ave Rehab CCo4s 720 245 245 8 23 214
Hamilton Rd-161 to Morse Phase A CccoeV 3,899 1,307 - - -
Lazelle Rd Phase C Cciov 1,224 410 - - -
Arterial Street Rehab-James Rd CC13wW 2,798 938 22 - - 22
Traffic Signal Installation - Downtown Signals CCi5w 1,083 363 244 - - 244
Intersection Improvement-James/Livingston CC02X 195 66 5 - -
ADA Curb Ramps-Citywide CC04X 249 751 408 - - 408
Arterial St Rehab-Hudson I-71/Cleveland Ave CC11X 1,498 502 - - -
School Zone Flashing Beacon Upgrades CC15X 95 318 - - -
Trafic Signals-Neil Ave Signals CC19X 749 251 - - -
SR 161 Phase 1 Maple Canyon/Cleveland Ave CcoeY 3,755 1,258 - - -
ADA Curb Ramps CC12yY 910 305 - - -
Hocking and Hanover Streets Signal Installation CCieY 249 751 - - -
Harrison Rd Over Dry Run East of Hague Ave CC24Y 154 465 - - -
$ 18,367 $ 8,485 4,178 545 $ 3,762
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Future debt service requirements on the OPWC loans are shown as Future Debt Service for Governmental Activities
Non-Proprietary — Notes contained in this Note G.

Debt Agreements:
The OPWC loan, SIB loan, and OWDA loans each contain a provision that in an event of default, outstanding
amounts become immediately due if the City is unable to make payment.

Notes (TIF):

On October 31, 2019, the City and NWD Investments, LLC, entered into an Amended and Restated TIF
Reimbursement Agreement (the “TIF Agreement”), which was consummated on May 1, 2021. The TIF Agreement
authorized an aggregate principal amount of $19.700 million for the purpose of funding and reimbursing costs of
public improvements constructed in connection with various tax increment financing areas.

The obligations are payable solely from certain service payments in lieu of taxes identified in the TIF Agreement.

In accordance with the TIF Agreement, the obligations bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.00% per annum, based
on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, payable on the last business day of each April and each October
until the developer is fully reimbursed, in a principal amount not to exceed $19.700 million.

$15.906 million of public improvements have been spent and are outstanding as of December 31, 2021.

The recording of the $15.906 million is pursuant to GASB Statement No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and
Future Revenues and Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets and Future Revenues.

Also included is $1.144 million representing TIF revenues pledged to the Columbus Franklin County Finance
Authority for proceeds of bonds issued by the Authority but given to the City for park land acquisition. The recording
of the $1.144 million is pursuant to GASB Statement No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and Future Revenues
and Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets and Future Revenues.

Arbitrage Regulations

The City has calculated and recorded all liabilities related to federal arbitrage regulations.
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Debt Summary

This summary includes general obligation (G.0.) and revenue supported debt, $47.280 million of governmental
activities (component unit) lease revenue bonds.

Years of  Years due Weighted Average
Issue through Interest rate Interest rate (1) Amount
Governmental activities (in thousands)
G.0O. Onhio Public Works Commission
notes, direct borrowing 1999-2021 2052 0.00% 0.00% $ 3,762
G.O. Bonds—fixed rate 2012-2021 2040 0.25% to 5.00% 4.12% 1,477,440
G.0. Notes-long-term fixed rate
Hamilton Rd SIB, direct borrowing 2016 2036 2.25% to 5.00% 3.57% 6,600
G.0. Information services bonds-fixed rate 2014-2021 2028 0.63% to 5.00% 3.83% 26,635
G.O. Fleet management bonds-fixed rate 2012-2021 2028 0.40% to 5.00% 3.39% 17,520
Revenue Note (TIF)-fixed rate-Nationwide 2021 2054 4.00% 4.00% 15,906
Revenue Note (TIF)-fixed rate-Harrison West 2007 2035 6.00% 6.00% 1,144
Component Unit - Lease Revenue Bonds 2012-2016 2041 4.30% to 5.00% 4.55% 47,280
Total governmental type $ 1,596,287
Business-type activities
Water

G.0. Bonds-fixed rate 2012-2021 2041 2.63% to 5.00% 4.34% $ 647,900

OWDA-EPA revenue loans, direct borrowing 2007-2021 2046 0.42% to 3.76% 2.27% 352,938
Total Water 1,000,838
Sanitary sewer

G.0. Bonds-fixed rate 2012-2021 2041 0.25% to 5.00% 4.20% 553,200

G.0. Bonds-fixed rate, direct placement 2012 2022 2.75% 2.75% 28

G.O. Bonds-variable rate 2006 2026 0.01% to 0.12% 0.03% 20,000

(.03% annual average)
Revenue Bonds-fixed rate 2014-2015 2032 4.57% to0 4.93% 4.74% 316,335
Revenue Bonds-variable rate 2008 2032 0.01% to 0.12% 0.03% 51,855
(.03% annual average)

OWDA-EPA revenue loans, direct borrowing 2000-2021 2046 0.23% to 4.00% 2.57% 911,803
Total Sanitary sewer 1,853,221
Storm sewer

G.0. Bonds-fixed rate 2012-2021 2041 0.25% to 5.00% 3.97% 93,140

OWDA-EPA revenue loans, direct borrowing 2019-2021 2043 0.53% to 2.15% 1.47% 4,478
Total Storm sewer 97,618
Electricity

G.0. Bonds-fixed rate 2012-2021 2036 0.58% to 5.00% 4.40% 34,340

G.0. Bonds-fixed rate, direct placement 2018 2028 2.50% 2.50% 23
Total Electricity 34,363
Parking Garages

G.U. Notes- short-term Tixed rate,

direct placement 2021 2022 0.40% 0.40% 27,200

Total Parking Garages 27,200
Total business type-enterprise 3,013,240
Total $ 4,609,527

(1) The interest rates identified on the City’s General Obligation debt above are calculated using the actual
coupon rates on each series of bonds or notes. The rates are not representative of the true interest costs
to the City. As a result of low interest rates, the market for the sale of the City’s bonds and notes has
frequently produced bids at a stated coupon rate with a premium payable upon the sale of the securities,
which creates a true interest cost (TIC) substantially less than the coupon rate.
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Long-Term Debt Payout

Certain characteristics of the City’s long-term debt are shown in the following table. This table excludes $27.200
million of Parking Garage short-term notes and $47.280 million of governmental activities (component unit) lease
revenue bonds.

Although the City’s self-liquidity supported variable rate bonds may be payable upon demand (see the Variable
Interest Rate Bonds section), the bonds are included in the below table per their respective redemption schedules.

(in thousands)
Business Type
Primary
Governmental Sanitary Storm Business Type  Government
Activities (1) Water Sewer Sewer  Electricity Total Total

Amount outstanding
General obligations (G.O.) $ 1,531,957 647,900 573,228 93,140 34,363 $ 1,348,631 $ 2,880,588
Revenue obligations 17,050 352,938 1,279,993 4,478 - 1,637,409 1,654,459
Total $ 1,549,007 1,000,838 1,853,221 97,618 34,363 $ 2,986,040 $ 4,535,047
% of outstanding amounts
General obligations (% X total) 98.90% 64.74% 30.93% 95.41% 100.00% 45.16% 63.52%

Limited-unvoted (% X G.0.) 26.80% 0.00% 1.65% 7.01% 8.29% 1.39% 14.91%

Unlimited-voted (% X G.O.) 73.20% 100.00%  98.35% 92.99% 91.71% 98.61% 85.09%
Revenue obligations (% X total) 1.10% 35.26% 69.07% 4.59% 0.00% 54.84% 36.48%
% X Principal paid out within 10 yrs
General obligations 84.99% 72.39% 67.55% 76.71%  82.06% 70.87% 78.38%
Revenue obligations N/A® N/A®) 79.51% N/AG) N/A 79.51% @G 79 510,
Weighted average interest rate
General obligations 4.10% 4.34% 4.05% 3.97% 4.39% 4.19% 4.14%
Revenue obligations N/A@ 2.27% 3.00% 1.47% N/A 2.84% 2.84?

(1) Exclusive of $47.280 million of Component Unit Lease Revenue Bonds (see Note Q).

(2) Exclusive of TIF Notes of $17.050 million.

(3) Exclusive of Water Ohio Water Development Authority Loans of $352.938 million.

(4) Exclusive of Sanitary Sewer Ohio Water Development Authority Loans of $911.803 million.
(5) Exclusive of Storm Sewer Ohio Water Development Authority Loans of $4.478 million.

Variable interest rate bonds

The variable interest rate bonds were issued, pursuant to ordinances adopted by Council, in the Sanitary Sewer
Enterprise in 2006 and 2008. The 2008 Sanitary Sewer (weekly interest rate mode) bonds are revenue bonds. The
2006 Sanitary Sewer Enterprise bonds are variable rate, weekly interest rate mode, general obligation bonds. The
proceeds of the bonds were used to provide funds for certain capital improvements, retire certain bonds previously
issued by the City, and pay costs incurred to issue the bonds.

Outstanding at
Variable Rate Issues by Purpose 12/31/2021  Source of Liquidity
Sanitary Sewer: Series 2006 G.O. and 2008 Rev. Bonds  $71,855,000 Self-Liquidity

Interest on the variable interest rate bonds is paid at various times as specified in the trust agreements relating to
such bonds, at rates determined by the remarketing agent and the City after reviewing the rates of similar municipal
issues. The bonds may be put at the discretion of the holders at a price equal to principal plus accrued interest on
any interest payment date or such other dates as specified in the trust agreements. The remarketing agent is
authorized to use its best efforts to sell the put bonds at a price equal to 100 percent of the principal amount.
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The Sanitary Sewer variable rate revenue bonds ($51.855 million) and variable rate general obligation bonds
($20.000 million) carry no letter of credit or liquidity enhancement. If a put bond proves to be unremarketable by
the remarketing agent, the City is required by statute to buy the bonds into its own portfolio.

While the City is required to buy the bonds into its own portfolio, the bonds are not considered redeemed or retired.

Section 325 of the Columbus City Code states the following:

If obligations of the City which provide for put arrangements are outstanding and if the remarketing
agent for such obligations is otherwise unable to remarket such obligations upon the tender for
purchase thereof in accordance with their terms, then to the extent that there are moneys in the
treasury of the City available for investment pursuant to C.C. 325.010, the City treasurer shall
purchase such obligations for the treasury investment account at a price not in excess of the
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest, if any, and retain such obligations in the treasury
investment account, until the earlier of their maturity or such time as they are remarketed by the
remarketing agent.

If uninvested moneys in the treasury of the City are insufficient to provide for purchase of
obligations of the City under the circumstances described in the immediately preceding paragraph
of this section, the City treasurer shall convert such other investments made pursuant to C.C.
325.010 to cash to the extent necessary, and at such time as is necessary, to provide sufficient
moneys for such purchase.

Obligations purchased by the City treasurer pursuant to this section shall remain outstanding in
accordance with their terms and shall not be considered redeemed or retired as a result of the
purchase thereof pursuant to this section. [Emphasis added]

It is the City’s intention for the bonds to remain outstanding until their maturity and are therefore considered long-
term debt by the City. Because this financing arrangement pursuant to the City Code is not an arm’s length
agreement with an unrelated third party, GASB Interpretation 1 requires the bonds to be reported as a current
liability. As such, the variable interest rate self-liquidity bonds have been classified as current demand bonds on the
Statement of Net Position; however, the bonds are included in the future debt services schedules per their
respective redemption schedules.

For both the 2006 Sanitary Sewer variable rate general obligation bonds and the 2008 Sanitary Sewer variable rate
revenue bonds, the City’s self-liquidity provision is rated A-1+ by Standard and Poor’s, VMIG1 by Moody'’s Investors
Service, and F1+ by Fitch Ratings.

A specific interest rate is not required of the Sanitary Sewer variable rate bonds if purchased into the City’s
investment portfolio.
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The following table reflects the additional interest the City would have to pay if the variable rate bonds were
purchased into the City’s own portfolio. The assumed incremental interest rate in the table is 3.25 percent (in
thousands).
Sanitary Sewer
General
Obligation and
Year ending December 31: Revenue Bonds

2022 $ 2,325
2023 2,194
2024 2,064
2025 1,934
2026 1,804
2027-2031 7,708
2032 662

$ 18,691

The City may, at its option, convert the variable rate bonds to a fixed rate. Furthermore, the bonds may be called
at the discretion of the City under specified procedures on any interest payment date. These variable rate bonds
are not auction rate securities.

Future Debt Service

The following tables summarize the City's future debt service requirements on its outstanding bonds, notes,
OWDA/EPA loans and OPWC loan commitments as of December 31, 2021. Future interest assumes rates on variable
rate debt at the respective issues’ average rates since inception.

Although the City’s self-liquidity supported variable rate bonds may be payable upon demand (see the Variable
Interest Rate Bonds section), the bonds are included in the below table per their respective redemption schedules
(in thousands).

Governmental Activities Governmental Type
Non-Proprietary* Internal Service
OPWC

(Direct SIB (Direct
Borrowing) Borrowing)

Bond Note Notes Bond
Year ending December 31: Principal Principal Principal Interest Principal Interest

2022 $ 168,920 369 345 58,890 9,485 1,469
2023 154,715 377 355 52,213 8,990 1,132
2024 148,380 373 365 45,512 8,575 840
2025 142,080 309 385 39,887 7,010 556
2026 130,550 309 405 33,863 5,785 333
2027-2031 506,190 1,066 2,325 96,189 4,310 160
2032-2036 214,295 424 2,420 22,057 - -
2037-2041 12,310 293 - 460 - -
2042-2046 - 230 - - - -
2047-2052 - 12 - - - -
$1,477,440 3,762 6,600 349,071 44,155 4,490

*Exclusive of TIF Notes of $17.050 million, and RiverSouth Lease Revenue Bonds of $47.280 million (see Note Q for RiverSouth future debt
service schedule).
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Enterprise Funds

Water Sanitary Sewer

OWDA Bond OWDA

(Direct (Direct (Direct
Bond Borrowing) Bond Placement) Borrowing)

Year ending December 31:  Principal Principal Interest Principal Principal Principal Interest
2022 $ 51,410 15,748 34,916 45,800 28 78,430 45,628
2023 48,620 18,258 33,087 52,365 - 79,805 42,001
2024 47,455 19,576 30,176 58,545 - 79,276 38,179
2025 47,255 21,687 28,262 72,800 - 78,585 34,685
2026 47,400 26,147 26,296 60,560 - 79,892 31,070

2027-2031 226,850 137,543 90,608 389,870 - 365,411 110,407
2032-2036 129,885 136,778 40,797 204,365 - 278,388 47,298
2037-2041 49,025 110,091 9,901 57,085 - 171,013 11,165
2042-2046 - 32,303 531 - - 84,994 1,107

$647,900 518,131 294,574 941,390 28 1,295,794 361,540

Enterprise Funds (continued)

Storm Sewer Electricity Parking Garages
OWDA Bond Note
(Direct (Direct (Direct
Bond  Borrowing) Bond  Placement) Placement)  Note

Year ending December 31: _ Principal Principal Interest  Principal Principal Interest Principal  Interest
2022 $ 9,815 180 3,647 3,165 3 1,460 27,200 109
2023 9,490 378 3,281 3,165 3 1,324 - -
2024 9,365 468 2,946 3,160 3 1,179 - -
2025 9,280 472 2,686 3,155 3 1,048 - -
2026 7,755 477 2,319 2,885 4 910 - -
2027-2031 25,740 2,450 7,646 12,645 7 2,797 - -
2032-2036 15,460 2,569 3,233 6,165 - 582 - -
2037-2041 6,235 2,553 623 - - - - -
2042-2046 - 412 2 - - - - -
$ 93,140 9,959 26,383 34,340 23 9,300 27,200 109

The OWDA principal and interest amounts in this table assume all current loan agreements will be fulfilled. The
current committed balances are $352.938 million, $911.803 million and $4.478 million for the Water, Sanitary Sewer
and Storm Sewer funds, respectively.
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Restricted Assets

In conjunction with the issuance of the Sanitary Sewer revenue bonds, the City entered into various trust
agreements with commercial banks. These trust agreements require that the City establish funds for the cost of
construction and repayment of debt. The restricted asset balances in the Business Type Activities segregate funds
held by the City from funds held by trustee in accordance with the trust agreement. In addition, cash related to
proceeds of bonds issued for all City capital projects is restricted by bond ordinances. Unspent bond proceeds of
$17.239 million related to the internal service funds is included in the Governmental Activities restricted amount.
Restricted assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Business Type Activities

Governmental Sanitary Storm
Activities Water Sewer Sewer  Electricity Garages Total

Held by the City:

Construction funds $ 278,305 $ 137,744 204,197 24,939 17,416 13,169 $ 397,465
For Others as deposits - - 1,756 - - - 1,756
Held by trustees:

Debt service funds - - 1,256 - - - 1,256
Total restricted assets $ 278,305 $ 137,744 207,209 24,939 17,416 13,169 $ 400,477

Restricted assets consist of cash, cash equivalents, and investments. In addition, these trust agreements require
the City to pledge net revenues (defined in the trust agreement as revenues less operating and maintenance
expenses) of the Sanitary Sewer Enterprise Fund to the payment of the principal and interest on the respective
bonds when due.

In the opinion of management, the City has complied with all bond covenants.

Matured Bonds and Interest

Matured bonds and interest payable include $629 thousand and $218 thousand, respectively, at December 31,
2021, and $629 thousand and $218 thousand, respectively, at December 31, 2020.

OWDA/EPA

Loans payable to the OWDA/EPA, in the amount of $1.269 billion, are funded by the Ohio Environmental Protection
Agency. $911.803 million are revenue obligations incurred to help finance sanitary sewerage treatment facilities
and are to be repaid from charges for sanitary sewerage services. $352.938 million are revenue obligations incurred
to help finance water enterprise projects and are to be repaid from charges for water services. Finally, $4.478
million are revenue obligations incurred to help finance storm water projects and are to be repaid from charges for
storm water services.
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Voted Debt Authority

Various amounts of debt for various purposes were authorized by the City’s voters (voted-unlimited) in November
2013, November 2016 and May 2019. The remaining unissued amounts and purposes of these authorizations are
shown in the following table.

(in_thousands)
Date Total Issued in Issued in  Unissued as of
Authorized Authorized 2013-2020 2021 12/31/2021
Safety and health 2013 $ 52,500 52,500 - $ -
Recreation and parks 2013 123,910 123,910 - -
Public service 2013 220,300 220,300 - -
Public utilities 2013 445,295 365,570 72,815 6,910
Safety and health 2016 70,000 62,250 7,750 -
Recreation and parks 2016 110,000 74,105 27,380 8,515
Public service 2016 310,000 310,000 - -
Public utilities 2016 460,000 113,395 84,920 261,685
Safety and health 2019 205,000 - 14,650 190,350
Recreation and parks 2019 100,000 - - 100,000
Public service 2019 425,000 28,930 100,445 295,625
Public utilties 2019 250,000 - - 250,000
Neighborhood Development 2019 50,000 - 14,500 35,500

$2,822,005 1,350,960 322,460 $ 1,148,585

Bonds identified above as public utilities are accounted for in the respective business-type enterprise funds. Other
bonds are accounted for as Governmental Activities.

Legal Debt Margins

The Ohio Revised Code provides that the total net debt (as defined in the ORC) of a municipal corporation, whether
or not approved by the electors, shall not exceed 10.5 percent of the total value of all property in the municipal
corporation as listed and assessed for taxation. In addition, the unvoted net debt of municipal corporations cannot
exceed 5.5 percent of the total taxation value of property. The statutory limitations on debt are measured by the
ratio of net debt to tax valuation and expressed in terms of a percentage. At December 31, 2021 the City’s total
net debt amounted to 4.56 percent of total assessed value of all property within the City and unvoted net debt
amounted to 0.0 percent of the total assessed value of all property within the City. The City had a legal debt margin
for total debt of $1.215 billion and a legal debt margin for unvoted debt of $1.126 billion. The aggregate amount
of the City’s unvoted debt is also subject to overlapping debt restrictions with other political subdivisions.

Tax Increment Financing Districts (TIFs)

The City, pursuant to the Ohio Revised Code and City ordinances, has established 94 TIFs. A TIF represents a
geographic area wherein property values created after the commencement date of the TIF are exempt, in whole
or in part, from property taxes. Owners of such property, however, must pay amounts equal to the property taxes,
known as “service fees”, as though the TIF had not been established. These “service fees” are then dedicated to
the payments for various public improvements. Property values existing before the commencement date of a TIF
continue to be subjected to property taxes.

Gross “service fee” revenue was $48.878 million less $942 thousand in county auditor deductions for a net total of
$47.936 million in 2021 and is presented in the financial statements as “payments in lieu of taxes” in certain Debt
Service and Capital Projects Funds since these monies are intended to be used to construct public improvements
through payment of principal and interest on bonds issued for that purpose and payments to developers on
reimbursements agreements. Corresponding capital assets are accounted for in the City’s infrastructure accounts.
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With the exception of one 20-year TIF, most of the City’s TIFs have a longevity of the shorter period of 30 years
or until the public improvements are paid for. The property tax exemption then ceases; service fees cease, and
property taxes then apply to the increased property values. Two of the City’s TIFs, Easton and Polaris, have been
extended for another 30 years.

Defeased Bonds
A description of the City's advance refunded, defeased, bonds with remaining outstanding amounts follows,
exclusive of the component unit’s refunded lease revenue bonds: (in thousands)

Defeased
Amount
Interest Outstanding
Date Original Rates of at

Descriptions of Defeased Originally Par Redemption Date Maturities Defeased Amount December

Bonds Issued Amount  or Call Date Defeased Defeased Bonds Defeased 31, 2021
Safety & Health - U 7/24/2012 $ 28,915  8/15/2022 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0% $ 4,130 $ 4,130
Recreation & Parks - U 7/24/2012 29,070  8/15/2022 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 3,870 3,870
Transportation- U 7/24/2012 67,250  8/15/2022 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 8,400 8,400
Sanitary Sewer - U 7/24/2012 60,135  8/15/2022 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 6,010 6,010
Water - U 7/24/2012 198,510  8/15/2022 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 19,850 19,850
Electricity - U - SIT Supp 7/24/2012 150  8/15/2022 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 20 20
Ref. Rec & Parks - U 6/13/2013 4,530 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 695 695
Ref. Transportation - U 6/13/2013 11,435 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025 5.0 1,040 1,040
Ref. Hayden Run - U 6/13/2013 1,495 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025 5.0 135 135
Ref. Storm - U 6/13/2013 8,095 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 1,135 1,135
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U 6/13/2013 44,860 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 6,330 6,330
Ref. Electricity St Ltg - U 6/13/2013 665 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025 5.0 60 60
Ref. Electricity Dist - U 6/13/2013 2,180 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025 5.0 195 195
Ref. Water 2004 - U 6/13/2013 27,780 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 3,920 3,920
Ref. Water 2008 - U 6/13/2013 32,100 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 4,530 4,530
Ref. Safety & Health - U 6/13/2013 7,525 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025 5.0 1,305 1,305
Ref. Rec & Parks - U 6/13/2013 9,565 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 2,175 2,175
Ref. Transportation - U 6/13/2013 19,335 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 5,750 5,750
Ref. Storm Sewer - U 6/13/2013 2,660 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 540 540
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U 6/13/2013 23,340 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 4,385 4,385
Ref. Water (U) 6/13/2013 75,835 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 14,345 14,345
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U 6/13/2013 3,210 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 710 710
Ref. Water - U 6/13/2013 9,390 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 2,090 2,090
Ref. Storm Sewer - U 6/13/2013 17,205 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 2,005 2,005
Safety & Health - U 9/4/2013 8,070  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 1,150 1,150
Rec & Parks - U 9/4/2013 31,825  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 3,740 3,740
Transportation - U 9/4/2013 89,025  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 11,130 11,130
Water - U 9/4/2013 32,305  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 3,230 3,230
Storm Sewer - U 9/4/2013 5445  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 540 540
Sanitary Sewer - U 9/4/2013 48,560  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 4,860 4,860
Ref. Construction Mgmt - L 6/13/2013 3,615 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025 5.0 390 390
Ref. King Lincoln - L 6/13/2013 1,355 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 190 190
Ref. Construction Mgmt - L 6/13/2013 4,775 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 1,425 1,425
Ref. Fleet Mgmt- L 6/13/2013 900 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 260 260
Ref. Woodland Meadows - L 6/13/2013 1,015 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 170 170
Ref. Construction Mgmt - L 6/13/2013 27,195 7/1/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 4,020 4,020
Safety & Health - L 9/4/2013 21,535  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 3,070 3,070
Construction Mgmt - L 9/4/2013 36,200  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 4,820 4,820
Electricity SIT- L 9/4/2013 2,240  8/15/2023 3/7/2016 2025-2026 5.0 300 300
Ref. Rec & Parks - U 6/13/2013 4,530 7/1/2023 11/16/2016 2027 5.0 355 355
Ref. Storm - U 6/13/2013 8,095 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 1,160 1,160
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U 6/13/2013 44,860 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 6,455 6,455
Ref. Water 2004 - U 6/13/2013 27,780 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 4,000 4,000
Ref. Water 2008 - U 6/13/2013 32,100 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 4,625 4,625
Ref. Rec & Parks - U 6/13/2013 9,565 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 2,245 2,245
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Ref. Storm Sewer - U
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Water - U

Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Water - U

Ref. Storm Sewer - U
Safety & Health - U

Rec & Parks - U
Transportation - U
Water - U

Storm Sewer - U
Sanitary Sewer - U
Safety & Health - L
Construction Mgmt - L
Electricity SIT- L

Safety & Health - U

Rec & Parks 2008 - U
Rec & Parks 2013 - U
Transportation 2008 - U
Transportation 2013 - U
Electricity - U - SIT Supp
Sanitary Sewer - U
Water - U

Storm Sewer - U

Rec & Parks Golf - U
Safety & Health - U

Recreation & Parks - U
Transportation- U
Sanitary Sewer - U
Water - U

Electricity - U - SIT Supp

Safety & Health - U

Ref. Rec & Parks - U
Ref. Transportation - U
Ref. Hayden Run - U
Ref. Storm - U

Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Electricity St Ltg - U
Ref. Water 2004 - U
Ref. Electricity Dist - U
Ref. Water 2008 - U
Ref. Safety & Health - U
Ref. Rec & Parks - U
Ref. Transportation - U
Ref. Storm Sewer - U
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Water - U

Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U

Ref. Water - U
Ref. Storm Sewer - U

Safety & Health - U

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO

Defeased
Amount
Interest Outstanding
Date Original Rates of at
Originally Par Redemption Date Maturities Defeased Amount December
Issued Amount  or Call Date Defeased Defeased Bonds Defeased 31, 2021
6/13/2013 $ 2,660 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0% $ 560 $ 560
6/13/2013 23,340 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 4,500 4,500
6/13/2013 75,835 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 14,740 14,740
6/13/2013 3,210 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 730 730
6/13/2013 9,390 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 2,145 2,145
6/13/2013 17,205 7/1/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 2,060 2,060
9/4/2013 8,070  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 1,150 1,150
9/4/2013 31,825  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 3,740 3,740
9/4/2013 89,025  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 11,125 11,125
9/4/2013 32,305  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 3,230 3,230
9/4/2013 5,445  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 540 540
9/4/2013 48,560  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 4,850 4,850
9/4/2013 21,535  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 3,035 3,035
9/4/2013 36,200  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 4,785 4,785
9/4/2013 2,240  8/15/2023 11/16/2016  2027-2028 5.0 265 265
6/24/2014 27,475  2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 2,110 2,110
6/24/2014 4,485 2/15/2024 11/16/2016 2027 5.0 265 265
6/24/2014 30,925  2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 2,060 2,060
6/24/2014 64,405  2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 4,025 4,025
6/24/2014 21,670  2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 1,355 1,355
6/24/2014 4,075 2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 270 270
6/24/2014 43,255  2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 2,160 2,160
6/24/2014 42,660 2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 2,135 2,135
6/24/2014 6,900 2/15/2024  11/16/2016 2027 5.0 345 345
6/24/2014 2,800 2/15/2024 11/16/2016 2027 5.0 15 15
7/24/2012 28,915 8/15/2022 11/16/2017  2023-2024, 4.0-5.0 6,195 6,195
2027
7/24/2012 29,070  8/15/2022 11/16/2017  2023-2024, 4.0-5.0 7,740 7,740
2027-2028
7/24/2012 67,250 8/15/2022 11/16/2017  2023-2024, 4.0-5.0 21,005 21,005
2027-2029
7/24/2012 60,135  8/15/2022 11/16/2017  2023-2024, 4.0-5.0 15,025 15,025
2027-2029
7/24/2012 198,510  8/15/2022 11/16/2017  2023-2024, 4.0-5.0 49,625 49,625
2027-2029
7/24/2012 150  8/15/2022 11/16/2017  2023-2024, 4.0-5.0 40 40
2027-2028
6/13/2013 8,080 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 800 800
6/13/2013 4,530 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 340 340
6/13/2013 11,435 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 1,025 1,025
6/13/2013 1,495 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 135 135
6/13/2013 8,095 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 560 560
6/13/2013 44,860  7/1/2023  11/16/2017 2024 5.0 3,110 3,110
6/13/2013 665 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 60 60
6/13/2013 27,780 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 1,925 1,925
6/13/2013 2,180 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 195 195
6/13/2013 32,100 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 2,225 2,225
6/13/2013 7,525 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 1,290 1,290
6/13/2013 9,565 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 1,065 1,065
6/13/2013 19,335 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 2,810 2,810
6/13/2013 2,660 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 265 265
6/13/2013 23,340 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 2030 5.0 3,905 3,905
6/13/2013 75,835 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 2030 5.0 12,300 12,300
6/13/2013 3,210 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 1,105 1,105
2030-2031
6/13/2013 9,390 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 3,240 3,240
2030-2031
6/13/2013 17,205 7/1/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 3,110 3,110
2030-2031
9/4/2013 8,070  8/15/2023 11/16/2017 2024 5.0 575 575
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Descriptions of Defeased
bonds

Rec & Parks - U
Transportation - U
Water - U

Storm Sewer - U
Sanitary Sewer - U

Ref Sanitary Sewer - U
Sanitary Sewer - U
Water - U

Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Storm Sewer - U
Water - U

Storm Sewer - U
Sanitary Sewer - U

Rec & Parks - U

Ref. Storm Sewer - L
Ref. Development - L
Ref. Construction Mgmt - L
Sewer Revenue Refunding
Bonds

Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Health & Safety - U
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Storm Sewer - U
Ref. Sanitary Sewer - U
Ref. Storm Sewer - U
Ref. Storm Sewer - L
Ref. Development - L
Construction Mgmt - L
Electricity SIT - L

Ref. Gowdy - L

Ref. Fleet Mgmt - L

Ref. King Lincoln - L
Ref. Parsons - L

Ref. Transportation - L
Ref. Wheatland - L

Ref. RiverSouth - L

Ref. Health & Safety - U
Ref. Golf Rec & Parks - L
Ref. Rec & Parks - L

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO

Defeased
Amount
Interest Outstanding
Date Original Rates of at
Originally Par Redemption Date Maturities Defeased Amount December
Issued Amount  or Call Date Defeased Defeased Bonds Defeased 31, 2021
9/4/2013 $31,825 8/15/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0% $ 7,480 $ 7,480
2029-2031
9/4/2013 89,025  8/15/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 16,685 16,685
2029-2030
9/4/2013 32,305  8/15/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 9,690 9,690
2029-2033
9/4/2013 5,445  8/15/2023  11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 1,620 1,620
2029-2033
9/4/2013 48,560  8/15/2023 11/16/2017 2024, 5.0 14,555 14,555
2029-2033
3/21/2012 6,215 7/1/2022 10/16/2019  2024-2025 5.0 3,090 3,090
7/24/2012 60,135  8/15/2022 10/16/2019 2033 4.5 3,005 3,005
7/24/2012 198,510  8/15/2022 10/16/2019 2033 4.5 9,925 9,925
9/26/2012 6,725  2/15/2023 10/16/2019 2026 5.0 1,325 1,325
9/26/2012 10,625  2/15/2023 10/16/2019 2026 5.0 2,095 2,095
9/4/2013 32,305  8/15/2023 10/16/2019 2034 4.5 1,620 1,620
9/4/2013 5,445 8/15/2023 10/16/2019 2034 4.5 270 270
9/4/2013 48,560  8/15/2023 10/16/2019 2034 4.5 2,425 2,425
9/4/2013 3,390 8/15/2023 10/16/2019  2026-2031 4.21-4.81 1,195 1,195
3/21/2012 6,180 7/1/2022 10/16/2019  2024-2025 5.0 3,070 3,070
3/21/2012 1,660 7/1/2022 10/16/2019 2024-2025 5.0 825 825
9/4/2013 5,030 8/15/2023 10/16/2019  2026-2029 4.21-4.61 1,340 1,340
12/1/2014 205,425 6/1/2024 10/28/2019 2028 5.0 39,025 39,025
3/21/2012 6,215  7/1/2022  2/17/2021 2023 5.0 1,545 1,545
3/21/2012 7,625 7/1/2022 2/17/2021 2023 5.0 1,235 1,235
3/21/2012 8,140 7/1/2022 2/17/2021 2023 5.0 1,320 1,320
3/21/2012 12,865 7/1/2022 2/17/2021 2023 5.0 2,090 2,090
9/26/2012 6,725 2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2024 5.0 1,335 1,335
9/26/2012 10,625  2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2024 5.0 2,110 2,110
3/21/2012 6,180 7/1/2022 2/17/2021 2023 5.0 1,545 1,545
3/21/2012 1,660 7/1/2022 2/17/2021 2023 5.0 415 415
7/24/2012 21,870  8/15/2022 2/17/2021 2024-2028 3.0-4.0 7,275 7,275
7/24/2012 2,545  8/15/2022 2/17/2021 2024-2028 3.0-4.0 845 845
9/26/2012 2,510 2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2025 3.0-5.0 740 740
9/26/2012 9,505 2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2025 3.0-5.0 2,850 2,850
9/26/2012 125  2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 60 60
9/26/2012 105  2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 50 50
9/26/2012 655 2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 310 310
9/26/2012 105  2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 50 50
9/26/2012 205  2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 100 100
9/26/2012 5,855  2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 2,785 2,785
9/26/2012 125 2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 60 60
9/26/2012 3,150 2/15/2023 2/17/2021 2023-2024 3.0-5.0 1,500 1,500
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NOTE H—DEFERRED INFLOWS / DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption
of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. The City only has two items that qualify for reporting in this category. One is the
deferred charge on refunding reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements of net position. A
deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition
price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. The
second is the deferred outflows related to pensions and OPEB, also reported in the government-wide and proprietary
fund statements of net position. Deferred outflows related to pensions and OPEB result from changes in Net Pension
Liability and Net OPEB Liability, respectively, not recognized as a component of current year pension and OPEB
expense. This amount is deferred and amortized over various periods as instructed by the pension and OPEB plan
administrators.

A summary of the deferred outflows of resources reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statement
of position follows. Internal service fund deferred outflows from refundings, pension and OPEB at December 31,
2021 were $301 thousand, $3.221 million and $420 thousand, respectively, and are included in governmental
activities.

Business Type Activities
Governmental Sanitary
Activities Water Sewer Storm Sewer Electricity Total

Deferred outflows of resources (in thousands)

Debt refunding $ 14,505 $ 7,529 20,019 1,862 111 ¢ 29,521

Pension 223,645 2,957 2,790 721 1,125 7,593

OPEB 109,758 1,986 1,995 205 480 4,666
Total deferred outflows of resources ¢ 347,908 $ 12,472 24,804 2,788 1,716 $ 41,780

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred inflows of resources.
This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position
that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.
The City has nonexchange revenue transactions where a receivable has been recorded because property taxes
were levied, but the resources cannot be used until a future period. This item has been reported as deferred inflow
on the government-wide statement of net position. In addition, deferred inflows related to pensions and OPEB are
reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements of net position. Deferred inflows related to
pensions and OPEB result from changes in Net Pension and OPEB Liability not recognized as a component of current
year pension expense. This amount is deferred and amortized over various periods as instructed by the pension
and OPEB plan administrators.

A summary of the deferred inflows of resources reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statement
of position follows. Internal service fund deferred inflows related to pensions and OPEB at December 31, 2021
were $13.367 million and $9.843 million, respectively, and are included in governmental activities.

Nonexchange revenue represents deferred inflows from receivables generated from property tax assessments.
These balances are deferred inflows for both the modified and full accrual basis of accounting since the taxes are
levied in 2021 but cannot be spent until 2022. Nonexchange revenue includes property taxes due to the City as
well as service payments and special assessments passed through the City.
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Business Type Activities

Governmental Sanitary
Activities Water Sewer Storm Sewer _ Electricity Total
Deferred inflows of resources (in thousands)
Nonexchange revenue $ 111,365 $ - - - - $ -
Pensions 239,855 12,639 13,279 1,428 3,251 30,597
OPEB 168,728 12,563 12,445 1,177 2,925 29,110
Total deferred inflows of resources  $ 519,948 $ 25,202 25,724 2,605 6,176 $ 59,707

On the modified accrual basis of accounting, the City has recorded certain receivables where the related revenue
is unavailable or cannot be spent until 2022. Deferred inflows of resources have been reported on the governmental
fund balance sheet for the following:

Governmental Type Funds

Special Other
Board of Income  Governmental
General Health Tax Funds Totals
(in thousands)
Income tax (Note L) $ 66,000 - 22,000 - $ 88,000
Property tax (Note L) 63,469 - - - 63,469
Shared revenue 8,192 - - 23,185 31,377
Charges for Services 1,640 - - 198 1,838
License and permits 229 - - 160 389
Special assessment - - - 2,870 2,870
Grants - 581 - 3,352 3,933
Service payments - - - 47,545 47,545
Miscellaneous - - - 2,669 2,669
Total deferred inflows of resources $ 139,530 581 22,000 79,979 $242,090

NOTE I—PROPERTY LEASED TO OTHERS

e The City leased to others in 1985, an office building known as the old, old post office. The City has no net
investment in this lease because the City’s purchase price of $3 million for the building was entirely recovered
by a lease payment received at the lease’s inception. The initial lease term was for 20 years with a 20-year
renewal term at $100 per year. The lessee renewed the lease in December 2005 for an additional 20 years. The
lessee may then purchase the property at its then fair market value or continue to lease it for up to 55 additional
years.

e The City leases certain real property, together with buildings and improvements located thereon, to the Columbus
Zoological Park Association (the Zoo). The lease, with annual rental payments of $10 per year, which was paid
in a lump sum of $200 before the first anniversary date of the amended lease, is an extension of earlier leases
that began in 1970. This current lease which commenced in 2003 expires December 31, 2023. The Zoo uses
and occupies the premises solely for zoological, conservation, educational, research, and recreational purposes.
Animals at the Zoo are not owned by the City.

o The City completed construction of the Griggs Boathouse in 2011 on the City property located at 3033 Thoburn
Rd. The construction was funded from monies provided by The Ohio State University (OSU). The property and
associated building remains a City of Columbus asset. The construction agreement provided for the completed
facility to be used by OSU, the Greater Columbus Rowing Association (GCRA), and the City. The subsequent
lease agreement between the three parties determines their responsibilities based on the percentage of area
used by each as 50 percent, 33.5 percent, and 16.5 percent, respectively. There are two leases associated with
the Griggs Boathouse. The first lease is with OSU and is a term of 40 years with an annual review and renewal
of the terms of the rental amount. The second agreement is with GCRA and is a five (5) year lease with an
option for automatic renewal for an additional five (5) years. The rental factors include annual and regular
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operations and maintenance (utilities, custodial, annual preventative maintenance, building insurance, and
telecommunications) as well as longer term costs for interior repairs and replacement and exterior hardscape,
softscape & building repair and replacement. Rent collections are accounted for in a special revenue fund.

e In 2011, the City completed construction on the Scioto Mile properties. Included was the construction of a
restaurant facility located at 229 Civic Center Drive within the Bicentennial Park. The City entered into a lease
agreement with KA Restaurant Concepts, LLC beginning in 2011 for the operations of the restaurant facility. In
2019, the City and KA negotiated a new five year lease agreement effective January 1, 2020. The
agreement establishes the rent at $28.00 per square foot for indoor space, $7.00 per square foot for outdoor
space, $6.50 per square foot for interior Common Area Maintenance (CAM). As Additional Rent, KA Restaurant
Concepts LLC is required to reimburse the City for utilities not separately metered, the City’s administrative cost
for exterior maintenance and real property tax assigned to the premises. Annual rent income is $125,338 plus
reimbursement for the City’s administrative costs. Rent collections are held in a special revenue fund for the
purpose of paying utilities consumed by the tenant at the restaurant, for the exterior and structural repair, and
replacement needs of the restaurant facility itself. It also covers any other repair and replacement needs of the
park and facilities and any park programming that enhance the visibility of Bicentennial Park and the restaurant
facility. The lease has two renewal options for five years each and rent would be negotiated at the time of the
extension. Due to COVID-19, the City received discounted rent of $109,671 for 2021.

e The City leases to Specialty Restaurant Corporations 5.147 acres of real property located at the confluence of
the Olentangy and Scioto Rivers under a long term ground lease. Rent collections are accounted for in the
General Fund. The annual rent is $90,000, but due to COVID-19 the City received rent of $55,625 in 2021.

o The City also leases part of a City-owned building at 1111 East Broad Street to the Workforce Development Board
of Central Ohio, another governmental agency. In 2021, the City received $355,113 in rental payments that
were accounted for in a special revenue fund.

e On April 22, 2004, pursuant to Ordinance No, 0624-03, the City purchased the Lincoln Theater property for
$1,000,000. On July 27, 2007, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2253-2006, the City leased the property to the Lincoln
Theater Association, an Ohio nonprofit corporation, under a 99 year lease. Under the terms of the lease the
Lincoln Theater Association was required to undertake major renovations to the building and to use the building
primarily for the presentation of theatrical, musical, comedy and other performing arts. The City, Franklin
County, and private organizations contributed toward rehabilitation and restoration efforts of the theater in
addition to the major renovations required under the lease agreement.

o The City leases three City-owned buildings and a small dental clinic located in the City’s Department of Health to
the Columbus Neighborhood Health Center, Inc. to run community health centers. These buildings are located
at 2300 West Broad Street, 1905 Parsons Avenue, and 1180 East Main Street. In 2021, the City received
$689,753 in rental payments.

e The City has eight crop farming leases with multiple farmers on various Department of Public Utilities sites. In
2021, the City received $242,517 in rental payments that were deposited to the Water Operating Fund and
$41,430 that were deposited to the Sanitary Sewer Operating Fund.

e The City acquired a property in late 2017 known as 1402-1418 Cleveland Avenue. In 2021, the City received
$40,730 from lease agreements that were acquired with the property. The payments were deposited in a special
revenue fund.

e Beginning September 1, 2015, the City began leasing the Reeb Avenue Center to a non-profit that provides
daycare, social, and early childhood education services to the neighborhood. Revenue is deposited in a special
revenue fund for support of the capital repair/replacement needs of the building, and totaled $98,909 in 2021.

In addition to the major leases itemized here, the City has numerous other properties leased out in varying terms
and amounts. Due to COVID-19, the City did extend discounts in 2021 on many of its leases.
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NOTE J—LEASE COMMITMENTS AND LEASED ASSETS

The City leases a significant amount of property and equipment under short term operating leases. Total payments on such leases
for the year ended December 31, 2021 were approximately $4.7 million ($3.7 million in 2020).

e The City also leases a building under a capitalized lease. The cost of the building, $19.8 million, is included in
the City’s capital assets used in governmental activities. The final capital lease payment on the building was paid
by the City in 2005. In December 2008, the City agreed to terms for the lease of this building which include: an
initial term of one year commencing on April 1, 2009 and continuing for successive one-year terms unless the
City provides 60 day written notice of its intention not to terminate and subject to annual appropriation of funds
for payment of rent; annual rent is the City’s pro-rated share of the insurance cost of the building; upon the
City’s expenditure of an accumulated cost of $30 million in capital improvements by no later than December 31,
2030, the City shall have an option to take fee title to the building with payment of the leased option purchase
price as defined in the lease.

e On April 1, 1993, the City leased to the Solid Waste Authority of Central Ohio (SWACO) an electricity-generating,
solid waste recovery plant and related transfer stations (the Plant). The annual lease payments to the City were
to be in the amount of the related debt service requirements. The lease was accounted for as a capital lease
and was originally accounted for in the Electricity Enterprise Fund.

Due to a series of federal court decisions and U.S. E.P.A. decisions, the Plant ceased operations in 1994. Because
the asset underlying the lease was no longer a functioning asset, the lease was transferred from the Electricity
Enterprise Fund to the Special Income Tax debt service fund in 1994 and to the City’s General Fund in 2004.
The Plant was demolished in 2005.

Through various amendments to the lease, the City agreed to reduce the amount due from SWACO to the City
to an amount equal to 65 percent of debt service and associated bond costs required for the City’s bonds from
January 1, 1995 to the bonds’ final maturity in 2010. SWACO agreed to impose a new fee on garbage originating
throughout the SWACO boundaries, primarily Franklin County, Ohio. The City, rather than pay cash to SWACO
for residential type garbage picked up by City garbage trucks, grants a credit to SWACO against the amount
due by SWACO to the City. The final credit from SWACO was received in the first quarter of 2012 and the City
has begun paying the fee to SWACO. This fee applies to all garbage originating within SWACO boundaries
regardless of whether the garbage is disposed of (tipped) at SWACQO’s landfill or not. This fee, authorized by
SWACO in December 1998, became effective at various dates in 1999. As a result of additional modifications to
the SWACO lease agreement, the term of the lease has been extended to March 31, 2054.

SWACO operates a landfill and agrees to continue to operate the landfill in a manner that ensures that disposal
capacity in the Franklin County Landfill will be available to the City and its residents through, at a minimum, the
year 2025. The City continues to agree to dispose of all garbage collected by the City at the SWACO landfill. In
2021, the City paid SWACO a total of $17.1 million from all funds for landfill tipping fees ($18.2 million in 2020).

e During 2004, the City entered into an agreement with its component unit, RiverSouth, for the lease of
approximately 1.621 acres of land. In addition, during 2016, the City entered into a ground lease with
RiverSouth for an approximate 6.344 acre tract of real property on the Scioto Peninsula for a period of forty
years. These lease agreements are described in Note A.

In addition to the major leases itemized here, the City has numerous other lease commitments in varying terms
and amounts.
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NOTE K—PENSION AND OPEB PLANS

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to employees for pensions.
Pensions are a component of exchange transactions-—between an employer and its employees—of salaries and
benefits for employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of
the total compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each financial period. The obligation
to sacrifice resources for pensions is a present obligation because it was created as a result of employment
exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the City’s proportionate share of each pension plan’s collective actuarial present
value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each pension plan’s fiduciary net
position. The net pension liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term variables, including estimated
average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living adjustments and others. While these estimates
use the best information available, unknowable future events require adjusting this estimate annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the City’s obligation to fund this liability to annually required payments. The City cannot
control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however, the City does receive the benefit of
employees’ services in exchange for compensation including pension.

GASB 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they benefit from employee
services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers. All contributions to date have
come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in the form of withholdings from employees).
State statute requires the pension plans to amortize unfunded liabilities within 30 years. If the amortization period
exceeds 30 years, each pension plan’s board must propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting
legislative change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net pension liability. Resulting adjustments
to the net pension liability would be effective when the changes are legally enforceable. The proportionate share
of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension liability on the accrual basis of accounting.

Police and fire-sworn personnel participate in the statewide Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund (OP&F). Substantially
all other City employees participate in the statewide Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS). Both OP&F
and OPERS are cost sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement systems administered by their respective
Retirement Boards. The OP&F Board consists of six members elected by representative groups and three statutory
members. The OPERS Board consists of seven members elected by representative groups, one statutory member,
and three appointed members. The total payroll for the City’s employees for the year ended December 31, 2021
was $758.966 million. Of this amount, $381.700 million was covered by OP&F, $360.953 million was covered by
OPERS, and $16.313 million was not subject to pension benefit calculations.
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Required contributions to OP&F and OPERS are used to fund pension obligations and health care programs. In
addition to paying the employer’s share as required by the ORC, the City pays a portion of the employee’s share.
Rates required attributable to 2021 payroll costs are summarized as follows:

Percentage of covered payrol—January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021

Employee share
Paid by Employer
Paid by City employee Total Share Total

OP&F:

Police hired before 01/01/2013 0.75 11.50 12.25% 19.50% 31.75%

Police hired on or after 01/01/2013 0.00 12.25 12.25% 19.50% 31.75%

Fire 0.00 12.25 12.25% 24.00% 36.25%
OPERS:

AFSCME Local 1632 0.00 10.00 10.00% 14.00% 24.00%

AFSCME Local 2191 0.00 10.00 10.00% 14.00% 24.00%

CWA 0.00 10.00 10.00% 14.00% 24.00%

MCP hired on or after 01/01/2010 0.00 10.00 10.00% 14.00% 24.00%

MCP hired before 01/01/2010, through 03/23/2019 0.00 10.00 10.00% 14.00% 24.00%

MCP hired before 01/01/2010, effective 03/24/2019 0.00 10.00 10.00% 14.00% 24.00%

Police and Fire (OP&F)

Plan Description - City full-time police and firefighters participate in OP&F, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined
benefit pension plan administered by OP&F. OP&F provides retirement and disability pension benefits, annual cost-
of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefit provisions are established by
the Ohio State Legislature and are codified in Chapter 742 of the Ohio Revised Code. OP&F issues a publicly
available financial report that includes financial information and required supplementary information and detailed
information about OP&F fiduciary net position. The report may be obtained by visiting the OP&F website at
www.op-f.org or by writing to the Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund, 140 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-
5164.

Upon attaining a qualifying age with sufficient years of service, a member of OP&F may retire and receive a lifetime
monthly pension. OP&F offers four types of service retirement: normal, service commuted, age/service commuted
and actuarially reduced. Each type has different eligibility guidelines and is calculated using the member’s average
annual salary. The following discussion of the pension formula relates to normal service retirement.

For members hired after July 1, 2013, the minimum retirement age is 52 for normal service retirement with at least
25 years of service credit. For members hired on or before July 1, 2013, the minimum retirement age is 48 for
normal service retirement with at least 25 years of service credit.

The annual pension benefit for normal service retirement is equal to a percentage of the allowable average annual
salary. The percentage equals 2.5 percent for each of the first 20 years of service credit, 2.0 percent for each of
the next five years of service credit and 1.5 percent for each year of service credit in excess of 25 years. The
maximum pension of 72 percent of the allowable average annual salary is paid after 33 years of service credit.

Under normal service retirement, retired members who are at least 55 years old and have been receiving OP&F
benefits for at least one year may be eligible for a cost of living allowance adjustment. The age 55 provision for
receiving a cost of living adjustment (COLA) does not apply to those who are receiving a permanent and total
disability benefit and statutory survivors.

Members retiring under normal service retirement, with less than 15 years of service credit on July 1, 2013, will

receive a COLA equal to either three percent or the percent increase, if any, in the consumer price index (CPI) over
the 12-month period ending on September 30 of the immediately preceding year, whichever is less. The COLA
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amount for members with at least 15 years of service credit as of July 1, 2013 is equal to three percent of their
base pension or disability benefit.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code (ORC) provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions
as follows:

Police Firefighters

2021 Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates
Employer 19.50% 24.00%
Employee 12.25% 12.25%
2021 Actual Contribution Rates
Employer:

Pension 19.00% 23.50%

Post-employment Health Care Benefits 0.50% 0.50%

Total Employer 19.50% 24.00%
Employee 12.25% 12.25%

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll. The City’s contractually required
contribution to OP&F for pension and OPEB combined was $82.447 million for 2021.

OPERS

Plan Description - City employees, other than full-time police and firefighters and seasonal employees opting out
of pension benefits, participate in OPERS. OPERS administers three separate pension plans. The traditional pension
plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The member-directed plan is a defined
contribution plan and the combined plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan with
defined contribution features. While City employees may elect the member-directed plan and the combined plan,
substantially all employee members are in OPERS'’ traditional plan; therefore, the following disclosure focuses on
the traditional pension plan.

OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits, and annual cost of living adjustments to
members of the traditional plan. Authority to establish and amend benefits is provided by Chapter 145 of the Ohio
Revised Code. OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report that includes financial statements, required
supplementary information and detailed information about OPERS'’ fiduciary net position that may be obtained by
visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System,
277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling 800-222-7377.

Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with an effective date of January 7, 2013. In the legislation, members
were categorized into three groups with varying provisions of the law applicable to each group. The following table
provides age and service requirements for retirement and the retirement formula applied to final average salary
(FAS) for the three member groups under the traditional plan as per the reduced benefits adopted by SB 343 (see
OPERS ACFR referenced above for additional information):
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Group A Group B Group C
Eligible to retire prior to 20 years of service credit
January 7, 2013 or five prior to January 7, 2013 or  Members not in other Groups
years after or eligible to retire ten years and members hired on or after
January 7, 2013 after January 7, 2013 January 7, 2013
State and Local State and Local State and Local
Age and Service Age and Service Age and Service
Requirements: Requirements: Requirements:

Age 60 with 60 months of Age 60 with 60 months of Age 57 with 25 years of
service credit or Age 55 with service credit or Age 55 with  service credit or Age 62 with
25 years of service credit 25 years of service credit 5 years of service credit
Formula: Formula: Formula:

2.2% of FAS multiplied by 2.2% of FAS multiplied by 2.2% of FAS multiplied by
years of service for the years of service for the years of service for the first
first 30 years and 2.5% for first 30 years and 2.5% for 35 years and 2.5% for

service years in excess of 30  service years in excess of 30 service years in excess of 35

Final average salary (FAS) represents the average of the three highest years of earnings over a member’s career
for Groups A and B. Group C is based on the average of the five highest years of earnings over a member’s career.

Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service credit requirement for unreduced benefits receive
a percentage reduction in the benefit amount.

When a benefit recipient has received benefits for 12 months, an annual COLA is provided. This COLA is calculated
on the base retirement benefit at the date of retirement and is not compounded. For those retiring prior to January
7, 2013, the COLA will continue to be a three percent simple annual COLA. For those retiring subsequent to January
7, 2013, beginning in calendar year 2019, the COLA will be based on the average percentage increase in the
Consumer Price Index, capped at three percent.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code (ORC) provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions
as follows:

2021 Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates State and Local

Employer 14.00%
Employee 10.00%
2021 Actual Contribution Rates
Employer:
Pension 14.00%
Post-employment Health Care Benefits 0.00%
Total Employer 14.00%
Employee 10.00%

Employer contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll. The
City’'s contractually required contribution for pension and OPEB combined was $50.533 million for 2021, which
includes $2.455 million contributed to an OPERS' defined contribution plan.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2020 and the total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation of December 31, 2020 for OPERS and as of
January 1, 2020 rolled-forward to December 31, 2020 for OP&F. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability
was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating
entities. Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense:

OP&F OPERS Total
(in thousands)
Proportion of the Net Pension Liability
Current Measurement Date 15.16% 2.23%
Proportionate Share of
Net Pension Liability $ 1,033,263 $ 323,375 $ 1,356,638
Pension Expense $ 88,150 $ 3,693 $ 91,843

At December 31, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions from the following sources:

OP&F OPERS Total
(in thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Difference between proportionate share and actual

employer contributions $ - $ 1,246 $ 1,246
Change in proportionate share 41,729 - 41,729
Differences between expected and

actual experience 42,236 - 42,236
Change in assumptions 17,000 415 17,415
City's contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 80,532 48,079 128,611
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 181,497 $ 49,740 $231,237
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Difference between proportionate share and actual

employer contributions $ 1,492 $ - $ 1,492
Differences between expected and

actual experience 40,230 15,065 55,295
Change in proportionate share 21,991 8,309 30,300
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on pension plan investments 53,862 129,504 183,366
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 117,575 $152,878 $270,453
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Contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $128.611 million are reported as deferred outflows of
resources related to pension as they will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the subsequent
fiscal period, December 31, 2022 rather than in the current fiscal period. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized as an addition/
(reduction) in pension expense as follows:

OP&F OPERS Total
(in thousands)
Fiscal Year Ending December 31:
2022 $ 3,522 $ (59,758) $ (56,236)
2023 17,740 (19,639) (1,899)
2024 (38,071) (53,782) (91,853)
2025 (1,572) (17,772) (19,344)
2026 1,771 (103) 1,668
2027-2029 - (163) (163)
Total $ (16,610) $(151,217) $(167,827)

Actuarial Assumptions — OP&F

OP&F's total pension liability as of December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 measurement date) is based on the
results of an actuarial valuation date of January 1, 2020, and rolled-forward using generally accepted actuarial
procedures. The total pension liability is determined by OP&F’s actuaries in accordance with GASB Statement No.
67, as part of their annual valuation. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of reported amounts
and assumptions about probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about
future employment, mortality, salary increases, disabilities, retirements and employment terminations. Actuarially
determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as actual results are compared
with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Key methods and assumptions used in calculating the total pension liability in the latest actuarial valuation, prepared
as of January 1, 2020, are presented below:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal (Level Percent of Payroll)
Investment Rate of Return 8.00 percent

Projected Salary Increases 3.75 percent to 10.50 percent
Payroll Increases 3.25 percent

Inflation Assumptions 2.75 percent

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.20 percent per year simple

Rates of death for non-disabled participants is based on the RP-2014 Total Employee and Healthy Annuitant
Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006, adjusted according to the rates in the following table, and projected with the
Buck Modified 2016 Improvement Scale. Rates for surviving beneficiaries are adjusted by 120%.

Age Police Fire
67 or less 77% 68%
68-77 105 87
78 and up 115 120
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Rates of death for disabled retirees is based on the RP-2014 Disabled Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006, adjusted
according to the rates in the following table, and projected with the Buck Modified 2016 Improvement Scale.

Age Police Fire
59 or less 35% 35%
60-69 60 45
70-79 75 70
80 and up 100 90

The most recent experience study was completed as of December 31, 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block approach
and assumes a time horizon, as defined in the OP&F’s Statement of Investment Policy. A forecasted rate of inflation
serves as the baseline for the return expectation. Various real return premiums over the baseline inflation rate
have been established for each asset class. The long-term expected nominal rate of return has been determined
by calculating a weighted average of the expected real return premiums for each asset class, adding the projected
inflation rate and adding the expected return from rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes. A summary of best
estimates of the long-term expected geometric real rates of return for each major asset class as of December 31,
2020 (measurement date) are summarized as follows:

Long-Term
Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Cash & Cash Equivalents 0.00 % 0.00 %
Domestic Equity 21.00 4.10
Non-US Equity 14.00 4.80
Private Markets 8.00 6.40
Core Fixed Income * 23.00 0.90
High Yield Fixed Income 7.00 3.00
Private Credit 5.00 4.50
U.S. Inflation Linked Bonds 17.00 0.70
Midstream Energy Infrastructure 5.00 5.60
Real assets 8.00 5.80
Gold 5.00 1.90
Private Real Estate 12.00 5.30

Total 125.00 %

OP&F’s assumed long-term discount rate of 8.00 percent is supported by the 30-year expected rate of return, as
calculated by their investment advisor.

OP&F’s Board of Trustees has incorporated the “risk parity” concept into OP&F’s asset liability valuation with the
goal of reducing equity risk exposure, which reduces overall Total Portfolio risk without sacrificing return, and
creating a more risk-balanced portfolio based on their relationship between asset classes and economic
environments. From the notional portfolio perspective above, the Total Portfolio may be levered up to 1.25 times
due to the application of leverage in certain fixed income asset classes.
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Discount Rate

The total pension liability was calculated using the discount rate of 8.00 percent. The projection of cash flows used
to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions from employers and from the members would be
computed based on contribution requirements as stipulated by State statute. Projected inflows from investment
earning were calculated using the longer-term assumed investment rate of return 8.00 percent. Based on those
assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all future benefit payments of
current plan members. Therefore, a long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied
to all periods of projected benefits to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate

Net pension liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate, and to illustrate the potential impact the following
table presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 8.00 percent, as well as what each
plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower
(7.00 percent), or one percentage point higher (9.00 percent) than the current rate.

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease Discount Rate Point Increase
(7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
(in_thousands)

City's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 1,438,436 $ 1,033,263 $ 694,176

Actuarial Assumptions - OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and assumptions about
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment,
mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review or modification as actual
results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation. The
total pension liability in the December 31, 2020, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age

Investment Rate of Return 7.2

Future Salary Increases, including inflation 3.25 percent to 10.75 percent
Wage Inflation 3.25 percent

Cost of Living Adjustments Pre 1/7/2013 Retirees: 3.00 percent, simple

Post 1/7/2013 Retirees: 0.50 percent, simple
through 2021, then 2.15 percent, simple

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and females, adjusted
for mortality improvement back to the observation period based year 2006. The base year for males and females
was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014
Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the
observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and
2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality
table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006.
The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for
a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to the above
described tables.
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The most recent experience study was completed for the five year period ended December 31, 2015.

The long term expected rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for inflation.

The allocation of investment assets with the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees as
outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective
of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the defined benefit pension
plans. The table below displays the Board-approved asset allocation policy for 2020 and the long-term expected
real rates of return:

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 25.00 1.32 %
Domestic Equities 21.00 5.64
Real Estate 10.00 5.39
Private Equity 12.00 10.42
International Equities 23.00 7.36
Other investments 9.00 4.75
Total 100.00 % 543 %

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.2 percent. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those of the contributing employers
are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefits payments of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate

The following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the current
period discount rate assumption of 7.2 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percent lower (6.2 percent) or one percent
higher (8.2 percent) than the current rate:

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease Discount Rate Point Increase
(6.20%) (7.20%) (8.20%)
(in thousands)
City's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 624,626 $ 323,375 $ 73,053
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Defined Benefit OPEB Plans

Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to employees for OPEB. OPEB
is @ component of exchange transactions-——between an employer and its employees—of salaries and benefits for
employee services. OPEB are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total
compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each financial period. The obligation to
sacrifice resources for OPEB is a present obligation because it was created as a result of employment exchanges
that already have occurred.

The net OPEB liability represents the City’s proportionate share of each OPEB plan’s collective actuarial present
value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each OPEB plan’s fiduciary net
position. The net OPEB liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term variables, including estimated average
life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living adjustments and others. While these estimates use the
best information available, unknowable future events require adjusting these estimates annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the City’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments. The City cannot
control benefit terms or the manner in which OPEB are financed; however, the City does receive the benefit of
employees’ services in exchange for compensation including OPEB.

GASB 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because they benefit from employee services.
OPEB contributions come from these employers and health care plan enrollees which pay a portion of the health
care costs in the form of a monthly premium. The Ohio revised Code permits, but does not require the retirement
systems to provide healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. Any change to benefits or funding could significantly
affect the net OPEB liability. Resulting adjustments to the net OPEB liability would be effective when the changes
are legally enforceable. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions to provide for
these OPEB benefits.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net OPEB liability on the
accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required OPEB contribution outstanding at the end
of the year is included in intergovernmental payable on both the accrual and modified accrual bases of accounting.

Police and Fire (OP&F)

Plan Description - The City contributes to the OP&F sponsored health care program, a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined postemployment health care plan administered by OP&F that provides various levels of health
care to retired, disabled and beneficiaries, as well as their dependents. On January 1, 2019, OP&F changed the
way it supports retiree health care. A stipend-based health care model has replaced the self-insured group health
care plan that had been in place. OP&F has contracted with a vendor who can assist eligible retirees in choosing
health care plans that are available where they live (both Medicare-eligible and pre-65 populations). A stipend
funded by OP&F is available to these members through a Health Reimbursement Arrangement and can be used
to reimburse retirees for qualified health care expenses. The health care coverage provided by OP&F is
considered an Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) as described in GASB Statement No. 75.

The Ohio Revised Code allows, but does not mandate OP&F to provide OPEB benefits. Authority for the OP&F Board
of Trustees (Board) to provide health care coverage to eligible participants and to establish and amend benefits is
codified in Chapter 742 of the ORC.

OP&F issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial information and required supplementary

information for the Plan. That report may be obtained by writing to OP&F, 140 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio
43215-5164. That report is also available on OP&F’s website at www.op-f.org.
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Funding Policy - The ORC provides for contribution requirements of the participating employers and of plan
members to the OP&F (defined benefit pension plan). Participating employers are required to contribute to the
pension plan at rates expressed as percentages of the payroll of active pension plan members, currently, 19.5
percent and 24 percent of covered payroll for police and fire employers, respectively. The ORC states that the
employer contributions may not exceed 19.5 percent of covered payroll for police employer units and 24 percent
of covered payroll for fire employer units. Active members do not make contributions to the OPEB Plan.

The OPEB Plan is financed through a combination of employer contributions, recipient premiums, and investment
returns. As employer contributions to the OPEB Plan are not required by state law, the Board approves the
amount of required employer contributions to the Plan that will be designated for the OPEB Plan, which was 0.5%
of employer contributions for the year ended December 31, 2020. OP&F does have one special funding situation
that is included in the required calculations.

The City’s contributions to OP&F allocated to health care for police employer contributions and firefighter employer
contribution for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were $1,054,000 (police) and $862,000 (fire)
$988,000 (police) and $835,000 (fire), and $993,000 (police) and $816,000 (fire), respectively.

OPERS

Plan Description - OPERS administers three separate pension plans: The Traditional Pension Plan — a cost sharing
multiemployer defined benefit pension plan; the Member-Directed Plan — a defined contribution plan; and the
Combined Plan — a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that has elements of both a defined
benefit and defined contribution plan.

The OPERS health care plans are reported as other post-employment benefit plans (OPEB) based on the criteria
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Periodically, OPERS modifies the health care
program design to improve the ongoing solvency of the plans. Eligibility requirements for access to the OPERS
health care options has changed over the history of the program for Traditional Pension Plan and Combined Plan
members. Prior to January 1, 2015, 10 or more years of service were required to qualify for health care coverage.
Beginning January 1, 2015, generally, members must be at least age 60 with 20 years of qualifying service credit
to qualify for health care coverage or 30 years of qualifying service at any age. Beginning 2016, Traditional Pension
Plan and Combined Plan retirees enrolled in Medicare- A and B were eligible to participate in the OPERS Medicare
Connector (Connector). The Connector, a vendor selected by OPERS, assists eligible retirees in the selection and
purchase of Medicare supplemental coverage through the Medicare market. Retirees who purchase supplemental
coverage through the Connector may receive a monthly allowance in their health reimbursement arrangement
(HRA) account that can be used to reimburse eligible health care expenses. Upon termination or retirement,
Member-Directed Plan participants can use vested retiree medical account (RMA) funds for reimbursement of
qualified medical expenses. Members who elect the Member-Directed Plan after July 1, 2015 will vest in the RMA
over 15 years at a rate of 10% each year starting with the sixth year of participation. Members who elected the
Member-Directed Plan prior to July 1, 2015 vest in the RMA over a five-year period at a rate of 20% per year.
Health care coverage is neither guaranteed nor statutorily required. Additional details on health care coverage can
be found in the Plan Statement in the OPERS 2020 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.

OPERS maintains one health care trust, the 115 Health Care Trust (115 Trust), which was established in 2014 to
initially provide a funding mechanism for the HRA, as the prior trust structure, the 401(h) Health Care Trust (401(h)
Trust) and the Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Association Trust (VEBA Trust), could not legally support the HRA.
In March 2016, OPERS received two favorable rulings from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) allowing OPERS to
consolidate health care assets into the 115 Trust. The 401(h) Trust was a pre-funded trust that provided health
care funding for eligible members of the Traditional Pension Plan and the Combined Plan through December 31,
2015, when plans funded through the 401(h) Trust were terminated. The VEBA Trust accumulated funding for
RMAs for participants in the Member- Directed Plan through June 30, 2016. The 401(h) Trust and the VEBA Trust
were closed as of June 30, 2016 and the net positions transferred to the 115 Trust on July 1, 2016. Beginning 2016,
the 115 Trust, established under IRC Section 115, is the funding vehicle for all health care plans.
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The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, OPERS to provide health care to its eligible benefit recipients.
Authority to establish and amend health care coverage is provided to the Board in Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised
Code.

OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report. Interested parties may obtain a copy by visiting
https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml#ACFR , by writing to OPERS, 277 East Town Street, Columbus, OH
43215-4642, or by calling 614-222-5601 or 800-222-7377.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code provides the statutory authority requiring public employers to fund health
care through their contributions to OPERS.

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of the earnable salary of active members. In 2021,
State and Local employers contributed at a rate of 14.0 percent of earnable salary, which is the maximum employer
contribution rate permitted by the Ohio Revised Code. With the assistance of the System’s actuary and Board
approval, a portion of each employer contribution to OPERS may be set aside for the funding of post-employment
health care coverage. For 2021, no portion of the employer contribution rate was allocated to health care for the
Traditional Pension Plan and the Combined Plan. The OPERS Board is also authorized to establish rules for the
retiree or their surviving beneficiaries to pay a portion of the health care provided. Payment amounts vary depending
on the number of covered dependents and the coverage selected. The employer contribution as a percentage of
covered payroll deposited into the Member-Directed health care accounts for 2021 was 4.0%. Active member
contributions do not fund health care.

The portion of the City’s contribution used to fund OPEB for 2021, 2020, and 2019 were zero in each year.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPEB

The net OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the
net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019 rolled-forward to December
31, 2020 for OPERS and as of January 1, 2020 rolled-forward to December 31, 2020 for OP&F. The City’s proportion
of the net OPEB liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the respective retirement systems relative
to the contributions of all participating entities. Following is information related to the proportionate share and
OPEB expense:

OP&F OPERS Total
(in thousands)
Proportion of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset)
Current Measurement Date 15.16% 2.29%
Proportionate Share of
Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $160,591 ($40,802) $119,789
OPEB Expense (Revenue) $12,695 ($248,478) ($235,783)
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At December 31, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related

to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Difference between proportionate share and actual

employer contributions
Change in assumptions
Change in proportionate share

City's contributions subsequent to the

measurement date

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Difference between proportionate share and actual

employer contributions
Differences between expected and
actual experience
Change in proportionate share

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on pension plan investments

Change in assumptions
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

OP&F OPERS Total
(in_thousands)

$ 13 $ - $ 13
87,815 20,404 108,219
4,210 67 4,277
1,915 - 1,915
$ 93,953 $ 20,471 $114,424
$ 22 $ 499 $ 521
26,437 37,024 63,461
11,085 4,302 15,387
6,122 21,694 27,816
24,542 66,111 90,653
$ 68,208 $129,630 $197,838

$1.915 million reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending
December 31, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending December 31:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027-2028

Total

Actuarial Assumptions — OP&F

OP&F OPERS Total
(in_thousands)
$ 4,224 $ (57,687) $ (53,463)
5,610 (39,350) (33,740)
3,475 (9,562) (6,087)
4,336 (2,560) 1,776
3,245 - 3,245
2,940 - 2,940
$ 23,830 $(109,159) $ (85,329)

The total OPEB liability is determined by OP&F’s actuaries in accordance with GASB Statement No. 74, as part of
their annual actuarial valuation for each retirement plan. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates
of the value of reported amounts (e.g., salaries, credited service) and assumptions about the probability of
occurrence of events far into the future (e.g., mortality, disabilities, retirements, employment terminations).
Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.
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Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and
the historical pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employers and plan members to that point. The projection
of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual
funding limitations.

Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. For a newly hired employee, actuarial calculations will take
into account the employee's entire career with the employer and also take into consideration the benéefits, if any,
paid to the employee after termination of employment until the death of the employee and any applicable contingent
annuitant. In many cases, actuarial calculations reflect several decades of service with the employer and the
payment of benefits after termination.

The total OPEB liability is based on the results of an actuarial valuation dated January 1, 2020 and rolled-forward
to December 31, 2020 using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The total OPEB liability used the following
assumptions:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal (Level Percent of Payroll)
Long-Term Return on Plan Assets 8.00 percent

Dec. 31, 2020 Discount Rate 2.96 percent

Dec. 31, 2020 Municipal Bond Index 2.12 percent

Salary increases, including price inflation 3.75 to 10.50 percent

Projected Depletion Year of OPEB Assets 2037

Healthy Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Total Employee and Healthy Annuitant Mortality Tables rolled
back to 2006, adjusted and projected with the Buck Modified 2016 Improvement Scale. Rates for surviving
beneficiaries are adjusted by 120%.

Age Police Fire
67 or less 77% 68%
68-77 105 87
78 and up 115 120

Disability Mortality rates were based on RP-2014 Disability Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006, adjusted and
projected with the Buck Modified 2016 Improvement Scale.

Age Police Fire
59 or less 35% 35%
60-69 60 45
70-79 75 70
80 and up 100 90

The most recent experience study was completed for the five year period ended December 31, 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block approach
and assumes a time horizon, as defined in the Statement of Investment Policy. A forecasted rate of inflation serves
as the baseline for the return expectation. Various real return premiums over the baseline inflation rate have been
established for each asset class. The long-term expected nominal rate of return has been determined by calculating
a weighted average of the expected real return premiums for each asset class, adding the projected inflation rate
and adding the expected return from rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes.
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A summary of best estimates of the long-term expected geometric real rates of return for each major asset class
as of December 31, 2020 (measurement date) are summarized as follows:

Long-Term
Expected Real
Target Rate of Return
Cash & Cash Equivalents 0.00 % 0.00 %
Domestic Equity 21.00 4.10
Non-US Equity 14.00 4.80
Private Markets 8.00 6.40
Core Fixed Income * 23.00 0.90
High Yield Fixed Income 7.00 3.00
Private Credit 5.00 4.50
U.S. Inflation Linked Bonds 17.00 0.70
Midstream Energy Infrastructure 5.00 5.60
Real assets 8.00 5.80
Gold 5.00 1.90
Private Real Estate 12.00 5.30

Total 125.00 %

* levered 2.5x

Discount Rate The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at December 31, 2020 was 2.96 percent.
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from employers and
from members would be computed based on contribution requirements as stipulated by state statute. Projected
inflows from investment earnings were calculated using the longer-term assumed investment rate of return of 8.00
percent. Based on those assumptions, OP&F’s fiduciary net position was project to not be able to make all future
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, a municipal bond rate of 2.12 percent at December 31, 2020
and 2.75 percent at December 31, 2019 was blended with the long-term rate of 8.00 percent, which resulted in a
blended discount rate of 2.96 percent.
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Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The net OPEB liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate. The following table presents the net OPEB liability
of OP&F, what OP&F’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage
point lower (1.96%) and higher (3.96%) than the current discount rate (2.96%).

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease Discount Rate Point Increase
(1.96%) (2.96%) (3.96%)
(in thousands)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $ 200,247 $ 160,591 $ 127,878

Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

The total OPEB liability is based on the results of an actuarial valuation dated December 31, 2019 and rolled-forward
to December 31, 2020 using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The total OPEB liability used the following
assumptions:

Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age
Single Discount Rate 6.00 percent
Investment Rate of Return 6.00%
Municipal Bond Rate 2.00%
Wage Inflation 3.25 percent

3.25 percent to 10.75 percent
Future Salary Increases (includes wage inflation of 3.25%)
Health Care Cost Trend Rate 8.5% initial, 3.50% ultimate in 2035

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and females, adjusted
for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females
was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014
Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the
observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and
2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality
table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006.
The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a
particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above
described tables.

Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation are based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the five year period ended December 31, 2015.
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The allocation of investment assets within the Health Care portfolio is approved by the Board as outlined in the
annual investment plan. Assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective of continuing to
offer a sustainable health care program for current and future retirees. The System'’s primary goal is to achieve and
maintain a fully funded status for benefits provided through the defined pension plans. Health care is a discretionary
benefit. The table below displays the Board-approved asset allocation policy for 2020 and the long-term expected
real rates of return.

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 34.00 % 1.07 %
Domestic Equities 25.00 5.64
REITs 7.00 6.48
International Equities 25.00 7.36
Other investments 9.00 4.02
Total 100.00 % 4.43 %

The long-term expected rate of return on health care investment assets was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for inflation.

Discount Rate A single discount rate of 6.00% was used to measure the OPEB liability on the measurement date
of December 31, 2020. Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted to their actuarial present value
using a single discount rate that reflects (1) a long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments (to the
extent that the health care fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and (2) tax-exempt
municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds with an average AA credit rating as of
the measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected rate are not met).
This single discount rate was based on an actuarial assumed rate of return on the health care investment portfolio
of 6.00% and a municipal bond rate of 2.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount
rate assumed that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution
rate. Based on these assumptions, the health care fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to
finance health care costs through 2120. As a result, the actuarial assumed long-term expected rate of return on
health care investments was applied to projected costs through the year 2120, the duration of the projection period
through which projected health care payments are fully funded.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount and
Health Care Cost Trend Rate The following table presents the OPEB liability calculated using the single discount
rate of 6.00%, and the expected net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.0% lower or
1.0% higher than the current rate.

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease Discount Rate Point Increase
(5.00%) (6.00%) (7.00%)
(in thousands)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $ (10,146) $ (40,802) $ (66,004)
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Changes in the health care cost trend rate may also have a significant impact on the net OPEB liability. The following
table presents the net OPEB liability calculated using the assumed trend rates, and the expected net OPEB liability
if it were calculated using a health care cost trend rate that is 1.0% lower or 1.0% higher than the current rate.

Current Health Care

1 Percentage Cost Trend Rate 1 Percentage
Point Decrease Assumption Point Increase
(in thousands)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB asset $ (41,796) $ (40,802) $ (39,689)

Retiree health care valuations use a health care cost-trend assumption that changes over several years built into
the assumption. The near-term rates reflect increases in the current cost of health care; the trend starting in 2021
is 8.50%. If this trend continues for future years, the projection indicates that years from now virtually all
expenditures will be for health care. A more reasonable alternative is the health plan cost trend will decrease to a
level at, or near, wage inflation. On this basis, the actuaries project premium rate increases will continue to exceed
wage inflation for approximately the next decade, but by less each year, until leveling off at an ultimate rate,
assumed to be 3.50% in the most recent valuation.

There are no postemployment benefits provided by the City other than those provided through OPERS and OP&F.
NOTE L— TAXES
Income Taxes

Based on the results of a special election in August 2009, the City’s income tax rate was increased from 2 percent
to 2.5 percent. This rate was effective as of October 1, 2009. The City levies tax on substantially all income earned
within the City. In addition, residents of the City are required to pay City income tax on income they earn outside
the City. However, a credit is allowed for income taxes paid to other municipalities.

Employers within the City are required to withhold income tax on employees' compensation and remit this tax to
the City semimonthly, monthly, or quarterly, depending upon the amounts withheld. Corporations and other
individual taxpayers are required to pay their estimated tax quarterly and file a declaration annually.

For the governmental fund financial statements, the City recognizes as revenue income tax received within 60 days
after year end applicable to taxpayer liabilities for periods prior to the year-end net of an allowance for income tax
refunds. These taxes are considered both measurable and available whereas all other income taxes are recognized
as revenue when received. The City has consistently followed this practice for many years.

Receivables and deferred inflows of resources have been recorded in the General and Special Income Tax Funds in
the amount of $66.0 million and $22.0 million, respectively, for the estimated income tax due to the City for 2021
and prior tax years, but not collected within the available period.

Property Taxes

Property taxes include amounts levied against all real and public utility property located in the City.

Real property taxes and public utility taxes collected during 2021 were assessed against the value listed as of

January 1, 2020, the lien date. One half of these taxes were due January 21, 2021 with the remaining balance due
on August 5, 2021.

119



CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO
Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

Assessed values on real property are established by state law at 35 percent of appraised market value. A revaluation
of all property is required to be completed every sixth year. The last revaluation in Franklin County was completed
in 2017. The assessed value upon which the 2021 levy was based was approximately $20.175 billion ($19.661
billion, $167 million, and $347 million for Franklin County, Fairfield County, and Delaware County, respectively).
The assessed value for 2021 including real and public utilities, upon which the 2022 levy will be based, is
approximately $20.480 billion ($19.953 billion, $171 million, and $356 million for Franklin County, Fairfield County,
and Delaware County, respectively).

Ohio law prohibits taxation of property from all taxing authorities within a county in excess of 1 percent of assessed
value without a vote of the people. Under current procedures, the City's share is .314 percent (3.14 mills) of
assessed value. Increases in the property tax rate are restricted only by voter willingness to approve such increases.

The County Treasurers collect property taxes on behalf of all taxing districts in the counties, including the City of
Columbus. The County Auditors periodically remit to the City its portion of the taxes collected. Property taxes may
be paid on either an annual or semiannual basis. Current tax collections for the year ended December 31, 2021
were 96.7 percent (92.2 percent in 2020) of the tax levy in Franklin County.

Property taxes levied in 2021 but not due for collection until 2022 are recorded in the General Fund as taxes
receivable and deferred inflows of resources at December 31, 2021 in the amount of $63.469 million.

NOTE M—TAX ABATEMENTS

Pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 77, 7ax Abatement Disclosures, the
City is required to disclose certain information about tax abatements as defined in the Statement. For purposes of
GASB Statement No. 77, a tax abatement is a reduction in tax revenues that results from an agreement between
one or more governments and an individual or entity in which (a) one or more governments promise to forgo tax
revenues to which they are otherwise entitled and (b) the individual or entity promises to take a specific action
after the agreement has been entered into that contributes to economic development or otherwise benefits the
City or the citizens of the City. The City has entered into such agreements. A description of each of the City’'s
abatement programs where the City has promised to forgo taxes follows:

Community Reinvestment Area (CRA) Program

The Ohio Community Reinvestment Area program is an economic development tool administered by municipal and
county governments that provides real property tax exemptions for property owners who renovate existing or
construct new buildings. Community Reinvestment Areas (CRA) are areas of land in which property owners can
receive tax incentives for investing in real property improvements. In order to use the Community Reinvestment
program, a city, village, or county petitions to the Ohio Development Services Agency (ODSA) for confirmation of
a geographical area in which investment in housing has traditionally been discouraged. Once the area is confirmed
by the Director of ODSA, communities may offer real property tax exemptions to taxpayers that invest in that area.

The City determines the type of development to support by specifying the eligibility of residential, commercial
and/or industrial projects. The City negotiates property tax exemptions on new property tax from investment for
up to one hundred percent (100%) for up to fifteen years based on the amount of investments made to renovate
or construct buildings within a CRA. Taxes are abated as the increase in assessed value resulting from the
investment is not included (or included at a lesser amount) in the assessed value used for property tax computation
for the taxpayer. For commercial projects, job retention and/or creation is also required. Agreements must be in
place before the project begins. Provisions for recapturing property tax exemptions, which can be used at the
discretion of the City, are pursuant to ORC Section 9.66(C)(1) and 9.66(C)(2).

Enterprise Zone Program

The Ohio Enterprise Zone Program is an economic development tool administered by municipal and county
governments that provides real and personal property tax exemptions to businesses making investments in
Ohio. Enterprise zones are designated areas of land in which businesses can receive tax incentives in the form of
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tax exemptions on eligible new investment. The Enterprise Zone Program can provide tax exemptions for a portion
of the value of new real property investment when the investment is made in conjunction with a project that
includes job creation. Existing land values and existing building values are not eligible. The zone's geographic area
is identified by the local communities involved in the creation of the zone. Once a zone is defined, the local legislative
authority participating in the creation must petition the Director of ODSA. The Director must then certify the area
for it to become an active Enterprise Zone. Local communities may offer tax incentives for non-retail projects that
are establishing or expanding operations in the State of Ohio. Tax incentives are negotiated at the local level, and
an enterprise zone agreement must be in place before the project begins.

In 2021 there were 85 active Enterprise Zone agreements within the City's three designated zones. Business
located in an Enterprise Zone may negotiate exemptions on new property tax from investment for up to seventy-
five percent (75%) for 10 years. For commercial projects, job retention and/or creation is also required. Taxes are
abated as the increase in assessed value resulting from the investment is not included (or included at a lesser
amount) in the assessed value used for property tax computation for the taxpayer. Agreements must be in place
before the project begins. Pursuant to the terms of such agreements, if the actual number of employee positions
created or retained by the business in any three-year period during which the agreement is in effect is not equal
to or greater than 75 percent of the number of employee positions estimated to be created or retained under the
agreement, the business shall repay the amount of taxes on property that would have been payable had the
property not been exempted. In addition, the City may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation granted
under the agreement if the terms of the agreement are not met.

Tax Increment Financing Districts

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) is an economic development mechanism available to local governments to finance
public infrastructure improvements such as roadways, bridges, ditches, and water and sewer lines. A TIF works by
locking in the taxable worth of real property at the value it holds at the time the authorizing legislation was
approved. Payments derived from the increased assessed value of any improvement to real property beyond that
amount are directed towards a separate fund to finance construction of public infrastructure defined within the TIF
legislation. While the property holders continue to pay their full property taxes, the incremental payments above
the base value are called paid-in-lieu of taxes (PILOT). ORC 5709.40-5709.43 provides authority to municipalities
to redirect funds for such improvements.

PILOT payments from City TIF districts are either retained by the City or they are redirected to developers listed in
TIF legislation. When the PILOT payments are retained by the City the funds are used to pay down City TIF or
General Obligation debt or pay for City TIF project expenditures. City funded TIFs are not within the scope of GASB
Statement No. 77 as no tax revenue is forgone. When the TIF district is developer funded, the City uses PILOT
payments to reimburse the developer for their private infrastructure investment as agreed to in the TIF legislation.
Developers are reimbursed when there is adequate PILOT payments deposited into their respective TIF funds and
after submitting the required reimbursement request. Payments redirected to the developers are included in the
tax abatement disclosure.

School District Revenue Sharing

Pursuant to ORC 5709.82, compensating school district for revenue lost due to tax exemptions, the City is required
to pay affected school districts 50 percent of the municipal income tax revenue attributable to tax abated projects
where the annual new employee payroll for a project is one million dollars or more, in a given tax year, during the
CRA or Enterprise Zone abatements. This municipal income tax revenue sharing with the affected school districts
is based on the new employee wages paid in a tax year, during the years of tax exemption, and also on the wages
of the construction workers. The City’s obligation to pay the incentive each year is expressly contingent upon the
passing of an ordinance appropriating and authorizing the expenditures of monies sufficient to make such payments
after the City has verified the Columbus businesses met the eligibility requirements of their respective CRA and
Enterprise Zone abatements. The school district revenue sharing paid in 2021 was based on 30 tax abated projects.

Job Creation Tax Credit Program

Pursuant to ORC 718.15, 7ax credit for businesses that foster new jobs in Ohilo, a city, by ordinance, may grant a
refundable or nonrefundable credit against its tax on income to taxpayers to foster job creation in the city. Tax
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credits granted under this section of the ORC are measured as a percentage of the new income tax revenue the
City derives from new employees of the taxpayer and are for a term not to exceed fifteen years. Tax credits are
applied against the taxpayer’s annual income tax filing. It is required that the City and the tax payer enter into an
agreement specifying all of the conditions of the credit prior to passage of the ordinance granting the credit.

The City currently has Job Creation Tax Credit agreements with 18 Columbus businesses (taxpayers). The tax
credit percentage and term of the specific agreements is based upon the amount of new investment and the number
of jobs created as a result of identified project. Job Creation Tax Credit agreements include specific language for
refund of the credits should the terms of the agreement not be met by the taxpayer.

Columbus Downtown Office Incentive Program

The Columbus Downtown Office Incentive (DOI) Program is a one of the development tools used to implement the
Columbus Downtown Business Plan. The boundaries of downtown Columbus are defined in Columbus City Code
Title 33 Section 3349.03. To qualify for the program private sector Columbus businesses must meet the minimum
employment requirement of adding 10 new employees. The jobs must be newly created positions or moved from
outside of Columbus to downtown. The terms of the incentive are one to eight years based on the nhumber of new
eligible positions created. The availability of the incentive is contingent on the one time approval of the incentive
for a company by City Council. The City’s obligation to pay the incentive each year is expressly contingent upon the
passing of an ordinance appropriating and authorizing the expenditures of monies sufficient to make such payments
after the City has verified the Columbus businesses met the eligibility requirements. In 2021, payments were made
to eight DOI projects for which employers met the requirements of their DOI agreements as authorized by Columbus
City Ordinance 1420-2021.

Job Growth Incentive Program

The Job Growth Incentive (JGI) Program is one of the development tools used to encourage new job creation.
Individual agreements are approved by Columbus City Council. In exchange for investing in adding eligible new
full-time permanent positions and retaining existing positions, approved Columbus businesses receive cash
payments equal to an agreed upon percentage of the income tax on eligible new employees for a fixed number of
years based on the number of new positions created. The availability of the incentive is contingent on the one time
approval of the incentive for a company by City Council. The City’s obligation to pay the incentive each year is
expressly contingent upon the passing of an ordinance appropriating and authorizing the expenditures of monies
sufficient to make such payments after the City has verified the Columbus businesses met the eligibility
requirements. In 2021, payments were made to 13 active projects for which employers met the requirements of
their JGI agreements as authorized by Columbus City Ordinance 1430-2021.

A summary of the taxes forgone on the City’s abatement programs for the year ended December 31, 2021 follows
(in thousands):

Program Name Taxes Abated Source Amount

Job Growth Incentive Income Tax Columbus Development Department  $ 10,663
School District Revenue Sharing Income Tax Columbus Development Department 2,399
Downtown Office Incentive Income Tax Columbus Development Department 1,097
Job Creation Tax Credits Income Tax Columbus Income Tax Division 842
Tax Increment Financing Property Tax Franklin County Auditor 3,351
Community Reinvestment Area Property Tax Franklin County Auditor 2,650
Enterprise Zone Agreements Property Tax Franklin County Auditor 305

Total taxes abated $ 21,307
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NOTE N—FUND BALANCE

Fund balance for governmental funds is reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the
extent to which the City is “bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the fund can
be spent” in accordance with GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type
Definitions.

The components for reporting the City’s fund balance are restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. At
December 31 2021, the City had no significant fund balance which is considered nonspendable, as defined by GASB
Statement No. 54. Restricted fund balance includes those amounts that are restricted by parties outside of the City
and pursuant to enabling legislation. Committed fund balance describes the portion of fund balance that has been
limited by use by approval of City Council. City Council is the City’s highest level of decision making. Fund balance
commitments are established, modified, or rescinded by City Council action through passage of an ordinance.
Assigned fund balance includes amounts that have an intended use by City Council. City Council demonstrates its
intent for use of assigned amounts through passage of appropriation legislation, resolution, or ordinance. The
unassigned fund balance represents the residual net resources. The General Fund is the only fund that reports a
positive unassigned fund balance amount.

On April 11, 1988, City Council passed ordinance 0860-1988 which established an Economic Stabilization subfund
within the General Fund. Per the ordinance, funds in the Economic Stabilization subfund can only be expended
upon authorization of City Council. Such expenditures “shall be solely for the purpose of continuing basic City
services during times of economic recession or unexpected revenue loss by the City”. City Council authorizes
transfers into the Economic Stabilization subfund as funds are deemed available. The balance in the Economic
Stabilization subfund at December 31, 2021 was $87.881 million and is included in the unassigned fund balance of
the General Fund.

The City considers restricted amounts to have been spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which
both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available. The City does not have a formal policy for its use of
unrestricted fund balance amounts; therefore, it considers committed amounts used first, followed by assigned
amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of
those unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.
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A summary of fund balance as of December 31, 2021 by category with specific purpose information follows (in
thousands):

Other
Board of Special Governmental
General Fund Health Income Tax Funds Total
Fund balances:
Restricted for:
Asset management $ - - - 34,699 $ 34,699
Building, housing and economic incentive - - - 114,974 114,974
Information technology capital projects - - - - -
Life enrichment - - - - -
Mobility options - - - 43,121 43,121
Municipal court/Justice - - - 196,924 196,924
Protection and enforcement - - - 21,488 21,488
Sustainability 743 743
Waste management - - - 6,397 6,397
Wellness and prevention - 2,468 - 4,009 6,477
Total restricted - 2,468 - 422,355 424,823
Committed to:
Asset management - - - 3,851 3,851
Building, housing and economic incentive 2,161 - - 29,220 31,381
Casino - - - 997 997
Community outreach - - - 1,198 1,198
Debt service reserve - - 264,966 - 264,966
General governance 4,667 - - 357 5,024
Life enrichment - - - 11,164 11,164
Mobility options 1,375 - - 9,855 11,230
Pandemic - - - 11,505 11,505
Protection and enforcement 14,062 - - 1,924 15,986
Wellness and prevention 298 8,318 - - 8,616
Total committed 22,563 8,318 264,966 70,071 365,918
Assigned to:
Building, housing and economic incentive 1,741 - - - 1,741
Job growth initiative 880 - - - 880
Public safety initiative 455 - - - 455
Reimagine safety 6,472 - - - 6,472
Wellness and prevention - 2,048 - - 2,048
27th pay period 5,953 - - - 5,953
Total assigned 15,501 2,048 - - 17,549
Unassigned 266,623 - - (16,824) 249,799
Total fund balances $ 304,687 12,834 264,966 475,602 $ 1,058,089
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The following deficit fund balances existed at December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Deficit Fund
Balance
Governmental Activities
Other Governmental Funds:
RiverSouth $ (186)
General Government Grants (2,089)
Recreation & Parks Grants (3,660)
Transportation Improvement Program (3,335)
Federal State Highway Engineering (6,543)
Auditor Bond (909)
Pen West West TIF (102)
Internal Service Funds:
Information Services (8,697)
Construction Inspection (1,168)
Land Acquisition (742)

These deficits will be eliminated by future charges for services, grant billings and future TIF service payments. A
portion of these deficits are the result of the accounting for net pension and OPEB liabilities in the internal service
funds for which there is no repayment schedule.

Fund balance deficits may be budgeted for and exist on the City's budgetary basis of accounting for certain funds.
These fund balance deficits exist because encumbrances are recorded against certain accounts receivable that are
not recognized as revenue on the budget basis of accounting.

NOTE O—MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES
For the year ended December 31, 2021, miscellaneous revenues in the fund financial statements consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Other
Board of Special Governmental

General Health Income Tax Funds
Hotel/motel taxes $ - - - 15,904
Capital contributions and reimbursements - - - 13,742
City auto license tax - - - 7,863
Homecare waiver program - - - 4,277
Admissions excise tax - - - 3,580
Refunds and reimbursements 5,208 34 24 3,560
Sale of assets - - 1,453 2,996
Donations - - - 2,543
Rent 141 - 349 2,058
HUD/Home loan program - - - 1,697
Local government revenue sharing - - - 1,415
Electric kWh revenue 3,313 - - -
Other 541 4 471 7,621
Total miscellaneous revenues $ 9,203 38 2,297 67,256
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NOTE P—TRANSFERS

For the year ended December 31, 2021, transfers presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) consisted of the following (in thousands):

Transfers in

Governmental Funds

Proprietary Funds

Total Special Other Internal
Transfers  General Board of Income Tax Governmental Service  Enterprise
Out Fund Health Fund Funds Funds Funds
Governmental Funds
General Fund $ 38,879 - 32,953 - 5,926 - -
Total General Fund 38,879 - 32,953 - 5,926 - -
Special Income Tax Fund:
Nonreciprocal interfund transfer to
Electricity (debt service) 1,762 - - - - - 1,762
Nonreciprocal interfund transfer to
Internal Services (debt service) 1,692 - - - - 1,692 -
Tipping fees 17,940 17,940 - - - - -
RiverSouth 8,885 - - - 8,885 - -
Other 8,582 8,582 - - - - -
Total Special Income Tax Fund 38,861 26,522 - - 8,885 1,692 1,762
Other Governmental Funds:
Special Revenue Funds 8,894 47 4,774 - 4,073 - -
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds 13,416 - - 2,862 6,397 - 4,157
Capital Projects Funds 3,804 - - 2,106 1,698 - -
Total Other Governmental Funds 26,114 47 4,774 4,968 12,168 - 4,157
Total Governmental Funds 103,854 26,569 37,727 4,968 26,979 1,692 5,919
Enterprise Funds
Electricity 76 - - - 76 - -
Total Enterprise Funds 76 - - - 76 - -
Total Transfers $ 103,930 26,569 37,727 4,968 27,055 1,692 5,919

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund with collection authorization to the General Bond Retirement
fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due and to move unrestricted revenues to finance
various programs that the City must account for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorization, including
amounts provided as subsidies and/or matching funds for various grant programs. Transfers from business-type
activities represent legally authorized transfers to fund the business-type activity portion of certain governmental
activities’ capital projects.
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NOTE Q—COMPONENT UNITS

As described in Note A, the City has three blended component units. The significant accounting disclosures for the
component units follow.

THE RIVERSOUTH AUTHORITY (RiverSouth)

RiverSouth is a community authority created by the City of Columbus pursuant to Chapter 349 of the Ohio Revised
Code as a body corporate and politic. RiverSouth was created to govern the redevelopment and revitalization of a
new community referred to as the RiverSouth District. The Downtown Development Corporation, a not-for-profit
corporation, has been appointed developer of the new community.

Significant Accounting Policies and Disclosures for RiverSouth:

The financial statements of the RiverSouth Authority have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Cash — At December 31, 2021, the carrying amount of the Authority’s cash was $7 thousand. These funds are on
deposit with a trustee and will be used for the Authority’s expenses. Also, the amount is deposited with a U.S.
Government Money Market Fund, and has been rated Aaa by Standard and Poor’s and is considered a cash
equivalent.

While the funds are uncollateralized and uninsured, their disposition and availability are governed by bond resolution
and the Master Trust Agreement, the First Supplemental Trust agreement, and the Second Supplemental Trust
agreement between the Authority and U.S. Bank.

Bonds Payable — As of December 31, 2021, $47.280 million of RiverSouth bonds remain outstanding. This total
par amount includes three separate bond issues: $9.185 million of 2012 bonds; $13.355 million of 2014 bonds and
$24.740 million of 2016 bonds. These bonds are payable from the revenues provided by the City and are subject
to annual appropriations of City Council as described in Note A.

The revenues and receipts assigned by the Trust Agreement are primarily composed of certain rental payments to
be paid to RiverSouth under the Lease with the City. The rental payments paid by the City to RiverSouth are from
monies specifically appropriated for such purpose and are to be the primary source of money to pay debt service.
The obligation of the City to make rental payments is expressly made subject to the availability of annual
appropriations for such purpose. Notwithstanding the requirement for annual appropriations of rental payments
for the payment of debt service, the City has agreed that all such rental payments required to pay debt service will
be included in the estimated budgets of the City. RiverSouth and the City contemplate that the supplemental
agreements will make provision for rental payments to be paid to RiverSouth in amounts adequate to meet the
debt service on outstanding bonds. Neither the project land nor the capital facilities to be financed with the bond
proceeds are pledged to secure payment on the bonds. The first rental payments from the City were paid December
1, 2007. Final maturities of the bonds occur in 2041.
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Principal and interest requirements to retire the RiverSouth’s outstanding debt at December 31, 2021 are:

(in thousands)

Year ending December 31, Principal Interest
2022 $ 6,810 $ 2,067
2023 7,115 1,769
2024 7,480 1,409
2025 4,495 1,031
2026 945 896
2027-2031 5,485 3,733
2032-2036 6,740 2,472
2037-2041 8,210 1,011
Total $ 47,280 $ 14,388

See Notes A and J for further disclosures related to RiverSouth and its relationship and transactions with the City.
Complete financial statements of RiverSouth may be obtained by contacting the Chief Financial Officer, Columbus
Downtown Development Corporation, 150 S. Front Street, Suite 210, Columbus, Ohio 43215.

THE COLUMBUS NEXT GENERATION CORPORTATION (CNGC)

The Columbus Next Generation Corporation (CNGC), a non-profit development corporation, was established in
October 2012. Under various contracts, CNGC performs a variety of services to advance economic development,
including but not limited to: create economic development plans for specific areas of the City; acquire and develop
real estate; and manage various related projects. In 2021, the City provided cash assistance to CNGC of $4.045
million toward these contracts.

At December 31, 2021 the carrying amount of CNGC cash was $1.161 million. The City’s cash assistance was CNGC's
primary revenue source in 2021 and it was used for general operating expenses of the corporation.

COLUMBUS BOARD OF HEALTH

The Columbus Board of Health (Board) is organized under Ohio Revised Code 3709.36. Prior to 2019, the activities
of the Board were accounted for by the City within two special revenue funds and one capital projects fund. Having
met the requirements of GASB Statement 61, updated for Statement 80, the activities of the Board are now reported
as a blended component unit starting in 2019 displayed as a major special revenue fund on the City’s governmental
statements.

At December 31, 2021 the carrying amount of the Board’s cash was $12.384 million.
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NOTE R — COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The COVID-19 pandemic, including case numbers, the utilization of vaccines, and federal pandemic-related
stimulus, continued to affect the City in 2021.

General Information and Vaccinations. 1n response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the City has undergone
various preventative and protective actions, such as temporary closures of non-essential businesses, “shelter-at-
home” guidelines for individuals, and citywide mask mandates. The most recent mask mandate was lifted on March
7, 2022.

Columbus Public Health (CPH), as governed by the Board of Heath, continues to work to get COVID-19 vaccines to
residents. All individuals ages 5 and older are eligible for the vaccination. As of December 31, 2021, 57.1%
(383,683) of Columbus residents had begun the vaccination series and 52.5% (351,953) had completed the series.

For Franklin County, in which Columbus is the largest city, 64.8% (853,260) of residents had begun the vaccination
series and 60.3% (794,003) had completed the series as of December 31, 2021.

The City has been a direct recipient of federal stimulus measures, which provide support for public health, state
and local governments, businesses, and individuals. While some of the supports have been exhausted, certain
recovery funds remain or are anticipated to provide future benefits to the Columbus economy. The City has been
a direct recipient of the below programs:

Federal Aid — Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act)

The City received $157 million in CARES Act funding. As of December 31, 2021, the City has allocated and expended
the full $157 million of these funds in the following categories:

e  $80 million for direct spending for COVID-19 expenditures such as medical expenses for testing, Emergency
Medical Service response, and personal protective equipment (PPE);

e $51 million for human services such as shelter for those experiencing homelessness, food and rental
assistance; and

e $26 million for economic impact such as small business assistance and technology for teleworking.

Federal Aid — The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA)

The City anticipates receiving a total of $187 million of ARPA funds. As of December 31, 2021, the City has received
$93.5 million. The City has allocated $54.9 million of these funds and has made actual expenditures of these funds
in the amount of approximately $9.1 million.

Federal Aid — Emergency Rental Assistance Program (Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 & ARPA)

The City anticipates receiving approximately $61 million of Emergency Rental Assistance funds. As of December 31,
2021, the City has received $39.6 million. The City has allocated $30.7 million of these funds and has made actual
expenditures of these funds in the amount of approximately $20.3 million.

Impact of Remote Work. Income tax produces approximately 80% of the City’s General Fund revenues. At
December 31, 2021, income tax collections were 8.9% over December 31, 2020. Withholdings, the largest portion
of income taxes, are presently 6.7% higher than the end of 2020. Corporate net profits, which represent
approximately 15% of income tax revenue, have increased 46.3% over 2020.

Remote work remains the largest threat to the City’s future tax collections. While rules for taxing remote work were
initially relaxed, the State passed legislation in June of 2021 to allow for refunds of 2021 municipal income tax paid
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on behalf of remote workers to the municipality where the business was located rather than where the employee
was physically working. These refunds will be requested in 2022 with the filing of 2021 tax returns; however, due
to this change, the City saw a slight impact to withholding tax revenue during the second half of 2021 as employers
began adjusting their withholdings to where remote workers were working.

Beginning January 1, 2022, the rules for taxing remote work return to normal (i.e. withholding taxes where an
employee is physically doing the work). As such, the City is anticipating potentially large impacts to income tax
collections in the next fiscal year(s) given the quantity and frequency of remote work. Predicting the long-term
use of remote work and the length of time it will take for employers to fully implement processes to track such
work is difficult. At present, not all employers have the functionality in place to track remote work and withhold
correctly. Consequently, we expect that it will take some time for revenues to fully reflect remote work. The City
has anticipated revenue losses due to remote work in its 2022 Budget.

While the City does not anticipate needing to access its reserves, the City maintains sizable financial flexibility: the
$304.687 million general fund balance includes an unassigned amount of approximately $266.623 million, including
$87.881 million set aside in the City’s Economic Stabilization (or “Rainy Day”) subfund.

Tax Litigation. On July 2, 2020, a complaint, Buckeye Institute v. Columbus City. Auditor, Franklin C. P. No.
20CV004301, was filed with the Franklin County Court of Common Pleas naming as defendant the City Auditor and
the Ohio Attorney General in a declaratory judgment action seeking a determination that Section 29 of House Bill
197 of the 133rd General Assembly ("H.B. 197") is an unconstitutional violation of due process rights as secured
by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, as well as Art. I, Sec. 1 of the Ohio Constitution.
Section 29 of H.B. 197, which became effective on March 27, 2020, provides that, during the period of the state
emergency declared by Executive Order 2020-01D, issued on March 9, 2020, and for 30 days after the conclusion
of that period, an employee that performs personal services at a location, including the employee’s home, to which
the employee is required to report because of the emergency declaration shall be deemed for municipal income tax
purposes to have been performing personal services at the employee’s principal place of work. In 2021, a second
complaint, J. Eric Denison v. Columbus City Auditor, Franklin C.P. No. 21CV02848 was filed with the Franklin County
Court of Common Pleas also naming as defendant the City Auditor and the Ohio Attorney General in a declaratory
judgment action seeking the same determination for Section 29 of H.B. 197. As Mr. Denison was found to have
been entitled to a refund of city taxes irrespective of the emergency order, this matter was dismissed as moot once
those moneys were refunded. The Franklin County Court of Common Pleas granted the City Auditor’s motion to
dismiss the Buckeye Institute’s lawsuit in April of 2021, and the Buckeye Institute appealed the court’s decision to
the Tenth District Court of Appeals.

On November 30, 2021, the Tenth District Court of Appeals upheld the constitutionality of Sec. 29 of HB 197, the
temporary municipal income tax withholding provision.

In early 2022, the Buckeye Institute filed a petition for certiorari to the Ohio Supreme Court. Both the Tenth District
Court of Appeals and the Franklin County Court of Common Pleas have upheld the constitutionality of Sec. 29 of
HB 197. On March 29, 2022 the Ohio Supreme Court declined to hear the case. Buckeye Institute has 10 days from
that decision to file for reconsideration.

Because of these and other factors, as well as the continued spread of the pandemic and the changing manner in
which governments at the national, state and local levels are addressing the issue, the City cannot predict the exact
impact that the aforementioned factors may have on its finances and operations. Such effects could be significant,
however, at this time, the City does not anticipate a material negative impact on its ability to meet ongoing
operational needs.
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City of Columbus, Ohio Exhibit 10
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
(amounts expressed in thousands)

General Fund

Variance—
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (negative)
Revenues:
Income taxes $ 698,958 $ 752,880 $ 776,095 $ 23,215
Property taxes 60,724 60,724 61,480 756
Investment income 8,675 8,675 10,234 1,559
Licenses and permits 11,641 11,641 8,825 (2,816)
Shared revenues 23,507 29,107 32,632 3,525
Charges for services 62,299 62,299 63,266 967
Fines and forfeits 14,738 14,738 13,572 (1,166)
Electric kilowatt revenue 3,250 3,250 3,313 63
Miscellaneous 2,171 5,671 5,973 302
Total revenues 885,963 948,985 975,390 26,405
Expenditures:
Current:
General government 149,577 160,852 155,027 5,825
Public service 34,628 36,080 33,984 2,096
Public safety 627,290 693,851 687,075 6,776
Development 31,398 48,859 47,894 965
Expenditures paid through county auditor 2,959 2,959 1,306 1,653
Total expenditures 845,852 942,601 925,286 17,315
Excess of revenues over expenditures 40,111 6,384 50,104 43,720
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 4,000 14,000 7,857 (6,143)
Transfers out - Health (32,953) (32,953) (32,953) -
Transfers out - Recreation and parks (42,562) (44,125) (44,125) -
Transfers out - Other (51,855) (28,734 (9,394) 19,340
Total other financing sources (uses) (123,370) (91,812) (78,615) 13,197
Net change in fund balances (83,259) (85,428) (28,511) 56,917
Fund balances at beginning of year 244,118 244,118 244,118 -
Lapsed encumbrances 5,000 5,000 6,619 1,619
Fund balances at end of year $ 165,859 $ 163,690 $ 222,226 $ 58,536
Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations at end of year
on the budget basis to the modified accrual basis (GAAP) are as follows:
Net change in fund balance per the Budgetary Comparison Schedule $ (28,511)
(Increases) decreases from revenues:
Received in cash during year but already accrued as receivables (GAAP) at December 31, 2020 (158,188)
Accrued as receivables at December 31, 2021 but not recognized in budget 178,418
Deferred at December 31, 2020 but not recognized in budget 120,475
Deferred at December 31, 2021 but recognized in budget (139,530)
(Increases) decreases from encumbrances:
Expenditures of amounts encumbered during the year ended December 31, 2020 (29,908)
Recognized as expenditures in the budget 78,111
(Increases) decreases from expenditures:
Accrued as liabilities at December 31, 2020 recognized as expenditures (GAAP) but not in budget 43,467
Accrued as liabilities at December 31, 2021 (54,659)
Change in unrealized loss on investments (14,038)

Net change in fund balance per the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance (Exhibit 4)

See notes to required supplementary information.

$ (4,363)
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Revenues
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Grants and subsidies
Charges for service
Miscellaneous
Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Health
Health
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlay
Total health
Total health
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in
Operating transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year

Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year

City of Columbus, Ohio

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Board of Health

For the year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit 11

Variance with

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations at end of year
on the budget basis to the modified accrual basis (GAAP) are as follows:

Net change in fund balance per the Budgetary Comparison Schedule

(Increases) decreases from revenues:

Received in cash during year but already accrued as receivables (GAAP) at December 31, 2020
Accrued as receivables at December 31, 2021 but not recognized in budget

Component unit capital fund not budgeted

Deferred at December 31, 2020 but not recognized in budget
Deferred at December 31, 2021 but recognized in budget

(Increases) decreases from encumbrances:

Expenditures of amounts encumbered during the year ended December 31, 2020

Recognized as expenditures in the budget
(Increases) decreases from expenditures:

Accrued as liabilities at December 31, 2020 recognized as expenditures (GAAP) but not in budget

Accrued as liabilities at December 31, 2021
Component unit capital fund not budgeted

Net change in fund balance per the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance (Exhibit 4)

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ 3,500,000 $ 3,500,000 $ 3,503,226 3,226
15,000 15,000 15,650 650
31,746,819 55,746,819 28,366,428 (27,380,391)
5,300,000 5,300,000 5,360,480 60,480
37,000 37,000 37,840 840
40,598,819 64,598,819 37,283,624 (27,315,195)
28,809,054 62,083,239 44,670,162 17,413,077
1,079,730 4,139,567 2,728,821 1,410,746
7,523,729 26,865,676 21,417,622 5,448,054
32,000 223,261 16,258 207,003
285,000 308,871 285,000 23,871
37,729,513 93,620,614 69,117,863 24,502,751
37,729,513 93,620,614 69,117,863 24,502,751
37,729,513 93,620,614 69,117,863 24,502,751
2,869,306 (29,021,795) (31,834,239) (2,812,444)
34,401,181 34,401,181 34,401,181 -
(4,000,000) - - -
30,401,181 34,401,181 34,401,181 -
33,270,487 5,379,386 2,566,942 (2,812,444)
(4,932,511) (4,932,511) (4,932,511) -
1,803,919 1,803,919 1,803,919 -
$ 30,141,895 $ 2,250,794 $ (561,650) $ (2,812,444)

$ 2,566,942

(2,171,000)

4,624,883

1,100,000

1,746,000

(581,000)

(4,989,968)

9,749,737

3,009,808

(3,603,000)

(521,402)

$ 10,931,000

See notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

December 31, 2021

NOTE A—BUDGETARY DATA [EXHIBIT 10 AND 11]

City Council follows the procedures outlined below in establishing expenditure budget data.

(1)

(2)

(3)

4)

(5)

(6)

Prior to November 15, the Mayor submits to City Council an estimate of the expenditures
necessary to conduct the affairs of the City for the fiscal year commencing the following January 1.

Budget estimates are distributed throughout the City (including newspapers and libraries) and
public hearings are held to obtain taxpayers’ comments.

Subsequent to January 1, and after publication of the proposed budget ordinances, the budget is
legally enacted through passage of the ordinances. The budget specifies expenditure amounts
by Object Class for each division within each fund. The objects are (1) personal services, (2)
materials and supplies, (3) contractual services, (4) debt principal payments, (5) other, (6) capital
outlay, (7) interest on debt, and (10) transfers.

Transfers of appropriations of less than $100,000 can be made between budget Object Level One
within a division and fund without additional City Council action, but with responsible management
approval. Transfers in excess of this amount require the approval of both City Council and the
Mayor. Supplemental appropriations must be approved by City Council. During 2021, all
appropriations were approved as required. Appropriations for the General Fund and Board of
Health expenditures and transfers out, were as follows:

(in thousands)

Original

budget Revisions Final budget
General $ 973,222 75,191 1,048,413
Board of Health $ 41,730 51,891 93,621

The City maintains budgetary controls by not permitting expenditures to exceed appropriations
at the Object Level One level for each division within each fund.

Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year-end.

All General Fund and Board of Health expenditures, except for expenditures paid through the county
auditor, have annual expenditures budgeted by City Council. Revenues and expenditures paid through
the county auditor are estimated by the City Auditor in conjunction with the annual budgeting process.
However, this estimate is not included or required in the budget ordinance.

Revenues for the General Fund are estimated by the City Auditor in conjunction with the annual
budgeting process. However, this estimate is not included or required in the budget ordinance.
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Notes to the Required Supplementary Information (continued)

The City’s budgetary process is based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis other than
GAAP. The major differences are:

(1) Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget), as opposed to when susceptible to
accrual (modified accrual).

(2) Expenditures are recorded when encumbered or paid in cash (budget), as opposed to when the
liability is incurred (modified accrual).

(3) Encumbrances are recorded as the equivalent of expenditures (budget), as opposed to fund
balances (modified accrual).

NOTE B—SCHEDULE OF CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY [EXHIBIT 12]

Information regarding the City’s proportionate share of net pension liability for 2013 to 2020 has been
provided by the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) and the Ohio Police and Fire
Pension Fund (OP&F). The net pension liability presented in the City’s financial statement as of
December 31, 2021 is based on the measurement date of December 31, 2020. Information presented
in this exhibit is not available for years prior to 2013.

NOTE C—SCHEDULE OF THE CITY CONTRIBUTIONS TO STATE PENSION AND OPEB FUNDS [EXHIBIT 13]

Contributions included in the schedule of city contributions include both pension and other
postemployment benefits (OPEB). The Board of Trustees for both OPERS and OP&F determine the
allocation between pension and OPEB plans annually and this allocation may change from year to year.
The City pays contractually required employer rates for OPERS and OP&F employees.

OPERS maintains three separate pension plans. The employer contribution rate is the same for all
three plans. The City does not know which plan each of its employees participates in at the time of
contribution payment; therefore, the contribution schedule includes all OPERS plans combined. Since
OPERS allocated all of the employer contributions for the Traditional and Combined Plans to the pension
benefit in 2021, there was zero allocated to the OPEB benefit. The difference between the pension
contribution after the measurement date from Footnote K and the employer contribution per this
schedule is contributions made to the Member Directed Plan, a defined contribution plan.

NOTE D—SCHEDULE OF CITY’'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET OPEB LIABILITY [EXHIBIT 14]

Information regarding the City’s proportionate share of net OPEB liability for 2016 to 2020 has been
provided by the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) and the Ohio Police and Fire
Pension Fund (OP&F). The net OPEB liability presented in the City’s financial statement as of December
31, 2021 is based on the measurement date of December 31, 2020. Information presented in this
exhibit is not available for years prior to 2016.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Major Governmental Funds|

General Fund - the general operating fund of the City and is used to account for all
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Special Income Tax Fund - used to account for 25% of income tax collections set
aside for debt service and related expenditures.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Expenditures-Budget and Actual
General Fund
Budget Basis
Year Ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit A-1

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
Expenditures
Current

General Government

City Council

Personal services $ 4,582,290 $ 4,613,845 $ 4,613,845 -

Materials and supplies 28,000 33,000 16,937 16,063

Contractual services 369,791 2,399,527 2,378,501 21,026

Other 3,000 3,000 3,000 -
Total City Council 4,983,081 7,049,372 7,012,283 37,089
City Auditor

Personal services 3,994,001 3,994,001 3,968,072 25,929

Materials and supplies 27,600 27,600 27,572 28

Contractual services 767,134 767,134 760,951 6,183

Other 1,000 1,000 1,000 -
Total City Auditor 4,789,735 4,789,735 4,757,595 32,140
Income tax

Personal services 8,493,429 6,998,661 6,643,835 354,826

Materials and supplies 78,500 78,500 77,940 560

Contractual services 1,242,250 1,242,250 947,198 295,052

Other 500 500 200 300
Total income tax 9,814,679 8,319,911 7,669,173 650,738
City Treasurer

Personal services 1,123,498 1,063,498 940,855 122,643

Materials and supplies 10,200 10,200 4,610 5,590

Contractual services 325,868 355,868 354,208 1,660
Total City Treasurer 1,459,566 1,429,566 1,299,673 129,893
City Attorney

Personal services 12,944,547 12,919,812 12,839,048 80,764

Materials and supplies 85,200 85,200 71,571 13,629

Contractual services 407,922 665,056 652,737 12,319

Other 3,000 3,000 2,805 195
Total City Attorney 13,440,669 13,673,068 13,566,161 106,907
Real estate

Personal services 167,293 167,293 166,961 332
Total real estate 167,293 167,293 166,961 332
Municipal court judges

Personal services 17,855,428 18,118,428 18,063,721 54,707

Materials and supplies 65,000 420,340 420,314 26

Contractual services 2,019,469 2,399,469 2,371,266 28,203

Other - 210,000 210,000 -
Total municipal court judges 19,939,897 21,148,237 21,065,301 82,936
Municipal court clerk

Personal services 11,520,669 11,520,669 11,173,580 347,089

Materials and supplies 140,734 140,734 140,720 14

Contractual services 806,032 806,032 804,741 1,291
Total municipal court clerk 12,467,435 12,467,435 12,119,041 348,394

(continued)
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Civil service commission
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Total civil service commission

Human resources
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services

Total human resources

Mayor
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Total Mayor

Diversity and inclusion
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services

Total diversity and inclusion

CelebrateOne
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Total celebrateone

Inspector general
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services

Total inspector general

Education
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Total education

Finance
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Total finance

Technology
Contractual services
Total technology

City of Col

umbus, Ohio

Exhibit A-1(continued)

Schedule of Expenditures-Budget and Actual
General Fund
Budget Basis

Year Ended December 31, 2021

$

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive

Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
3,798,061 $ 3,648,061 $ 3,535,611 112,450
28,828 28,828 28,616 212
726,648 876,648 841,047 35,601
3,500 3,500 3,500 -
4,557,037 4,557,037 4,408,774 148,263
1,794,248 1,794,248 1,703,212 91,036
37,961 37,961 11,825 26,136
1,250,396 1,265,396 1,222,370 43,026
3,082,605 3,097,605 2,937,407 160,198
4,249,514 3,640,134 3,508,517 131,617
15,000 32,447 16,217 16,230
529,615 389,609 264,387 125,222
1,250 1,250 1,250 -
4,795,379 4,063,440 3,790,371 273,069
1,547,943 1,141,668 1,023,351 118,317
2,000 9,500 6,701 2,799
310,050 587,550 505,142 82,408
1,859,993 1,738,718 1,535,194 203,524
- 468,623 374,342 94,281
- 37,379 37,373 6
- 392,805 392,805 -
- 898,807 804,520 94,287
- 100,000 - 100,000
- 50,000 - 50,000
- 50,000 - 50,000
- 200,000 - 200,000
564,487 364,487 309,188 55,299
9,500 9,500 - 9,500
6,020,156 9,420,156 9,398,932 21,224
6,594,143 9,794,143 9,708,120 86,023
5,772,947 5,802,267 5,450,394 351,873
59,790 113,790 79,988 33,802
4,215,141 6,549,141 5,887,967 661,174
10,047,878 12,465,198 11,418,349 1,046,849
27,926,987 27,926,987 26,143,340 1,783,647
27,926,987 27,926,987 26,143,340 1,783,647
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Exhibit A-1(continued)

City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Expenditures-Budget and Actual
General Fund
Budget Basis
Year Ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
Facilities management
Personal services $ 7,687,210 $ 8,118,210 $ 7,997,930 120,280
Materials and supplies 891,000 1,330,000 1,313,607 16,393
Contractual services 9,143,956 9,488,956 9,371,903 117,053
Other 3,000 13,000 7,500 5,500
Capital outlay - 20,000 16,791 3,209
Total facilities management 17,725,166 18,970,166 18,707,731 262,435
Neighborhoods
Personal services 4,562,784 4,562,784 4,394,218 168,566
Materials and supplies 60,500 60,500 52,380 8,120
Contractual services 1,300,405 3,445,530 3,445,400 130
Other 1,500 1,500 - 1,500
Capital outlay - 25,000 25,000 -
Total neighborhoods 5,925,189 8,095,314 7,916,998 178,316
Total general government 149,576,732 160,852,032 155,026,992 5,825,040
Public service
Service director
Personal services 721,928 748,856 748,856 -
Contractual services 18,686 178,686 177,430 1,256
Total service director 740,614 927,542 926,286 1,256
Refuse collection
Personal services 17,030,642 16,330,642 16,017,114 313,528
Materials and supplies 163,400 163,400 154,111 9,289
Contractual services 16,631,819 17,261,819 15,500,875 1,760,944
Other 52,000 72,000 70,941 1,059
Capital outlay 10,000 1,010,000 1,000,000 10,000
Total refuse collection 33,887,861 34,837,861 32,743,041 2,094,820
Traffic Management
Capital outlay - 315,000 315,000 -
Total traffic management - 315,000 315,000 -
Total public service 34,628,475 36,080,403 33,984,327 2,096,076
Public safety
Safety director
Personal services 7,179,990 6,379,990 6,324,677 55,313
Materials and supplies 10,367 91,617 85,295 6,322
Contractual services 5,460,855 4,359,605 2,874,129 1,485,476
Other 100 100 21 79
Total safety director 12,651,312 10,831,312 9,284,122 1,547,190
Support services
Personal services 16,497,586 14,694,413 14,313,098 381,315
Materials and supplies 427,175 259,675 259,295 380
Contractual services 3,546,327 3,715,327 3,713,348 1,979
Other 5,800 23,300 20,235 3,065
Total support services 20,476,888 18,692,715 18,305,976 386,739
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Police
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlauy

Total police

Fire
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlay

Total fire

Total public safety

Development

Development administration

Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Total development admin

Economic development
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Total economic development

Code enforcement
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Total code enforcement

Planning
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Total planning

Land redevelopment
Personal services
Contractual services

Total land redevelopment

City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Expenditures-Budget and Actual
General Fund
Budget Basis

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit A-1(continued)

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive

Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
$ 308,213,388 $ 349,080,252 $ 349,075,252 5,000
4,742,414 5,377,855 4,803,369 574,486
14,930,082 13,758,711 12,604,756 1,153,955
255,000 16,005,000 15,892,335 112,665
3,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 -
331,140,884 388,221,818 386,375,712 1,846,106
246,036,400 258,689,400 256,653,808 2,035,592
4,413,729 5,165,864 5,014,992 150,872
12,446,292 12,117,018 11,366,221 750,797
125,000 125,000 66,700 58,300
- 7,766 7,766 -
263,021,421 276,105,048 273,109,487 2,995,561
627,290,505 693,850,893 687,075,297 6,775,596
3,237,921 2,883,852 2,852,992 30,860
22,000 22,000 17,311 4,689
4,802,982 8,021,773 8,004,902 16,871
151,000 151,000 150,000 1,000
8,213,903 11,078,625 11,025,205 53,420
1,703,797 1,703,797 1,546,515 157,282
6,500 6,500 2,662 3,838
2,754,574 3,348,574 3,241,406 107,168
1,000 13,534,631 13,531,743 2,888
4,465,871 18,593,502 18,322,326 271,176
7,776,741 5,712,543 5,705,599 6,944
66,400 42,654 41,968 686
744,189 608,804 596,248 12,556
7,000 1,919 1,919 -
8,594,330 6,365,920 6,345,734 20,186
1,614,492 1,614,492 1,543,147 71,345
8,400 8,400 2,500 5,900
57,632 186,632 22,163 164,469
1,000 1,000 - 1,000
1,681,524 1,810,524 1,567,810 242,714
854,053 854,053 804,623 49,430
1,000 1,000 495 505
855,053 855,053 805,118 49,935
(continued)
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Exhibit A-1(continued)

City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Expenditures-Budget and Actual
General Fund
Budget Basis
Year Ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
Housing

Personal services $ 1,791,761 $ 1,850,761 $ 1,799,655 $ 51,106
Materials and supplies 12,500 12,500 6,469 6,031
Contractual services 5,772,437 6,213,437 6,169,233 44,204
Other 11,000 11,000 3,916 7,084
Total housing 7,587,698 8,087,698 7,979,273 108,425
Total development 31,398,379 46,791,322 46,045,466 745,856

Building and zoning

Building and zoning
Personal services - 87,177 87,177 -
Total building and zoning - 87,177 87,177 -

Code enforcement
Personal services - 1,768,500 1,667,067 101,433
Materials and supplies - 71,746 71,730 16
Contractual services - 135,385 19,530 115,855
Other - 5,081 2,500 2,581
Total code enforcement - 1,980,712 1,760,827 219,885
Total building and zoning - 2,067,889 1,848,004 219,885

Expenditures paid through

county auditor 2,959,000 2,959,000 1,305,927 1,653,073
Total expenditures $ 845,853,091 $ 942,601,539 $ 925,286,013 $ 17,315,526
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Income Tax

Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit A-2

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Income taxes $ 197,703,000 $ 243,783,000 $ 258,698,469 14,915,469
Investment earnings - - 311 311
Miscellaneous 2,297,000 2,297,000 2,297,611 611
Total revenues 200,000,000 246,080,000 260,996,391 14,916,391
Expenditures
Current
General government
City Attorney
Contractual services 250,000 250,000 100,000 150,000
Total City Attorney 250,000 250,000 100,000 150,000
City Auditor
Contractual services - 8,989,677 8,989,677 -
Total City Auditor - 8,989,677 8,989,677 -
Technology
Materials and supplies - 1,000,000 1,000,000 -
Contractual services - 2,000,000 2,000,000 -
Total technology - 3,000,000 3,000,000 -
Asset management
Contractual services - 1,481,211 1,481,211 -
Total asset management - 1,481,211 1,481,211 -
Fleet management
Capital outlay - 2,112,058 2,061,653 50,405
Total fleet management - 2,112,058 2,061,653 50,405
Finance
Contractual services 275,000 275,000 - 275,000
Total finance 275,000 275,000 - 275,000
Total general government 525,000 16,107,946 15,632,541 475,405
Public service
Refuse collection
Contractual services 17,391,000 17,391,000 17,381,000 10,000
Total refuse collection 17,391,000 17,391,000 17,381,000 10,000
Total public service 17,391,000 17,391,000 17,381,000 10,000
Public safety
Police
Contractual services - 472,013 472,013 -
Total police - 472,013 472,013 -
Total public safety - 472,013 472,013 -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Income Tax
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit A-2 (continued)

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Debt service
Principal retirement and payment of
obligation under capitalized lease $ 162,835,000 $ 158,367,037 $ 158,367,037 $ -
Interest and fiscal charges 67,416,138 66,449,894 66,449,894 -
Total debt service 230,251,138 224,816,931 224,816,931 -
Total expenditures 248,167,138 258,787,890 258,302,485 485,405
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (48,167,138) (12,707,890) 2,693,906 15,401,796
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 21,925,975 21,925,975
Operating transfers out - (108,806,954) (108,806,954) -
Premium on bonds - - 40,949,349 40,949,349
Total other financing sources (uses) - (108,806,954) (45,931,630) 62,875,324
Net change in fund balances (48,167,138) (121,514,844) (43,237,724) 78,277,120
Fund balance at beginning of year 121,520,763 121,520,763 121,520,763 -
Lapsed encumbrances 62,591,867 62,591,867 62,591,867 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 135,945492 $ 62,597,786 $ 140,874,906  $ 78,277,120
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Other Governmental Funds|

Special Revenue Funds — used to account for revenues derived from specific taxes, grants, or other
restricted revenue sources. City ordinances or Federal and/or State statutes specify the uses and limitations
of each Special Revenue Fund. The title of the funds is descriptive of the activities involved. RiverSouth and
Columbus Next Generation are separate legal entities defined as blended component units of the City for
financial reporting purposes; therefore, there is no Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balance — Budget and Actual included in this report for RiverSouth and Columbus Next Generation. The Special
Revenue Funds are:

City Ordinances

e RiverSouth

e Columbus Next Generation

e Land Management

e Area Commissions

e Special Purpose

e Mayor’s Education Charitable Trust
¢ Columbus Community Relations

¢ Housing/Business Tax Incentives

e Hester Dysart Paramedic Education
 Hotel-Motel Tax

* Private Leisure Assistance for Youth
» Tree Replacement

e Gatrell Arts Vocational Rehabilitation
» Neighborhood Economic Development
e Fire Quarter Master Incentive Travel
e Columbus JEDD Revenue

e Development Services

e Private Construction Inspection

e Economic Development Rev Loan

e Creation, Innovation, and Inclusion
* Facility Stabilization

e Sustainable Columbus

¢ Municipal Motor Vehicle Tax

e City Parking Meter Contribution

¢ Parking Meter Program

e E-911

e Casino

e Westside Community

e Fiber Optics

e Recreation & Parks Operations

e Reynolds Crossing Special Assessment
e DPU Small Business Education & Training
¢ Mined Assets

e Lobbyist Registration

e Private Grants

¢ Urban Site Acquisition Loan

¢ Red Light Photo

¢ Property Management

e Collection Fees

e City Attorney Mediation

¢ Environmental

e Citywide Training Entrepreneurial

e Police Continuing Professional Training

State Statutes
To Account for Shared Revenues, Fines, and Other Special Revenues

e Law Enforcement
e Drivers Alcohol Treatment
 Municipal Court Special Projects

¢ Municipal Court Clerk
e County Auto License
e Street Const. Maintenance & Repair

Federal and/or State Statutes
To Account for Grants and Subsidies

e HOME Program

e HOPE Program

e HUD Section 108 Loans

e CARES Act

e Emergency Rental Assistance
e Local Fiscal Recovery
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¢ General Government Grants

e Urban Development Action Grants
e Community Development Act

¢ Recreation & Parks Grants

¢ Recreation & Parks (COAAA) Grants



City of Columbus, Ohio

Other Governmental Funds (continued)

Debt Service Funds — used to account for the accumulation of resources for and payment of general
obligation principal, interest, and related expenditures.

e Tax Increment Financing (TIFs)

e Recreation Debt Service

* NWD Blvd Streetscape Special Assessment
e Capitol South Debt Service

Capital Project Funds — used to account for financial resources used for the acquisition and
construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.
The titles of the funds are descriptive of the activities involved. The Capital Projects Funds classified by
the primary sources of funding are:

Debt Proceeds
e Public Safety  Northeast Corridor
e Parks & Recreation e Southeast Growth Area
 Refuse Collection e East Broad St Growth Area
e Streets & Highways » Affordable Housing Taxable Bond
e Public Safety Taxable Bonds e Municipal Court Clerk Capital Projects
e Governmental Super B.A.B. ¢ High/Goodale Street
¢ Public Service Taxable Bonds e Housing Preservation
 Recreational & Parks Taxable Bonds e Auditor Bond
¢ Nationwide Development Bond * Neighborhood Health Ctr Cap Reserve
e Sidewalk Assessment » Development Revolving Loans-Grants
e Construction Management Taxable Bonds ¢ Reynoldsburg Columbus Pay as We Grow
e Construction Management e Harrison West Recreation Park
e Northland and Other Acquisitions e RiverSouth Lifestyle
e Development Taxable Bonds * Neighborhood Partnerships
e Bond Fund — HR and City Attorney e Governmental B.A.B.
e Polaris Interchange e Tax Increment Financing (TIFs)

¢ Northwest Corridor

Grant Revenue and Other Funding Sources

e Short North SID e Federal State Highway Engineering
¢ Parks & Rec. Permanent Improvement e Street & Highway Improvement
e General Permanent Improvement e Smart City

e Transportation Improvement Program
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-3
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
HOME Program
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Grants and subsidies $ 7,500,000 $ 10,700,000 $ 4,290,282 $ (6,409,718)
Miscellaneous 500,000 510,000 503,492 (6,508)
Total revenues 8,000,000 11,210,000 4,793,774 (6,416,226)
Expenditures
Current
General government
Finance
Contractual services - 4,950 - 4,950
Other - 2,993 2,993 -
Total finance - 7,943 2,993 4,950
Total general government - 7,943 2,993 4,950
Development
Housing
Personal services - 431,449 240,688 190,761
Contractual services - 505,010 - 505,010
Other - 3,925,793 3,881,432 44,361
Total housing - 4,862,252 4,122,120 740,132
Total development - 4,862,252 4,122,120 740,132
Total expenditures - 4,870,195 4,125,113 745,082
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 8,000,000 6,339,805 668,661 (5,671,144)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 8,000,000 6,339,805 668,661 (5,671,144)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (6,332,655) (6,332,655) (6,332,655) -
Lapsed encumbrances 113,786 113,786 113,786 -
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 1,781,131 $ 120,936 $ (5,550,208) $ (5,671,144)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-4
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
HOPE Program
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 320,000 $ 320,000 $ - $ (320,000)
Total revenues 320,000 320,000 - (320,000)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Housing
Contractual services 340,417 340,417 - 340,417
Other 1,684 1,684 - 1,684
Total housing 342,101 342,101 - 342,101
Total development 342,101 342,101 - 342,101
Total expenditures 342,101 342,101 - 342,101
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (22,101) (22,101) - 22,101
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances (22,101) (22,101) - 22,101
Fund balance at beginning of year 23,390 23,390 23,390 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,289 $ 1,289 $ 23,390 $ 22,101
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
HUD Section 108 Loans
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-5

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 11,000,000 $ 11,000,000 $ - $ (11,000,000)
Total revenues 11,000,000 11,000,000 - (11,000,000)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other 10,720,546 10,720,546 - 10,720,546
Total development director 10,720,546 10,720,546 - 10,720,546
Total development 10,720,546 10,720,546 - 10,720,546
Total expenditures 10,720,546 10,720,546 - 10,720,546
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 279,454 279,454 - (279,454)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 279,454 279,454 - (279,454)
Fund balance at beginning of year 22,319 22,319 22,319 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 301,773  $ 301,773 $ 22,319 ¢ (279,454)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-6
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Land Management
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Licenses and permits $ 26,000 $ 26,000 $ 26,447 $ 447
Miscellaneous 175,000 175,000 1,194,229 1,019,229
Total revenues 201,000 201,000 1,220,676 1,019,676
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Personal services 337,468 337,468 214,040 123,428
Materials and supplies 14,000 14,000 11,553 2,447
Contractual services 1,199,000 1,199,000 1,008,760 190,240
Other 6,000 6,000 1,271 4,729
Total development director 1,556,468 1,556,468 1,235,624 320,844
Total development 1,556,468 1,556,468 1,235,624 320,844
Total expenditures 1,556,468 1,556,468 1,235,624 320,844
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (1,355,468) (1,355,468) (14,948) 1,340,520
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances (1,355,468) (1,355,468) (14,948) 1,340,520
Fund balance at beginning of year 2,946,956 2,946,956 2,946,956 -
Lapsed encumbrances 50,094 50,094 50,094 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,641,582 ¢$ 1,641,582 $ 2,982,102 $ 1,340,520
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-7
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
CARES Act
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment income $ - $ 12,000 $ 12,161 $ 161
Charges for services 15,000 1,473,000 79,330 (1,393,670)
Miscellaneous - 10,000 10,459 459
Total revenues 15,000 1,495,000 101,950 (1,393,050)
Expenditures
Current
General government
City Attorney
Personal services - 17,086 17,086 -
Total City Attorney - 17,086 17,086 -
Municipal court judges
Materials and supplies - 296 296 -
Contractual services - 217,331 217,331 -
Total municipal court judges - 217,627 217,627 -
Human resources
Materials and supplies - 5,387 5,387 -
Total human resources - 5,387 5,387 -
Mayor
Contractual services - 42,021 42,021 -
Total Mayor - 42,021 42,021 -
Facilities
Materials and supplies - 79,650 79,583 67
Contractual services - 122,830 122,830 -
Total facilities - 202,480 202,413 67
Neighborhoods
Contractual services - 507,237 507,237 -
Total neighborhoods - 507,237 507,237 -
Total general government - 991,838 991,771 67
Public service
Refuse collection
Materials and supplies - 4,983 4,983 -
Contractual services - 937 937 -
Total refuse collection - 5,920 5,920 -
Infrastructure management
Materials and supplies - 5,075 5,075 -
Contractual services - 3,900 3,900 -
Total infrastructure management - 8,975 8,975 -
Traffic management
Contractual services - 1,125 1,125 -
Total Traffic management - 1,125 1,125 -
Total public service - 16,020 16,020 -
(Continued)
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Public safety
Fire
Personal services
Total fire
Total public safety

Development
Development director
Contractual services
Total development director
Total development

Health
Health
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Total health
Total health

Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Total recreation and parks
Total recreation and parks

Utilities
Public utilities director
Contractual services

Total public utilities director -

Total utilities

City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
CARES Act
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Exhibit B-7 (continued)

Variance with
Final Budget-

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances

Actual Positive
Original Final _Amounts (Negative)
$ - $ 3,312,445 $ 3,312,445 $ -
- 3,312,445 3,312,445 -
- 3,312,445 3,312,445 -
- 475,000 475,000 -
- 475,000 475,000 -
- 475,000 475,000 -
- 353,762 353,762 -
- 142,708 142,708 -
- 764,723 764,723 -
- 1,261,193 1,261,193 -
- 1,261,193 1,261,193 -
- 96,495 96,495 -
- 31,851 31,851 -
- 12,740 12,740 -
- 141,086 141,086 -
- 141,086 141,086 -
- 1,134,398 1,134,398 -
1,134,398 1,134,398 -
- 1,134,398 1,134,398 -
Total expenditures - 7,331,980 7,331,913 67
15,000 (5,836,980) (7,229,963) (1,392,983)
15,000 (5,836,980) (7,229,963) (1,392,983)
5,846,987 5,846,987 5,846,987 -
1,383,043 1,383,043 1,383,043 -
$ 7,245,030 $ 1,393,050 $ 67 $ (1,392,983)

Fund balance at end of year
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-8
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Emergency Rental Assistance
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment income $ - $ 7,965 $ 21,625 $ 13,660
Grants and subsidies 26,825,375 39,597,410 39,597,410 -
Total revenues 26,825,375 39,605,375 39,619,035 13,660
Expenditures
Current
General government
Mayor
Contractual services - 3,111,491 3,111,491 -
Total mayor - 3,111,491 3,111,491 -
Finance
Contractual services - 8,912,607 - 8,912,607
Total finance - 8,912,607 - 8,912,607
Total general government - 12,024,098 3,111,491 8,912,607
Development
Development director
Personal services - 12,000 6,666 5,334
Total development director - 12,000 6,666 5,334
Housing
Contractual services - 27,561,312 26,561,312 1,000,000
Total housing - 27,561,312 26,561,312 1,000,000
Total development - 27,573,312 26,567,978 1,005,334
Total expenditures - 39,597,410 29,679,469 9,917,941
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 26,825,375 7,965 9,939,566 9,931,601
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 26,825,375 7,965 9,939,566 9,931,601
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 26,825,375 $ 7,965 $ 9,939,566 $ 9,931,601
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Local Fiscal Recovery
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment income $ - $ - 37,545 $ 37,545
Grants and subsidies - - 93,515,069 93,515,069
Miscellaneous - - 3,083 3,083
Total revenues - - 93,555,697 93,555,697
Expenditures
Current
General government
City Council
Personal services - 21,000 21,000 -
Contractual services - 353,000 205,500 147,500
Total City Council - 374,000 226,500 147,500
City Auditor
Personal services - 14,450 13,450 1,000
Total City Auditor - 14,450 13,450 1,000
Income tax
Personal services - 3,050 3,050 -
Total Income tax - 3,050 3,050 -
City Treasurer
Personal services - 2,000 2,000 -
Total City Treasurer - 2,000 2,000 -
City Attorney
Personal services - 119,262 43,136 76,126
Total City Attorney - 119,262 43,136 76,126
Municipal court judges
Personal services - 104,500 104,500 -
Total municipal court judges - 104,500 104,500 -
Municipal court clerk
Personal services - 55,500 55,500 -
Total municipal court clerk - 55,500 55,500 -
Civil service commission
Personal services - 17,000 17,000 -
Total civil service commission - 17,000 17,000 -
Human resources
Personal services - 22,000 22,000 -
Total human resources - 22,000 22,000 -
Mayor
Personal services - 10,000 10,000 -
Contractual services - 250,000 250,000 -
Total Mayor - 260,000 260,000 -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-9 (continued)
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Local Fiscal Recovery
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Diversity and inclusion
Personal services $ - $ 4,000 $ 4,000 $ -
Contractual services - 74,030 - 74,030
Total diversity and inclusion - 78,030 4,000 74,030
CelebrateOne
Personal services - 5,000 5,000 -
Total CelebrateOne - 5,000 5,000 -
Education
Personal services - 10,396,685 10,396,685 -
Total Education - 10,396,685 10,396,685 -
Finance
Personal services - 14,000 14,000 -
Contractual services - 45,818,694 7,881,000 37,937,694
Total finance - 45,832,694 7,895,000 37,937,694
Asset management
Personal services - 500 500 -
Total asset management - 500 500 -
Fleet
Contractual services - 2,000 2,000 -
Total fleet - 2,000 2,000 -
Technology
Personal services - 4,500 4,500 -
Total technology - 4,500 4,500 -
Information services
Personal services - 14,000 14,000 -
Total information services - 14,000 14,000 -
Facilities
Personal services - 2,000 2,000 -
Total facilities - 2,000 2,000 -
Neighborhoods
Personal services - 3,500 3,500 -
Contractual services - 2,956,525 844,000 2,112,525
Total neighborhoods - 2,960,025 847,500 2,112,525
Total general government - 60,267,196 19,918,321 40,348,875
Building and zoning
Building and zoning
Personal services - 11,000 11,000 -
Other - 500,000 - 500,000
Total building and zoning - 511,000 11,000 500,000
Code enforcement
Personal services - 3,500 3,500 -
Total code enforcement - 3,500 3,500 -
Total building and zoning - 514,500 14,500 500,000

(Continued)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-9 (continued)
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Local Fiscal Recovery
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Public service
Service director
Personal services $ - $ 11,000 $ 11,000 $ -
Contractual services - 200,000 200,000 -
Total service director - 211,000 211,000 -
Refuse collection
Personal services - 1,000 1,000 -
Contractual services - 2,500,000 2,499,425 575
Total refuse collection - 2,501,000 2,500,425 575
Parking services
Personal services - 1,000 1,000 -
Total parking services - 1,000 1,000 -
Infrastructure management
Personal services - 1,000 1,000 -
Total infrastructure management - 1,000 1,000 -
Transportation design construction
Personal services - 1,500 1,500 -
Total transportation design construction - 1,500 1,500 -
Traffic management
Personal services - 1,000 1,000 -
Total Traffic management - 1,000 1,000 -
Total public service - 2,716,500 2,715,925 575
Public safety
Safety director
Personal services - 12,000 11,500 500
Total safety director - 12,000 11,500 500
Support services
Personal services - 6,000 6,000 -
Total support services - 6,000 6,000 -
Police
Personal services - 22,000 22,000 -
Total police - 22,000 22,000 -
Fire
Personal services - 12,000 12,000 -
Total fire - 12,000 12,000 -
Total public safety - 52,000 51,500 500
Development
Development director
Personal services - 5,500 5,500 -
Contractual services - 11,275,369 10,165,369 1,110,000
Total development director - 11,280,869 10,170,869 1,110,000
Economic development
Personal services - 500 500 -
Contractual services - 5,000,000 5,000,000 -
Total economic development - 5,000,500 5,000,500 -
(Continued)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-9 (continued)
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Local Fiscal Recovery
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Planning
Personal services $ - $ 500 $ 500 $ -
Total planning - 500 500 -
Housing
Personal services - 500 500 -
Total housing - 500 500 -
Land redevelopment
Contractual services - 500 500 -
Total land redevelopment - 500 500 -
Total development - 16,282,869 15,172,869 1,110,000
Health
Health
Personal services - 2,308,892 715,979 1,592,913
Materials and supplies - 69,796 49,257 20,539
Contractual services - 4,440,203 3,209,039 1,231,164
Total health - 6,818,891 3,974,275 2,844,616
Total health - 6,818,891 3,974,275 2,844,616
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services - 1,931,612 328,354 1,603,258
Materials and supplies - 315,110 184,206 130,904
Contractual services - 2,850,890 557,345 2,293,545
Total recreation and parks - 5,097,612 1,069,905 4,027,707
Total recreation and parks - 5,097,612 1,069,905 4,027,707
Utilities
Public utilities director
Personal services - 14,000 14,000 -
Contractual services - 1,750,000 69,123 1,680,877
Total public utilities director - 1,764,000 83,123 1,680,877
Sewers and drains
Personal services - 1,500 1,500 -
Total sewers and drains - 1,500 1,500 -
Electricity
Personal services - 1,500 1,500 -
Total electricity - 1,500 1,500 -
Water
Personal services - 500 500 -
Total water - 500 500 -
Total utilities - 1,767,500 86,623 1,680,877
Total expenditures - 93,517,068 43,003,918 50,513,150

(Continued)
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Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year

City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Local Fiscal Recovery
Budget Basis

Exhibit B-9 (continued)

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ - $ (93,517,068) $ 50,551,779 $ 144,068,847
- (93,517,068) 50,551,779 144,068,847
$ - $ (93,517,068) $ 50,551,779 $ 144,068,847
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-10
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Law Enforcement
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ 366,000 $ 366,000 $ 366,398 $ 398
Investment earnings 70,000 70,000 70,734 734
Grants and subsidies 5,000 5,000 5,200 200
Miscellaneous 54,330 54,330 886,765 832,435
Total revenues 495,330 495,330 1,329,097 833,767
Expenditures
Current
Public safety
Police
Materials and supplies - 2,246,468 2,142,076 104,392
Contractual services - 1,346,578 1,207,390 139,188
Other - 2,000 - 2,000
Capital outlay - 3,632,067 2,400,517 1,231,550
Total police - 7,227,113 5,749,983 1,477,130
Total public safety - 7,227,113 5,749,983 1,477,130
Total expenditures - 7,227,113 5,749,983 1,477,130
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 495,330 (6,731,783) (4,420,886) 2,310,897
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (53,329) (53,329) -
Net change in fund balances 495,330 (6,785,112) (4,474,215) 2,310,897
Fund balance at beginning of year 8,462,718 8,462,718 8,462,718 -
Lapsed encumbrances 39,934 39,934 39,934 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 8,097,982 ¢$ 1,717,540 $ 4,028,437 $ 2,310,897
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
General Government Grants
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Grants and subsidies $ 35,635,953 $ 44,495,953 14,470,020 $ (30,025,933)
Investment income - - 457 457
Miscellaneous 176,000 176,000 176,777 777
Total revenues 35,811,953 44,671,953 14,647,254 (30,024,699)
Expenditures
Current
General government
City council
Contractual services - 414,950 411,954 2,996
Total city council - 414,950 411,954 2,996
City Attorney
Personal services - 870,546 578,334 292,212
Materials and supplies - 15,000 13,603 1,397
Contractual services - 56,367 42,627 13,740
Total City Attorney - 941,913 634,564 307,349
Mayor
Personal services - 774,035 346,978 427,057
Materials and supplies - 52,038 20,269 31,769
Contractual services - 1,321,862 742,590 579,272
Total Mayor - 2,147,935 1,109,837 1,038,098
Municipal court judges
Personal services - 4,169,140 1,603,052 2,566,088
Materials and supplies - 230,711 70,936 159,775
Contractual services - 1,534,847 1,004,712 530,135
Other - 7,607 7,607 -
Total municipal court judges - 5,942,305 2,686,307 3,255,998
Fleet
Capital outlay - 272,317 - 272,317
Total fleet - 272,317 - 272,317
Finance
Contractual services - 2,197 - 2,197
Other - 21 21 -
Total finance - 2,218 21 2,197
Technology
Contractual services - 331,133 331,133 -
Total technology - 331,133 331,133 -
Neighborhoods
Materials and supplies - 10,170 6,553 3,617
Contractual services - 102,365 75,000 27,365
Total neighborhoods - 112,535 81,553 30,982
Total general government - 10,165,306 5,255,369 4,909,937
Public service
Transportation design construction
Capital outlay - 499,605 82,651 416,954
Total Transportation design construction - 499,605 82,651 416,954
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-11 (continued)
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
General Government Grants
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Refuse
Capital outlay $ - $ 250,000 $ 250,000 $ -
Total refuse - 250,000 250,000 -
Parking services
Capital outlay - 22,500 22,500 -
Total parking services - 22,500 22,500 -
Total public service - 772,105 355,151 416,954
Public safety
Police
Personal services - 1,666,860 821,137 845,723
Materials and supplies - 1,098,418 663,378 435,040
Contractual services - 472,508 290,142 182,366
Other - 1,766 893 873
Capital outlay - 155,297 10,012 145,285
Total police - 3,394,849 1,785,562 1,609,287
Fire
Personal services - 465,391 - 465,391
Materials and supplies 879,128 886,215 886,215 -
Contractual services - 998,362 887,329 111,033
Capital outlay - 228,113 - 228,113
Total fire 879,128 2,578,081 1,773,544 804,537
Total public safety 879,128 5,972,930 3,559,106 2,413,824
Development
Development director
Personal services - 27 - 27
Contractual services - 16,241 - 16,241
Other - 36,415 - 36,415
Total development director - 52,683 - 52,683
Economic development
Contractual services - 118,997 - 118,997
Capital outlay - 1,994,033 819,033 1,175,000
Total economic development - 2,113,030 819,033 1,293,997
Housing
Personal services - 950,637 307,093 643,544
Contractual services - 1,281,772 739,192 542,580
Other 2,481,496 2,617,312 2,617,312 -
Total housing 2,481,496 4,849,721 3,663,597 1,186,124
Total development 2,481,496 7,015,434 4,482,630 2,532,804
Health
Health
Personal services - 1,459,893 802,448 657,445
Materials and supplies - 51,543 3,407 48,136
Contractual services - 2,086,938 977,926 1,109,012
Total health - 3,598,374 1,783,781 1,814,593
Total health - 3,598,374 1,783,781 1,814,593
Total expenditures 3,360,624 27,524,149 15,436,037 12,088,112

(Continued)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Exhibit B-11 (continued)

General Government Grants

Budget Basis

Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures $ 32,451,329 $ 17,147,804 $ (788,783) $ (17,936,587)

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in 1,188,047 1,188,047 1,188,047 -
Total other financing sources (uses) 1,188,047 1,188,047 1,188,047 -
Net change in fund balances 33,639,376 18,335,851 399,264 (17,936,587)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (19,947,679) (19,947,679) (19,947,679) -
Lapsed encumbrances 2,656,149 2,656,149 2,656,149 -
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 16,347,846 $ 1,044,321 $ (16,892,266) $ (17,936,587
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-12
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Area Commissions
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 25,707 $ 25,707
Total revenues - - 25,707 25,707
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Contractual services - 72,500 67,750 4,750
Total development director - 72,500 67,750 4,750
Total development - 72,500 67,750 4,750
Total expenditures - 72,500 67,750 4,750
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (72,500) (42,043) 30,457
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 52,500 52,500
Net change in fund balances - (72,500) 10,457 82,957
Fund balance at beginning of year 78,044 78,044 78,044 -
Lapsed encumbrances 6,654 6,654 6,654 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 84,698 $ 12,198 $ 95,155 $ 82,957
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-13
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Purpose
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Licenses and permits $ - $ - $ 1,303 $ 1,303
Fines and forfeitures - - 9,854 9,854
Charges for services 88,500 88,500 390,842 302,342
Miscellaneous - - 3,652,067 3,652,067
Total revenues 88,500 88,500 4,054,066 3,965,566
Expenditures
Current
Development
Building and zoning
Other - 750,000 500,000 250,000
Total building and zoning - 750,000 500,000 250,000
Total development - 750,000 500,000 250,000
Utilities
Water
Materials and supplies - 20,000 7,943 12,057
Contractual services - 20,000 1,830 18,170
Total water - 40,000 9,773 30,227
Total utilities - 40,000 9,773 30,227
Public safety
Support services
Contractual services - 1,250 1,250 -
Total support services - 1,250 1,250 -
Police
Materials and supplies - 67,383 - 67,383
Contractual services - 52,000 52,000 -
Total police - 119,383 52,000 67,383
Fire
Materials and supplies - 73,804 52,308 21,496
Contractual services - 69,486 29,067 40,419
Total fire - 143,290 81,375 61,915
Total public safety - 263,923 134,625 129,298
Health
Health
Personal services - 121,000 120,996 4
Materials and supplies - 15,000 5,712 9,288
Contractual services - 51,070 570 50,500
Total health - 187,070 127,278 59,792
Total health - 187,070 127,278 59,792
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services - 14,842 14,842 -
Materials and supplies - 57,227 41,713 15,514
Contractual services - 192,081 97,391 94,690
Capital outlay - 1,173,980 1,170,980 3,000
Total recreation and parks - 1,438,130 1,324,926 113,204
Total recreation and parks - 1,438,130 1,324,926 113,204
Total expenditures - 2,679,123 2,096,602 582,521
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 88,500 (2,590,623) 1,957,464 4,548,087
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 500,000 500,000
Net change in fund balances 88,500 (2,590,623) 2,457,464 5,048,087
Fund balance at beginning of year 5,828,157 5,828,157 5,828,157 -
Lapsed encumbrances 70,110 70,110 70,110 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 5986,767 $ 3,307,644 $ 8,355,731 $ 5,048,087
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-14
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Mayor's Education Charitable Trust
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues

Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 11 11
Total revenues - - 11 11
Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 11 11
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - 11 11
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,371 1,371 1,371 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,371 $ 1,371 ¢ 1,382 $ 11
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-15
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Drivers Alcohol Treatment
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ - $ - $ 93,871 $ 93,871
Shared revenues - - 177,341 177,341
Total revenues - - 271,212 271,212
Expenditures
Current
General government
Municipal court judges
Contractual services - 550,000 - 550,000
Total municipal court judges - 550,000 - 550,000
Total general government - 550,000 - 550,000
Total expenditures - 550,000 - 550,000
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (550,000) 271,212 821,212
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (550,000) 271,212 821,212
Fund balance at beginning of year 623,073 623,073 623,073 -
Lapsed encumbrances 220,500 220,500 220,500 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 843,573 $ 293,573 $ 1,114,785 ¢ 821,212
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-16
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Municipal Court Special Projects
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 1,119,256 $ 119,256
Miscellaneous 1,000,000 1,180,000 1,115,467 (64,533)
Total revenues 2,000,000 2,180,000 2,234,723 54,723
Expenditures
Current
General government
Municipal court judges
Personal services - 1,764,493 1,216,592 547,901
Materials and supplies - 170,000 40,963 129,037
Contractual services - 1,258,996 1,152,693 106,303
Total municipal court judges - 3,193,489 2,410,248 783,241
Total general government - 3,193,489 2,410,248 783,241
Total expenditures - 3,193,489 2,410,248 783,241
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 2,000,000 (1,013,489) (175,525) 837,964
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 490,000 490,000
Net change in fund balances 2,000,000 (1,013,489) 314,475 1,327,964
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,018,306 1,018,306 1,018,306 -
Lapsed encumbrances 52,082 52,082 52,082 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3,070,388 $ 56,899 $ 1,384,863 $ 1,327,964
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Municipal Court Clerk
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-17

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ 818,000 $ 818,000 $ 1,461,876 $ 643,876
Shared revenues 168,000 168,000 168,519 519
Miscellaneous 14,000 14,000 14,891 891
Total revenues 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,645,286 645,286
Expenditures
Current
General government
Municipal court judges
Personal services 107,781 353,497 282,036 71,461
Materials and supplies 218,000 268,850 119,373 149,477
Contractual services 339,608 803,208 573,028 230,180
Total municipal court judges 665,389 1,425,555 974,437 451,118
Municipal court clerk
Personal services 696,787 591,787 103,104 488,683
Materials and supplies 61,000 121,000 121,000 -
Contractual services 786,942 831,942 826,143 5,799
Total municipal court clerk 1,544,729 1,544,729 1,050,247 494,482
Total general government 2,210,118 2,970,284 2,024,684 945,600
Total expenditures 2,210,118 2,970,284 2,024,684 945,600
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (1,210,118)  (1,970,284) (379,398) 1,590,886
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances (1,210,118)  (1,970,284) (379,398) 1,590,886
Fund balance at beginning of year 2,252,638 2,252,638 2,252,638 -
Lapsed encumbrances 81,834 81,834 81,834 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,124354 $ 364,188 ¢$ 1,955,074 $ 1,590,886
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-18
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Columbus Community Relations
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 28,858 28,858 28,858 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 28,858 $ 28,858 $ 28,858 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-19
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Housing/Business Tax Incentives
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Licenses and permits $ 100,000 $ 100,000 $ 377,800 $ 277,800
Total revenues 100,000 100,000 377,800 277,800
Expenditures
Current
Development
Economic development
Personal services - 270,000 228,400 41,600
Total economic development - 270,000 228,400 41,600
Housing
Personal services - 5,500 4,376 1,124
Total housing - 5,500 4,376 1,124
Total development - 275,500 232,776 42,724
Total expenditures - 275,500 232,776 42,724
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 100,000 (175,500) 145,024 320,524
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in 10,000 10,000 10,000 -
Net change in fund balances 110,000 (165,500) 155,024 320,524
Fund balance at beginning of year 450,372 450,372 450,372 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 560,372 $ 284,872 $ 605,396 $ 320,524
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-20
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Hester Dysart Paramedic Education
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - % 922 $ 922
Total revenues - - 922 922
Expenditures
Current
Public safety
Fire
Contractual services - 10,000 2,663 7,337
Total fire - 10,000 2,663 7,337
Total public safety - 10,000 2,663 7,337
Total expenditures - 10,000 2,663 7,337
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (10,000) (1,741) 8,259
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (10,000) (1,741) 8,259
Fund balance at beginning of year 111,125 111,125 111,125 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 111,125 $ 101,125 $ 109,384 $ 8,259
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual Exhibit B-21
Hotel-Motel Tax
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 12,000,000 $ 17,110,000 $ 15,903,519 $ (1,206,481)
Total revenues 12,000,000 17,110,000 15,903,519 (1,206,481)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Contractual services 2,338,000 2,962,000 2,776,860 185,140
Total development director 2,338,000 2,962,000 2,776,860 185,140
Total development 2,338,000 2,962,000 2,776,860 185,140
General government
Finance
Contractual services 9,716,000 14,242,000 12,658,384 1,583,616
Total finance 9,716,000 14,242,000 12,658,384 1,583,616
Total general government 9,716,000 14,242,000 12,658,384 1,583,616
Total expenditures 12,054,000 17,204,000 15,435,244 1,768,756
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (54,000) (94,000) 468,275 562,275
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out (115,000) (115,000) (115,000) -
Net change in fund balances (169,000) (209,000) 353,275 562,275
Fund balance at beginning of year 213,828 213,828 213,828 -
Lapsed encumbrances 21,362 21,362 21,362 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 66,190 $ 26,190 $ 588,465 $ 562,275
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Private Leisure Assistance for Youth
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Exhibit B-22

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 168,915 $ 168,915
Miscellaneous - - 20,217 20,217
Total revenues - - 189,132 189,132
Expenditures
Current
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Materials and supplies - 2,000 644 1,356
Contractual services - 46,972 46,972 -
Total recreation and parks - 48,972 47,616 1,356
Total recreation and parks - 48,972 47,616 1,356
Total expenditures - 48,972 47,616 1,356
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (48,972) 141,516 190,488
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (48,972) 141,516 190,488
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,216,142 1,216,142 1,216,142 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,216,142 $ 1,167,170 $ 1,357,658 $ 190,488
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Tree Replacement
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Exhibit B-23

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 16,881 $ 16,881
Total revenues - - 16,881 16,881
Expenditures
Current
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Materials and supplies - 60,000 50,200 9,800
Total recreation and parks - 60,000 50,200 9,800
Total recreation and parks - 60,000 50,200 9,800
Total expenditures - 60,000 50,200 9,800
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (60,000) (33,319) 26,681
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (60,000) (33,319) 26,681
Fund balance at beginning of year 126,909 126,909 126,909 -
Lapsed encumbrances 21,024 21,024 21,024 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 147,933 $ 87,933 $ 114,614 $ 26,681
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-24
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Gatrell Arts and Vocational Rehabilitation
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 10,524 10,524 10,524 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 10,524 $ 10,524 $ 10,524 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-25
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Neighborhood Economic Development
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 150,000 $ 150,000 $ 1,414,471 $ 1,264,471
Total revenues 150,000 150,000 1,414,471 1,264,471
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development administration
Contractual services - 700,000 700,000 -
Total development administration - 700,000 700,000 -
Economic development
Contractual services - 2,000,000 2,000,000 -
Total economic development - 2,000,000 2,000,000 -
Total development - 2,700,000 2,700,000 -
Total expenditures - 2,700,000 2,700,000 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 150,000 (2,550,000) (1,285,529) 1,264,471
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 150,000 (2,550,000) (1,285,529) 1,264,471
Fund balance at beginning of year 4,116,980 4,116,980 4,116,980 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 4,266,980 $ 1,566,980 $ 2,831,451 $ 1,264,471
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-26
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Fire Quarter Master Incentive Travel
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues

over expenditures - - - -

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 16,108 16,108
Net change in fund balances - - 16,108 16,108
Fund balance at beginning of year 13,821 13,821 13,821 -
Lapsed encumbrances 310 310 310 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 14,131 $ 14,131 $ 30,239 $ 16,108
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-27
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Columbus JEDD Revenue
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Shared revenue $ - $ - $ 268,803 $ 268,803
Miscellaneous - - 2,129 2,129
Total revenues - - 270,932 270,932
Expenditures - - - -
Current
Development
Economic development
Contractual services 1,200,000 1,200,000 -
Total economic development - 1,200,000 1,200,000 -
Total development - 1,200,000 1,200,000 -
Total expenditures - 1,200,000 1,200,000 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures - (1,200,000) (929,068) 270,932
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (1,200,000) (929,068) 270,932
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,314,782 1,314,782 1,314,782 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,314,782 $ 114,782 % 385,714 $ 270,932
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Development Services

Exhibit B-28

Budget Basis

Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Licenses and permits $ 7,203,000 $ 8,503,000 $ 23,994,477 $ 15,491,477
Miscellaneous 297,000 297,000 297,124 124
Total revenues 7,500,000 8,800,000 24,291,601 15,491,601
Expenditures
Current
Building and zoning services
Building and zoning services
Personal services 17,492,337 17,910,244 17,682,622 227,622
Materials and supplies 172,600 172,600 150,332 22,268
Contractual services 5,270,307 5,240,307 4,394,885 845,422
Other 73,500 223,500 222,900 600
Total building and zoning services 23,008,744 23,546,651 22,450,739 1,095,912
Development
Code enforcement
Personal services - 452,303 417,456 34,847
Total code enforcement - 452,303 417,456 34,847
Total development - 452,303 417,456 34,847
Total expenditures 23,008,744 23,998,954 22,868,195 1,130,759
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (15,508,744) (15,198,954) 1,423,406 16,622,360
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out (500,000) (500,000) -
Net change in fund balances (15,508,744) (15,698,954) 923,406 16,622,360
Fund balance at beginning of year 15,708,527 15,708,527 15,708,527 -
Lapsed encumbrances 256,063 256,063 256,063 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 455,846 $ 265,636 $ 16,887,996 $ 16,622,360
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-29
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Private Construction Inspection
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Charges for services $ 3,490,000 $ 3,490,000 $ 3,438,389 $ (51,611)
Miscellaneous 10,000 10,000 10,711 711
Total revenues 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,449,100 (50,900)
Expenditures
Current
Public Service
Service director
Personal services 94,129 94,129 90,179 3,950
Materials and supplies 6,000 6,000 4,413 1,587
Contractual services 12,500 12,500 5,062 7,438
Total service director 112,629 112,629 99,654 12,975
Transportation design/constr
Personal services 3,537,322 3,403,722 3,100,688 303,034
Materials and supplies 60,900 60,900 28,724 32,176
Contractual services 1,391,456 1,391,456 1,259,571 131,885
Other 18,000 18,000 3,150 14,850
Capital outlay 150,000 306,946 259,121 47,825
Total transportation design/constr 5,157,678 5,181,024 4,651,254 529,770
Total public service 5,270,307 5,293,653 4,750,908 542,745
Total expenditures 5,270,307 5,293,653 4,750,908 542,745
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (1,770,307) (1,793,653) (1,301,808) 491,845
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances (1,770,307) (1,793,653) (1,301,808) 491,845
Fund balance at beginning of year 2,034,013 2,034,013 2,034,013 -
Lapsed encumbrances 97,223 97,223 97,223 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 360,929 $ 337,583 $ 829,428 $ 491,845
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Urban Development Action Grants
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-30

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 177,127 177,127 177,127 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 177,127 $ 177,127 $ 177,127 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Community Development Act
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ 21,000 $ 21,000 $ 21,312 ¢ 312
Grants and subsidies 10,151,000 19,416,831 9,702,064 (9,714,767)
Charges for services 20,000 20,000 20,191 191
Miscellaneous 308,000 308,000 308,434 434
Total revenues 10,500,000 19,765,831 10,052,001 (9,713,830)
Expenditures
Current
General Government
Finance
Personal services - 435,000 377,402 57,598
Materials and supplies - 10,000 800 9,200
Contractual services - 3,087,259 3,060,076 27,183
Other - 26,803 26,803 -
Total Finance - 3,559,062 3,465,081 93,981
Neighborhoods
Personal services - 300,000 293,815 6,185
Other - 9,689 9,689 -
Capital outlay - 1,500,000 1,500,000 -
Total neighborhoods - 1,809,689 1,803,504 6,185
Total general government - 5,368,751 5,268,585 100,166
Public service
Transportation design/constr
Capital outlay - 4,777,029 4,777,029 -
Total transportation design/constr - 4,777,029 4,777,029 -
Total public service - 4,777,029 4,777,029 -
Development
Development director
Other - 1,177 1,177 -
Total development director - 1,177 1,177 -
Economic development
Other - 5,035 5,035 -
Total economic development - 5,035 5,035 -
Code enforcement
Other - 88,791 88,791 -
Total code enforcement - 88,791 88,791 -
Housing
Contractual services - 1,205,000 445,000 760,000
Other - 21,492 21,492 -
Total housing - 1,226,492 466,492 760,000
Land redevelopment
Other - 1,401 1,401 -
Total land redevelopment - 1,401 1,401 -
Total development - 1,322,896 562,896 760,000
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-31 (continued)
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Community Development Act
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services $ - $ 870,000 $ 792,026 $ 77,974
Materials and supplies - 254,690 218,318 36,372
Contractual services - 9,920 9,920 -
Other - 31,243 31,243 -
Capital outlay - 3,965,255 3,965,255 -
Total recreation and parks - 5,131,108 5,016,762 114,346
Total recreation and parks - 5,131,108 5,016,762 114,346
Total expenditures - 16,599,784 15,625,272 974,512
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 10,500,000 3,166,047 (5,573,271) (8,739,318)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - 1,744,169 1,744,169 -
Net change in fund balances 10,500,000 4,910,216 (3,829,102) (8,739,318)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (4,895,479) (4,895,479) (4,895,479) -
Lapsed encumbrances 4,927 4,927 4,927 -
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 5,609,448 $ 19,664 $ (8,719,654) $ (8,739,318)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-32
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Economic Development Revolving Loan
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ 6,000 $ 6,000 $ 6,416 $ 416
Miscellaneous 309,000 309,000 719,496 410,496
Total revenues 315,000 315,000 725,912 410,912
Expenditures
Current
General government
Finance
Other - 53,887 53,887 -
Total finance - 53,887 53,887 -
Total general government - 53,887 53,887 -
Total expenditures - 53,887 53,887 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 315,000 261,113 672,025 410,912
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 315,000 261,113 672,025 410,912
Fund balance at beginning of year 91,802 91,802 91,802 -
Lapsed encumbrances 3,014 3,014 3,014 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 409,816 $ 355,929 $ 766,841 $ 410,912
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Creation, Innovation, and Inclusion
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-33

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final _Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 2,500,000 $ 3,650,000 $ 2,597,133 $ (1,052,867)
Total revenues 2,500,000 3,650,000 2,597,133 (1,052,867)
Expenditures
Current
General government
Finance
Contractual services - - 2,597,133 (2,597,133)
Total finance - - 2,597,133 (2,597,133)
Total general government - - 2,597,133 (2,597,133)
Total expenditures - - 2,597,133 (2,597,133)
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 2,500,000 3,650,000 - (3,650,000)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 2,500,000 3,650,000 - (3,650,000)
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,500,000 $ 3,650,000 $ - $ (3,650,000)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Facility Stabilization
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-34

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final _Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 900,000 $ 1,470,000 $ 983,341 $ (486,659)
Total revenues 900,000 1,470,000 983,341 (486,659)
Expenditures
Current
General government
Finance
Contractual services - 1,463,750 983,341 480,409
Total finance - 1,463,750 983,341 480,409
Total general government - 1,463,750 983,341 480,409
Total expenditures - 1,463,750 983,341 480,409
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 900,000 6,250 - (6,250)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 900,000 6,250 - (6,250)
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 900,000 $ 6,250 $ - $ (6,250)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Sustainable Columbus
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-35

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 593,230 $ 593,230
Total revenues - - 593,230 593,230
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 593,230 593,230
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 150,000 150,000
Net change in fund balances - - 743,230 743,230
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ - $ - $ 743,230 $ 743,230
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-36
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
County Auto License
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 3,000,000 $ 3,000,000
Total revenues - - 3,000,000 3,000,000
Expenditures
Current
Public service
Traffic management
Contractual services - 3,100,000 3,100,000 -
Total traffic management - 3,100,000 3,100,000 -
Total public service - 3,100,000 3,100,000 -
Total expenditures - 3,100,000 3,100,000 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (3,100,000) (100,000) 3,000,000
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (3,100,000) (100,000) 3,000,000
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,100,000 3,100,000 3,100,000 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3,100,000 $ - $ 3,000,000 $ 3,000,000
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Street Construction Maintenance & Repair
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Revenues
Licenses and permits
Investment earnings
Charges for services
Shared revenues
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Public service

Service director
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlay

Total service director

Refuse
Contractual services
Total refuse

Infrastructure management
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlay

Total infrastructure management

Transportation design/constr

Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other

Capital outlay

Total transportation design/constr

Traffic management
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlay

Total traffic management

Total public service
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balance at beginning of year

Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance at end of year

$

Exhibit B-37

Variance with

1,521,487 $

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)
- $ - $ 2,748,641 $ 2,748,641
- - 355,212 355,212
- - 9,747,935 9,747,935
50,500,000 50,500,000 50,520,307 20,307
- - 3,613,497 3,613,497
50,500,000 50,500,000 66,985,592 16,485,592
5,566,601 5,536,601 4,839,791 696,810
18,000 18,000 15,364 2,636
1,228,122 1,228,122 1,193,639 34,483
4,000 4,000 2,000 2,000
50,000 80,000 78,717 1,283
6,866,723 6,866,723 6,129,511 737,212
3,600,000 3,600,000 3,600,000 -
3,600,000 3,600,000 3,600,000 -
18,921,674 17,481,723 15,904,366 1,577,357
1,393,000 1,393,000 1,234,348 158,652
16,864,728 16,864,728 14,915,429 1,949,299
90,000 90,000 54,944 35,056
1,100,000 2,539,951 1,913,928 626,023
38,369,402 38,369,402 34,023,015 4,346,387
4,673,475 4,673,475 4,308,615 364,860
14,000 14,000 6,555 7,445
1,873,367 2,873,367 2,072,803 800,564
3,500 3,500 - 3,500
1,040,000 40,000 8,906 31,094
7,604,342 7,604,342 6,396,879 1,207,463
12,187,267 12,186,267 10,815,378 1,370,889
2,289,200 2,290,200 2,255,523 34,677
2,652,861 2,652,861 2,095,991 556,870
104,000 104,000 22,000 82,000
4,380,000 4,380,000 4,192,407 187,593
21,613,328 21,613,328 19,381,299 2,232,029
78,053,795 78,053,795 69,530,704 8,523,091
78,053,795 78,053,795 69,530,704 8,523,091
(27,553,795)  (27,553,795) (2,545,112) 25,008,683
(27,553,795)  (27,553,795) (2,545,112) 25,008,683
27,794,196 27,794,196 27,794,196 -
1,281,086 1,281,086 1,281,086 -

1,521,487 $ 26,530,170 $ 25,008,683
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Municipal Motor Vehicle Tax
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Revenues
Miscellaneous $
Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Public service
Infrastructure management
Materials and supplies
Capital outlay
Total infrastructure management

Traffic management
Materials and supplies
Capital outlay
Total traffic management
Total public service
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance (deficit) at end of yea $

Exhibit B-38

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
6,500,000 $ 6,500,000 $ 7,770,792 $ 1,270,792
6,500,000 6,500,000 7,770,792 1,270,792
- 3,250,000 2,680,308 569,692
- 41,000,000 3,960,070 37,039,930
- 44,250,000 6,640,378 37,609,622
- 350,000 346,862 3,138
- 2,000,000 1,996,659 3,341
- 2,350,000 2,343,521 6,479
- 46,600,000 8,983,899 37,616,101
- 46,600,000 8,983,899 37,616,101
6,500,000 (40,100,000) (1,213,107) 38,886,893
6,500,000 (40,100,000) (1,213,107) 38,886,893
3,518,846 3,518,846 3,518,846 -
383,346 383,346 383,346 -
10,402,192 $ (36,197,808) $ 2,689,085 ¢ 38,886,893
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
City Parking Meter Contribution

Budget Basis

Year ended December 31, 2021

Revenues
Expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance at end of year

Exhibit B-39

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ - $ - $ - $ -
1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 -
$ 1,400,000 $ 1,400,000 $ 1,400,000 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio Exhibit B-40
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Parking Meter Program
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ 22,000 $ 22,000 $ 22,768 $ 768
Charges for services 3,449,000 6,179,000 8,363,951 2,184,951
Miscellaneous 29,000 29,000 29,805 805
Total revenues 3,500,000 6,230,000 8,416,524 2,186,524
Expenditures
Current
Parking services
Personal services 3,900,061 3,901,687 3,523,865 377,822
Materials and supplies 94,500 94,500 37,546 56,954
Contractual services 2,115,711 3,891,085 3,621,656 269,429
Other 53,000 53,000 16,500 36,500
Capital outlay - 1,223,000 1,223,000 -
Total parking services 6,163,272 9,163,272 8,422,567 740,705
Total public service 6,163,272 9,163,272 8,422,567 740,705
Total expenditures 6,163,272 9,163,272 8,422,567 740,705
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (2,663,272) (2,933,272) (6,043) 2,927,229
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 -
Net change in fund balances 336,728 66,728 2,993,957 2,927,229
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of yez (60,614) (60,614) (60,614) -
Lapsed encumbrances 247,315 247,315 247,315 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 523,429 $ 253,429 ¢$ 3,180,658 $ 2,927,229
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-41
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
E-911
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Charges for services $ 1,600,000 $ 1,600,000 $ 1,519,067 $ (80,933)
Total revenues 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,519,067 (80,933)
Expenditures
Current
Public safety
Support services
Personal services 1,566,227 1,566,227 1,566,227 -
Contractual services - 53,002 53,002 -
Total support services 1,566,227 1,619,229 1,619,229 -
Total public safety 1,566,227 1,619,229 1,619,229 -
Total expenditures 1,566,227 1,619,229 1,619,229 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 33,773 (19,229) (100,162) (80,933)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 33,773 (19,229) (100,162) (80,933)
Fund balance at beginning of year 357,633 357,633 357,633 -
Lapsed encumbrances 126,963 126,963 126,963 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 518,369 $ 465,367 $ 384,434 $ (80,933)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-42
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Casino
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Shared revenue $ 2,000,000 $ 5,080,000 $ 5,071,921 $ (8,079)
Total revenues 2,000,000 5,080,000 5,071,921 (8,079)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Contract Services - 4,049,082 4,049,082 -
Total development director - 4,049,082 4,049,082 -
Total development - 4,049,082 4,049,082 -
Total expenditures - 4,049,082 4,049,082 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 2,000,000 1,030,918 1,022,839 (8,079)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - - (1,022,839) (1,022,839)
Net change in fund balances 2,000,000 1,030,918 - (1,030,918)
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,000,000 $ 1,030,918 $ - $ (1,030,918)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-43
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Westside Community
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - % -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 650,804 650,804 650,804 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 650,804 $ 650,804 $ 650,804 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-44
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Fiber Optics
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Charges for services $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 124,168 $ 104,168
Total revenues 20,000 20,000 124,168 104,168
Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues

over expenditures 20,000 20,000 124,168 104,168
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 20,000 20,000 124,168 104,168
Fund balance at beginning of year 232,714 232,714 232,714 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 252,714 $ 252,714 $ 356,882 $ 104,168
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Recreation and Parks Grants
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-45

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Grants and subsidies $ 3,187,886 $ 4,797,886 $ 1,383,157 $ (3,414,729)
Miscellaneous 1,125,000 1,125,000 1,125,307 307
Total revenues 4,312,886 5,922,886 2,508,464 (3,414,422)
Expenditures
Current
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services - 150,618 35,648 114,970
Materials and supplies - 83,648 19,498 64,150
Contractual services - 3,107,262 951,512 2,155,750
Capital outlay - 1,479,191 1,182,426 296,765
Total recreation and parks - 4,820,719 2,189,084 2,631,635
Total recreation and parks - 4,820,719 2,189,084 2,631,635
Total expenditures - 4,820,719 2,189,084 2,631,635
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 4,312,886 1,102,167 319,380 (782,787)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfer in 3,687,114 3,687,114 3,687,114 -
Operating transfer out - (1,845,000) (1,845,000) -
Total other financing sources (uses) 3,687,114 1,842,114 1,842,114 -
Net change in fund balances 8,000,000 2,944,281 2,161,494 (782,787)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (2,938,015) (2,938,015) (2,938,015) -
Lapsed encumbrances 1,197 1,197 1,197 -
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 5,063,182 $ 7,463 $ (775,324) $ (782,787)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-46
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Recreation and Parks Operations
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Charges for services $ 5,324,708 $ 10,524,708 ¢$ 12,071,085 $ 1,546,377
Miscellaneous 435,000 435,000 435,425 425
Total revenues 5,759,708 10,959,708 12,506,510 1,546,802
Expenditures
Current
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services 37,473,284 37,524,284 36,774,406 749,878
Materials and supplies 2,624,166 2,727,166 2,724,957 2,209
Contractual services 13,017,953 18,275,139 18,129,373 145,766
Other 158,750 173,950 165,495 8,455
Capital outlay - 285,850 285,850 -
Total recreation and parks 53,274,153 58,986,389 58,080,081 906,308
Total recreation and parks 53,274,153 58,986,389 58,080,081 906,308
Total expenditures 53,274,153 58,986,389 58,080,081 906,308
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (47,514,445)  (48,026,681) (45,573,571) 2,453,110
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in 44,240,292 44,240,292 44,240,292 -
Operating transfers out (182,489) (209,603) (209,603) -
Total other financing sources (uses) 44,057,803 44,030,689 44,030,689 -
Net change in fund balances (3,456,642) (3,995,992) (1,542,882) 2,453,110
Fund balance at beginning of year 4,002,593 4,002,593 4,002,593 -
Lapsed encumbrances 1,685,568 1,685,568 1,685,568 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,231,519 $ 1,692,169 $ 4,145,279 $ 2,453,110
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Revenues
Investment earnings $
Grants and subsidies
Charges for services
Miscellaneous
Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Personal services
Materials and supplies
Contractual services
Other
Capital outlay
Total recreation and parks
Total recreation and parks
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-47
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Recreation & Parks Grants (COAAA)
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021
Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
129,000 $ 129,000 $ 129,897 $ 897
87,246,511 190,706,511 104,968,017 (85,738,494)
13,165,000 13,165,000 13,165,966 966
4,277,000 4,277,000 4,277,424 424
104,817,511 208,277,511 122,541,304 (85,736,207)
- 59,903,559 31,179,739 28,723,820
- 2,202,134 230,286 1,971,848
14,649,334 128,113,269 128,113,269 -
- 411,050 221,118 189,932
- 114,937 - 114,937
14,649,334 190,744,949 159,744,412 31,000,537
14,649,334 190,744,949 159,744,412 31,000,537
14,649,334 190,744,949 159,744,412 31,000,537
90,168,177 17,532,562 (37,203,108) (54,735,670)
182,489 182,489 182,489 -
90,350,666 17,715,051 (37,020,619) (54,735,670)
(32,356,452) (32,356,452) (32,356,452) -
29,136,652 29,136,652 29,136,652 -
87,130,866 $ 14,495,251 $ (40,240,419) $ (54,735,670)

Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-48
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Reynolds Crossing Special Assessment
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 2,200,000 $ 2,200,000 $ 154,219 $ (2,045,781)
Total revenues 2,200,000 2,200,000 154,219 (2,045,781)
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 2,200,000 2,200,000 154,219 (2,045,781)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 2,200,000 2,200,000 154,219 (2,045,781)

Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (2,179,467) (2,179,467) (2,179,467)
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 20,533 $ 20,533 $ (2,025,248) $ (2,045,781)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
DPU Small Business Education and Training
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 219,372 219,372 219,372 -
Lapsed encumbrances 8,318 8,318 8,318 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 227,690 $ 227,690 $ 227,690 -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-50
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Mined Assets
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,501,000 1,501,000 1,501,000 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,501,000 $ 1,501,000 $ 1,501,000 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-51
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Lobbyist Registration
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues

Charges for services $ 3,150 $ 3,150 $ 4,050 $ 900
Total revenues 3,150 3,150 4,050 900
Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues
over expenditures 3,150 3,150 4,050 900
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 3,150 3,150 4,050 900
Fund balance at beginning of year 18,315 18,315 18,315 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 21,465 $ 21,465 $ 22,365 $ 900
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Private Grants
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Grants and subsidies $ 120,000 $ 410,000 $ 492,543 $ 82,543
Charges for services - - 720 720
Total revenues 120,000 410,000 493,263 83,263
Expenditures
Current
General government
City council
Contractual services - 10,000 - 10,000
Total City council - 10,000 - 10,000
City attorney
Materials and supplies - 881 - 881
Total city attorney - 881 - 881
Municipal court judges
Contractual services - 62,526 50,805 11,721
Total municipal court judges - 62,526 50,805 11,721
Mayor's office
Personal services - 131,691 62,624 69,067
Materials and supplies - 15,145 12,634 2,511
Contractual services - 190,130 151,739 38,391
Total Mayor's office - 336,966 226,997 109,969
Human Resources
Materials and supplies - 35,500 35,329 171
Contractual services - 59,500 58,665 835
Total human resources - 95,000 93,994 1,006
Technology
Contractual services - 51,500 - 51,500
Total technology - 51,500 - 51,500
Neighborhoods
Materials and supplies - 10,000 4,786 5,214
Contractual services - 17,500 - 17,500
Total neighborhoods - 27,500 4,786 22,714
Total general government - 584,373 376,582 207,791
Public safety
Fire
Materials & supplies - 25,169 - 25,169
Contractual services - 21,314 - 21,314
Total fire - 46,483 - 46,483
Total public safety - 46,483 - 46,483
Public service
Refuse
Materials and supplies - 2,869 - 2,869
Total refuse - 2,869 - 2,869
Total public service - 2,869 - 2,869
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Private Grants
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Exhibit B-52 (continued)

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Health
Health
Personal services $ - $ 440,499 $ 256,526 $ 183,973
Materials and supplies - 44,328 23,419 20,909
Contractual services - 193,601 81,789 111,812
Total health - 678,428 361,734 316,694
Total health - 678,428 361,734 316,694
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Materials and supplies - 68 - 68
Total recreation and parks - 68 - 68
Total recreation and parks - 68 - 68
Total expenditures - 1,312,221 738,316 573,905
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 120,000 (902,221) (245,053) 657,168
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 226,143 226,143
Operating transfers out - (82,934) (82,934) -
Total other financing sources (uses) - (82,934) 143,209 226,143
Net change in fund balances 120,000 (985,155) (101,844) 883,311
Fund balance at beginning of year 987,295 987,295 987,295 -
Lapsed encumbrances 202,964 202,964 202,964 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,310,259 ¢ 205,104 ¢ 1,088,415 $ 883,311
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-53
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Urban Site Acquisition Loan
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - % -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 58,983 58,983 58,983 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 58,983 $ 58,983 $ 58,983 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-54
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Photo Red Light
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 4,142 4,142 4,142 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 4,142 $ 4,142 $ 4,142 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-55
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Property Management
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final -Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ 600,000 $ 720,000 $ 1,235,790 $ 515,790
Total revenues 600,000 720,000 1,235,790 515,790
Expenditures
Current
General government
Facilities management
Contractual services - 1,659,386 1,659,386 -
Total facilities management - 1,659,386 1,659,386 -
Asset management
Contractual services - 5,000 2,000 3,000
Total asset management - 5,000 2,000 3,000
Total general government - 1,664,386 1,661,386 3,000
Recreation and parks
Recreation and parks
Materials and supplies - 75,000 20,943 54,057
Contractual services - 385,000 214,293 170,707
Total recreation and parks - 460,000 235,236 224,764
Total recreation and parks - 460,000 235,236 224,764
Total expenditures - 2,124,386 1,896,622 227,764
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 600,000 (1,404,386) (660,832) 743,554
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in - - 771,000 771,000
Net change in fund balances 600,000 (1,404,386) 110,168 1,514,554
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,414,298 1,414,298 1,414,298 -
Lapsed encumbrances 87,579 87,579 87,579 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,101,877 $ 97491 ¢ 1,612,045 $ 1,514,554
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Collection Fees
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-56

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Income taxes $ - $ - $ 80 $ 80
Fines & forfeitures 5,117,000 5,587,000 360,521 (5,226,479)
Charges for services 350,000 350,000 352,423 2,423
Miscellaneous 33,000 33,000 33,699 699
Total revenues 5,500,000 5,970,000 746,723 (5,223,277)
Expenditures
Current
General government
Municipal court clerk
Contractual services - 508,000 508,000 -
Total municipal court clerk - 508,000 508,000 -
Total general government - 508,000 508,000 -
Total expenditures - 508,000 508,000 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 5,500,000 5,462,000 238,723 (5,223,277)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 5,500,000 5,462,000 238,723 (5,223,277)
Fund balance (deficit) at beginning of year (5,452,941) (5,452,941) (5,452,941) -
Lapsed encumbrances 629,083 629,083 629,083 -
Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $ 676,142 $ 638,142 ¢$ (4,585,135) $ (5,223,277)
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Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Revenues
Expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance at end of year

City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

City Attorney Mediation
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-57

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ -3 - $ - $ -
37,047 37,047 37,047 -
9,162 9,162 9,162 -
$ 46,209 $ 46,209 $ 46,209 $ -
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-58
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Environmental
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ 10,000 $ 20,000 $ 206,752 $ 186,752
Total revenues 10,000 20,000 206,752 186,752
Expenditures
Current
General government
City Attorney
Materials and supplies - 15,000 15,000 -
Contractual services - 95,700 95,700 -
Other - 500 500 -
Total City Attorney - 111,200 111,200 -
Total general government - 111,200 111,200 -
Total expenditures - 111,200 111,200 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 10,000 (91,200) 95,552 186,752
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 10,000 (91,200) 95,552 186,752
Fund balance at beginning of year 100,102 100,102 100,102 -
Lapsed encumbrances 32,841 32,841 32,841 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 142,943 $ 41,743 $ 228,495 $ 186,752

265



City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-59
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Citywide Training Entrepreneurial
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Charges for services $ 3,080 $ 3,080 $ 55,616 $ 52,536
Total revenues 3,080 3,080 55,616 52,536
Expenditures
Current
General government
Human resources
Materials and supplies - 20,000 500 19,500
Contractual services - 12,000 4,171 7,829
Total human resources - 32,000 4,671 27,329
Total general government - 32,000 4,671 27,329
Total expenditures - 32,000 4,671 27,329
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 3,080 (28,920) 50,945 79,865
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances 3,080 (28,920) 50,945 79,865
Fund balance at beginning of year 143,043 143,043 143,043 -
Lapsed encumbrances 2,327 2,327 2,327 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 148,450 $ 116,450 $ 196,315 $ 79,865
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-60
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Police Continuing Professional Training
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 4,385 $ 4,385
Total revenues - - 4,385 4,385
Expenditures
Current
Public safety
Police
Materials and supplies - 2,000 1,907 93
Contractual services - 216,000 163,255 52,745
Total police - 218,000 165,162 52,838
Total public safety - 218,000 165,162 52,838
Total expenditures - 218,000 165,162 52,838
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures - (218,000) (160,777) 57,223
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - (218,000) (160,777) 57,223
Fund balance at beginning of year 336,757 336,757 336,757 -
Lapsed encumbrances 581 581 581 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 337,338 $ 119,338 $ 176,561 $ 57,223
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-61
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Easton TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 47,137 $ 37,137
Miscellaneous - 6,010,000 8,834,260 2,824,260
Total revenues 10,000 6,020,000 8,881,397 2,861,397
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 10,102,839 10,102,839 -
Total development director - 10,102,839 10,102,839 -
Total development - 10,102,839 10,102,839 -
Debt service
Principal retirement and payment of
obligation under capitalized lease 2,325,000 2,325,000 2,325,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 301,742 301,742 301,742 -
Total debt service 2,626,742 2,626,742 2,626,742 -
Total expenditures 2,626,742 12,729,581 12,729,581 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (2,616,742) (6,709,581) (3,848,184) 2,861,397
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances (2,616,742) (6,709,581) (3,848,184) 2,861,397
Fund balance at beginning of year 6,726,614 6,726,614 6,726,614 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 4,109,872 $ 17,033 ¢ 2,878430 $ 2,861,397
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-62
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Polaris TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 61,252 ¢ 61,252
Miscellaneous 9,000 9,000 4,842,283 4,833,283
Total revenues 9,000 9,000 4,903,535 4,894,535
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 1,229,200 1,229,200 -
Total development director - 1,229,200 1,229,200 -
Total development - 1,229,200 1,229,200 -
Debt service
Principal retirement and payment of
obligation under capitalized lease 1,650,000 1,650,000 1,650,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 406,019 406,019 406,019 -
Total debt service 2,056,019 2,056,019 2,056,019 -
Total expenditures 2,056,019 3,285,219 3,285,219 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (2,047,019) (3,276,219) 1,618,316 4,894,535

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out

(1,520,169) (1,520,169) -

Net change in fund balances (2,047,019) (4,796,388) 98,147 4,894,535
Fund balance at beginning of year 5,665,300 5,665,300 5,665,300 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3,618,281 $ 868,912 $ 5,763,447 $ 4,894,535
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Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Tuttle Crossing TIF

Revenues
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance at end of year

City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

$ $ 620,000 $ 617,049 $ (2,951)
620,000 617,049 (2,951)
620,000 617,049 (2,951)

(617,049) (617,049) -
2,951 - (2,951)
$ $ 2,951 $ -3 (2,951)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Nationwide Pen Site TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

Exhibit B-64

Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 735 $ 735
Miscellaneous - 700,000 692,692 (7,308)
Total revenues - 700,000 693,427 (6,573)
Expenditures
Current
General government
City Auditor
Other - 693,203 693,203 -
Total City Auditor - 693,203 693,203 -
Total general government - 693,203 693,203 -
Total expenditures - 693,203 693,203 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 6,797 224 (6,573)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - 6,797 224 (6,573)
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,098 1,098 1,098 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,098 $ 7,895 $ 1,322 $ (6,573)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-65
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Nationwide Off Sites TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 2,356 $ 2,356
Miscellaneous - 2,170,000 2,162,203 (7,797)
Total revenues - 2,170,000 2,164,559 (5,441)
Expenditures - - - -
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 461,803 461,803 -
Total development director - 461,803 461,803 -
Total development - 461,803 461,803 -
Total expenditures - 461,803 461,803 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 1,708,197 1,702,756 (5,441)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (1,702,208) (1,702,208) -
Net change in fund balances - 5,989 548 (5,441)
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,402 3,402 3,402 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3,402 $ 9391 $ 3,950 $ (5,441)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-66
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Gateway - OSU TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ 270,000 $ 266,878 $ (3,122)
Total revenues - 270,000 266,878 (3,122)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 266,720 266,720 -
Total development director - 266,720 266,720 -
Total development - 266,720 266,720 -
Total expenditures - 266,720 266,720 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 3,280 158 (3,122)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - 3,280 158 (3,122)
Fund balance at beginning of year 334 334 334 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 334 $ 3,614 $ 492 $ (3,122)

273



City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-67
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Brewery District TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 18,087 $ 18,087
Miscellaneous 6,000 6,000 647,033 641,033
Total revenues 6,000 6,000 665,120 659,120
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 6,000 6,000 665,120 659,120
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (3,270,008) (3,270,008) -
Net change in fund balances 6,000 (3,264,008) (2,604,888) 659,120
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,846,002 3,846,002 3,846,002 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3,852,002 $ 581,994 ¢$ 1,241,114 $ 659,120
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-68
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Waggoner Road TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings $ - $ - $ 10,004 $ 10,004
Miscellaneous 2,000 2,000 539,162 537,162
Total revenues 2,000 2,000 549,166 547,166
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 2,000 2,000 549,166 547,166
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (436,063) (436,063) -
Net change in fund balances 2,000 (434,063) 113,103 547,166
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,210,197 1,210,197 1,210,197 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,212,197 $ 776,134 $ 1,323,300 $ 547,166
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-69
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Recreation Debt Service
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Charges for service $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 383,679 $ (16,321)
Total revenues 400,000 400,000 383,679 (16,321)
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures 400,000 400,000 383,679 (16,321)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (385,241) (385,241) -
Net change in fund balances 400,000 14,759 (1,562) (16,321)
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,562 1,562 1,562 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 401,562 $ 16,321 $ - % (16,321)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-70
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Rocky Fork TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 1,451,097 $ 1,451,097
Total revenues - - 1,451,097 1,451,097
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 1,451,097 1,451,097
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (350,000) (350,000) -
Net change in fund balances - (350,000) 1,101,097 1,451,097
Fund balance at beginning of year 5,061,675 5,061,675 5,061,675 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 5,061,675 $ 4,711,675 $ 6,162,772 $ 1,451,097
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-71
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Lucent TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues

Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 882,196 $ 882,196
Total revenues - - 882,196 882,196
Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 882,196 882,196
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - 882,196 882,196
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,587,279 1,587,279 1,587,279 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1587279 ¢ 1,587,279 $ 2,469,475 $ 882,196
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Revenues
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance at end of year

City of Columbus, Ohio

East Broad Dominion TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-72

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ -3 - 596,611 596,611
- - 596,611 596,611
- - 596,611 596,611
- - 596,611 596,611
3,702,079 3,702,079 3,702,079 -
$ 3,702,079 $ 3,702,079 $ 4,298,690 596,611
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-73
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Waggoner M/I TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues

Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 395,514 $ 395,514
Total revenues - - 395,514 395,514
Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 395,514 395,514
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - 395,514 395,514
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,590,215 3,590,215 3,590,215 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3,590,215 $ 3,590,215 $ 3,985,729 $ 395,514

280



City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and

Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Revenues
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year
Lapsed encumbrances
Fund balance at end of year

Lucent Commercial TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Exhibit B-74

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ -3 -3 239,887 $ 239,887
- - 239,887 239,887

- - 239,887 239,887

- - 239,887 239,887

418,500 418,500 418,500 -

$ 418,500 $ 418,500 $ 658,387 $ 239,887
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-75
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Brewery District II TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues

Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 279,168 $ 279,168
Total revenues - - 279,168 279,168
Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 279,168 279,168
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - - 279,168 279,168
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,717,203 1,717,203 1,717,203 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,717,203 $ 1,717,203 $ 1,996,371 $ 279,168
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-76
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Grange Urban Redevelopment TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ 210,000 $ 207,995 $ (2,005)
Total revenues - 210,000 207,995 (2,005)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 207,887 207,887 -
Total development director - 207,887 207,887 -
Total development - 207,887 207,887 -
Total expenditures - 207,887 207,887 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 2,113 108 (2,005)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - 2,113 108 (2,005)
Fund balance at beginning of year 275 275 275 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 275 $ 2,388 $ 383 $ (2,005)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-77
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Gowdy Field TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 301,599 $ 301,599
Total revenues - - 301,599 301,599
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - 301,599 301,599
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (821,014) (821,014) -
Net change in fund balances - (821,014) (519,415) 301,599
Fund balance at beginning of year 821,244 821,244 821,244 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 821,244 ¢ 230 $ 301,829 $ 301,599

284



City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-78
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Short North TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ 2380000 $ 2,377,443 $ (2,557)
Total revenues - 2,380,000 2,377,443 (2,557)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 2,375,807 2,375,807 -
Total development director - 2,375,807 2,375,807 -
Total development - 2,375,807 2,375,807 -
Total expenditures - 2,375,807 2,375,807 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 4,193 1,636 (2,557)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - 4,193 1,636 (2,557)
Fund balance at beginning of year 2,392 2,392 2,392 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,392 $ 6,585 $ 4,028 $ (2,557)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-79
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Hayden Run South TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ - $ 2039417 $% 2,039,417
Total revenues - - 2,039,417 2,039,417
Expenditures
Current
Debt service
Principal retirement and payment of
obligation under capitalized lease 370,000 370,000 370,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 90,650 90,650 90,650 -
Total debt service 460,650 460,650 460,650 -
Total expenditures 460,650 460,650 460,650 -
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (460,650) (460,650) 1,578,767 2,039,417
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances (460,650) (460,650) 1,578,767 2,039,417
Fund balance at beginning of year 7,502,807 7,502,807 7,502,807 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 7,042,157 $ 7,042,157 $ 9,081,574 $ 2,039,417
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-80
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Grange II Urban Redevelopment TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ 170,000 $ 162,468 $ (7,532)
Total revenues - 170,000 162,468 (7,532)
Expenditures
Current
Development
Development director
Other - 162,380 162,380 -
Total development director - 162,380 162,380 -
Total development - 162,380 162,380 -
Total expenditures - 162,380 162,380 -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 7,620 88 (7,532)
Other financing sources (uses) - - - -
Net change in fund balances - 7,620 88 (7,532)
Fund balance at beginning of year 212 212 212 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 212 ¢ 7,832 $ 300 $ (7,532)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-81
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Columbus Downtown TIF
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ 2,120,000 $ 2,114,708 $ (5,292)
Total revenues - 2,120,000 2,114,708 (5,292)
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 2,120,000 2,114,708 (5,292)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (4,156,921) (4,156,921) -
Net change in fund balances - (2,036,921) (2,042,213) (5,292)
Fund balance at beginning of year 2,046,045 2,046,045 2,046,045 -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,046,045 $ 9,124 $ 3,832 $ (5,292)
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Exhibit B-82
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
NWD Blvd Streetscape Special Assessment
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-
Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Revenues
Miscellaneous $ - $ 160,000 $ 157,908 $ (2,092)
Total revenues - 160,000 157,908 (2,092)
Expenditures - - - -
Excess of revenues
over expenditures - 160,000 157,908 (2,092)
Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers out - (157,908) (157,908) -
Net change in fund balances - 2,092 - (2,092)
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ - $ 2,092 $ - $ (2,092)

289



City of Columbus, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Exhibit B-83
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capitol South
Budget Basis
Year ended December 31, 2021

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ -

Expenditures - - - -

Excess of revenues
over expenditures - - - -

Other financing sources (uses) - - - -

Net change in fund balances - - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year - - - -
Lapsed encumbrances - - - -
Fund balance at end of year $ - $ - $ - % N
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Internal Service Funds

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by
one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government, generally on
a cost-reimbursement basis. The title of the funds indicates the type of service provided. The
Internal Service Funds are:

e Employee Benefits

e Worker’'s Compensation

¢ Fleet Management

e Information Services

e Mail, Print, Term Contracts
e Construction Inspection

e Land Acquisition
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City of Columbus, Ohio
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Fiduciary Funds - Custodial Funds

Custodial Funds - are used to account for assets held by the City for individuals, private
organizations, or other governments. Assets held for other governments mainly include utility
charges collected by the City on behalf of other governments. Assets held for individuals include
property held in the Police Property Room. Custodial Funds also account for hotel/motel taxes
collected within Franklin County, Ohio that are not incorporated by the City as well as special
assessments collected for Special Improvement Districts. They are:

e Short North SID

e Capital Crossroads SID

e Morse Road SID

e Discovery District SID

e University District SID

e Energy SID

e East Main Street SID

¢ Franklinton SID

e 51 Ave and 4™ St. SID

¢ 800 N. High St. Parking Garage
e Police Property Room Deposit
e Suburb Utility Surcharges

e Utilities

e Madison Township JEDD

¢ JEDD - Prairie Township

e JEDD — N. Pickaway County

e Suburb Income Tax

e Convention Facility Tax
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Statistical Section

This part of the City’s annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and
required supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial health. These tables
are presented in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section.

Contents Tables

Financial Trends 1-7
These schedules contain trend information to help
understand how the City’s financial performance and well-
being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity 8-14
These schedules contain information to help assess the City’s
most significant local revenue sources.

Debt Capacity 15-19 and 39
These schedules present information to help the reader
assess the affordability of the City’s current levels of
outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional
debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information 20 - 34
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators
to help the reader understand the environment within which
the City’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information 35-38
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to
help the reader understand how the information in the City’s
financial report relates to the services the City provides and
the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual
comprehensive financial reports for the relevant year.

305



City of Columbus, Ohio

This page is left blank intentionally.

306



sobueyd ubisap ue|d g3d0 WSAS JuswaIDY Se2A0|dwT d1ignd OIyQ wodj sbuiaes 03 anp S| ‘Tz0z Ul uoiisod Jou pajolIsaiun Ul 9seasdul ay] 4 910N
sobueyd ubisap uejd g3d0O pund uoIsuad 414 pue 321104 OIyQ woly sbuiaes 03 anp s ‘6TQZ Ul uoiisod Jou padlIsaIun Ul 9seasdul ay] € 910N

"(83d0) ., SuoIsUad UYL JoYI0 SpyaUsg
JUBLWAOJdWSISO4 104 BuiLIodsy jeueul{ pue Buunody 'S/ JUsW)LIS gSyo Jo uonejuswsa|dwi 3yl 01 anp s 810z Ul UoISod Jou paldLisalun Ul 9sealdsp ayl :Z 910N

* SUOISUS 104 BUILIOARY [einueu pue Buiunoddly ‘g9 JUswlels gsyo Jo uonejuswaldwl ayy 03 anp st $T0Z Ul uoiisod 3auU paldLisalun Ul 3seadap syl :T 310N

(bP'98E’E  ¥8.'TC8'T  £06'0SS'T  ¥68°0SL'T  SbC'1S9'T  804'SSS‘C  TOTY8E'T  90€'Ter’c  16S0b6'C  T00°99L'C ¢ uonisod 39U JuswulaA0b Asewrd [e30L
(cov'ote)  (SS0°169)  (9ze'zos)  (668°9z€'T) (8997z67)  (€8c’c1)  (£09'061)  (€0S'¥0C) 296899 Sob'0b9 pa1LAsalun
1/9'481 080¥8T GS8°0/T 9889ST £8G'8/1 658291 L£4'0ST 798'teT 11026 [44:5 31! paLISaY
€81'81S8°E  6SL'6TE'S  WLE'TYT'S  £L06'0T6'C  9TE'0/L'T  TET'909'T  /90'vev'T  Lb6'TteT'T  £19'6/1'CT  v/L'T10C Ss39sse |eyided Ul JUsWISaAUl 19N
uswuIdA0b Alewid
LIYTIST'C  8VS/S6'T  €9/'9€8'T  0L0°€SL'T  9v6'469'T  6/87£09'T  LET'/6V'T  [bS'OSH'T  L6CHOP'T  990°CTET uonisod 39u saniAnoe adAr-ssauisng [e101
729°ces 8090t 6T£'85E 976'18¢€ 9ST'c0V £0£'98¢ S/b9bE £50"0S€E /ET796E 99'68¢ paLasalun
9sC'T vST'T Tee'T 88b'T 99p'1 hP'T THe'T 't $95'C ¥b9'T paLISaY
665°9¢9'T  989'SZS'T  TIT'ZLP'T  9S9'69€’'T  bre'e6r’t  EET'TCC’'T  TeE'6bT'T  1/0'640'T  96S'900°'T  9/2'€t6 S39sse |e3ided Ul JUsWISaAUl 19N

sanARoe adAy-ssauisng

0/6'%€T'T  9£77998 0vT'vTL (9/12) 66C'€S6 678"/16 ¥90°/88 662064 P629€S'T  GEE'ESHT uonisod 39U sanIAROe [ejUBWUIBA0E (B30
(6z0'0v8)  (€99'1e1'T) (S¥9'0ct’T) (S28'80s'T)  (bz8’00s)  (989'86S)  (8/07/£S)  (£SSHSS)  0£8€/T 6S.'pST pajouIsaIun
STH'E8T 978’781 £25'69T 86£'SST TCT'LLT 9TH'19T 96£’6%T OV TET [PH'68 8LT'TTT pa1oLISaY
$8S'168'T  €£0'v08'T  T9Z'S99'T  TST'ISS'T  C00'ZL¥'T  660°S8E'T  9b/'v/T'T  9/8'€TT'T  /10°€/T'T  866'/80°T $ S39sse |eyided Ul JusWiSaAUl 19N

S9l}IAIDE [RJUSWUIDA0D

Te0c 144 6T0C 8T0¢ £10C 910¢ ST0C p10C €10¢ (4174

(spuesnouyy uj passaldxa syjunowe)
(Bununodoe Jo siseq |enJooe)
SIe9A [e3Sl Ua] Ise] ‘quauodwo) Aq uonisod 19N
T3lqeL oyo ‘snquinjo) jo A

307



86TPST'T 126'61C'T 0256901 897586 80t'6/6 916'9¥6 $S€'206 156’988 906868 97£'968 $
T1£'5€9 99p'€79 bv6'£6S /50965 96/'G8S pE'/99 [ 08T'1€S 112'2€S 209'8%S
10T - - - - - 00T v/8'T 00Z’s 96£CT
G18 995'T S00C 60T 8€S'T G/8'T 8¢S'1 69S'T W't 8951
6v1'v8 €91°c8 86b'v8 808°/8 L7818 7856/ 908'/L 98178 G88'S8 68268
$9S'vb vLy'vY 896'TH 14324 916'0% 695'0t ¥T1'6€ £25'8¢ £beiog 129'9¢
0£806¢ £S0€8C 18£'69¢ G£9'89C 986'29¢ €0g'6tC £26'the 790°0€C 681'0£C T6£'2€T
€18'pT1C 902'11¢ 760002 LOT'S6T 675861 GT10°961 $80°€81 796'9/1 €G6'LLT LE€'9/T
988'8TS GSH 965 9/S'TLY T1/'68€ 219'€6€ TLS'6/€ 682'79¢ TLLPSE G69'19€ YTl LvE
0/9'v6 0/0"%0T €/8'801 ovL'TL 19¢1S 19659 192°8S 79918 0ZEp9 952’95
£ob'EPe G69'0€€ 60£'¥9T 676'SET ¥6S'/91 G8T'THT 006'8€T 896'vHT ObE b1 [8T'THT
$91'8C 0gz'0e P61'cT £95'0¢ 808'8T 98¢'8T 782'91 9¢8'TT GeL's 68£'0T
655’8 068’6 950°0T ' 716’8 6v1'8 859'/ 122, 6v1'L 949’9
S69'8C G86'61 £78'st 0£9'0¢ 855'7¢ 080°/T 9/9'/1 97H'81 £59'TC 1091
650°0€ £bS'/T 99T'TH 988'p¢ 8/S'1€ 789't¢ S6£°0€ yre'ee T€9'/¢ 88z’0g
8bE'0€ 81C'0¢ 62L'6€ 78S'vE 0S6'€ 629'9¢ 1€9'v€ 4233 T1€'0€ 601°0€
766" v8'ss 9709 ST0'19 158'6S 00b'6S 986’85 786'LS GGS'/S 8ve'ss ¢
£b£°9€8T Sb1'961°C L7681 0T£'€50'C 846'956'T ¥S6'S/L'T  684'S0L'T  SET'ZE9'T  6¥S'8E9'T  T9S'CSS'T §
e’ 1Sy €1/'8€S 58915 062905 8608 989'69t 818161 T/8'T9% 9/0'T9% 128091
98/ S0z 9. €6/ 9g/ 60/ W[ 8S/ 8L $SL
959'6/ 9¢8'06 0T1£'98 G/+'98 6058 UY'6L 048’22 SbS'8s /87'18 G75'98
vST'1E 106°9¢ /50'8€ (Y4423 (8T'PE 182'C€ 0z6'ce 8ve'ce 868°0¢ 06°0€
[8V'b61 696'92C 216'/€C €/58°9T¢ 915'91¢ £08'10¢ S62'11C 002'€02 855'€0T 969'G6T
TH0'SPT 20£'€8T €18°¢81 026'29T 9/8'¢/1 126'PST £££'891 12S'LbT GSS'bbT 906’911
611'98€T €v'£89T 8T Tv6 020'¥ST YOT'Zbp'T 897'90€'T  TH6'STC'T  €9TWLT'T  €LV'Z/LTT  0vL'160'T
029ty 7€9'sh €08'0% /SS9 96t 'pE $79'9¢ sh'sy 6/S'ch S68°ch 808ty
S0£'091 Ce8'161 150'681 86£'T/T 159291 199°€HT €g/'ser 062'0€T 068'SET ovs‘ser
/86" ¥8T'ss 86£'89 109’65 G/1'8S 9£7'sS 08/'1S SbS'6h 889'v1 S8/L'Th
6ST1'8TT 0Ty'shT 785121 prr 91T 910901 L11'G6 €99'/8 6v£'C8 064101 60766
6t+'089 959'0SZ £20'28 ST/L'vSL 182089 $10'819 905'2/S Tee’ess £68'chS 861'GCS
9/0'p8T 100°42C 0££'8TC 6580 20£'v0¢ 60v'82T 19¢'s/T 0V 14T €ogeLT €ET'/ST
€TI'HST £19'STC 161C1C 97/'86T £89'G6T L02'6L1 96£'GST T22'vb1 P6C'SET L9TTOT ¢
120C 0z0¢ 6102 810¢ L7102 910¢ S10¢ $10¢ €10¢ 7102

¢olqel

(spuesnoyj ul passaldxa syunowe)
(Bunpunoodoe Jo siseq |enJooe)

o1yo ‘snquinjod jo A

SIE9A [BDSI4 U] 1SeT ‘UonIsod 19N Ui sabuey)

anuaAal weiboid Juswuianob Atewnd [e101
anuaAal weuboud saniAipe adAj-ssauisng B30
suonRngluod pue syuelb |eyded/bunerado
sobeueo
Ap1osi3
JOMIS WIS
J9MaS Alejiues
1918\
:SIAIRS 10) sabley)
:sonlARoe adAy-ssauisng

anuanal welboud sanialoe euswuIaA0b |R10 ]
suoningliuod pue sjuelb |eyde)
suonnqLiuod pue sjuelb bupessdo
syied pue uoneatnay
yijesH
uswdopasqg
Ayages d11gnd
90IAISS 21[qnd
JuBWUIRA0D |elauaD)
1S92IAIS 10} sabuey)
:SOIIA}OE |EJUSWUIDA0D
3NUAAIY wieabold

sasuadxa juswulanob Atewnd 10|
sosuadxa sajIAIDe 9dA}-ssauisng B30
sobe.len
Ayous|3
JOMIS WIS
JOM3S Alejlues
121 M
:sonlARde adAy-ssauisng

sasuadxa SalIAIde |ejusWUIRA0b B0
1g9p wua3-buo) uo 3sa493uL
syded pue uoneatday
yiesH
juawdopaag
Ayajes oliqnd
9JIAJSS 21|gnd
JUSWUIBA0D |elauan
:SSIAIDR |BJUSWIUIDA0D)

sasuadxy

308



£99'€95 188'1/¢C 82086/ 619'C€ ££57S6 £0S'T/T 8+9'p9T €/9°041 06S'p/T Gee'ser  $ Juswuianob Asewnd |e10]

626'€6T A4S £69°c8 Sb8TIT £9006 wL'0TT 06599 8/9'c8 1€2°26 $£8720T saniAlde adAy-ssauisng

$€£4'69¢ 960°TST SEEPTL (9zz'08) 0¥'s S9/'09 850’86 56698 65£C8 T0b's6 $ S3NIAIOR [EIUSWIUISA0D

uolIjisod 19N ui sabuey)

808'SHC'T S0T'8vCT 0847211 T9T°00T'T LL0€L0"T SS'000'T  €80°€96 /58716 €ETHT6 0/b'bS8 sabueyp saypo

pue sanuaAal |esauab juswulianob Atewnd [e101

+86 7€0°9€ €09°CE 8/0'€T QIT'HT v80°€T €/8°cT 0/£'ST 96091 €50°ST sabueyp Jayo pue

sonuaAal |elsauab sanianoe adAy-ssauisng |R30L
£48'S 9¢5'e 60L'C 86£C LST'T 169'C 9y €781 wi't POv'T slaysuel]
1999 AV LT’y S60't 980'S 150"t 655y T4l 664’8 GET'Y snoaue||32sii
- - - - - - €S/ €56 [ST'E $91°9 JuBWasINquIR 1Sa48)Ul gvg - SaIpIsans
- ¥0S'TT 90¥'C 682'C 8v6'T - - - - - SpuapIAI] pue sa1eqay MG 01O
(£99'0) 8/T'8T ThL'Te 96C'pT $28'y wE'9 656'E 15€'e 86C'C 0s€’s sbuiules Juswisanu]

:sanIARDe adAy-ssauisng

£96'SEC'T €011 L/T7S8T'T £8072£0"1 7968501 19v'286 071’616 /85906 LE17868 LTH'6E8 sebueyp Jayio pue

SonNuUaAal _m\_wcwm SaljiAloe _ScoEEw>om |elol
(ev8's) (9gs'D) (62£D) (86£'0) (s’ (169'0) (zz9'y) (c28'1) (1D Fov'1) slajsuel]
90£'pS 60€'PS 106'SS b6ty 0S.'¥S 060p€ 8/g'ee £92'0¢ 002'1€ 659 snoaue||32sI
- - - - - - - - 00T'T 't JusWIsSINgqUIIBL 3Sa433ul gyg - salpisqns
€98’/ £v/'9 102y G69°E LTY'S 855 €S’ vLE'E 682'¢c §se'e XE] 3[2IYyaA Jojow [eddiuniy
(c05°€) LS6'(T LT16'EE 985°0¢ 6+9'/ 960/ 1619 60L'y £¥6'C 0TL'E (sso]) sbuiuies JuawisaAu]
906'ST 60T°0T £vL'ce 164'TC vSe‘Te 14338 ¥4 L6b0C £05'8T 116821 GSH9T Saxe} [910W/|910H
€11'2S 91/'8¢ L£T'6P Skt 098°9¢ 88t'ce 0/6'€E 6€£L'SE 690Ch £80°9% SsanuaAai paleys
08+'19 6£9'1S ZET'1S £88°0S 78S'sh €eT'vy S96'TH 11 b 129'vh 18'vh saxe) Auadold
- 0cT'L8 699971 GE9'ST VA4 4! - - - - - SpUSpPIAI] PUB S31eqaY JME 01O
Sb9'€S0°T 9108€6 901'€S6 €08°088 0T€'9/8 GSE'or8 8/£'c18 L0V'TLL ST WAYA S¥8'/69 ¢ S3Xe) aWodu]

!SOINAIOR |PJUSWULIDAOD)

uoI}isod 19N Ul sabuey) 13Yyj0 pue SaNUIAIY |esdudn

(S¥17289) (bez'ase) (zsL’61v) (cvs'290'1)  (0bS'ZL6) (8c0’678)  (sevb’s6s)  (¥81162)  (€v96€s)  (S£27959) $ asuadxe 19u Juswuenob Atewnd [e10L

880181 €6/'v8 060'TS /9/'68 756'SL 859'/6 JAVAZS 80£'89 GET'9/ 182'/8 saniAoe adAy-ssauisng

(££2'998) (££6'090°T)  (2¥8'0LP) (60g’281'T)  (26V'€S0'T)  (969°9z6)  (TST'1s8)  (26b'618)  (82'S18)  (9T10'bbs) $ S3IIAIDR |RJUSWIUIBACD

¢olqel

anuaAldy /(asuadx3) 19N

309



680'850°T  THS'CS6 €6v'S70'T L9766  bS6'668  0L£'T06  TOT'H08 G99'8G/  €S8'67Z 169'859 $ Spun4 [RJUSWIUISAOD ‘sedueleg pund |10

709'S/Y ov6'cTh 96’165 16€'269  T78'8kS  9ST'0/S 97’68y 979  6SE'0TF  STE'8LE Sspuny |ejuswulaA0b Jayio [ejoL
(¥z8'o1)  (0t9'6) (6809) (666'c)  (S98'y)  (g£50) - (s61) (z90) (95€) paubisseun
120°0L 69€'19 775'0S €209y  [0T'6b  bEL'9Y 8Lb'sh 616'6E 665'0¢ T2T'0€ paniwwo)
SSe'Tey T1T'TLE 1€6°/bS  £TE'06S  08S'vP0S  S/9'€eS  8b6'Shh  TIS'90L  CC0'b8E 095'SHE Pa10LISRY

Spun4 [BIUSWIUIDA0D J2UI0

996'v9C  8¥9'/1C €I1'6EC  [/£'/1T STb'00C 6/S'T6T 8C6'08T €20°S/T  /18'69T  08/'6ST punj xey awodul [e1dads [ejoL
996'v9¢  8v9°/1C €IT'6EC  [/£'/1T STb'00C 6/S'T6T 8C6'08T €20°'S/T  Z18'69T  08/'6ST papiwwo)

pun4 xe| awoou] |enads

- - - - - - - 89 6t SOT puny Juswaliyal puoq |essuab |ej0]
- - - - - - - 89 6b GoT paLISsY

pun4 JUBWSJNY puog |eJousn)

pE]TT €06'T 78T'E - - - - - - - 3[esH JO pJeog [e10L
8v0'C - - - - - - - - - paubissy
81¢'8 - 80T - - - - - - - paRIWWOoD
915y £06°'T 890°C - - - - - - - pa1dLISOY

LesH Jo paeog

/89'%0€ 0S0'60€  +9T'16T 6ESPPT  £0/'0ST  SE9'8ET  8b/'SET  8EE'/ET  8T9'6ET 184071 puny |essuab e3oL
£€79'99C GST'66¢ 867'19T €TL'/TT  18/'TZT  060'WIT  S8/°€6 059’06 8/1'20T 86/'S6 paubisseun
10S'ST $59'9 888'9¢ 95'ST 078’12 £99'8T T¥L'91 80491 44! L1276 paubissy
£€95°7¢ b1’ 8/0'¢ 07’1t 901’9 8/8'S qee'se 086'6¢ 8CE've 99p'ST ¢ papiwwo)

pund |eJauss)

T¢0¢ 0coc 610¢C 8T0¢ L10C 910¢ ST0C 1414 €10¢ (414

SIE9A [BISI4 UD] 1SeT
(spuesnoyy ul passaldxa syunowe)
(Bunnunodoe Jo siseq |enJooe paljipow)
Spun4 [EIUBWILISAOL) ‘seouejeg pund

€ algeL oy ‘snqunjo) jo Aan

310



*129A |edsly pajeja. ay3 oy pazijejded ainjipuadxa Aejino |ejided ay3 ss9| sadnjipuadxa |30} SI saanjpuadxa |e3ideduo) a4njipuadxa awiy Suo e syuasatdal 31 se papnjoxe uaaq sey buipunyau
JUS.14ND U0 JuBWINRM jedpulld *sabieyd [easly pue 1saJaiul pue Jusawainas jedipuld sapnpul saunypuadxa jelideduou Jo abejuadiad e Se 921AISS 3Gap JO UO[e|ND|Rd B3 Ul papN|dul 9JIAISS 1gaQ .

%ThCT %ETHT %LSbT %Th b1 %GS5 bT %6LHT %26'HT %06°ET %LLTT %6S°CT
680'850'T 155256 €6¥'520'T 897'166 56’668 0££'106 20T'%08 5998/ £s8'6es 169859
- - 186'T - - - - - - /9
145'256 €6+'520'T 892’66 ¥56'668 0££'106 201'408 599'85/ €586, 169859 2/1'685
8v5'50T (zs6'ee) 2’6t PIEY6 (91p'1) 897'L6 LEV'SP 218'8¢ 91'1L 75+'69
6TT'HST (ze€™) 0¥0'9ST 629'/8¢ 684'88T 987'%8¢ 65'9€C ¥SS'/61 781'99¢ Sbe’a8T
9/¥'TY - 2L0'%C £96'0€ 220'8C 92/'6S SH8'PT 850'6€ S6b'Eh 76€S

(zre'st) - (zz9'9m) - (8v0'£4) (920's41) - (9s¢'12T) - (681'520)
SLTLT - G/b'ST - §9¢£'59 ST'8ET - STH'P0T S0p'20T S6126T
Sy1'1ee - 0zs'LeT S18°09¢ 062°9/T 166'59¢ 665'LCC veT'sLT 7se'1ee Sb/'S9T

(S8°€0T) (9€6'98) (£85'82) (¥9€'09) (9£5'29) (166'%5) (62v'62) (6+8'£9) (96%'£9) (9z20°22)
61£'96 66578 8L1'vL 112'95 9EH'€9 16+'0S PeS'sL 756'v9 96€£'59 8T,

(T£5'8p1) (5719'89) (96£'921) (s1€'€6T) (506'68T) (810°28T1) (z11'16T) (zvL'89T1) (066'€620) (£68'STT)
¥6£'9/8"T SEEH/8™T S6bLSL™T S€0'29"T /95291 GS/'62S™T STL6Y'T £90'STh'T 78T7/€S™T 885'GTET
689’99 998799 960’89 9/0'29 00£709 +95°6S 089’65 790°€S 1€9°61 0ET'EY
LT€'99T 85/'191 80C'1ST v6E' LT 89/'0v1 S90'2ET 204121 600'€TT £07'80T §25'66
- - - - - - - - S/t -
85+'69¢C #b0'S0€ 226'06¢ vLT'9%C £95'€8¢ 69/'95C £0¥'09 obe'ere 125'sie 9€/'981
€78'8LT TLT'P9T 097'SST L¥6'6VT SPE'TYT L67'STT 0ze'oTT TET'PIT £98'6T1 VATAr4NS
26£'69 €58'/9 we'ss 65S'vS $9€’1S 00€£'zS v€L'1S 0€C'6h 0ze'vh S08'TH
9ZT'0<T $00°9€T 29/'201 026's6 €20'16 cee’'ss £10's8 S9/'6L 15226 ¥86'L6
6/¥'€L9 £62'059 92/'1€9 899'729 787985 015855 $00'¥5S 080°0£S 196'12S 962015
16/'82T 101'S2T 819'ceT Y611 9SH'ETT 92/'s01 £9£'60T LTH'80T 0£6'20T vE8Z0T
cze'eet G87'/61 194'SLT STL'ELT G9G'€9T 202'pST ¥20'6€T €ET'SET 61.'seT 125'021
€e8'Les't 02/'508'T 669'0£9'T 02L'8L1'T 299'THb'T LEL'THE'T 0bT'90€'T GTE'9ST'T 6T'ErT'T G69'66T'T
¥6/'8L 9T¥'291 GE0'66 /1788 (4T G66'8S 128’9 43443 615'SS 76S'1S
8/8'st (44824 8€0'¢k 66v'£E LEV'TE [4 R8s 9€5'TE S912E S08'9¢ 0£7'st
98T'LT GE6'ST £08'T€ G96'€T 6£9'€T I TaZ4 167'ST T6€'LT 219'9¢ 6b/'8C
LLE'8TT T¥9'TTT 48748 vee'sTT 6LE0TT 897901 026'€0T L£T'L6 907’68 £2v'6
98056 9€7'18 12828 81€'CL Sb/'69 1112 850/ 808'69 19€'LL 0€L'LL
116'8€ 918's¢ ¥09'ct 659'6€ L£S'6€ TeL'ob 6/1'SE POT'pE 0L1'pE £00°CE

(g05'€) 156'(T LT6'€E 985'0¢ 6v9'L 960'Z 1619 60y £46'C L0L'S
£06'0bC we'Lee TIT'PLT 99%'THT 6v9'91T [4T AN S0E'8TT 009zt POP'8ET #95'05T
08%'19 6£9'1S CET'1S £88'0S 755'sh €€ v S96'Th T1€'v 129'vp 18'vh
SH9'TE0'T 910'/¥6 90186 £08'888 0T€'9/8 SSE'0v8 8/£'808 LOV'TLL SbS Lyl S8'769

1202 020T 610C 810C LT0T 9102 ST0C $10C €10C [41\r4

¥ alqel

Spun4 [EJUSWUISA0D) ‘saduejeg pund ui sabuey)

SIEIA |eSI4 U] IseT
(spuesnoy ul passaldxa syunowe)
(Buunodoe Jo siseq |entooe palyipow)

o1yo ‘snquinjod jo AuD

;S4n}Ipuddxa |endeduou
Jo abejuadiad e se 3dIAIBS 1q3Q
$ 1edA jJo pua—saduejeq pung
pa3je)sad/paujisse|dai—saduejeq pung
pajejsad
se ‘1eah jo buluuibag—saosuejeq pung
aouejeq puny ui abueyd 319N
(sasn) sas4nos Hupueuly 1Yo €30l
90UeNSS| puog Uo WnjWwaid
jusbe mo.1dsa puoq papunja. 0} JuswAed
panss| spuoq buipunjoy
s9j0U WI)-6U0| pue spuoq wolj Spad0.Id
N0 Ssujsuel]
u| siaysuel]
(s3sn) S30YNOS DNIONVNIL ¥IHLO

S21n}puddxad J9n0
sanuaAaJ Jo (Aduaiyap)ssadx3y
sainjipuadxa |ejol
sabieyd |edsy pue 3saus3ul
asea)| pazieyded Japun uopnebijqo
40 uswAed pue Juswainai jedpuld
Buipunya. JuaLind - Juswa.nal jedpulld
192IAJIBS 3923
Aepyno |eyded
syded pue uoneanay
yllesH
uawdojpaag
A3ayes 211qnd
0IAIBS J1|qNd
JUBWUIRA0D |RJaURD)
uRLIND
STAUNLIANILIX3I

S9NUAAM [R}0L
SNO3UR|IISI

S9XE} JO N3J| Ul SyusWAed

S)I940) pue saulq

SDIAIDS J0) sabiey)d

SaNUaAdJ paJeys

sywJad pue sasuadI

(Ss0]) aWOdU] JUSWISIAUT

saIpIsqns pue sjyues

soxe} Apadoud

$ S9Xe) dWOoduI
SANNIAY

311



*Y3|esH JO p4eog ay3 Ul pa1ddjad ale sadnjipuadxa Sy} pue Jun jusuodwod e paJapisuod sem YjesH ‘6T ul buluuibag ‘sainjyipuadxa 03} pauisse|dal sem junowe a3y ‘sasodund buipodal
dvvD Jo4 *puny bunesado snuaAal [eiads pajejal a3 0} pa.iajsues) Si JUNOWe se ‘N0 SI9Jsuel) Ul papnjoul i dA0ge Junouwe ain)puadxa ayj Jo Ajliolew ay ‘siseq Alelabpng e uQ

/89'+0E 0S0'60E $9C'T61 6ES v £0/'0ST GE9'8ET SV/EET 8EC/ET 8¢96ET 18%°0CT $
050'60€ 92’161 6£S'bbT £0£'0ST G£9'8€T 8b/'eET 8ce'/ET 879'6€T 18b°0¢T 6/L'V1T
(€9€p) 98/'LTT SeL'9p (891°9) o' £88'F (065°€) (062'2) LbT'6T 20L'S
(0T€'2T) €GC'ST 656 060'C€ £8€'CE $ES'0E 018°/¢ €15'1¢C 9¢t'SC 681'/C
(6£88€) (€£576T) (€6+'92) [CZA%0)] (b2b'T) (b21'1) (b9p'T) (95€T) F12'1T) (£0S)
679'8 686'TT 00’6 £85°9T 6GTLT 9/9'vT [44 %%} LTL'9 ££9°0T 6ST1'6
- Pob'E - - - - - - - §60°C
0v6'LT €Eb'6T [4VAVA" ££9'9T 8991 786'91 78191 78191 £00°9T 9T
[¥6'L €€67C0T 99/'Sh (852'8¢€) (11€00) (/¥9'50) (oov'1€) (€08'cD) (6£279) (/8v'10)
PEV'S6 L£L'188 680568 £61'126 1€82/8 1698€8 87€’'s18 S08'18. €0€'eSL 6/L'8TL
$£9°C 916'CT 9T’y 652’/ €692 0612 1/6°L 861", 9£9'y ¥80°L
G/6'ch T0€'ch 06’0t €5 050 £€69'/€ 050°s€ ¥627'pE 20L'ce 2/9'8¢
- - - 6/P'€T [82'TC §90°€T 802'1¢ 8zL'0¢ 9v2'0T 8588T
¥S6'vh 654'9€ 1T€'6€ T1¢vb 7e0’se €/9'TP GEL'8€ €/8'vE £6£'0€ 8618
0tL'299 0S£'209 809929 092'LT9 £91°¢85 L8T'¥SS T/4'8YS b6'€2S 69015 £€6°00S
201’6 G50°0S 1998t GST'0S 95€’es £95°0 €06'CS £58'CS 08€'8P S06'8
6¢0'TST 9/0°LET LTE'SET 965°'LET 908°'/TT 0ze'ver 069°0TT S16'£0T LLY'00T 678'S6
18€296 047'v86 GS8'0v6 GeT'e88 02S'TS8 P0'€T8 876'€8/ 20085/ $20'9bL 26210,
€02'6 808°06 TrL'6T 0TS'6T 9/6'L1 £T6"9 60T'S 755'6 LLL'0T S68'L
16S'€T PEI'TT 906'8T £64'8T 059'8T 688'8T 116'8T £66'8T ¥61'6T L6T'TT
£19'€9 0v2'09 0ST'S9 961°/9 686'+9 G9€’e9 $1£29 LST'T9 65’65 6265
T6H'GE 919'ST 8/0'0€ $927'8C ¥61'8C 086°LC 8b'6C S91'6¢ 79g’LE 985'6€
8058 ovT's 9€TET 790°€T €€0eT 6SL'vT 086'CT 9£9'TT 606'0T 006'0T
(g92'c) zee’se G99'1E 86T 1069 6299 ¥88's 9/Ey 659'C 6cb'c
08+'19 6£9'TS ZET'1S £88°0S 788'sh €eT'vp S96'Th 11 129'vp 18'vh
veL'sLL 192012 9/0'TTL 665999 6¢2'£LS9 992'0£9 182'909 7688'8.S £59'095 ¥29'61S $

Te0¢ 0c0¢ 610¢C 810¢ L10C 910¢ ST0¢ 10C £10C 10¢

SIEDA |BISI4 U] 1seT
(spuesnoyy uj passaJdxa sjunowe)
(Bunpunodoe Jjo siseq [entode palyipow)
pun4 |eJaua9) ‘aduejeg pund ul sabueyd
S 9|qeL olyo W:nES_OU Jo >H_U

JedA jo pud je sduejeq pung
JedA jo Buluuibaq je aduejeq pung

2ouejeg pund ui abuey) 19N

(sasn) sa24nos buppueuly 19Y3o |eJoL
sasn JBYl0
$921N0S 1BYI0
s121dodi|oH
so9y buiddi|
(3n0) ui siajsues |
(sosn) saa4nos bupueuly 1PYI0

S$24n}Ipuddxo J9A0
SONUdA3M Jo (Aduamijop) ssadx3

sainjipuadxa |ejoL

Aepyno |exde)

| SHed pue uonea.sy

1 WIesH

awdopAsqg

Aya4es d11qnd

DIAIBS Dl|qnd

uswWuIA0b |eIBUSD
saJin}ipuadxy

S9NUIAAM |BJoL
Snoaue||9sI
S)I9}104 pue Ssaul4
SDINIDS Joj sabuey)
SanuaAaJ paleys
sjwiad pue sasuadI
(ssoy) sbujuies JuswisaAul
soxe} Auadoud
SOXEe} SWOodU]

SaNUAAY

312



6T0¢ Ul buluuibaq ‘3un jJusuodwod papus|q e ‘YyesH Jo pleog ay3 Ul pajiodal ale saunjpuadxa yjjesH (1)

0°00T  0°00T 0°00T 0°00T 0'001 0'00T 0°00T 0'00T 0'00T % 0°00T saanjipuadxa [e301
€0 v'1 S0 80 60 60 60 60 9'0 0T Aepno jeyden
9p 6% 9'p S'b 9'b Sb b vy b 6'€ syJed pue uoneanay
00 00 00 9'¢C 9'¢C 8'¢C 9'C LT ST 9C (1) yyjesH
Ly 187 vy 8y vy 0'S 8'b Sy (44 6'€ juswdojeaq
G'69 +'89 00 0'£9 8'99 099 €/9 0'/9 +'89 8'89 Aya4es 21qnd
'S LS v'S v'S 19 09 6’9 L9 +'9 L9 90IAIBS Dl|qnd
8'ST G'ST 1°GT 6'bT 9'bT 8'bT 9'€T 8'€T PET % T'ET JusWUIBA0D [eJaURD)
sa4n}ipuadx3y
0'00T  0°00T 0°00T 0°00T 0°00T 0°00T 0°00T 0°00T 0'00T % 0°00T SONUDAdM |B10)
0T 6 T'C ¢ T'C 60 L0 €1 P'T T SNoaUe||2SIIA
P'1 1 0'¢ 1'¢C 4 £¢ v S'¢C 9'C o€ S}I24104 pue sauly
9'9 9 6'9 9’/ 9’/ 8’/ 6'L 18 0'8 v'8 S90IAIBS J0) Sabiey)
L€ 9'C e 4> €€ p'e 8¢ 6'¢ 0'S 9'g SaNUSAS. pa.eYS
60 8'0 v'1 G'1 ST 8'T LT ST S'1 ST sjwad pue sasuadI
(€0) 9¢ v'e 4 80 80 80 9'0 v'0 S0 (ssoy) sbuiuies usuisaau]
€9 4 ¥'S 8'S €S v'S ¥'S 8's 09 €9 saxe} Apadoud
¥'08 (444 9'S/ v'SL Tl 9'// €L €9/ 1'SL % S'EL SaXe)} BWOodU]
SONUBADY
ST [e3o1 [eiol [e101 [eiol [e3o1 [eiol [E301 [E301
0% 01% 0} % 01 % 01 % 01 % 0} % 0} % 0 % 01 %
120 020¢ 610¢ 810C L10T 910¢ ST0¢ v10C £70¢ 141114

SIE9A |eJSI4 U] ISeT
(Bununodoe Jo siseq |enJdoe payipow)
salnjipuadx3 pue anUaASY [RJ0] JO Sabejuadiad se passaldx] sarobaje) ainjpuadx] pue SNUSASY pund |RJaUSL
olyo ‘snquinjod jo A3
9 9[qel

313



0°06S 0°06S 0°06S 008t 008t 008t 0°08% 0°08% 0°08% 0°08t Aypeded wnuwixely
S'60T T'q1T T°q1T (414! 'eot S'00T £°00T #'80T 96 €98 AliayInos - Aep abelaay
6'TL 0'sL T'eL /L8 8'¢8 S'SL L'8L 9'sL 0'¢L 1°69 Mid uosxder - Aep abessny
CLLE 0'¢vb 0'T¢e ¢'Tee 1°00€ '8¢ €00¢ ¢TIE 04S¢ WAL Alsyanos - Aep wnwixely
€eqt P'EST S'vST T°est €941 €t 9'0ST €eat 18T ¢'9eT jid uosyoe[ - Aep winwixely
6'%9 §'¢9 €vs ¥'19 9’99 ¥'99 68 €vs L'Y9 ¥'LS Alsyinos - Aep winwiuiiy
9'/LC 9'1¢ S'91 v'ov 1212 8’9 1212 ¥'6€ [ %3 WA id uosyder - Aep wWNWIUI
:(Aep Jad suojjeb jo suoljjiw) elep juswieal |
L6Y [454 €0S P18 €0S 661 S0S 118 0¢s L1S so9A0[dwa Jo JaquinN
92096 88¢'0/L £8b'SH £69'19 v/9'6b €92'1S GE8'PE 780'1€ 96£'pE (4L 287 uopysod 3ou Ul sabueyd
- - - - (z8'1) - - - - - N0 siajsuel|
- - - 9¢ - - 8 4 4! - ul sisjsuel|
T0¢ S6T j¥43 [4Y4 0ct 86¢ 18€ 09T o’ L28'T BU ‘BUYI0
(z6£'19) (£29'29) (10899) (T62'8%) (80£'09) (189'9%) (915799) (£20'8p) (8vS'sh) (€9¢’6p) dsuadxe 3saIU]
(bL¥'T) T2h'6 606'TT 0992 85T ¥10°C 766'T 18S'T 816 T€€'T (Ss0]) dwodul JUSWISIAU]
: buesadouoN
169'8HT S6EETT ¥5006 980°20T 96566 7£5's6 v£5’88 99¢’// ov6'tsL L1978 awooul bupessdo
(9vL'vpT) (b08's/T) (8£518T1) (56589T1) (80t'591) (b€8'PST) (9v£’ssT) (TEE'PST) (€€0'6ST) (61t'£bT) asuadxs bunessdo
LEV'E6T 661'68C T68'TLT 189°0/¢ £00592 99€’05C 088’s £69'TET €/6'T€C 9£0'5€T anusAaJ bunesado
9££'s07'T 01£'60T'T 776'8€0'T 65b'€66 100956 £TE'906 £90'558 6vE'SH8 [9T'p18 1/8'6/L uonisod 319N
vov'eT'E ves'eet'e T2 ThT'E ov1's/0’'e 6v1'€26'C £40'508'C 60t'pH9'C 095059°C vLb'€95C v12'9/b'C $ S1essy
1amas Aiejiues
€6/'1S £0S'TS 65508 808’8t 129'8b 8Sb'6b £89'8Y E'eb €120 202’18 obedwind s,JeaA [ejo |
(44" 1548 6€T PET €et SET €er SET 8€T (14} Aep abelany
81 68T TLT 91 91 SOt 6ST 091 TLT 96T Aep wnuwixe
11T 91T 91T SOt (493 (493 0T 80T €1t 60T Aep wnwiuiW
:(suojjeb jo suoijiw) sbedwnd
¢0S 01s 861 £0S 09s LSS 99§ LES PbS €8S sadAojdwa Jo JaquinN
0sz'os £70'6€ +06'9¢C 198'vE STa 2 14 o'ty 119'81T £06'8€ 989'TH LTY'SE uopysod 3ou Ul sabueyd
- - - - (9€S'T) (04) (£9) (+9) (009) (£6¢€) N0 sJdjsuel |
- - - £€¢ 14 - 1T - 9t - ul sisjsuel]
() 01T 991 9€T SOt [dvi4 SLE S¢L TE€T'C 8bs'c BU ‘BUYI0
(€44'v2) (s82'€2) (089°c2) (£p8'pT) (£99'sT) (6v5°91) (918'81) (181°€T) (LzL'81) (0£6'12) dsuadxe 3saIU]
(6£9) 7e8'’s 959/ 895"y £98'T 016’€ 95T 89¢'T 80T'T 199'1 (Ss0]) dwooul JUSWISIAUL
: buesadouoN
60966 99895 L'ty 186'vb 6v6'ct £2L'6S 769'se 65005 8v9'/S SbS'TS awooul bupessdo
(959'12T) (£00'T91) (£65'091) (zet’esT) (b6£'£ST) (zs6'L€T) (To0’0ST) (c0z'ecT) (z9g'921) (008’set) asuadxs bunessdo
Q9T'L1T €/8'L1C 6G£'€0T €12'86T €b/'10T 6/9'/61 £59'687 792'€81 ST0'¥8T SbE'8/T anusAaJ bunesado
0£7'0v9 020048 £00'TES €0T'+0S 0v9's6t v17'/9Y v6L'6TY +98'9zt £S6'/8€ T/2'9b€ uonisod 19N
0b2'S8.'T 0808891 TTT/999'T 6T0'PHS'T 92L'0Lp'T 01€'T6E'T £78'SST'T 960'€6T'T GE/'99T'T LT8'TET'T $ S1essy
191eMm
Teoe 0¢0¢ 6T0¢ 810¢ £L10¢ 910¢ ST0¢C P10¢ £10¢ ¢10¢

/39eL

(spuesnouyy ul passaldxa sjunowe Jejjop)
SIRIA |BISI U9 1se]
eleq Alewwns spun4 asidiaiug

0140 ‘snquinjo) Jo A3

314



606'S

/STy

T
(oot1)
(8£2)

6¢T
(989)
S18
z8e’ee
€€L'19

80T

892’9
(94)

79L'T

14
(876)
(z8m)

8419
(s10°64)
€61°'S8
[4&:E 0]
616'€9T

9¢

v/8'CT

150
(os1)

8€S'ST
(90€'62)
bv8'vY
Tr6'TST
950597

vEP'T

(£€)
€LS

868
(899)
9951
£/'62
€/6'19

[43}
(€£5'2)

685'C

86T
(682)

0ST'T

(TeL's)
(£5€'06)
9€9'v8
¥S0°26
L68'LST

x4

862'6
(9)

(1v6'7)
et

086'0T
(zz6'€E)
£06'bP
890°0%T
996'55¢

009°'C
Tee't

(+6)
9¢

LEE'T
(899)
S00'C
6£0'8¢C
0950

80T
66'T

7o't

98
(994)

Yob'T

(£5P)
(0£9'58)
€17's8
£29'66
€90'191

VA4

696'S
F10)

(6£0'¢)
9/9'1

985'L
(05£'%€)
9’y
0£L'0¢€T
920's5¢

10€'C
0001

(sz1)
61

L0b'T
(899)
6/0'C
65'ST
L0S'1€

0T
20y

L2€T

€aT
(619)

8¢€8

€09°'C
(£06'S8)
01588
8£9'L6
6£9'0ST

[44

267’6

ac

(621°€)
114

881'TT
(eL2'1€)
192y
108'%ZT
0£0'Ste

699'T
998

(88)
TC

048
(899)
8€eS'T
8eT'ee
689'T€

96

109°€
(81)
0SSy
ST
(809)
T9¢

(669)
(0z6'c8)
Tez'es
998'86
€0T'THT

€€

€19'2
(23]
L6T
6¢C
(s91'€)
LEY

6v0°01
(900°1€)
SS0'T
£80°L11
850'THC

086'T
008

(1p)
4!

60C'T
(999)
G/8'1
69'1¢C
abb'cs

L6
9/2't

0SH'T

1€
(819)

(444

160°T
(€06'8L)
¥66'6L
§97's6
9ee'TET

€€

G7S’'8
0TS
8t
(¥26'0)
81

£0£'01
(698'62)
9,50
bL¥'601
£9L'zee

600'€
002'c

(€9)
4!

098
(899)
82S'1
68'6T
8/T'VE

90T
162'C

¥8T'T

aa
(9€9)

L0C

veb'T
(0bT'2L)
¥95'8L
686'C6
YAWEA

e

G£S’9
018
Z4
(912'¢)
cee

¥86'8
(€91'0€)
LbT'6E
6+6'00T
£99'9¢¢

918

(16)
S

206
(899)
048’1
08+'9T
759'v€

01
09%'S

GS0'T

PE
(zes)

16T

TSL'Y
(8€0'84)
06£'28
50096
042’921

0€

0€€’s
0€8
2007
(888'¢)
74

$1°01
(rer'82)
S£5'8€
v€L'56
009°0z

8/9

(T11)
91

€L
(899)
T
¥99'ST
9vs'se

16
7€9'9
062'T

(299)
174

0€6'S
(z59'08)
785'98
SbS'06
688'8TT

6¢

801"/
[4{!
8/€
(9pL'p)
Z8T

z10'01
(852'92)
0£T'9€
vOv'L8
ULYTT

+19°01

(98)
4

869'0T
(899)
99€'TT
9861
2€8'9¢e

8/
Lb1'S

6¢€
(STT)
(S64)

6L

98s’s
(959'58)
we'te
€16'c8
€T9'ETT

9¢

66'£
60%'T
44
(e6v'S)
LLT

v10'TT
(019's2)
¥79'9€
967'08
UTPTT

$

uoiisod 39u uj sabuey)
ul slajsuel|
BU IBYI0
asuadxa 3saJau1
(SS0]) BWOdU| JUBWIISIAUT
: buneladouopn
awodul buesadp
asuadxa bunesado
anuaAal bunesado
uonisod 19N
[SELNSY]
sabelen

seaA0|dwa Jo JaquinN

uonisod 39u ul ssbuey)
N0 SJaysuel]
Ul siajsuel|
1°U “1BYI0
asuadxa 15a.491u]
(SS0|) SWOdUI JUSWISIAUT
: Bunesadouopn
(sso) swodul bunesado
asuadxa Bunesado
anuanal bunelado
uoiyisod 19N
S195SY
Apups)g

sooA0|dwd Jo JaquinN

uonisod 38u ul sabuey)
1IN0 sJajsuel|
ul siajsuel]
BU ‘BYIO
asuadxa 1sa493u]
(SS0]) BWOdUI JUBWIISIAUT
: bupesadouop
awodul bunesado
asuadxa bunesado
anuaAal bunesadp
uonisod 19N
[SESVE
19M3s wiols

315



“J01pny A1) ‘01O ‘sNquinjoD Jo A :9Inos

%EECT S¥9'€S0°T 2b6'8 SY9'1E0'T - 116'£S¢ veL'slL 2%b6°0T ¥6L'vE0'T - 669'85C S60°9/L 120T
%8G T- 910'8¢6 %TT°0- 910'/¥6 T $G2'9€T 192°0T£ %¢6°0- 8v.'te6 T /8T'€€T 095669 020¢
%TC'8 90T'€S6 %99 90T'8v6 S Y\ WAXS 9/0'TTL %65°'S £Sh'TY6 S z9g’see 980902 610¢
%TS°0 £08'088 %Eh'T £08'888 S 661'CCC 665999 %08'T 685’168 S S68'TCC 689’899 810¢
%bS"E 0TE'9/8 %82 0TE'9/8 S 9/0'6TC 622'£99 %8¢t £58'S/8 S £96'81¢ 688959 L7102
%S0’y GSE'9p8 %96'E SSE'0p8 - 680°0T¢ 992'0£9 %09'y v16'6£8 - 6£6'60¢ G€6'629 910¢
%bb'S 8/E'c18 %6L'Y 8/£'808 € ¥6020C 182909 %80t 166208 € v2'00T 12’209 ST0¢
%E8'T LOV'TLL %6T'E LOV'TLL S 058'Z6T 755'84S %ST'E [43 V72 S 788'76T S49'8/S $10¢
%95'8 SUEWATYA %68°L SYS' Ll 8 +8898T £59°095 %Lyt 9ST'L¥L 8 218981 94’095 €102
%¥9°'C S8'269 $ [[ost e Sb8'Z69 $ €1 $ 80C'eLT $ v29'61S  $ [|%9S'S AT VAREE S $ 928'8/T $ 8/b'9es ¢ zI0C

(asea.02q) SNIAIY (asea.2q) |elol spun4 spun4 pun4 |esaua9 || (asealdaq) |elol spun4 spund pun4 |eJausn BLECHN
9Sea.dUT 9  |BJUSWUIDAOY || 9Sea.oU] 9% |EJUBWILLIBAOD)  DIAIRS 3ded 9sealou] %, |EJUBWILLIBAOD)  DDIAIBS 199

LYo Y0
[enidoy (Ind siseg (|en1ody payIpon) dvvD siseg (yseD) 39bpng

(9% 3dadxa ‘spuesnoy ur)
SJedA |edSid ud] iseq

Spunjoy Jo 31°N
SSI}IAITY [EJUSWLLIBAOD puk uonnqulsiq pund anUdAdY Xe] awWodux

Y6L'PE0'T %6 P8T'PST %T°S8 0719088 %C' 19%'ch %608 6bT'L€8 Teoe
8b/'7€6 %E'TT 10501 %¢.'88 LYE'1T8 %9t 906'2h %T'+8 Thy'v8L 020¢
€SP 16 %0'CT vL6'CTT %088 6/1'878 %T'S $108% %678 S9b'08Z 610C
685’168 %T'TT 996'86 %6'88 619'26L %C'S 29¢'9p %L'€8 LST'L 810¢C
£588'S/8 %6'CT G86'CTT %T°/8 28792 %E’S ocr'or %8'18 5h'9TL 10T
¥16'6£8 %E'TT 60£'€0T %L'[8 50995/ %L'S S8ty %0'Z8 0€£'889 910¢C
166'208 %E"CT £92'86 %L°L8 vTT'v0L %S'S SOT'vb %¢C'Z8 650'099 S10¢C
€S 1Lt %¢C'CT VA4 %7 %8'/8 S0b'249 %9°S 902'sh %¢C'C8 66T'b€9 $10¢
9ST'L¥L %6'CT 96£'96 %T°/L8 098’059 %S'S 660'TH %9'T8 194’609 £10¢
LIE'STL $ %P'TT [bS'18 $ %9'88 0£2'€€9  $ %C'S 9612 $ %b'€8 ¥£5'96S $ [4114

[LIOL  [eJ0}J0 %  SIUNOXY  [BI03JO %  [PNPIAIPUL  [@I01 4O % Duipjoytpim €301 J0 %  Buipjoytpim N

ssauisng |10l -UON

(9 3da2x? ‘spuesnoyj ui)
SABdA |edsl4 ud] iseq

siseg (yseD) 326png
spunjoy Jo 19N
adA] 19Aed Aq anuanay xe] awodur

8 alqeL o1yo ‘snquinjo) jo A3

316



% 80

% 0°'T

0°'s
(4%
T's
LS
6'S
8'S
99
8L
5’8
% 66

AAST X&)
0] soxe]}
jusnbuidp
buipueisino
JO JUDJIRd

6 9lqel

106°€ $

66L'y $

§97'se0’e
LOP'6ST'C
veC'TLS'e
699'758'C
£0£'0€9'C
§07'85SC
€88'58'C
€9L'eLy's
€8/'S20'y
06S'8bL'y  $

soxe]
juanbuiap
buipueising

'S91UNOD dleme[d(g pue piaiHied 10) elep JeaA jualind Ajuo ng ‘Aquno) uipjueld uiyim Auadouad
12431 Jo AI0IsIy JeaA ud) e s9jesjsuowap 9|gel aAoge ayl ‘Ajuno) uipueld uiyim sail A ayy uiyim Auadoud jo
Ajofew 3seA ayj asnedag ‘166T Ul AJuno) aiemeldq pue G/6T Ul AJuno) plaiHied palajud snquinjo) Jo AlD ayl
'9|gejieAe Jou aJe palAl| JeaA xe) Aq 1s9493ul pue saijeuad JO SAISNOXS Pa3Id||0d Sjunowe Xe}
jusnbulag l1eaA |easl 9y} UIYIIM 1S2191Ul pue saiyjeuad pajejal pue suoids||od xe) uanbulep (e Juasaldal
sjunowy °paliAd| JeaA xey Aq suonoda||0d xe) yuanbuiep Ajauspi Jou op Auno) aleme;aq pue ‘pRidied ‘uipueld

sJolpny AJuno) aleme|aq pue ‘pjaitied ‘uipjueld :S324no0s

% 0'86 L9€'%Ly  $ 90S'p $ % 0°L6
(2) /auno) siemejsd
% ¥°00T T6C’6Ly  $ 8979 $ % 166
(7) Aquncy ]
L'86 020'¥81°09 $86'SSC'T £796
5’86 GST'8pS'0S 6££'997'¢€ (a4
L'86 192'066'61 Le8'6TT'e €6
£790T S9T1'0Eb’ES SIS'/pS'E 9’66
9'T0T 865'ST9'SH 8¥8'€/6'C 6'v6
L'T0T €/b'6E8'vY 9¢8'b00'€ 6'v6
8’16 106'6£8°6€ 950'6vS'T ¢'88
8°L6 0b2'918'ch 1126641 8'€6
€76 18€'ve6'ch 665'€€8'T 5’88
% L'16 116'228'eh $ (S8'LLL'T $ % 0'88
(7) \unoy uipjuelg
RAS[ XB} 0] Suona0d T) SUOID3|00 [SEIe=][[0))
ile]her=][[o%) xe} xe} A3 JO
Xe} 230} [zate] juanbuieq Jua0.3d
JO JuL0Iad

SIE9A |edsl4 ua] jseq

SU0I103]|0) pue saina xe] Ayadold

o140 ‘snquinjo) Jo A3D

198'69%

€20'Lp

9€0'876'8S
9/8'187'LY
vEP'09L'9p
059'788'6Y
0S,'TH9'th
LE9'VE]'TH
S+8'987'8€
620°L10'Ch
78£'060'Ch
¥S9'vh0'ch

SUODa|00

Xe)
s

$

$

We'v8y

95S'LLY

0£8'696'09
6bS'v6C'1S
989'659'05
696'€90'05
LEV'TTE VY
095880t
€98'v01'ct
¥£6'008'v
QES'TLS LY
99+'008'Lb

AAS[ XE]
[eyoL

$

$

@

(1

Teoc

Teoc

Teoc
0coc
6T0¢
8T0¢
LT0¢
910¢
ST0¢
¥10¢
€10¢
[410]14

Jeah
edsiy

317



% 0°SE

% 0°G€

0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
0°s€
% 0°S€E

SN[eA
|ene
pajewnss
|30} 0}
passasse [210)
JO JUD.I3d

0T a1qeL

0T'¢

06°¢C

149
149
149
149
149
149
149
1495
149
4%

31y XeL
ele!
|10

'$1011pNYy AJUN0D aieme|ag pue ‘piaipied ‘Uipjueld :S901nos

*si0jipne Ajunod aARdadsal 8y} Aq paje|ndjed usaqg aAey SN 21iqnd o) sanjea [enyoe pajewnsy  (2)

"Sa)UN0Y) aleme|a@ pue pjaiied Joj ejep JesA Jualind Ajuo Ing ‘Auno) uipjueld uiyim Ausdoud

1ey3 Jo AIoisiy Jeah ua) e sajelsuowap 9|qel aAoge ayl ‘AJuno) uipueld ulyim sai Ajn ayl uiyim Auadoud Jo
Ayuofew 3sea ayy asnedag 'T66T Ul Auno) alemejaq pue G/6T Ul Ajuno) ppeiied paisjus snquinjod jo Ay ayl (1)

£SS'9T0'T G6/'sGE  $ 110'v€ $06'TT 945786 168k ¢
T) A3uno) aieme[eg
8zE'68p S97'1LT % LLV'PT £90°'S 188'v/b 86T°99T $
GEH'800°LS 756'756'61 988'st¢'e 09098/ 6b5'29L'pS 768'991°6T
090'¥£1°95 126'099'61 9b'1£0C 900°s2L $19'201'vS GT6'SE6'ST
996°0S2'LY 8€8°/£5°91 LEV'VT6'T £€65°€/9 625°'92E'Sy G87'498’ST
891°/£9'0% 600°€ZE9T1 TL0'8bL'T Ge8'119 £60'688'vt P8T'TTL'ST
0bT'2L0'9% 6b2'STT9T 080°€£9'T 8/G'1/8 090°6Eb bt 1£9'€65'ST
PI8'TEE Y GET'99b'pT 888°0/b'T 118'%1S 926'098'6€ bTE'186'ET
£85'€95'0b pST L6TPT 695°08€'T 661°€8Y $10'€81°6€ GSO'PTL'ET
pSb'SeT’or 601'280"PT LL6'SET'T 268’1 LL¥'T006E L15°0S9°€T
909's82'0% 296'vLT T 925’0611 ¥899TH 080°565'6€ 8/2'9S8'ET
991'1H9'0t 80¥'yZZ'vT $ £56'960'T GE6'E8E 602'vHS'6€ €LV'OP]'ET §
(T) Aquno) uipuedy
oNn[eA oNn[eA ~NH oNnjeA oNnjeA ERIEN oNn[eA
|enjoe [SESSERN Y |enjoe PaSSassyY |enjoe Passassy
pajewns3 pajewns3 pajewns3
[e10L SanInN dgnd Aadold [eay

(9% 3dadxa ‘spuesnoyj ur)
SiedA |edsid ua] jseq
K1adoad ajqexe] jo anjep |[en)dy pajewi}sy pue passassy

0140 ‘snquinjo) jo A3

(4414

(4414

ceoc
Teoc
0coc
610¢
810¢
L10¢
910¢
ST0¢
P10¢
€10¢

—
L

Tc0¢

T¢0¢

Teoc
0coc
610¢
810¢
£L10¢
910¢
ST0¢
¥10¢
€10¢
(4114

TBak
xe|

318



oce 00'T
00'¢ SC'T
Y0 08'¢
¢S50 08¢
- 08¢
- 08¢
- 08'¢
- 08¢
- 08¢
- 08¢
- 08'¢
- 08¢
BQpopuE  ATeiqr
|ooyds
|euoneIoA
uior
TT =|qel

0C°'C6

0L'6L

€0'18
€918
80°¢8
81'¢8
€£€'¢8
8818
06°SZ
019,
00'9£
ST'9L

[0003S

66'L

0L¢t

LL6T
crer
[49)!
681
68T
LY8T
Y81
L¥'8T
A&
LY'8T

Aunoy

'S103IpNy AJuno) aJeme|ag pue ‘plaidieq ‘uipjuelq :s921nos

'S9I3UN0D aJemeeqd
pue pjauJied 104 eiep Jeah jualind Ajuo Ing ‘AJuno) uipueldd uiyum Auadolad jey; Jo Alojsiy JeaA ua) e sajelisuowap ajgel aAoge ayl ‘Ajuno) uipjueld
uIyam salf AyD ay3 uiypm Apiadoud jo Ajiofew jsea ayy asnedag “166T Ul AjunoD alemefeq pue G/6T Ul AJuno) piaiyie4 passua snquinjod Jo AyD ayL ()

-aseq xe} Ayadoud ayy Jo anjea ayy ul sabueyd 1oy snlpe 03
JBUOISSILIWOD Xe] 931R1S 3y} AQ Ajjlenuue pauiwlalap Si Ydiym J03oe) uoidnpal aysodwod e Ag aied [e103 ay3 bulAidiyinw Ag pauiwiaiap si a3ed aandaya ayl (1)

0T'¢ 0€0 0€0 0S'T 6901
() Auno) aiemepq
06'C 0€0 0€0 0g'¢ G5'86
(2) A3uno) peyeq
1489 0€0 0€0 $S°¢C TC°L0T
PT°E 0€0 0€0 PS¢ TC'L0T
PTE 0€0 0€0 PS¢ P1°/0T
1483 0€0 0€0 PS¢ #0°£L0T
1483 0€0 0€0 PS°¢C 6T°L0T
1A% 0€0 0€0 ¥S°C 6C°90T
PTE 0€0 0€0 PS¢ T€00T
1483 0€0 0€0 1204 TS'00T
1483 0€0 0€0 ¥S°¢C T+'00T
1489 0€0 0€0 PS°¢C 95°00T
(2) Aunop uipjuely
an SuoisUad  SUOISUSd pung 318y
[e101 2l 221|0d |esausn e
Ap

(uonenjep passassy Jo 000'T $ 42d)

sieaA |edsiq ua] jseq

sjuswuIdA0Y BuiddelanQ pue 1oa.1q - s9jey xe] Apadoad

o140 ‘snquinjo) jo A31D

c0'LL €989 ¢¢0¢ 104 TC0C
YC'6S 60°TS €¢0¢ 104 TC0C
1€'SL 9€'8S ¢¢0¢ 104 TC0C
08'v/L 6v°'85 T¢0¢ 104 0C0¢
9¢€°¢8 SC'89 0¢0c¢ 104 6T10¢
0T°¢8 ¥C’'89 6T0¢ 104 810¢C
9¢'C8 €€°89 8T0¢ 104 £T0¢C
€0°/8 [ 74 £T0¢ 104 910¢C
6,708 ¢L°89 9T0¢C 104 ST0C
9/'08 68'89 STOC 404 $T0¢
€008 96'£9 ¥T0¢ 104 €£T0C
TL6L ¥6'£9 €T0¢ 4104 210¢
19130 ||V Iby/Soy lea\ |edslq
Z ssepn T sse|D

(1) 238y 2AIaYT

319



%

%

Joypny AJuUno) uipjueld :924nos

00°00T G66'C/S'VT $ Auno) uipjuel4 Ul UOIEN|RA PISSISSY |R101
9’56 06'TT6'ET SIBYI0 IV
vS'b 1601799 siohedxe] Ayadold |edipdulld B30l
0T°0 996'¢€T dioD [pASQ uegin “wwo) ynos [onded o1
010 §59'p1 alenbs sI0uIaA0D) IA 18D 6
010 069pT [ELASNPU] SNQWIN|OD "8
1170 9ST1'9T *d10D) YjjesH oo '/
€1°0 20’61 *2U] “Yosng Jasnayuy "9
$1°0 8G5/'0C 1SIPOUISIA SPISIOAIYAURID) *G
ST°0 825'1¢ [ELIOWS 9|°Neg ‘b
LT0 0£8’6€ J93u9) uoybununy g
87°0 £09°0p -d10) pueT uonnqLasiq z
80 66269 Auedwo) soueINsSU] [enNjy SpIMUOREN T
EESERER
110 $e1'91 J9MOd 214109[F URdLIBWY °E
60 €595 23U ‘oIyO JO SeS) eiIquINOD *7
8T'¢C VANAVARS $ Auedwo) Jamod olyo ‘1
UonRenjeA (Spusnoyy UI) SSmINN J1and
passasse uonenfea
[P0 JO % passassy

[45SICLAR

TT0T ‘T€ 49quadeqg
sidAhedxe] Ayiadoad jedpulid

olyo ‘snquinjo) jo A3

%

%

's103Ipny AJuno) aieme|aq pue ‘pjaiied ‘uipjuedd :$90Inos

"Papn[oul MOU S313UNO)) alemejad pue pjaliied Jo anjea passasse ‘Tzog Ul Buluuibag 330N

00°00T 210°08b"0C $ SNQLUN|OD) Ul UOREN[eA PasSassy P10
TH'v6 108'9c€’61 SIPYIO IV
65°S TTC'EbT T sioAedxe ]| Apadoid |edpulid (301
010 977'1¢ D711 4/8UMQ suapies 4N 0D JJ009 0T
11°0 G/8'T¢ 717 Sdsuned HO Jebuiydsy ‘6
11°0 ¥06'1¢C JT1 T JoumQ Auend) 'g
[4%0) 09€'pC UORepUNO4 SNQWIN|0D) ddI) *Z
€1°0 §59'sT D711 OX AnH /YL 9
€10 £60'92 SUMOQ 0J01S °§
LT0 6£2'SE *dJop pueq uonnquLasia b
61°0 1TH'6€ J77 JouUmMQ J9qua) uoibununy *g
92'0 096'¢€S d11ended 419 "¢
9€°0 0zL'ss Auedwo)) soueINSUT [eNINjy SpIMUOREN T
EENENEER
600 98'8T JOMOd 21399[3 UedLBWY b
0’0 86£'18 uoIssiwsuel| olyo 4av ‘€
790 112’921 "2UT ‘oIyQ 40 Sse eiquinjod ‘g
08'¢C €1€'€LS $ Auedwo) Jamod oIy ‘T
UonRenjeA (Spuesnoyy UI) SN o1and
passasse uonenea
[P101 JO % pPassassy

TZ0T ‘T€ 42quddeqg
sidhedxe] Ayiadoad jedpulid

olyo ‘snquinjo) jo A3

o

3



City of Columbus, Ohio

Table 13
Special Assessment Billings and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years
Special
Special assessment
assessment requirements Special

Fiscal debt service billed by assessments
year requirements County Auditor collected
2012 $ 536,524 $ 12,525,011 $ 7,252,579
2013 477,390 14,005,236 7,577,549
2014 460,275 15,514,823 7,668,599
2015 467,733 18,462,876 7,840,308
2016 297,409 17,249,152 7,163,749
2017 271,385 18,572,268 9,139,386
2018 128,756 17,037,824 10,402,247
2019 34,970 15,097,413 10,490,980
2020 34,123 16,773,769 13,526,207
2021 33,275 21,532,905 17,861,930

Responsibility for the billing and collection of special assessments is, under Ohio Law, vested with
the County Auditor's office.

All special assessment type debt is general obligation debt of the City.

(1) Includes weed cutting charges, demolitions, community development charges, special
improvements districts, sanitary sewer improvements, and curbs/sidewalks.

Sources: City of Columbus, Ohio, City Auditor, and Franklin County Auditor.
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2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022

City of Columbus, Ohio Table 14
Annual Charges and Rate Increases
for the Average Columbus Resident/User of Water
Last Ten Fiscal Years
Water Sanitary Sewers Storm Sewers Total

ten year

Annual % Annual % Annual % Annual % %
charge increase charge increase charge increase charge increase increase
416.14 40 $ 527.45 1.0 $ 53.00 - $ 996.59 2.2 113.4
416.14 - 538.00 2.0 53.53 1.0 1,007.67 1.1 99.3
428.62 3.0 554.14 3.0 54.07 1.0 1,036.83 2.9 89.2
445.76 4.0 570.76 3.0 54.61 1.0 1,071.13 3.3 77.5
459.13 3.0 587.88 3.0 55.16 1.0 1,102.17 2.9 58.8
463.72 1.0 599.64 2.0 55.71 1.0 1,119.07 1.5 43.3
473.00 2.0 617.63 3.0 56.26 1.0 1,146.89 2.5 37.1
487.19 3.0 636.16 3.0 57.39 2.0 1,180.74 3.0 34.6
496.93 2.0 655.24 3.0 57.96 1.0 1,210.13 2.5 29.9
516.81 4.0 688.01 5.0 59.70 3.0 1,264.52 4.5 29.6

Source: City of Columbus, Department of Public Utilities
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Statement of Legal Debt Margins
As of December 31, 2021

Total assessed property value in:
Franklin County
Fairfield County
Delaware County
Total (lines 2 through 4)

1
2
3
4
5
6 Debt limit 10.5% & 5.5% of assessed value (x line 5)
7
8
9
0
1

Total Outstanding Bond and Note Debt
Bonds & Long-Term Notes
Non-Enterprise Long-Term Notes- TIF
Short-Term Note

Total (lines 8 through 10)

12 Exemptions:

13 G.O. Assessment Bonds (Non-Enterprise)

14 G.O. Limited Enterprise Revenue Supported Debt- Unvoted
15 Water Bonds

16 Sanitary Sewer Bonds

17 Sanitary Sewer Assessment Notes
18 Storm Sewer Bonds

19 Electric Bonds

20 Electric Assessment Notes

21 Garage Notes

22 Total (lines 13 through 21)

23 G.0. Unlimited Enterprise Revenue Supported Debt- Voted
24 Water Bonds

25 Water Note

26 Sanitary Sewer Bonds

27 Storm Sewer Bonds

28 Electric Bonds

29 Total (lines 24 through 28)

30 G.O. Other-

31 Income Tax Pledged- Limited (unvoted)

32 Loan- State Capital Improvement Fund & SIB
33 OP&F Pension Bonds

34 Total (lines 31 through 33)

35 Revenue Bonds and Other

36 Water Bonds

37 Water OWDA/EPA Loans

38 Sanitary Sewer- Bonds

39 Sanitary Sewer OWDA/EPA Loans
40 Storm Sewer OWDA/EPA Loans
41 Component Unit- RiverSouth

42 Non-Enterprise -TIF Notes

43 Total (lines 36 through 42)

44 Total Exemptions (lines 22, 29, 34, and 43)
45 Net Debt (line 11 less line 44)

45a Debt Service Fund Balances- Re: Non-Enterprise G.O. Bonds

46 Net Debt subject to 10.5% and 5.5% limitation (line 45 minus line 45a)
47 Total Legal Debt Margin (line 6 minus line 46)

48 Percent of Net Debt to Assessed Value (line 46 / line 5)
49 Percent of Legal Debt Limit

50 Percent of Legal Debt Margin (line 47 / line 5)

Source: City of Columbus, Ohio, City Auditor
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Table 15

Total unvoted

Total debt limit debt limit
10.5% 5.5%
19,952,952 19,952,952
171,265 171,265
355,795 355,795
20,480,012 20,480,012
2,150,401 1,126,401
4,565,277 2,114,087
17,050 17,050
27,200 27,200
4,609,527 2,158,337
9,433 9,433
6,530 6,530
23 23
27,200 27,200
43,186 43,186
647,900
563,795
86,610
16,245
1,314,550
340,275 340,275
10,362 10,362
350,637 350,637
352,938 352,938
368,190 368,190
911,803 911,803
4,478 4,478
47,280 47,280
17,050 17,050
1,701,739 1,701,739
3,410,112 2,095,562
1,199,415 62,775
264,967 62,775
934,448 -
1,215,953 $ 1,126,401
4.56% 0.00%
10.50% 5.50%
5.94% 5.50%
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City of Columbus, Ohio Table 18

Computation of Direct and Overlapping Debt

In addition to the City, other political subdivisions have the power to issue bonds and to levy taxes or cause taxes
to be levied on taxable real property in the City. The estimated outstanding bonded indebtedness at 12/31/2021
of such political subdivisions is as follows:

Estimated Percentage Estimated
Political subdivision Principal applicable Amount applicable
of State of Ohio outstanding to Columbus to Columbus
Direct*

City of Columbus $ 1,746,145,751 100.00 % _$ 1,746,145,751
Total direct debt 1,746,145,751 1,746,145,751
Overlapping**

Delaware County 38,494,261 3.73 1,435,836

Fairfield County 26,700,696 3.66 977,245

Franklin County 131,415,916 53.87 70,793,754

Blendon Township 10,000,000 8.17 817,000

Madison Township 1,355,000 1.86 25,203

Mifflin Township 11,313,000 0.30 33,939

Prairie Township 8,620,000 3.77 324,974

Columbus City School District 378,505,581 98.18 371,616,779

Dublin City School District 173,488,337 27.17 47,136,781

Gahanna-Jefferson City School District 235,485,367 10.66 25,102,740

Hilliard City School District 111,891,667 41.93 46,916,176

Reynoldsburg City School District 65,684,987 6.56 4,308,935

South-Western City School District 210,739,962 36.34 76,582,902

Upper Arlington City School District 210,995,000 1.29 2,721,836

Westerville City School District 124,835,000 23.14 28,886,819

Worthington City School District 112,519,000 58.94 66,318,699

Canal Winchester Local School District 33,389,983 22.83 7,622,933

Groveport Madison Local School District 35,742,613 40.02 14,304,194

Hamilton Local School District 12,372,295 30.67 3,794,583

Licking Heights Local School District 79,680,000 29.31 23,354,208

New Albany-Plain Local School District 69,783,819 28.32 19,762,778

Olentangy Local School District 406,887,249 7.42 30,191,034

Pickerington Local School District 66,890,000 12.05 8,060,245

C-TEC JVSD 7,550,000 4.31 325,405

Tolles Career & Technical Center JVSD 1,161,710 27.63 320,980

Columbus State Community College 136,395,000 53.87 73,475,987

Solid Waste Authority of Central Ohio 62,455,000 52.73 32,932,522
Total overlapping debt 2,764,351,443 958,144,487
Total direct and overlapping debt $ 4,510,497,194 2,704,290,238

* Source: City of Columbus Auditor's Office; represents all governmental activities debt outstanding at 12/31/2021.
** Source: Ohio Municipal Advisory Council. Percentages were determined by OMAC by dividing each overlapping
subdivision's assessed valuation within the City by its total assessed valuation.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Business Indicators (1)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 20

Square Mile Area Air Scheduled
City of Columbus Passengers Airline Freight
Year Year End (000) (000 Ibs.) (2)
2012 227.9 6,350 10,606
2013 228.0 6,237 10,845
2014 228.1 6,356 10,910
2015 228.4 6,796 11,384
2016 224.5 3) 7,324 10,147
2017 224.6 7,577 11,170
2018 225.0 8,142 9,639
2019 225.8 8,637 10,083
2020 225.9 3,269 6,411
2021 226.2 5,822 8,850
All Vehicle Registrations
Active Franklin County
Year Gas Meters Columbus, Ohio (Includes Columbus)
2012 459,552 683,679 1,085,180
2013 441,285 702,054 1,107,367
2014 444,923 715,552 1,128,044
2015 448,279 732,673 1,166,027
2016 429,515 756,638 1,195,766
2017 433,069 767,992 1,202,345
2018 432,375 801,285 1,228,617
2019 435,201 794,671 1,229,364
2020 442,522 734,492 1,155,496
2021 442,487 833,553 1,286,545

(1) Franklin County data unless otherwise indicated.
2) Includes cargo, freight and mail. Data representative of Columbus Regional Airport Authority -
John Glenn International only.
3 2016 data reflects reduction of 4.088 square miles derived from refined calculations utilizing regional GIS data.

Sources: Columbia Gas of Ohio; Columbus Regional Airport Authority;
State of Ohio, Bureau of Motor Vehicles; and City of Columbus,
Department of Public Service, Division of Infrastructure Management.
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City of Columbus, Ohio Table 21

Growth in Land Area
Selected Years

Square Square
miles miles at
Year annexed (1) December 31
1950 - 39.977
1955 14.429 54.406
1960 36.804 91.210
1965 13.490 104.700
1970 39.194 143.894
1975 29.316 173.210
1980 9.902 183.112
1985 4.204 187.316
1990 8.712 196.028
1995 8.251 204.279
1996 1.953 209.218 (2)
1997 2.797 212.015
1998 1.520 213.535
1999 1.141 214.676
2000 1.957 216.633
2001 1.921 218.554
2002 2.678 221.232
2003 1.229 222.461
2004 1.689 224.150
2005 1.700 225.850
2006 0.932 226.782
2007 0.173 226.955
2008 0.157 227.112
2009 0.030 227.142
2010 0.054 227.196
2011 0.227 227.423
2012 0.479 227.902
2013 0.068 227.970
2014 0.092 228.062
2015 0.338 228.400
2016 0.149 224.461 (3)
2017 0.124 224.585
2018 0.406 225.005
2019 0.785 225.790
2020 0.078 225.868
2021 0.285 226.153

(1) Net of de-annexations.

(2) 1996 includes 2.986 square miles resulting from refined
remeasurements of City area.

(3) Beginning in 2016, measurements are calculated and adjusted annually as enhanced GIS data becomes
available. December 31 square mile data may not reflect actual additions and there may be
refinements in calculation.

Source: City of Columbus, Department of Public Service, Division of Infrastructure Management, Maps Section.
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City of Columbus, Ohio Table 23

Estimated Civilian Labor Force
and Annual Average Unemployment Rates
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Labor Force in Thousands)

Franklin County Columbus M.S.A. (1) Ohio u.S.
Unem- Unem- Unem- Unem-

Labor ployment Labor ployment Labor ployment ployment
Year force (2) rate (3) force (2) rate (3) force (2) rate (3) rate (3)
2012 619.8 6.2 % 961.2 6.2 % 5,782.0 7.2 % 8.1 %
2013 629.8 6.2 976.1 6.2 5,742.0 7.2 7.4
2014 636.3 4.5 983.4 4.6 5,737.0 5.6 6.2
2015 651.6 4.0 1,036.1 4.1 5,725.0 4.9 5.3
2016 663.4 4.0 1,053.2 4.1 5,754.0 4.9 4.9
2017 676.0 4.0 1,069.7 4.0 5,761.0 5.0 4.4
2018 684.6 3.7 1,082.1 3.8 5,774.0 4.5 3.9
2019 694.4 3.5 1,100.3 3.5 5,822.0 4.1 3.7
2020 698.0 7.5 1,094.6 7.1 5,749.7 8.3 8.1
2021 699.9 4.8 1,101.6 4.5 5,678.0 4.9 5.3

(1) The Columbus M.S.A. includes Delaware, Fairfield, Franklin, Hocking, Licking, Madison, Morrow, Perry,
Pickaway and Union counties.

(2) Civilian labor force is the estimated number of persons 16 years of age and over, employed and unemployed,
distributed by place of residence.

(3) The unemployment rate is equal to the estimate of unemployed persons divided by the estimated civilian
labor force.

Source: Ohio Department of Job and Family Services, Bureau of Labor Market Information (preliminary data that
is subject to change).
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Table 27
School Enroliment Trends in Franklin County
Last Ten Fiscal Years

The Columbus Other Total Columbus
Ohio State State Community Colleges/ Colleges/ Public

Year University College Universities (1) Universities Schools (2)
2012 56,387 25,970 16,561 98,918 50,630
2013 57,466 25,360 17,896 100,722 50,722
2014 58,322 24,539 17,160 100,021 50,870
2015 58,663 26,227 16,217 101,107 50,419
2016 59,482 27,303 15,942 102,727 49,212
2017 59,837 27,626 14,912 102,375 50,405
2018 61,170 27,312 14,482 102,964 49,008
2019 61,391 27,627 12,870 101,888 48,737
2020 61,369 27,837 10,589 99,795 46,664
2021 61,677 25,311 12,223 99,211 45,610

(1) Includes Capital University, Columbus College of Art & Design, Franklin University, Ohio
Dominican University, Otterbein University, and Mt. Carmel College of Nursing.

DeVry Institute of Technology, Fall 2021 enroliment was approximately 175 students.

(2) The Columbus City School District is a political subdivision under Ohio law, separate and distinct
from the City of Columbus and contains current information.

For 2021, the Catholic Diocese of Columbus operates 30 elementary and secondary schools in
Franklin County with approximately 11,696 students.

For fall 2021, there were 15 other public school districts that lie partially or wholly in Franklin County.
Enrollment in these districts, for Franklin County only, is estimated at 112,703. In addition,

the 132 nonpublic schools located in Franklin County have an estimated enrollment of 38,537
exclusive of the Catholic Diocese of Columbus (noted above).

Sources: Columbus Public Schools; Catholic Diocese of Columbus; Ohio Department of
Education; Ohio Board of Regents; The Ohio State University; Columbus State
Community College; Otterbein University; Franklin University; Capital University;
Ohio Dominican University; Mount Carmel College of Nursing; and Columbus
College of Art & Design
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City of Columbus, Ohio Table 28

City of Columbus and
Franklin County, Ohio
Land Area
December 31, 2021

Jurisdiction Square Miles
COlUMDBUS. ...t e e 226.2 (1)
Less portion outside of Franklin County............ccc..... (5.1) (2)

Other incorporated areas in Franklin County
excluding Columbus..........ccvvviiiiieeeniinnneerre e 142.2 (2)

Unincorporated Townships within
Franklin County.......cccvvuiiiiiiiiiiie e 180.6 (2)

Total approximate area of Franklin County 543.9

Sources: (1) City of Columbus, Department of Public Service, Division of Infrastructure Management
(2) Franklin County Engineer
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Table 30
Salaries of Principal Officials
December 31, 2021
Annual Salary
Title 2021 @ 2022 @

Mayor $ 200,670 $ 204,683
President of City Council 72,481 86,977
Member of Council 60,251 72,301
City Attorney 192,634 200,339
City Auditor 192,634 200,339
City Clerk 148,470 152,173
City Treasurer 145,558 149,198
Department Heads/Directors:

Civil Service Commission Executive Director 164,674 168,792

Health Commissioner 218,754 227,032

Recreation and Parks 167,710 169,915

Public Safety 180,461 235,019

Public Service 183,934 188,531

Development 193,461 198,307

Diversity and Inclusion 155,002 158,870

Human Resources 164,674 168,792

Technology 171,205 175,490

Utilities 191,048 175,032

Finance 171,746 176,030

Building and Zoning Services 175,822 180,211

Education 145,018 148,637

Neighborhoods 156,166 160,077
(1) Hourly rate at January, 2021 annualized X 2,080 hours

Source: City of Columbus, Ohio, City Auditor.
Table 31
City of Columbus, Ohio
Surety Bond Coverage
December 31, 2021
Position Coverage Amount

City Treasurer Fidelity Bonds $ 10,000,000 (1)
Deputy Treasurer Fidelity Bonds $ 10,000,000 (1)
Police through the rank of Sergeant Honesty Blanket Position Bond $ 100,000 (2)

1
)
3)

All other employees and
elected or appointed officials
including all officially
appointed members of City
Boards and/or Commissions

Faithful Performance Blanket Bond (3)

Fidelity bonds are provided by Liberty Mutual and expire on 1/1/23.

The Honesty Blanket Position Bond is provided by Liberty Mutual and expires on 1/1/23.
The Faithful Performance Blanket Bond is provided by Liberty Mutual and expires on 1/1/23.

Source: City of Columbus, Ohio, City Auditor.
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Claims Against the City Resulting in Litigation, Last Ten Years

City of Columbus, Ohio

(dollar amounts expressed in thousands)

Cases Filed

Cases Closed V)

Table 32

Amount
Paid by
Period  Number Seeking Number Seeking City

2012 230 $ 124,828 334 $ 123,073 $ 10,435 @
2013 238 162,965 © 300 87,115 2,228
2014 221 73,270 273 76,043 784
2015 149 22,707 245 167,965 384
2016 208 64,449 171 33,375 2,841
2017 259 108,553 230 24,391 334
2018 345 78,532 301 27,156 391
2019 216 18,521 188 104,780 989
2020 141 17,322 127 4,512 1,149
2021 158 65,235 125 88,667 12,075 ©

(1) Cases filed and cases closed include those cases not seeking monetary damages.
(2) This figure includes a jury verdict of $11.6 million, settled and paid in the amount
of $10.0 million.
(3) Cases filed in 2013 for $162.965 million include a pro se complaint in which Plaintiff
requests $125.0 million.
(4) Cases filed in 2017 include a pro se complaint where the Plaintiff is demanding $75.2 million.

(5) The figure includes a settlement of $10.000 million.

Source: Columbus City Attorney's Office
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Table 33
Comparison of Building Permits Issued
Last Ten Fiscal Years
New Construction Alterations & Additions Total
Permits Valuation Permits Valuation Permits Valuation

Year issued (in thousands) issued (in thousands) issued (in thousands)
2012 1,145 $ 619,068 12,187 $ 533,307 13,332 $ 1,152,375
2013 1,373 1,235,762 11,055 546,327 12,428 1,782,089
2014 1,255 693,027 10,537 1,218,118 11,792 1,911,145
2015 1,327 1,011,830 10,488 773,904 11,815 1,785,734
2016 1,069 1,063,881 10,650 793,628 11,719 1,857,509
2017 1,420 2,263,350 7,644 894,315 9,064 3,157,665
2018 1,228 1,792,289 12,422 842,261 13,650 2,634,550
2019 1,081 1,608,829 12,727 979,763 13,808 2,588,592
2020 1,287 2,324,057 11,321 919,655 12,608 3,243,712
2021 1,344 1,445,626 11,706 1,137,913 13,050 2,583,539

Source: City of Columbus, Ohio, Department of Building and Zoning Services
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City of Columbus, Ohio Table 34

Average Cost of Housing Construction
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Single-family

average % Change Multi-family 9% Change

structure  from previous % Change average  from previous % Change
Year cost year from 2011 unit cost year from 2011
2012 $ 163,737 1.3 1.3 $ 82,494 72.5 72.5
2013 173,992 6.3 7.6 59,884 (27.4) 25.2
2014 180,111 3.5 11.4 87,234 45.7 82.4
2015 185,055 2.7 14.5 92,824 6.4 94.1
2016 200,986 8.6 24.3 113,978 22.8 138.3
2017 264,345 31.5 63.5 195,841 71.8 309.4
2018 226,558 (14.3) 40.2 222,207 13.5 364.6
2019 259,340 14.5 60.4 148,868 (33.0) 211.2
2020 267,741 3.2 65.6 154,313 3.7 222.6
2021 306,737 14.6 89.8 110,865 (28.2) 131.8

Source: City of Columbus, Ohio, Department of Building and Zoning Services
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City of Columbus, Ohio
Table 39

Compliance Information
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)

In the spirit of full disclosure and in compliance with the above Rule, the City is pleased to disclose the following
regarding its outstanding obligations.

Description of Material Events during the 2021 calendar year:

There were no delinquencies of principal and/or interest payments.

There were no non-payment related defaults.

There were no unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.
There were no unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.
There were no substitutions of credit or liquidity providers.

The City received no adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or
determinations affecting the tax-exempt status of any of the City’s outstanding obligations.

There were no material modifications to rights of the holders of the City’s obligations.
8. There were no tender offers.
9. The City called certain bonds for optional redemption as a result of the defeasance described below.

February 2021 Advance Refunding: On February 17, 2021, the City sold $31.290 million in various general
obligation refunding bonds for the purpose of advance refunding $31.290 million in certain outstanding bonds
issued in 2011 and 2012.

ouhwnN e

~

Business-type activities -Enterprise

Governmental Internal Sanitary Storm
Activities Service Sewer Sewer Electricity _Total
Amount paid to escrow agent $ 18,242 3,089 4,540 6,218 1,268 ¢ 33,357
Net carrying amount of old bonds:
Old bonds outstanding 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 31,290
Unamortized bond premium 751 - 103 149 35 1,038
Net carrying amount of old bonds 18,026 2,850 4,303 5,894 1,255 32,328
Deferred amount on refunding $ 216 239 237 324 13 $ 1,029
Governmental Internal Sanitary Storm
Activities Service Sewer Sewer Electricity _Total
Refunded (old) bonds
Principal $ 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 $ 31,290
Interest 2,492 432 592 823 196 4,535
Total refunded 19,767 3,282 4,792 6,568 1,416 35,825
Refunding (new) bonds
Principal 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 31,290
Interest 447 38 31 44 46 606
Total refunding 17,722 2,888 4,231 5,789 1,266 31,896
Unadjusted reduction in aggregate debt service $ 2,045 394 561 779 150 $ 3,929
Economic gain — present value of adjusted
reduction in aggregate debt service $ 1,913 362 527 733 141 $ 3,676
Plus: refunding bonds issued 17,275 2,850 4,200 5,745 1,220 31,290
Less: payment to Escrow Agent (18,242) (3,089) (4,540) (6,218) (1,268) (33,357)
Less: costs of issuance (95) (16) (23) (32) (7 (173)
Net present value savings $ 851 107 164 228 86 $ 1436
Present value rate — true interest cost of new
bonds 0.74% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74%
Interest rate borne by old bonds 3.00-5.00% 3.00-5.00% 5.000% 5.000% 3.00-5.00%  3.00-5.00%

*Dollar amounts reported in thousands
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Table 39 (continued)
Compliance Information
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)

10. The City did not release, substitute, or sell any property (the City has not secured any of its obligations with any
of its property) securing repayment of obligations.

11. The following ratings for the City’s bonds changed:

Date Agency
S&P Global
9/29/2021 Ratings
S&P Global
9/29/2021 Ratings
S&P Global
9/29/2021 Ratings

Action

Downgraded $205,425,000 Sewerage System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2014
to "AA" with a negative outlook from "AA+" with a stable outlook

Downgraded $149,935,000 Sewerage System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015
to "AA" with a negative outlook from "AA+" with a stable outlook

Downgraded $51,855,000 Sewerage System Adjustable Rate Revenue Bonds,

Series 2008B to "AA"/A-1+" with a negative outlook from "AA+"/"A-1+" with a stable
outlook

12. The City did not enter into bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or any other similar event.

13. There was no consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, entry into a definitive
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions.

14. There was no appointment of a successor or additional trustee or change in the name of a trustee.

15. The City incurred the following material financial obligations or material agreement to covenants, events of
default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial obligation which affected security holders:

Date of Agreement/

Description
OWDA Loan 9137

OWDA Loan 9191
OWDA Loan 9213
OWDA Loan 9214
OWDA Loan 9324

Amended and Restated TIF Reimbursement Agreement

OWDA Loan 9374
OWDA Loan 9378
OWDA Loan 9381
OWDA Loan 9412
OWDA Loan 9413
OPWC Loan CCO6Y
OPWC Loan CC12Y
OPWC Loan CC16Y
OPWC Loan CC24Y
OWDA Loan 9458
OWDA Loan 9460
OWDA Loan 9461
OWDA Loan 9463
OWDA Loan 9498
OWDA Loan 9500
OWDA Loan 9533
OWDA Loan 9569
OWDA Loan 9570
OWDA Loan 9571

Starling Street Garage Limited Tax Notes, Series 2021 (federally taxable)

OWDA Loan 9589
OWDA Loan 9590
OWDA Loan 9591

Incurrence Amount
2/5/2021 $ 267,753,200
2/5/2021 5,486,800

2/26/2021 6,271,333
2/26/2021 1,121,828
5/18/2021 4,475,411

5/1/2021 19,700,000
5/28/2021 2,810,033
5/28/2021 11,253,144
5/28/2021 7,195,424
6/29/2021 4,148,505
6/29/2021 1,320,004

7/1/2021 1,258,225

7/1/2021 304,877

7/1/2021 751,000

7/1/2021 464,585
8/23/2021 3,605,236
8/23/2021 1,017,500
8/23/2021 2,492,209
8/23/2021 23,972,518
8/30/2021 3,435,619
8/30/2021 5,825,228
10/7/2021 3,867,879
11/3/2021 2,978,570
11/3/2021 30,132,734
10/28/2021 9,408,487
11/17/2021 27,200,000
12/10/2021 27,765,100
12/10/2021 4,637,940
12/10/2021 1,019,560



City of Columbus, Ohio
Table 39 (continued)
Compliance Information
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)

16. The City did not default nor were there any events of acceleration, termination events, modification of terms or
other similar events under the terms of the financial obligation of the City or obligated person, any of which
reflect financial difficulties.

17. The City will continue to provide all the necessary information, contained below under “Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking,” on an annual basis as is required by the Rule.

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking:

The following provides the Annual Information and/or indicates where in this report the Annual Information may be
obtained.

(1.) Debt Summary — Qutstanding Bonds and Notes — see Note G contained in this report.

(2.) Par Value Activity in Bonds, Notes and Loans Payable — see Note G contained in this report.

(3.) Debt Summary — Overlapping Subdivision Debt — see Table 18 contained in this report.

(4.) Debt Summary — Historical Debt Information

At December 31 of each of the last ten years outstanding bonds and notes are shown in the following table.
(in thousands)

Bonds and Short-term

Year long-term notes* notes Total

2012 $3,685,865 $22,350 $3,708,215
2013 3,773,939 19,800 3,793,739
2014 3,869,722 18,100 3,887,822
2015 3,929,898 49,570 3,979,468
2016 4,282,943 11,800 4,294,743
2017 4,422,427 8,562 4,430,989
2018 4,658,466 6,000 4,664,466
2019 4,729,329 2,500 4,731,829
2020 4,463,843 32,500 4,496,343
2021 4,582,327 27,200 4,609,527

*Beginning in 2012, the Component Unit lease revenue bonds are included in the City’s bonds and long-term notes.
Adjustments were made to prior years to properly disclose the short-term notes outstanding.

(5.) Summary of Financial Information — Summary of Certain Financial Statements for General
Fund and Debt Service Funds - see respective financial statements contained in this report.

(6.) Water System — Largest Customers Invoiced — see table below.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Table 39 (continued)
Compliance Information
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)
Water System Ten Largest Customers
(Based Upon 2021 Sales)

%o of Total

Total Charges Water
Customer Account (in thousands) Charges

Ohio State University $ 2,718 1.23%
Anheuser Busch Inc. 2,141 0.97
Franklin County Sanitary Engineer 1,502 0.68
Abbott Laboratories 1,045 0.47
MARS Petcare US 766 0.35
7up Columbus 639 0.29
Lifestyle Comm 631 0.28
Ohio Health 588 0.27
VEE Properties Ohio, LLC 449 0.20
Columbus Metro Housing Authority 345 0.16

Total $10,824 4.90%

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Water

(7.) Water System — Water Enterprise Fund - see respective financial statements contained in this report.

(8.) Water System — Outstanding Debt — see respective financial statements and Note G contained in this
report.

(9.) Sanitary Sewer System — Largest Customers Invoiced — see table below.

Sanitary Sewer Enterprise — Ten Largest Customers Invoiced
(Based upon 2021 Sales)

% of Total
Total Charges Sanitary Sewer

Customer Account (in thousands) Charges

Ohio State University $4,688 1.56%
Abbott Laboratories 2,775 0.92
Franklin County Sanitary Engineer 1,782 0.59
Anheuser Busch Inc. 1,735 0.58
MARS Petcare US 1,457 0.48
T Marzetti Co. 1,060 0.35
Ohio Health 906 0.30
Rich Products Corp. 869 0.29
7up Columbus 865 0.29
Tri-Tech Laboratories Inc 859 0.29

Total $16,996 5.65%

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Sewerage and Drainage

(10.) Sanitary Sewer System — Sanitary Sewer Enterprise Fund — see respective financial statements
contained in this report.
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Table 39 (continued)
Compliance Information
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)

(11.) Sanitary Sewer System — Delinquencies - see table below.

Percentage of Total Water and Sewer Accounts Past Due(!

Days Past Due 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
0-30 10% 9% 9% 8% 9%
31-60 3 3 3 3 1
61-90 1 1 1 2 1
91+ 3 3 3 7 5

(1) As of December 31.

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Sewerage and Drainage

(12.) Sanitary Sewer System — Five Year History of Account Types— see table below.

Commercial & Billable Average Usage
Residential Industrial Wastewater Per Account

Year Accounts Accounts Total Accounts Accounts (ccf) ccf/Acct.

2017 257,274 16,726 274,000 45,291,537.90 165.30
2018 258,170 16,702 274,872 44,958,263.00 163.56
2019 258,963 16,572 275,535 43,611,943.00 158.28
2020 260,294 16,641 276,935 45,263,857.72 163.45
2021 261,256 16,722 277,978 44,321,131.00 159.44

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Sewerage and Drainage

(13.) Sanitary Sewer System — Five Year History of Customers

Fiscal Year ended December 31

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
City of Columbus 202,427 202,763 202,974 203,601 204,311
Suburban Accounts 71,573 72,109 72,561 73,334 73,667
Total Accounts 274,000 274,872 275,535 276,935 277,978

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Sewerage and Drainage

(14.) Sanitary Sewer System — Annual Metered Billing Quantities (ccf)
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Table 39 (continued)

Compliance Information

Securities and Exchange Commission Rule

15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)

Set forth in the table below is information on the annual metered billing quantities, in thousands of cubic feet
of water used, for the City and its 23 suburban municipal accounts®. The Division of Sewerage and Drainage
within the City’s Department of Utilities bills customers based upon water usage.

2017
30,795,510.13

14,496,027.77

City of Columbus

Suburban Accounts”

Fiscal Year ended December 31

2019
30,050,754.00

13,561,189.00

2020
31,721,119.49

13,542,738.23

2018
30,804,413.00

14,153,850.00

2021
29,881,746.00

14,439,385.00

Total ccf 45,291,537.90

44,958,263.00 43,611,943.00 45,263,857.72

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Sewerage and Drainage

44,321,131.00

(15.) Cash and Cash Investments — Average Daily Amount of the Investment Portfolio — see table

below.

Calendar Year

Amount

2017 $1,705,454,738.24
2018 1,812,982,111.43
2019 1,979,909,603.09
2020 2,053,721,285.77
2021 2,361,977,082.99

(16.) Sanitary Sewer- Rate History — see Table 14 contained in this report.

(17.) Sanitary Sewer- Revenue Bond Coverage — see Table 19 contained in this report.

(18.) Storm Sewer System — Largest Customers Invoiced — see table below.

Storm Sewer Enterprise — Ten Largest Customers Invoiced

(Based upon 2021 Sales)

% of Total
Total Charges Storm Sewer
Customer Account (in thousands) Charges

Ohio State University $ 767 1.69%
Lifestyle Comm 263 0.58
Columbus Regional Airport Authority 201 0.44
Columbus International Air Center 177 0.39
JC Penney Co. Inc. 130 0.29
JP Morgan Chase Bank 122 0.27
Limited Logistic Services 114 0.25
Anheuser Busch Inc. 96 0.21
Meijer Inc. 96 0.21
Ohio Health 95 0.21

Total $2,061 4.54%

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Sewerage and Drainage
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Table 39 (continued)
Compliance Information
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
15¢2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D)

(19.) Storm System — Storm Enterprise Fund — see respective financial statements contained in this
report.

(20.) Electricity System — Largest Customers Invoiced — see table below.

Electricity Enterprise — Ten Largest Customers Invoiced
(Based upon 2021 Sales)

% of Total
Total Charges Electric
Customer Account (in thousands) Charges
City of Columbus — Div. of Sewers and Drains $9,771 11.32%
City of Columbus — Division of Water 7,982 9.24
State of Ohio 2,793 3.23
City of Columbus — Facilities Management 2,506 2.90
Franklin County 2,394 2.77
Shelly Material 2,121 2.46
Columbus State Community College 1,650 1.91
Scioto Downs 1,471 1.70
OSU Medical Center 1,339 1.55
Columbus Board of Education 1,073 1.24
Total $.33,100 38.32%

Source: Department of Public Utilities, Division of Electricity

(21.) Electricity System — Electricity Enterprise Fund — see respective financial statements contained in
this report.

(22.) Electricity System — Rate Determination — see section entitled “Electricity” contained in the MD&A
and on Table 7 in this report.

(23.) Certain Municipal Income Tax Matter — Income Tax Rates

The City’s income tax continues to be its primary source of revenue. The tax applies to all wages, salaries,
commissions and other compensation paid by employers and/or the net proceeds from the operation of a
business, profession or other enterprise activity. The initial tax rate of .5%, collected in 1948, was
increased to 1% in 1956, 1.5% in 1971, to 2.0 % in 1983 and to the rate of 2.5% effective October 1,
2009. Income tax rates of cities and villages within the State of Ohio are limited to a maximum of 1%,
unless specifically approved by a majority of the resident voters of the respective city or village.

(24.) Certain Municipal Income Tax Matters — Historical City Income Tax Revenues — see Table 8
contained in this report.

(25.) Certain Property Tax Matters — Assessed Value of Taxable Property — see Table 10 contained in
this report.

(26.) Certain Property Tax Matters — Tax Rates — see Table 11 contained in this report.
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Compliance Information

Securities and Exchange Commission Rule
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(27.) Certain Property Tax Matters — Principal Taxpayers — see Table 12 contained in this report.

Table 39 (continued)

(28.) Certain Property Tax Matters — Ad Valorem Taxes Levied and Collected — see Table 9 contained

in this report.

(29.) Debt Summary — Projected Additional Debt

To be eligible for capital improvements funding (i.e., from issuance of debt), an asset must have a useful

life of at least five years and be considered non-operational.

Some examples of capital improvements

projects include the purchase of major equipment items, street lighting, street improvements, land
acquisition for recreational needs, building construction, and facility rehabilitation. The City’s proposed
capital improvements program (CIP), for the period 2022 through 2027, provides for approximately $3.6
billion in funding (funding to be determined) for various capital improvements for all City divisions. A
copy of the current CIP may be obtained by contacting the Department of Finance and Management,

City Hall, 90 West Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215.

(30.) Sanitary Sewer — Capital Improvement Plan

Capital Improvement Plan
Uses and Sources of Funds

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Total
Uses of Funds
Sewage Treatment Plant Improvements
Jackson Pike WWTP § 16,088 68,695 9,195 42,680 2,714 4,062 $§ 143,434
Southerly WWTP 26,366 11,359 97,332 13,412 64,138 27,500 240,107
Other Projects 12,342 14,135 8,585 25,625 64.433 13,754 138.874
Subtotal $ 54,79 94,189 115.112 81.717 131,285 45316 § 522.415
Collection System Improvements
Interceptors/Subtrunks  § 36,000 4,400 - 87,500 1,000 3,000 § 131,900
Blueprint Columbus 99,349 95,824 97,480 54,139 63,881 76,307 486,980
Other Projects 95,782 146,268 105,169 71,077 76.581 64.166 559,043
Subtotal $ 231.131 246,492 202,649 212,716 141.462 143,473 $1.177,923
Total $ 285,927 340,681 317,761 294,433 272,747 188,789 $1,700,338
Sources of Funds
WPCLF/OWDA Loans $ 203,648 252,715 232,917 219,629 196,088 128,472 $1,233,469
Bond Money 82,279 87,966 84,844 74.804 76,659 60,317 466,869
Total 3 285,927 _340,681 _ 317,761 _294.433 _ 272,747 _ 188,789 §1,700,338

This Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the City of Columbus, Ohio will be made available to citizens in the
community; city, state and federal officials, schools, libraries, newspapers, investment banking firms, banks, rating

agencies, and to any person or organization requesting it.

The report will also be distributed via the Municipal

Securities Rulemaking Board'’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) system and to the Ohio Municipal Advisory
Council. This report is also available on the City’s website. The Internet address is: http://www.columbus.gov.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditor's Report

To Management and the Honorable Megan N. Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio
(the "City") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March
30, 2022.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the City's financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and,
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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To Management and the Honorable Megan N. Kilgore,
City Auditor

City of Columbus, Ohio

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the City's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not

suitable for any other purpose.
7%-«&/ f 77(44,4«0, PLLE

March 30, 2022
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Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required
by the Uniform Guidance

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Honorable Megan N. Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Qualified and Unmodified Opinions

We have audited the City of Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio's (the "City") compliance with the types of
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City's major federal programs
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The City's major federal programs are identified in the summary of
auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Qualified Opinion on Coronavirus Relief Fund, Emergency Relief Fund, and Coronavirus State and Local
Fiscal Recovery Funds

In our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the Matters Giving Rise to Qualified Opinion on
Coronavirus Relief Fund, Emergency Relief Fund, and Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds
section of our report, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on Coronavirus Relief Fund, Emergency Relief Fund,
and Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Unmodified Opinion on Each of the Other Major Federal Programs

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its other major federal programs identified in the
summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

Basis for Qualified and Unmodified Opinions

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (the "Uniform Guidance"). Our responsibilities under those standards and the
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our
report.

We are required to be independent of the City of Columbus, Ohio and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Columbus, Ohio's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.
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To the Honorable Megan N. Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

Matters Giving Rise to Qualified Opinion on Coronavirus Relief Fund, Emergency Relief Fund, and
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

As described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, the City did not comply with
requirements regarding the following:

Finding # ALN Program Name Compliance Requirement
2021-001 21.019 Coronavirus Relief Fund Subrecipient Monitoring
2021-001 21.023 Emergency Rental Assistance Subrecipient Monitoring
2021-001 21.027 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Subrecipient Monitoring

Recovery Funds

Compliance with such requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for the City to comply with the requirements
applicable to that program.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City's federal
programs.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the City of
Columbus, Ohio's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS,
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable
user of the report on compliance about the City of Columbus, Ohio’s compliance with the requirements of each
major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the City of Columbus, Ohio’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of the City of Columbus, Ohio’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Columbus, Ohio’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control
over compliance that we identified during the audit.
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To the Honorable Megan N. Kilgore,
City Auditor
City of Columbus, Ohio

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified. However, as discussed below, we did identify certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that we consider to be material weaknesses and a significant deficiency.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance such that there is reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies in internal control over compliance described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Findings 2021-001 and 2021-002 to be material
weaknesses.

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance. We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Finding 2021-003 to be a significant deficiency.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Government Auditing Standards require the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City's responses to the
noncompliance findings identified in our audit described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned
costs. The City's responses were not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of
compliance, and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

7%-«& f 77(44,4«0, PLLL

March 30, 2022
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CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures
of Federal Awards
December 31, 2021

Note A-General

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) presents the activity of all federal award
programs of the City of Columbus, Ohio (the City). The City’s reporting entity is defined in Note A to the City’s basic financial
statements.

The basis for determining when federal awards are expended is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
for Federal Awards. In addition, expenditures reported on the Schedule are recognized following the costs principles
contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to re-
imbursement except for expenditures related to CFDA 21.019, Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF). CRF does not apply the cost
principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards but rather applies the U.S. Department of Treasury’s guidance.
Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of,
the basic financial statements.

The City has not elected to use the 10-precent de minimus indirect cost rate to recover indirect costs as allowed under the
Uniform Guidance.

Note B-Basis of Accounting

The accompanying schedule is presented using the cash basis of accounting in which expenditures are recognized when
paid.

Note C-Schedule References

1. Grant No. represents the City’s Microsoft Dynamics Accounting System classification structure and is used for internal
purposes only.

2. Grant ID represents the pass through agency’s grant identification nhumber or the federal agency’s identification
number.

3. The PASSPORT program is funded by both federal and state Medicaid. The amount presented is the federal portion
only.
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Section | - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

o Material weakness(es) identified? Yes

¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? Yes

Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted? Yes

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:

o Material weakness(es) identified? X  Yes

+ Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? X Yes

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in

X No

X None reported

X None reported

No

None reported

accordance with Section 2 CFR 200.516(a)? X Yes No
Identification of major programs:
Assistance
Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster Opinion
14.231 Emergency Solutions Grant Unmodified
21.019 Coronavirus Relief Fund Qualified
21.023 Emergency Rental Assistance Qualified
21.027 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Qualified
93.778 Medicaid Cluster Unmodified
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
type A and type B programs: $3,000,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes X No

Section Il - Financial Statement Audit Findings

Reference
Number Finding

Current Year None
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Section lll - Federal Program Audit Findings

Reference
Number Finding
2021-001 ALN, Federal Agency, and Program Name - ALN No. 21.019, Department of the Treasury,

Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF)
ALN No. 21.023, Department of the Treasury, Emergency Rental Assistance (ERA)

ALN No. 21.027, Department of the Treasury, Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery
Funds (CSLFRF)

Federal Award Identification Number and Year - All grants with associated assistance listing
numbers as noted above

Pass-through Entity - CRF: A portion is direct funded and portions are passed through the
Ohio Department of Health and the Ohio Supreme Court; ERA and CSLFRF: Not applicable -
direct funded

Finding Type - Material weakness and material noncompliance with laws and regulations
Repeat Finding - Yes

2020-001

Criteria - 2 CFR 200, sections 332 and 303, require that pass through entities:

« Ensure that every subaward is clearly identified to the subrecipient as a subaward and
includes federal award identification information

+ Perform subrecipient risk assessments to determine appropriate subrecipient monitoring
procedures

« Monitor the activities of the subrecipient as necessary to ensure that the subaward is used
for authorized purposes

» Determine whether subrecipients received audits where required and, if applicable, follow up
on audit findings

Condition - The City did not provide evidence to support that all required procedures were
substantially performed in order to ensure that the subaward is used for authorized purposes.

Questioned Costs - Unknown

Identification of How Questioned Costs Were Computed - Not applicable
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Section lll - Federal Program Audit Findings (Continued)

Reference
Number Finding

2021-001 Context - The City did not provide evidence to support that subrecipient monitoring procedures
(Cont'd) were performed for subrecipients selected for testing.

For CRF, for the 4 subrecipients tested, documentation was not provided to support
performance of risk assessment for 3 subrecipients, documentation was not provided to
support determination of and completion of monitoring activities for 4 subrecipients, and 2
subrecipients did not have an award with the required data elements.

For ERA, for the 9 subrecipients tested, documentation was not provided to support
performance of risk assessment, determining appropriate monitoring activities, or completing
monitoring activities beyond review of invoices submitted.

For CSLFRF, for the 11 subrecipients tested, documentation was not provided to support
performance of risk assessment, determining appropriate monitoring activities, or completing
monitoring activities beyond review of invoices submitted.

Further, subrecipient expenditures for CRF, ERA and CSLFRF are material in relation to total
expenditures for each grant. Subrecipient expenditures for CRF represent $5,695,287 of total
expenditures of $19,003,702. Subrecipient expenditures for ERA represent $20,333,232 of total
expenditures of $20,339,900. Subrecipient expenditures for CSLFRF represent $6,261,782 of
total expenditures of $9,123,841.

Cause and Effect - The City received an increased volume of funding from the Department of
the Treasury to administer in a pass-through capacity and did not have the proper internal
oversight and training over the City's divisions in order to ensure that subrecipient monitoring
requirements were implemented. This lead to lapses in internal control over subrecipient
monitoring.

Recommendation - The City should put procedures in place to ensure that subrecipient
monitoring procedures are properly performed for all subrecipients.

Views of Responsible Officials and Corrective Action Plan - The City concurs with the
finding and will take the following actions in response:

« Conducting monitoring of the 24 subrecipients for which monitoring was not completed
during the audit period

* Providing a mandatory grants training for departments that receive federal funding

* Investing in ongoing training for Grants Management Section personnel to help with
technical assistance

* Modifying formal policies and procedures pertaining to subrecipient monitoring
* Requiring submission of subawards by departments at the time an ordinance is submitted

* Implementing a new centralized subrecipient monitoring documentation and tracking
process through a new technology solution

« Designing and implementing a process to monitor internal compliance and track completion
of corrective actions
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Section lll - Federal Program Audit Findings (Continued)

Reference
Number Finding
2021-002 ALN, Federal Agency, and Program Name - ALN No. 21.023, Department of the Treasury,

Emergency Rental Assistance (ERA)

ALN No. 21.027, Department of the Treasury, Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery
Funds (CSLFRF)

Federal Award Identification Number and Year - All grants with associated assistance listing
numbers as noted above

Pass-through Entity - Not applicable - Direct funded
Finding Type - Material weakness
Repeat Finding - No

Criteria - The City should have processes in place to verify any entity with which the City plans
to enter into a covered transaction is not debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded per 2
CFR 200.318(h) and 2 CFR 180.

Condition - The City did not have controls in place to ensure that vendors and subrecipients
were not suspended or debarred or included on the Never Contract with the Enemy listing prior
to entering into a contract in all instances.

Questioned Costs - None
Identification of How Questioned Costs Were Computed - Not applicable

Context - None of the vendors or subrecipients selected for testing were actually suspended or
debarred or otherwise excluded based on review of sam.gov.

Cause and Effect - The City received a large influx of federal funding in response to COVID-
19. There was not a control in place to ensure that all subrecipients or vendors that the City
entered into contracts with were not suspended or debarred before contracts were executed.
Without a reliable control in place to ensure compliance, the City could enter into a contract with
a suspended or debarred party, which would result in questioned costs or unallowed costs.

Recommendation - The City should put internal controls in place such as using a checklist as
a reminder to ensure contractors are not suspended or debarred and should consider additional
training to individuals responsible for purchasing.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions - The City concurs with the
finding and will take the following actions in response:

* Provide training to personnel regarding the requirement and expectation for retention of
documentation verifying SAM searches were performed

* Modify written procurement policies and procedures to incorporate the aforementioned
expectation and requirement

« Communicate the requirement and policy/procedure change citywide in writing

» Develop, document, and implement procedures to ensure provisions pertaining to the Never
Contract with the Enemy applicable to federal grants are adhered to
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City of Columbus, Ohio

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Section lll - Federal Program Audit Findings (Continued)

Reference
Number Finding
2021-003 ALN, Federal Agency, and Program Name - ALN 14.231, Department of Housing and Urban

Development, Emergency Solutions Grant Program

Federal Award Identification Number and Year - E-20-MW-39-0009, E-20-MC-39-0009, E-
21-MC-39-0009

Pass-through Entity - Not applicable - Direct funded
Finding Type - Significant deficiency
Repeat Finding - No

Criteria - The recipient must pay each subrecipient for allowable costs within 30 days after
receiving the subrecipient's complete payment request per 24 CFR 576.203(c).

Condition - The City did not pay all subrecipient payment requests within 30 days of receiving
the completed payment requests.

Questioned Costs - None
Identification of How Questioned Costs Were Computed - Not applicable

Context - Of the four payment requests to subrecipients tested, one payment request was paid
77 days after receipt of request for reimbursement.

Cause and Effect - The City did not have a process in place over this program to ensure that
payments were provided to subrecipients in a timely manner. This lead to the City not
complying with the compliance requirement to pay subrecipients within 30 days of receipt of
payment request.

Recommendation - The City should put a process in place to ensure that payment requests
received from the subrecipient are routed to the appropriate department for approval and
payment within the required time frame.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions - The City concurs with the
finding. In response, the City will provide training to personnel responsible for ESG-related
payments regarding requirements applicable to timely subrecipient payments.
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